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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CLINTON STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-5300 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 5300

Fax: 603-271-5395 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964

wmv.dhhs.nh.gov

February 4, 2025

Her Excellency. Governor Kelly A. Ayotte
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord. New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, New Hampshire Hospital, to enter into
a Retroactive amendment to an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC# 177160),
Lebanon, NH, to add $2,326,168 in funding for practitioner staffing at New Hampshire Hospital and to
remove $6,722,717 In funding due to the removal of Hampstead Hospital & Regional Treatment Facility
(HHRTF) services, resulting in an overall decrease to the price limitation of $4,396,549 from $71. Ill,426
to $66,714,877, with no change to the contract completion date of June 30, 2026, effective retroactive to
February 3, 2025, upon Governor and Council approval. 30% General Funds. 70% Other Funds (Provider
Fees).

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on March 23, 2022, item #31,
amended on December 21, 2022, item #19, and most recently amended on May 15. 2024, Item #18A.

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Year 2025 and are anticipated to be
available in State Fiscal Year 2026, upon the availability and continued appropriation of funds in the
future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and
encumbrances between state fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05-95-94-940010-87500000 Health and Social Services, Health and Human Services Department
of, HHS; New Hampshire Hospital, New Hampshire Hospital, Acute Psychiatric Services

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title Job Number

Current

Budget

increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised Budget

2022
102-

500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

94058000 $5,881,431 $0 $5,881,431

2023
102-

500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

94058000 $13,075,773 $0 $13,075,773

2024
102-

500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

94058000 $13,550,376 $0 $13,550,376

2025
102-

500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

94058000 $13,956,888 $775,392 $14,732,280
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2026
102-

500731

Contracts for

Program
.. Services

94058000 $14,375,594 $1,550,776 $15,926,370

Subtotal $60,840,062 $2,326,168 $63,166,230

05-95-91-910010-57100000 Health and Social Services, Health and Human Services Dept of,
HHS: Glencliff, Professional Care

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title Job Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised Budget

2022
101-

500729

Medical

Payments to

Providers

91000000 $73,193
$0

$73,193

2023
101-

500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $150,778
$0

$150,778

2024
101-

500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $155,302
$0

$155,302-

.2025
101-

500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 159,960

$0

159.960

2026
101-

500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $164,758
$0

$164,758

-
Sub Total $703,991 $0 $703,991

05-95-98-980010-26480000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVCS, HAMPSTEAD HOSPITAL, HAMPSTEAD HOSPITAL OPERATIONS

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title Job Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised Budget

2024
102-

500731 ■

Contracts for

Program
Services

98000102 $99,242
$0 $99,242

2025
102- .

500731 :
1

Contracts for

Program
Services

98000102 $4,795,061
($2,049,647) $2,745,414

2026
102-

500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

98000102 $4,673,070 ($4,673,070) $0

Subtotal $9,567,373 ($6,722,717) $2,844,656
Total $71,111,426 ($4,396,549) $66,714,877

EXPLANATION

This request is Retroactive to align the removal of clinical services at HHRTF from this agreement
with the execution of closing documents for the transfer of HHRTF assets and operations (Tabled Item



Her Excellency. Governor Kelly A. Ayotte
and Ihe Honorable Council

Page 3 of 3

#12A, approved by Governor and Council on December 18, 2024) to Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
that was effective on February 3, 2025.

The purpose of this request is twofold: to remove clinical services at HHRTF from this agreement
due to the aforementioned transfer of HHRTF assets and operations to Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital, as well as modify staffing at New Hampshire Hospital to add a.total of four (4) full-time
equivalent (FTE) practitioner positions.

Despite, recently reaching a maximum bed capacity of 185 patients the need for psychiatric
inpatient services in NH remains steady. The hospital continues to experience challenges recruiting
advanced practice registered nurses, psychologists, and psychiatrists.

The Contractor will provide the following clinical practitioners at New Hampshire Hospital: one (1)
additional FTE psychiatrist, one and one-half (1.5) FTE Advanced Practice Registered Nurses, one (1)
clinical psychologist and one-half (.5) FTE medical general physician as part of the array of psychiatric
and medical services provided at New Hampshire Hospital. These additional providers are essential to
sustaining the hospital's ability to meet the needs of the patient population. With the recent reopening of
beds. NHH has seen its provider resources stretched to capacity, jeopardizing the hospital's ability to
maintain the maximum bed capacity of 185 and deliver timely, high-quality care. The presence of these
additional clinical practitioners is pivotal to ensuring that all patients receive the comprehensive
psychiatric and medical care they require. Without adequate staffing, delays in treatment and
compromised patient outcomes ,are Inevitable, which can place further strain on the system. The
Contractor will also provide support to the Care Traffic Control (CTC) program and provide an on-call
doctor to manage the involuntary emergency admission off-hour calls. The Contractor was originally
competitively selected through a Request for Proposals in State Fiscal Year 2022.

The Department will continue monitoring services through regular meetings and reporting,
including quality assurance and monitoring plans; monthly staffing reports; quarterly service reports:
quarterly quality assurance reports and progress reviews; and annual service and quality assurance
reports required by the Contractor, as well as by.observing and collaborating with Contractor personnel
while they are providing services at New Hampshire Hospital.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, this agreement will be in conflict with
the terms and conditions of the transfer of HHRTF operations and assets to Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital and will include obligations, including financial reimbursement, for services at HHRTF that
should no longer exist. The Department will also be unable to add the necessary practitioner positions at
NHH. which will have a negative impact on NHH's ability to fully staff beds and thus not be in compliance
with the court order to operate at a capacity of 185 beds.

Area served: New Hampshire Hospital and Glencliff Home.

In the event that the Other Funds become no longer available, additional General Funds will not
be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Weaver

Commissioner

The Deparlmeni of Health and Human Services' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for cilieens to achieve health and independence.
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #3

This Amendment to the Psychiatric and Medical Services contract is by and between the State of New
Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on March 23, 2022 (Item #31), as amended on December 21, 2022 (Item #19) and on May 15, 2024 (Item
#18A), the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms and conditions specified in
the Contract as amended and in consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, the Contract may be amended upon written
agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$66,714,877

2. Modify Exhibit B Amendment #2, Scope of Services, by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit B
Amendment #3, Scope of Services, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

3. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 1, to read:

1. This Agreement is funded by:

1.1 30.02% General funds.

1.2 69.98% Other funds (Provider Fees).

4. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 3, with no change to .Subsections 3.1. through 3.4., to"
read:

3. The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the Budget below per
applicable Service Area and State Fiscal Year. The Contractor shall be compensated to
provide and deliver the services described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, on the basis of this
Budget.

Budget

Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year

Service

Area #1

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-^

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$5,396,232 $11,964,356 $12,323,287 $13,368,134 $14,424,069

Service

Area #2

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

. 7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$558,392 $1,262,195 $1,382,391 $1,524,106 $1,667,059

Service

Area #3 ■

G&C Approval -

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$99,242 $2,745,414 $0

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03

• A-S-1.3

Page 1 of 4

Contractor Initials

Date
2/5/2025

— DS
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5. Add Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 3. Subsection 3.5 to read;

3.5 The Contractor shall bill an additional flat fee of $125 per call for the on-cali Staff Psychiatrist
providing after-hour and weekend coverage services for the Care Traffic Control program as
described in Exhibit B Scope of Services, Section 2, Service Area #1-Psychiatric Care,
Subsection 2.2, NewHampshire Hospital, Paragraph 2.2.4, Staff Psychiatrists, Subparaqraph
2.2.4.10. K y K

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 . Contractor Initials

RFP-2022-NHH-d3-PSYCH-01-A03 Page 2 of 4 Date
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective retroactive to February 3, 2025 upon
Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

2/5/2025

Date

—DoeuSlgntd by:

^—Naf?WP^^-6" Lapointe
Title, chief Executive Officer

2/5/2025

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial HospitalC^OocuSigrwd by:
werrens, MD

Title: chief clinical officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 -AOa

A-S-1.3

Page 3 of 4
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

-0oeuSign«4 by;

2/5/2025

Date Guarino

Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Page 4 of 4
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work

1.1. The Contractor shall provide psychiatric and medical services at New
Hampshire Hospital ("NHH"), including the High Security Unit when it is
operational, and at Glencliff Home. The Contractor shall provide services in the
following service areas:

1.1.1. Service Area #1 - Psychiatric care for adults admitted to NHH and
Glencliff Home.

1.1.2. Service Area #2 - Non-emergent medical care for adults admitted to
NHH.

1.2. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to days shall mean calendar
days, unless otherwise specified.

1.3. All Services Areas - General Requirements

1.3.1. The Contractor shall deliver psychiatric, and medical services to NHH
and/or Glencliff Home by:

1.3.1.1. Providing highly qualified personnel as described in the
following sections;

1.3.1.2. Working with the New Hampshire Department of Health and
Human Services ("Department") to continue developing and
refining an integrated mental health care system by applying
principles of managed care for clinical treatment; and

1.3.1.3. Assisting with educational and training programs, at the
direction of the respective Service Areas' Chief Executive
Officers (each a "CEO").

1.3.2. The Contractor shall recruit and retain qualified individuals for the
staffing needs specified herein ("Contractor Personnel"), and as
otherwise necessary to fulfill the requirements described herein. The
Contractor shall ensure:

1.3.2.1. All Contractor Personnel provided are employees or
consultants of the Contractor.

1.3.2.2. No Contractor Personnel are employees of the State of New
Hampshire.

1.3.3. The Contractor agrees that one (1) full-time equivalent (FTE) is equal
to one (1) full-time employee who works forty (40) hours per week.

1.3.4. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel meet and adhere

to:

— DS

S3HRFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

B-1.0 Page 1 of 39 Date^^^^^^^
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)

i

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services '

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

1.3.5.

Table 1

1.3.4.1. The codes of ethical conduct applicable to their license
category: j

^  1

1.3.4.2. Behavioral policies of the Department; '
1

1.3.4.3. Department information security and privacy policies and use
agreements which have been provided to Contractor; and,

1.3.4.4. All other human resource-related expectations of the
Department, NHH, and/orjciencliff Home, as well as New
Hampshire Department of Information Technology (DolT)
security policies. ]

The Contractor shall provide staff as^ indicated in Table 1 below as the
Contractor Personnel, which outlines the PTE allocation limits for the
minimum required staffing positions.

Position Title

,  j

Minimumi PTE/Staffing Ratio
Limits

1

NHH 1

Service Area #1 '

a. Chief Medical Officer IjPJE

b. Associate Medical Director lIpTE

c. Forensic Psychiatrists 2 PTE . ' ' '

d. Staff Psychiatrists
(

Ratio of patients to Staf
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric
APRNs shall be 8:1. Deviafions
from this ratio shall require the
ajDproval of the CEO.

Psychiatric APRN - 1 PTE; ratio o'
Psychiatric APRNs to Psychiatrists
cannot exceed 4:1

1

e. Psychiatric Advanced Practice
Registered Nurses ("APRN")

f. Chief Psychologist 1 PTE
1

g. Psychologist 1 PTE
1

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03

B-1.0

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Page 2 of 39

Contractor Initials

— OS

B3H

Date27OT325
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

h. Forensic Psychologist 3 PTE Ratio of patients to
Forensic Psychologist not to
exceed 24:1 and not to exceed

12:1 for services at the High
Security Unit

i. Clinical Psychologist 1 PTE

j. Administrative Staff 0.5 PTE

k. Behavioral Analyst 1 PTE

Service Area #2

1. General Medical Director 1 PTE

m. General Internist/Hospitalist 1.5 PTE

n. APRN - 2 PTE

0. Administrative Staff .5 PTE

' Glencliff Home -

p. Medical Director 0.4 PTE

2. Service Area #1 - Psychiatric Care

2.1. New Hampshire Hospital

2.1.1. Chief Medical Officer

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03

B-1.0

2.1.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE psychiatrist to
serve as the Chief Medical Officer.

2.1.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is
physically present at NHH for a minimum of forty (40) hours
per week and oversees all providers at NHH referenced
herein.

2.1.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is
responsible for the same duties and requirements outlined in
this Section 2.1.1. for the High Security Unit upon
commencement of patient services there, including
overseeing clinical staff provided by the Contractor. The

— DS

ejHMary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

Page 3 of 39 Date,27VJC25
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

2.1.1.3.1. .Is a board-certified psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in the State of New Hampshire
and has clinical privileges at NHH.

2.1.1.3.2. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist with a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector I program: psychiatric hospital;
governmental authority; or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or organization
involved in the delivery of. public sector
psychiatric services.

2.1.1.3.3. Has completed ̂ an Accreditation Council for
Graduate Medical Education ("AGGME")
approved residency program with board
certification in psychiatry by the American Board
of Psychiatry and Neurology. (Additional
subspecialty certification in forensic, geriatric or
child/adolescent psychiatry may be substituted
for two (2) years of administrative leadership.
Completion of a graduate curriculum in medical
administration is preferred).

2.1.1.4. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer

participates, as needed, with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage above the 4b-hour week to ensure on-
call psychiatrist services are available 24 hours per day. 7
days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage services to NHH.

2.1.1.5. . In the event the Chief Medical'Officer resigns, or is otherwise
removed from providing services to the Department, the
Contractor shall:

2.1.1.5.1. Furnish a psychiatrist within ten (10) business
days, not including holidays, to serve full-time as
interim Chief Medical Officer, until such time as
the existing Chief Medical Officer either, resumes
full-time duty or is replaced by a new Chief
Medical Officer.

2.1.1.5.2. Unless the. CEO agrees to waive any
requirement in writing, ensure the Interim Chief

£-for the

6/M

Medical Officer meets all requiremen

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

B-1.0 Page 4 of 39 Date'
27T77C25
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

Chief Medical Officer, as set forth herein.

2.1.1.5.3. Provide transition services, at no additional cost
- to the Department, to avoid any interruption of

services and administrative responsibilities.

2.1.1.6. Subject to (1) the statutory authority of the Department's
Commissioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
with respect to administrative/clinical matters, the Contractor
shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

2.1.1.6.1. Develops and submits provider staffing needs,
including a schedule of psychiatric and related
clinical personnel, for Department approval prior
to the commencement of each contract year, or
as otherwise requested, by the Department;

2.1.1.6.2. Coordinates with the CEO on all clinical activities

in order to accomplish the day-to-day clinical
operations of NHH in a manner consistent with

.  NH Revised Statutes Annotated ("RSA") Chapter
135-C and the rules adopted pursuant thereto, all
Department policies, and all standards of The
Joint Commission ("TJC") and Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS");

2.1.1.6.3. Participates in the formulation, irtiplemehtation,
and supervision of all clinical programs for the
diagnosis, assessment, treatment, care, and
management of patients;

2.1.1.6.4. Supervises all documentation requirements for
all Staff Psychiatrists and other clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor and providing
services at NHH under this Agreement;

2.1.1.6.5. Ensures adequate coverage on weekends and
holidays to maintain compliance with
documentation requirements to justify medical
necessity of stay, including, but not limited to, the
need for daily progress notes on patients
covered by Medicaid, Medicare or commercial
insurance. (Should clinical care responsibilities
impede a provider's ability to complete daily
progress notes on weekends or holidays, the

' next progress note will be written within 72
hours);

—08

B/H
RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

B-1.0 Page 5 of 39 Date^Z^Z^^^
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT 8 - Amendment #3

2.1.1.6.6. Performs annual performance evaluations and
discipline, as necessary, for all Staff Psychiatrists

and other Contractor Personnel providing
services at NHH, including consulting with and
seeking input from the CEO as to the
Department's satisfaction with the services
provided by the individual under review;

2.1.1.6.7. Performs an annual administrative review of.all

Contractor Personnel providing services at NHH
to ensure compliance with Department policy,
including but not limited to training; record
keeping; matters of medical records; CPR and
CMP training and/or retraining; TJC
requirements: customer service responsibilities;
HIPAA compliance: and attendance at mandated
in-service training.

2.1.1.6.8. Ensures compliance with the requirements in
Part 2.2.1.6.7, and takes whatever disciplinary
action is necessary in instances of non-
compliance with Department policy or Medical
Staff Organization bylaws;

2.1.1.6.9. Complies with all applicable performance
standards in this Agreement pertaining to Staff
Psychiatrists;

2.1.1.6.10. Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New
Hampshire's mental health service system;

2.1.1.6.11. Supports Department's customer service culture
by adhering to and ensuring that Staff
Psychiatrists under their direction, adhere to the
established Customer Service Guidelines for

Physicians;

2.1.1.6.12. Reports any issues known to them to the CEO
regarding all admissions, patient care or any
other situations that may pose a significant risk
to patients or the community or that may result in
adverse publicity or in any way undermine public
confidence in the clinical care provided by NHH;

2.1.1.6.13. Participates as a member of NHH's Executive
Team;

— OS

6JHRFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor initials

B-1.0 Page 6 of 39 Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT 8 - Amendment #3

2.1.1.6.14. Participates in the recruitment of other clinical
Department personnel, upon the request of the
CEO;

2.1.1.6.15. Establishes, subject to approval from the CEO,
an employment schedule for all clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor to provide services
alNHH;

2.1.1.6.16. Assists the NHH Executive Team with enhancing
clinical practices and care across the
organization; and

2.1.1.6.17. Provides clinical coverage for other clinical staff,
as necessary, due to absences or vacated
positions.

2.1.1.7. The. Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer

oversees clinical staff in Service Area # 1 and Service Area

#2.

2.1.2. Associate Medical Director

2.1.2.1. The Contractor shall provide 1.0 PTE Associate Medical
Director, which may consist of multiple individuals who fulfill
the 1.0 PTE requirement, as approved by the CEO.

2.1.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure an Associate Medical Director is

physically present at NHH for no less than forty (40) hours
per week.

2.1.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

performs the duties and requirements outlined in this Section
2.1.2.3 for the High Security Unit upon commencement of
patient services there. The Contractor shall ensure the
Associate Medical Director:

2.1.2.3.1. Is a Board-Certified Psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in New Hampshire.

2.1.2.3.2. At all times, maintains both a license to practice
medicine in the State of New Hampshire and,
clinical privileges at NHH.

2.1.2.3.3. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist having a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector program, psychiatric hospital,
governmental authority, or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or orgaogation

6JHRFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital ' Contractor Initials

B-1.0 Page 7 of 39 Date^Z^Z^^il

r
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

involved in the delivery of public sector
psychiatric services. (Additional subspecialty
certification in forensic, addiction, geriatric or
child/adolescent psychiatry may be substituted
for two (2) years of administrative leadership.
Completion of a graduate curriculum in medical

. administration is preferred.

2.1.2.3.4. Completes an ACGME-approved residency
program with board certification in Psychiatry by
the American Board of Psychiatry, apd
Neurology.

2.i;2.'4. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

possesses or develops the skills necessary to serve in the
capacity of the Chief Medical Officer, on a temporary or
permanent basis, in the event that the Chief Medical Officer
position is vacated.

2.1.2.5. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

participates as needed with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure
Psychiatrist-On-Call services are provided 24 hours per day,
7 days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor
Personnel providing call coverage services.

2.1.2.6. In the event the Associate Medical Director resigns, or is
otherwise removed from providing services to the
Department, the Contractor shall:

2.1.2.6.1. Furnish, a psychiatrist or other qualified provider,
as determined by the CEO, within ten (10)
business days, not including holidays, to serve
full-time as interim Associate Medical Director,
until the existing Associate Medical Director
either resumes duty full-time or is replaced by a
new Associate Medical Director. "

2.1.2.6.2. Erasure the interim Associate Medical Director
meets all of the requirements for the Associate
Medical Director as set forth herein.

2.1.2.6.3. Provide transition services to Department, at no
additional cost, to avoid any interruption of
services and administrative responsibilities.

2.1.2.7. Subject to (1) the statutory authority of the Depajiment's

SIHRFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
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Commissioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
with respect to administrative and/or clinical matters, the
Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director:

2.1.2.7.1. Coordinates all clinical activities with the Chief

Medical Officer and the CEO in order to

accomplish the day-to-day clinical operation of
NHH in a manner consistent with RSA135-C and

the rules adopted pursuant thereto, all NHH
policies, and all standards of TJC and CMS;

2.1.2.7.2. Establishes staffing needs, including but not
limited, to psychiatric and related clinical
personnel, on a periodic basis, with the Chief

, Medical Officer and CEO;

2.1,.2.7.3. Serves in the capacity of the Chief Medical
Officer in the event of the Chief Medical Officer's

absence;

2.1.2.7.4. , Participates with the Chief Medical Officer in the
formulation, implementation, and supervision of
all clinical programs for the diagnosis,
assessment, treatment, care, and management
of patients;

2.1.2.7.5. Supervises all documentation requirements of all
Staff Psychiatrists and other Contractor
Personnel providing services at NHH;

2.1.2.7.6. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer to
conduct annual performance evaluations and
disciplinary actions, as necessary, for all Staff
Psychiatrists and other Contractor Personnel
providing services at NHH, including assisting
the Chief Medical Officer;

2.1.2.7.7. Works with the Chjef Medical Officer to perform
an annual administrative review of all Contractor

Personnel to ensure compliance with
Department policies, including but not limited to
training; record keeping; matters of medical
records; CPR and CMP training and/or
retraining; TJC requirements; customer service
responsibilities; information security, privacy,
and HIPAA compliance; and attendance at
mandated in-service training;

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
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2.1.2.7.8. Complies with all applicable performance
standards pertaining to Staff Psychiatrists;

2.1.2.7.9. Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New
Hampshire's mental health service system;

2.1.2.7.10. Promotes a customer service culture by adhering
to and ensuring that Staff Psychiatrists adhere to
the established customer service guidelines for
physicians;

2.1.2.7.11. Reports any knowri issues to the Chief Medical
^  Officer and CEO regarding admissions, patient

care or any other situation that may pose a
significant risk to patients or the community or
that may result in adverse publicity or in any way
undermine public copfidence in the clinical care
provided by the Department;

2.1.2.7.12. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer and
the CEO in the development of clinical budgets;

2.1.2.7.13. Participates in the recruitment of other clinical
personnel, upon the request of the CEO;

2.1.2.7.14. Assists in establishing, subject to approval by the
Chief Medical Officer and CEO, an employment
schedule for all Contractor Personnel provided
under this Agreement;

2.1.2.7.15. Assists the Chief Medical Officer and the CEO

with the clinical supervision and education of all
other clinical staff; and

2.1.2.7.16. Provides clinical coverage for other clinical staff
as necessary due to absences or vacated
positions.

2.1.3. Staff Psychiatrists and Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered
Nurses

2.1.3.1. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric APRNs is not less than 8:1,
unless otherwise approved by the CEO for a specific period
of time.

2.1.3.2. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio of Psychiatric APRNs
to Staff Psychiatrists does not exceed 4:1.
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2.1.4. Staff Psychiatrists

2.1.4.1. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists are physically
present at NHH a minimurn of forty (40) hours per week. The
Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists:

2.1.4.1.1. Have appropriate experience In the specialty in
which they are board certified or eligible for
certification.

2.1.4.1.2. Have completed an ACGME-approved residency

program in psychiatry.

2.1.4.1.3. Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical s'ervices, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and management of patients;

2.1.4.1.4. Maintain and direct a clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplinary staff consistent with, the
Department norms;

2.1.4.1.5. Determine .the appropriateness of admissions,
transfers and discharges consistent with RSA
135-C:

2.1.4.1.6. . Provide, in coordination with the Chief Medical
Officer, the Associate Medical Director, and other

staff physicians, on-call after-hours coverage
(. and serve as on-site, after-hours coverage, on a

24-hour a day, 7-day a week, year-round basis
when necessary, as determined by the CEO,
Chief Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical

Director. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-call pool of
Contractor Personnel providing call coverage
services;

2.1.4.1.7. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees, assigned
committees and task forces;

2.1.4.1.8. Complete medical and/or psychiatric
consultation on patients from facilities other than

^  NHH, consistent with current Department policy;

2.1.4.1.9: Complete, in a timely manner, all necessary
documentation, as required by TJC ̂ h^sCMS
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standards;

2.1.4.1.10. Complete Occurrence Reports in compliance
. with Department policy;

2.1.4.1.11. Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of
clinical care regarding medical necessity,
including daily progress notes to document and
support medical necessity, within timeframes as
specified by the NHH's Record Documentation
policy and procedure and other relevant policies
and procedures.

2.1.4.1.12. Adhere to all Department policies, including, but
not limited to policies on Medical Records
Documentation and Progress Notes;

2.1.4.1.13. Ensure that documentation is consistent with

normative data collected by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Reyiew Manager;

2.1.4.1.14. Provide other services as required, which are
consistent with the mission of the Department;

2.1.4.1.15. Appear and testify in all court and administrative
hearings, as required by the Department;

2.1.4.1.16. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning the Department's system
of care, including for the purpose of transition
planning by adhering to Department standards;
and

,  2.1.4.1.17. Participate in the utilization review processes,
including appeals and other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director, and/or the CEO.

2.1.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of one (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is dedicated to providing services to the NHH
inpatient stabilization unit (ISU).

2.1.4.3. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist certified in forensics is dedicated to providing
services to the NHH High Security Unit, which does not
exceed a 24:1 patient-to-provider ratio.

y  DS
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2.1.4.4. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of one (1) Staff
Psychiatrist is assigned to the provision of services to the
Care Traffic Control (CTC) program.

2.1.4.5. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is certified in addiction; is a physician who is
certified in general psychiatry; and has significant clinical
experience in addiction medicine. (A fellowship training
and/or board certification in addiction medicine or addiction

psychiatry is highly preferred.)

2.1.4.6. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is a Gerppsychiatrist who has:

2.1.4.6.1. Completed an ACGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry, and is board certified by
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology
in Psychiatry; and

2.1.4.6.2. Completed a one-year geropsychiatry fellowship
and is specialty certified by the American Board
of Psychiatry and Neurology in geriatric
psychiatry. (Two (2) years of additional clinical
experience in geriatric psychiatry may be
substituted the one-year fellowship.)

2.1.4.7. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists provide
services on a full-time basis as defined in Paragraph 1.4.3
above and limit their practice to treating NHH patients only,
except for night and weekend staff, who may be working part-
time or per diem.

2.1.4.8. Notwithstanding the above, the Department and Contractor
agree that one (1) Staff Psychiatrist may perform occasional

, outside practice duties, with the advance written approval of
the CEO and Chief Medical Officer, but only if said duties do
not, in the sole judgment of the CEO, interfere with the
psychiatrist's duties at the Department; and (ii) Contractor
Personnel may be permitted, subject to prior notice and the
approval of both the Chief Medical Officer and CEO, to
perform educational or research activities so long as those
activities further the mission and goals of the Department.
Staff Psychiatrists and Contractor Personnel approved for
such activities- shall provide monthly documentation and
summary progress reports to the Chief Medical Officer and
the CEO that specifies time spent devoted to educational or
research activities.
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2.1.4.9. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists participate in
on-call, after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to
ensure on-call psychiatrist services are provided 24'hours
per day, 7 days per week. For this reason, the Contractor
provides reports summarizing full-time equivalent staffing for
each invoicing period. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor
Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH.

2.1.4.10. The Contractor agrees Staff Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate in on-call, after-hours coverage as
needed upon commencement of patient services at the High
Security Unit.

2.1.4.11. The Contractor may assign Staff Psychiatrists to perform
Electroconvulsive Therapy (ECT) upon agreement by the
parties.

2.1.5. Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurses

2.1.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs possess an
APRN degree and have board certification as Psychiatric-
Mental Health Nurse Practitioner-Board.

2.1.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs provide
clinical services in extended care and admissions areas with

patients with severe mental illness and medical co-
morbidities in accordance with the scope of practice
described in RSA'326-B:i1. The Contractor shall ensure
Psychiatric APRNs:

2.1.5.2.1. Perform advanced assessments.

2.1.5.2.2. Diagnose, prescribe, administer and develop
treatment regimens.

2.1.5.2.3. Provide consultation as appropriate.

2.1.5.2.4. Independently prescribe, dispense, and
V  distribute psychopharmacologic drugs within the

formulary and act as treatment team leaders in
accordance with State of New Hampshire law
and medical staff by-laws.

2.1.5.2.5. Provide documentation in accordance with

Department policy and the allowable scope of
practice for APRNs.

2.1.5.3. The Contractor must provide one (1) FTE Psychiatric APRN
to support the geriatric population on Unit I and Unit-Jos
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2.1.5.4. The Contractor must provide one-half (.5) PTE Psychiatric
APRN to oversee the Contractor's other Psychiatric APRNs,
to assist with quality monitoring and reporting, and to develop
and deliver educational services as needed.

2.1.6. Chief Psychologist

2.1.6.1. The Contractor shallprovide one (1) PTE Chief Psychologist
who is a clinical psychologist (PhD or Psy.D.). The Contractor
shall ensure the Chief Psychologist;

2.1.6.1.1. Administers and analyzes psychological test
batteries and clinical assessment interviews with

acute psychiatric in-patients in a timely fashion,
including cognitive assessment; personality and
psychiatric diagnoses; and treatrnent and
discharge planning.

2.1.6.1.2. Provides expert clinical consultation to
psychiatrists, neurologists, treatment teams,
guardians, and aftercare agencies, as well as at
judicial hearings.

2:1.6.1.3. Works closely with psychiatric providers and
other team members, as needed, to promote
high quality patient care.

2.1.6.1.4. ■ Determines and provides psychological
treatment including but not limited. to crisis
intervention; individual, behavioral and group
therapy; cognitive training to acute psychiatric in-
patients with severe impairment; and family
counseling when indicated.

2.1.6.1.5. Consults with nursing and other staff about
management of difficult patients.

2.1.6.1.6. Participates in and suggests Psychology quality
assurance audits and clinical program evaluation
efforts.

2.1.6.1.7. Collaborates with state-employed Psychologists,
and their respective leadership, to develop
consistent, evidence-based clinical practices
throughout the organization.

2.1.7. Psychologist

2.1.7.1. The Contractor shall provide two (2) PTE Psychologists who
are clinical psychologists (PhD or Psy.D.). The Qac^Eactor

. A/W
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shall ensure the Psychologists:

2.1.7.1.1. Administer and analyze psychological test
batteries and clinical assessment interviews,
including, but not limited to cognitive
assessments, personality and psychiatric
diagnoses, and treatment and discharge
planning.

2.1.7.1.2. Determine and provide psychological treatment.

2.1.7.1.3. Complete progress notes and other
documentation.

2.1.8. Forensic Psychologist

2.1.8.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one (1) PTE
Forensic Psychologist to assist with serving patients deemed
not guilty by reasons of insanity, incompetent to stand trial,
or other civilly committed patients that require inpatient
psychiatric' treatment. The Contractor shall ensure the
Forensic Psychologist:

2.1.8.1.1. Is a clinical psychologist (PhD, Psy.D., or EdD
with forensic experience);

2.1.8.1.2. Has significant clinical experience in forensic
psychology; and

2.1.8.1.3. Has a certification in forensic psychology
(preferred).

2.1.8.2. The Contractor shall ensure the patient-to-provider ratio for
the Forensic Psychologist does not exceed 24:1.

2.1.9. Administrative Staff

^2.1.9.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) PTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support to
clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure the Administrative

Staff:

2.1.9.1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities, of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects.

2.1.9.1.2. Organize systems of distribution and review of
these items to ensure efficient communication.

2.1.9.1.3. Answer adhiinistrative questions on behalf of the
Department in a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry

— DS
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Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

2.1.9.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

2.1.9.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

2.1.9.1.6.- Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
related to the contract between the Department
and the Contractor.

2.1.9.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
'  nature.

2.1.9.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of the
Contractor within NHH.

2.1.9.1.9. Monitor budget accounts,, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract
with NHH.

2.1.9.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage in coordination with the Associate
Medical Directors.

2.1.9.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

2.1.9.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

2.1.9.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
communication, data extraction and other
administrative tasks.

2.1.9.1.14.' Suppprt Quality Improvement /Quality
Assurance /Key Performance Indicator
monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
Associate Medical Director.

2.1.9.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, time
attestations, and compliance monitoring.

2.1.9.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assigned.

—08
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2.1.10. Forensic Psychiatrists

'2.1.10.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of two (2) FIE
Forensic Psychiatrists to provide services to the High
Security Unit when it is operational. The Contractor shall
ensure all Forensic Psychiatrists:

2.1.10.1.1. Have appropriate experience in the specialty in
which they are boarded or board eligible; and

■  2.1.10.1.2. Have completed an ACGMErapproved residency
program in psychiatry.

2.1.10.1.3. Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical services, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and management of patients;

2.1.10.1.4. Maintain and direct a clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplinary staff consistent with

'  Department norms;

2.1.10.1.5. Determine the appropriateness of admissions,
transfers and discharges, consistent with RSA
135-C;

2.1.10.1.6. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees, assigned

j  committees and task forces;

2.1.10.1.7. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patients from other facilities, consistent with
Department policy;

2.1.10.1.8. Complete all necessary documentation, as
required, by TJC.and CMS standards;

2.1.10.1.9. Complete Occurrence Reports in compliance.with
. Department policy;

2.1.10.1.10.Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of
clinical care regarding medical necessity,
including daily progress notes to document and
support medical necessity, within timeframes as
specified by the Department's Medical Record
Documentation policy and procedure and other
relevant policies and procedures.

f  DS
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2.1.10.1.11. Ensure documentation is consistent with

normative data collected by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager;

2.1.10.1.12.Provide other services as required, which are
consistent with the mission of NHH and the intent

of this Agreement;

2.1.10.1.13. Appear and testify in all court and administrative
hearings as required by the Department;

2.1.10.1.14. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning of the Department's system
of care, including for the purpose of transition
planning. In accomplishing this requirement, the
Contractor shall ensure psychiatrists adhere to
Department standards;

2.1.10.1.15.Participate in utilization review processes,
including appeals and other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director, and/or CEO; and

2.1.10.1.16.Participate in on-call afterhours-coverage and
serve as on-site, after-hours coverage, on ai 24-
hour a day, 7-day a week, year-round basis when
necessary, as determined by the CEO, Chief
Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical
Director. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-call pool of
' Contractor Personnel providing call coverage

services.

2.1.10.2. The Contractor agrees Forensic Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate in on-call, after-hours coverage for
NHH, as needed.

2.1.10.3. The Contractor shall ensure all Forensic Psychiatrists
provide services on a full-time basis as defined in Paragraph
1.4.3 above and limit their practice to treating Department
patients only.

2.1.10.4. Notwithstanding the above, the Contractor agrees Forensic
Psychiatrists may perform occasional outside practice duties,
with the advance written approval of the CEO and Chief
Medical Officer, but only if said duties do not, in the sole

— DS
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judgment of the CEO, interfere with the psychiatrists' duties
at the Department.

2.1.10.5. The Contractor shall ensure Forensic Psychiatrists
participate in on-call, after-hours coverage above the 40-hour
week to ensure on-call psychiatrist services are provided 24
hours per day, 7 days per week. For this reason, the
Contractor shall provide reports summarizing full-time
equivalent staffing for each invoicing period.

2.1.11. Forensic Psychologists

2.1.11.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of three (3) FTE
Forensic Psychologists to assist with serving patients
deemed not guilty by reasons of insanity, incompetent to

J  stand trial, or other civilly-committed patients who require
inpatient psychiatric treatment. The Contractor shall ensure
Forensic Psychologists:

2.1.11.1.1. Are clinical psychologists (PhD or Psy.D.);

2.1.11.1.2. Have significant clinical experience in forensic
psychology: and

2.1.11.1.3. Have certification in forensic psychology
(preferred).

2.1.11.2. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) Forensic Psychologist
provides services that include, but are not limited to:

2.1.11.2.1. Assisting with the design and operational
planning for the High Security Unit;

2.1.11.2.2. Developing workflows and policies for the High
Security Unit;

2.1.11.2.3. Assisting in ensuring regulatory readiness for the
High Security Unit;

2.1.11.2.4. Supporting TJC accreditation process for the
High Security Unit; and

2.1.11.2.5. Serving patients deemed not guilty by reasons of
insanity, incompetent to stand trial, or other civilly
committed patients who require inpatient
psychiatric, treatment, upon commencement of
services at the High Security Unit.

2.1.11.3. The Contractor must provide two (2) additional Forensic
Psychologists to provide full-time clinical services to patients
at the High Security Unit prior to the opening of the^qyity.
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2.1.11.4. The Contractor shall ensure the patient-to-provider ratio for
the Forensic Psychologists does not exceed 12:1 at the High
Security Unit.

2.1.12. Behavioral Analyst

2.1.12.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one (1) PTE
Board Certified Behavioral Analyst who provides services to
NHH and the High Security Unit when it is operational. The
Contractor shall ensure the Behavioral Analyst:

2.1.12.1.1. Coordinates and provides services in applied
behavioral analysis, function analyses and
assessment, behavior acquisition and reduction
procedures, and adaptive life skills;

2.1.12.1.2. Provides ongoing support to clinical staff as it
relates to the implementation and documentation
associated with behavior plans;

2.1.12.1.3. Assists in the development and implementation
of assessment tools, conducts functional
assessments and analyses when appropriate,
and develops appropriate behavior strategies to
teach appropriate behavior and reduce
maladaptive behaviors;

2.1.12.1.4. Provides ongoing support and training to direct
care professionals, clinical staff and other
individuals, including, but not limited to, patients'
guardians, as needed;

2.2. Glencliff Home

2.2.1. Medical Director

2.2.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) part-time
Geropsychiatrist to serve as the Medical Director for two (2)
days per week (sixteen (16) hours per week) at Glencliff
Home. The Contractor shall ensure the Medical Director:

2.2.1.1.1. Coordinates all medical care and direct

T  psychiatric services, treatment and associated
foliow-up to all residents of Glencliff Home;

2.2.1.1.2. Completes and appropriately documents care for
all individuals requiring care, as identified by
Glencliff Home clinical and nursing staff;

2.2.1.1.3. Provides administrative functions, including but
^  DS
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not limited to review and establishment of

policies that reflect current standards of practice;
oversight of physicians; attendance at
mandatory committee meetings, including but

not limited to quality assurance and performance
improvement (QAPI), infection control, and
admissions; regularly review the use of
psychotropic medications for compliance with
the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA)
regulations; and the provision of other assistance
in meeting standards for annual State
inspections and Federal regulations;

2.2.1.1.4. Prepares for, travels as necessary, and delivers
expert testimony in probate court, as needed, on
matters that may include, but are not limited to,
guardianship cases, electroconvulsive therapy,
and do not resuscitate orders; -

2.2.1.1.5. Provides written patient evaluations on each
patient as frequently as required by the
Department but in no case less than once per
calendar year; and

2.2.1.1.6. Serves as liaison with other organizations,
including, but not limited to NHH, when' a"
Glencliff Home resident is receiving services at
another healthcare institution.

2.2.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure routine, or emergency telephone
consultation is provided by the Medical Director or an equally
qualified physician at no additional cost, twenty-four (24)
hours per day, seven (7) days per week, fifty-two (52) weeks
per year, to Glencliff Home.

2.3. Additional Requirements for NHH only - Service Area #1 -

2.3.1. The Contractor shall ensure inter-disciplinary case reviews are
completed on 100% of patients who are clinically stable for greater
than fifteen (15) days and still admitted to NHH.

2.3.2. The Contractor shall ensure that staffing is maintained at a level that
ensures no impact on the numberof beds available and that NHH does
not stop admissions due to the lack of coverage for staff provided by
the Contractor.

2.3.3. The Contractor shall ensure that on-call after-hours coverage is
provided by no less than one (1) full-time Psychiatrist, -^dd^ional
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personnel who provide coverage may be either a Psychiatrist or a
Psychiatric APRN.

2.3.4. The Contractor shall ensure on-call after-hours coverage is assigned
in one-week increments in rotation among the full-time psychiatric
staff.

2.3.5. The Contractor shall ensure the on-site after-hours coverage on
weekdays, weekends and holidays is provided by a Psychiatrist or
Psychiatric APRN. The Contractor shall ensure staff are certified or
eligible for certification by the American Board;of Psychiatry and
Neurology or are in training in an .accredited psychiatry residency
program with at least three (3) years of training experience or are
credentialed as a Psychiatric APRN through the American Nurse
Credentialing Center or equivalent credentialing body.

2.3.6. The Contractor shall maintain a pool of Psychiatrists or Psychiatric
APRNs, or a combination thereof, who are credehtialed with NHH for
the after-hours work, and the after-hours staff are assigned to in-house
after-hours coverage by the Chief Medical Officer or Associate Medical

■ Officer with a six (6) month rolling calendar. The Contractor shall
ensure the pool is of sufficient size and appropriate qualifications to
ensure the ability to meet the staffing level requirements and
performance standards specified herein.

2.3.7. ■ At the request of the CEO, staff provided by the Contractor shall
provide tele-psychiatry or offsite consultation. The Contractor shall
ensure staff who conduct tele-psychiatry have professional
malpractice insurance in effect, in an amount satisfactory to the
Department, and meet all. credentialing and provider enrollment
guidelines pertinent to providing tele-health services.

2.4. Performance Standards and Outcomes for NHH only - Service Area #1

2.4.1. The Contractor's performance standards and outcomes shall be
monitored to ensure:

2.4.1.1. Within'forty-five (45) days of the assignment of the Chief
Medical Officer, and annually thereafter, the Contractor and
CEO, in consultation with the Chief Medical Officer, shall
develop a list of performance metrics, which shall be updated
on an annual basis at a minimum, based upon the
deliverables, functions and responsibilities of the Chief
Medical Officer, subject to approval by the CEO, which shall
be reviewed for approval on a quarterly basis.

2.4.1.2. Services provided by the Chief Medical Officer are
satisfactory to the Department. The Contractor shall, no less

— 08
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than annually and more frequently if required by the
Department, provide an evaluation tool to solicit input from
the CEO regarding the Chief Medical Officer's provision of
services.

2.4.1.3. A corrective action plan is developed to address any material
concerns, as defined by the CEO, In the evaluation tool, and
provide a copy of the plan to the CEO for review and
approval.

2.4.1.4. The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all times to
mitigate any impact on the number of beds available and
interrupted admissions due to the lack of staffing coverage.

2.5. Key Performance Indicators for NHH only ■ Service Area #1

2.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure providers comply with the following Key
Performance Indicators:

2.5.1.1. Psychiatric Progress Notes

2.5.1.1.1. Completed daily on patients who are certified as
acute inpatient level of care.

2.5.1.1.2. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

2.5.1.1.3. Completed not less than five (5) times per week
or unless otherwise specified by the CEQ, their
designee or the Department, on patients who are
no longer acute level of care.

2.5.1.1.4. Content as it pertains to:

2.5.1.1.4.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH; and

2.5.1.1.4.2. NHH facility's policies and
procedures.

2.5.1.2. Patient Length of Stay

2.5.1.2.1. Evaluation through data collection and case
review of active treatment during patient stay.

2.5.1.3. CMS Certification Guidelines

2.5.1.3.1. Certifications and/or re-certification conducted in

accordance with required CMS and NHH
timeframes.'

2.5.1.3.2. Assigned certification status is clearly supported
in psychiatric progress notes. •

'' / DS

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

B-1,0 Page 24 of 39 Date^Z^Z?^iL



Docusign Envelope ID; 8CD2D319.8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

2.5.1.4. Standardized Process

2.5.1.4.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

2.5.1.4.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
.  target outcomes of the standardized work.

2.5.1.5. Treatment Plans

2.5.1.5.1. Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

2.5.1.5.2. Performance measured by periodic audits which
are provided to the Chief Medical Officer and
CEO.

j

2.5.1.5.3. Content as it perlains to:

2.5.1.5.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'

policies: and

2.5.1.5.3.2. NHH policies and procedures.

2.5.1.6. Annual Reviews

2.5.1.6.1. The Chief Medical Officer or designee must
conduct and document annual reviews on all

. Contractor Personnel providing services under
this Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure
performance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines.

2.6. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan for NHH only - Service Area #1

2.6.1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum:

2.6.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing .to operate NHH beds at full
utilization;

2.6.1.2. Ensuring Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision
and training to perform the assigned tasks;

2.6.1.3. Ensuring patients receive care consistent with evidence-
based care; and

2.6.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practises to
&/M
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protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors. .
/

2.6.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer monitors
progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and Contractor on a
quarterly basis.

2.6.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer meets with the
• CEO and Contractor at minimum on a quarterly basis to review
progress toward Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well
as Key Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 2.5. above.

2.6.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the. Chief Medical
Officer toward these Quality Assurance and Monitoring goals.

2.6.5. . The Contractor shall review and revise the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan, in consultation with the CEO on an annual basis, or
as otherwise requested by the Department.

3. Service Area #2 Non-Emergent Medical Services

3.1. New Hampshire Hospital

3.1.1. General Medical Director

'3.1.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE physician to serve
as the General Medical Director at NHH.

3.1.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director is

physically present at NHH a minimum of forty (40) hours per
week and oversees all clinical. staff in Service Area #2

referenced herein. The Contractor shall ensure the General
Medical Director:

3.1.1.2.1. Is a primary care or internal medicine physician
^  who has completed residency with at least three

V  (3) years of. experience in supervising primary
,  , care clinicians. (A board certification in a primary

care field is preferred.)

3.1.1.2.2. Provides consultation for infection prevention
and infection control practices and protocols;

3.1.1.2.3. Assumes a leadership role in maintaining and
improving medical standards of care for patients;

^  3.1.1.2.4. Partners with state-employed medical providers
to provide evidence-based medical care to
patients of NHH; and

{

3.1.1.2.5. ■ Educates staff in the appropriate application of
" —DS
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evidence-based practices and protocols for
medical care.

3.1.2. General Internist/Hospitalist

3.1.2.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE General
Internist/Hospitalist. The Contractor shall ensure the General

^  Intemist/Hospitalist:
3.1.2.1.1. Is a primary care or internal medicine physician

who has completed residency with at least three
(3) years of experience. (A board certification in
a primary care field is preferred.)

3.1.2.1.2. Provides general medical, care to patients at
NHH.

3.1.2.1.3. Consults with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidities for patients at NHH.

3.1.2.1.4. Coordinates care with local community hospitals
to ensure patients receive hospital-level medical
care, if needed, outside of NHH.

3.1.2.1.5. Assists and participates in various hospital-wide
initiatives, including, but not limited to,
vaccination clinics, medical testing events, and
other functions that may result from a pandemic,
or other public health related event.

3.1.2.2. The Contractor must provide an additional one-half (.5) PTE
Hospitalist (General Internist or APRN) for medical coverage
each Priday until the following Monday at 8:30 AM. This
coverage also includes holidays observed by the Contractor.

3.1.3. Advanced Practice Registered Nurse

v  3.1.3.1. The Contractor shall provide two (2) PTE APRNs to complete.
primary, acute, and specialty healthcare services. The
Contractor shall ensure the APRNs:

3.1.3.1.1. Complete a board certification competency-
based examination, with credentials that remain

'  valid for five (5) years and completes specific
continuing education requirements ' to renew
specialty certifications as needed.

3.1.3.1.2. Treat patients with diagnosed disorders along
with medical comorbidities that require attention
during their admission.

f  OS
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3.1.3.1.3. Consult with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbiditles for patients at NHH.

.  3.1.3.1.4. Coordinate care with local community hospitals.
to ensure patients receive hospital-level medical
care, if needed, outside of NHH.

3.1.3.1.5.^ Assist and participate In various hospital-wide
'  initiatives, such as vaccination clinics, medical

testing events, and other functions that may
result from a pandemic, or other public ihealth
.related event.

3.1.4. Administrative Staff

3.1.4.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) PTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH
to clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure* the
Administrative Staff:

3.1.4.1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects.

3.1.4.1.2. Organize systems of distribution and review' of
these items to ensure efficient communication.

3.1.4.1.3. Answer administrative questions on behalf of the
Department in a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

3.1.4.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

3.1.4.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

3.1.4.1.6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
related to the contract between the State and the

Contractor.

3.1.4.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature.

3.1.4.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and

i  recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of
Contractor within NHH.

3.1.4.1.9. Monitor budget accounts, attendan^^^ and
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schedules of providers related to the contract
with the Department.

3.1.4.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage in coordination with the Associate
Medical Directors

3.1.4.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

3.1.4.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

3.1.4.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
communication, data extraction and other

administrative tasks.

3.1.4.1.14. Support Quality Improvement/Quality
Assurance/Key Performance Indicator
monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
Associate Medical Director.

3.1.4.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, time
attestations, and'compliance monitoring.

3.1.4.1.16. Perform other dutie^s as required or assighed.
3.2. Additional Requirements-Service Area #2

3.2.1. For all non-urgent medical consult requests. Contractor Personnel
shall review and issue either an approval or an alternative treatment
recommendation within the next business day (non-holiday or
weekend) of a non-urgent consult request being made.

3.2.2. The Contractor shall act upon all urgent and/or emergent medical
consult requests within one (1) hour of a consult request being made.

3.2.3. The Contractor shall complete a history and physical (H&P) for all
patients within 24 hours of admission, and every 30 days thereafter,
for patients with a length of stay (LOS) greater than 30 days.

3.2;4. The Contractor shall ensure provider staff provide on-call, after-hours
coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure on-call physician services
are available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. For the avoidance of
doubt, the parties agree that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor
Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH.

—DS
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3.3. Performance Standards and Outcomes - Service Area #2

3.3.1. The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all times to mitigate any
impact on the number of beds available and Interrupted admissions
due to the lack of staffing coverage.

3.4. Key Performance Indicators • Service Area #2

3.4.1. the Contractor shall ensure providers comply with the following Key
Performance Indicators:

3.4.1.1. Progress Notes

3.4.1.1.1. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

3.4.1.1.2. Content as it pertains to:

3.4.1.1.2.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'

policies; and

3.4.1.1.2.2. NHH policies and procedures.

3.4.1.2. Standardized Process

3.4.1.2.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

3.4.1.2.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

3.4.1.3. Treatment Plans

3.4.1.3.1. , Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

3.4.1.3.2. Performance measured by random monthly
audits which are provided to the Utilization
Management Committee.

3.4.1.3.3. Content as it pertains to:

3.4.1.3.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'

policies; and

3.4.1.3.3;2. Department policies and
procedures.

3.4.1.4. Annual Reviews

3.4.1.4.1. Annual reviews are documented on all

Contractor Personnel performing services under
— DS
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this Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure
performance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines.

3.4.2. Upon request by the Department, the Contractor shall identify
additional performance metrics, develop performance goals, establish
monitoring processes and engage in collaborative performance
evaluation processes for Service Area #2.

3.5. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan-Service Area #2

3.5.1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum:

3.5.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH beds at full
utilization;

3.5.1.2. Ensuring the Contractor's staff receive necessary
supervision and training to perform the assigned tasks;

3.5.1.3. Ensuring that patients receive care consistent with evidence-
. based care; and

,3.5.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practices to
protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors.

3.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director monitors

progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and a representative
of the Contractor on a quarterly basis.

3.5.3. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director meets with

the CEO and Contractor on a quarterly basis to review progress toward
Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well as Key
Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 3.4. above.

3.5.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the General Medical
Director toward these Quality Assurance and Monitoring goals.

3.5.5. In consultation with the CEO, the Contractor shall review and revise
the Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan on an annual basis, or as
otherwise requested by the Department.

4. Additional Requirements - All Service Areas

4.1. Subject to Section 4.3, the Contractor shall ensure all assignments for all
staffing positions are covered on a daily basis, and, if providing staff to NHH,
are responsible for reporting out on staffing assignments during dajly^gafety
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huddles.

4.2. The Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are continuously"
filled or in active recruitment. The Contractor shall provide the appropriate
Department designee with monthly updates on the recruitment process for all
unfilled positions.

4.3. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing, at no additional cost
to the Department, qualified,'sufficient staff coverage to fill any gap in coverage
during any;anticipated leave time, including sick leave, vacation, or continuing
medical education leave lasting more than five (5) consecutive days unless
otherwise agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the CEO, and for providing
appropriate transition between staff covering for those on leave. Qualified
sufficient staff coverage means personnel who meet or exceed the
qualifications of the vacating staff member.

4.4. The Contractor shall track and report staffing levels by PTE units on a monthly
basis to the Department. The Contractor shall not be required to provide hourly
timecards for clinical staff. The Contractor shall provide hourly timecards for
non-clinical staff,that summarize hours worked for each invoicing period.

4.5: The Contractor shall ensure the care needs of patients are fully 'addressed by
modifying the number of hours per week worked by PTE and/or Part-Time PTE

(  staff, as requested by the Department. The Contractor shall ensure Part-Time
PTE staff work the appropriate number of hours in accordance with PTE
allocation.

4.6. In the event of a healthcare system emergency, as determined by the
Department, including but not limited to a local epidemic, pandemic, facility
closures, or mass-quarantine in which additional staffing or resources are

■  required due to a surge of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may
also be required to adjust the total number of staff, both full-time and part-time,

'  to fully address the care needs of patients.
\

4.7. All personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to approval by the
Department prior to notifying candidates of assignment or hire. The Department
will inform the Contractor of any applicable Department designee for this
purpose per Service Area or position.

4.8. The Department, at its sole discretion, may rescind, either permanently or
temporarily, its approval of any Contractor Personnel providing any services for
any of the following reasons:

4.8.1. Suspension, revocation or other loss of a required license, certification
or other contractual requirement to perform such services under the

'  contract; .

4.8.2. Provision* of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
misfeasance, insubordination or failure to satisfactorily^^-prfjvide
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'  required services;

4.8.3. Arrest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or alcohol
related offense;

4.8;4. Abolition of the role due to a change in organizational structure, lack
of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

4.8.5. Any other reason that includes but is not limited to misconduct;
violation of Department policy; violation of state or federal laws and
regulations pertaining to the applicable Department service area; or a
determination made by the Department that the individual presents a
risk to the health and safety of any staff member, or any individual

,  served by the Department. '

4.9. In the event of^such rescission, the Department shall, to the extent possible,
provide the Contractor with, reasonable advanced notice and the applicable
reason. The Contractor shall ensure the applicable staff member(s) are
prohibited from providing services for the period of time that the Department
exercises this right. No additional payments will be paid by the State of New
Hampshire for any staff removed from duty by the Department for any reason.
The Contractor:

4.9.1. Shall, unless the Contractor Personnel was removed from providing
services under Section 4.8.4, provide replacement personnel who
meet all of the applicable requirements under the contract, including
but not limited to being subject to Department approval specified in 4.7;

4.9.2. Shall be responsible for providing transition services to the applicable
Service Area to avoid the interruption of services and administrative
responsibilities at no additional cost to the Department;

4.9.3. Shall furnish replacement staff, within ten (10) business days, who
meet all, of the requirements for the applicable position under the
resulting contract(s) if the duration of a temporarily rescinded approval
is greater than seven (7) calendar days. The Contractor shall be
informed by the Department of the anticipated' duration for which
approval will remain rescinded. The Contractor shall be responsible
for providing, at no additional cost to the Department, transition
services to the Department to avoid service interruption;

4.9.4. May initiate, at the sole discretion of the Contractor, any internal
personnel actions against its own employees. Nothing herein prohibits
the Contractor from seeking information from the Department
regarding the Department's decision, unless information is otherwise ;
restricted from disclosure by the Department based on internal
Department policies or rules. State of New Hampshire personnel
policies, rules, collective bargaining agreements, or other state or

,  OS
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federal laws.

i  4.9.5. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing the applicable
:  - services for the applicable Department service area or facility, all
I  required licenses, certifications, privileges, or other specified minimum
j  , qualifications are met for all staff, and where applicable, are

maintained throughout the provision of services for the full term of the
Contract. The Contractor shall provide the applicable Department
designee with a copy of all documents. The Contractor "shall not hold
the Department financially liable for any fees or costs for any licenses,
certifications or renewal of same, nor for any fees or costs incurred for
providing copies of said licenses or certifications.

4.9.6. • In addition to any ajDprovals required by the Contractor for employees,
the Contractor shall ensure staff provide timely, prior notification to the
applicable Department designee for any anticipated leave time, unless
otherwise stated herein for a specific position or service area. The
Contractor shall ensure that all staff provided have a standard amount
of vacation and sick time, subject to the normal and customary
employee benefits and policies of the Contractor. However, the
Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the State holiday schedule.

4.10. The.Contractor shall ensure annual performance reviews are completed for all
Contractor Personnel. The Contractor shall incorporate feedback from the
applicable Department designee for such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure
that goal development is responsive to the evolving needs of the'Department
over the course of the contract period.

4.11. The Contractor shall be responsible for managing all employee relations and
,  performance management issues for the staff provided, in accordance with the

Contractor's policies and procedures. Medical Service Organization (MSG) by
laws, and applicable NHH, Glencliff Home, and/or State of New Hampshire
policies.

4.12. Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel provided
undergo the following criminal background, registry, screening and medical
examinations:

t

4.12.1. Criminal Background (including New Hampshire criminal background);

4.12.2. Bureau of Adult and Aging Services State Registry;

4.12.3. Division for Children, Youth and Families Central.Registry; and

4.12.4. Physical capacity examination.

4.13. The Contractor shall ensure Contractor Pe/sonnel assigned to perform services
under the Agreement comply with all Department requirements, policies, and
procedures relative to infection prevention, mitigation, and control to mitigate

— DS
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the risks of disease transmission prior to the commencement of services.

4.14. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry, screening
and medical examinations above are kept current as required and in
accordance with the Department's confidentiality policy: the Department
receives copies of all required documentation prior to the commencement of
services and is not responsible for any costs incurred in obtaining the
documentation.

4.15. The Contractor shall hot utilize any personnel, including subcontractors, to fulfill
the obligations of the contract, who have been convicted of any crime of
dishonesty, including but not limited to criminal fraud, or otherwise convicted of
any felony or misdemeanor offense for which incarceration for up to one (1)
year is an authorized penalty. The Contractor shall initiate a criminal
background check re-investigation of all personnel provided every five (5)
years. The Contractor shall ensure the five (5) year period is based on the date
of the last criminal background check conducted by the Contractor or their
agents.

5. State-Owned Devices, Systems and Network Usage

5.1. Contractor personnel must use a state-issued device, including, not limited to
computers, tablets, or mobile telephones, in the fulfilling the requirements of

■  the contract..The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel:

5.1 ;1. Use the information that they have permission to access solely for the
provision of services hereunder or conducting official state business,.
All other use or access is strictly forbidden including, but not limited, to
■personal or other private and non-State use, and that at ho time shall,
except as, necessary to provide services hereunder. Contractor
workforce or agents access or attempt to access information without
having the express authority of the Department to do so;

5.1.2. Not access or attempt to access information in a manner inconsistent
with the approved policies, procedures, and/or agreement relating to
system entry/access; '

5.1.3. Not copy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse engineer,
rent, or sell software licensed, developed, or being evaluated by the
state. At all times the Contractor shall use utmost care to protect and
keep such software^ strictly confidential in accordance with the license

.  or any other agreement executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State of New
Hampshire can be used by the Contractor. Non-standard software
shall not be installed on any equipment unless authorized by the
Department's Information Security Office;

5.1.4. Agree that email and other electronic communication messages

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A03 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

B-1.0 Page 35 of 39 . Date'm

■DS

ejH

m2s



Docusign Envelope ID: 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #3

created, sent, and received on a state-issued email system are the
property of the State of New Hampshire and to be used for business
purposes only. Email is defined as "internal email systems" or "state-
funded email systems." The Contractor understands and agrees that
use of email shall follow Department and State of Nevy Hampshire
standard policies; and

5.1.5. Use the internet and/or Intranet for access to and distribution of

information in direct support of the business of the State of New
Hampshire according to policy of the Department. At no time should
•the internet be used for.personal use.

6. Exhibits Incorporated

6.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Information in

compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act- of 1996 ("HIPAA"), and in
accordance with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties.

6.2. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agreement in
accordance with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

6.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

7. Reporting Requirements

7.1. Service Area #1

7.1.1. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written report, in
a form specified by the Department, to the Department documenting
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicatd, and other
third-party providers.

7.1.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual
basis to the Department that describes the services rendered by the
clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's performance pursuant to the
requirements of the contract during the preceding contract year.

7.2. Service Area #2

7.2.1. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services reguJ^ions
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and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written report, in a
form specified by the Department, to the Department documenting the
services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicaid, and other
third-party providers.

7.2.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual
basis to the Department that describes the services provided by the
General Medical Director and clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's
performance pursuant to this Agreement during the preceding contract
year.

7.3. All Service Areas

7.3.1. The Contractor shall provide monthly staff reports to the Department
to sufficiently document actual staffing levels and services rendered.
Monthly staff reports shall include the following:

7.3.1.1. Monthly staffing schedule;

7.3.1.2. FIE by position in accordance with the resulting contract(s);

7.3.1.3. Actual FIE worked within the monthly reporting period .by
clinical position; and

7.3.1.4. Actual FIE allocated to sick time, leave time, or any other
non-clinical time within the monthly reporting period by
clinical position.

8. Additional Terms

8.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes

8.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal
legislation or court orders may have an impact on the Services
described herein, the State of New Hampshire has the right to modify

Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement
so as to achieve compliance therewith. In the event that any future
state or federal legislation or court order impacts the Services
described herein, the Department shall provide the Contractor with
reasonable advanced notice of any necessary modification to Service

' priorities and expenditure requirements. The parties agree to
cooperate in the implementation and planning of any such
modification and the Department shall consider Contractor's
reasonable requests with respect to such modifications.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Department shall retain the final
right to modify Service priorities and expenditure requirements under
this Agreement so as to achieve compliance with any futur^J^te or
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federal legislation or court orders that have an impact on the Services
described herein.

8.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

8.2.1. All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other
materials related to and resulting from the performance of the services
of the Agreement shall include the following statement, "The
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an
Contract with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and
Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State of New
Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human
Services."

8.2.2. All materials produced or purchased under the Agreement shall have
prior approval from the Department before printing, production,
distribution or use.

;  8.2.3. The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all
original materials produced, including, but not limited to:

8.2.3.1." Brochures.

8.2.3.2. Resource directories.

8.2.3.3. Protocols or guidelines.

8.2.3.4. Posters.

8.2.3.5. Reports.

8.2.4. the Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the
Agreement without prior written approval from the Department.

8.3. Eiigibility Determinations
\  I

8.3.1. If the Contractor is permitted and required by the Department to
determine the eligibility of individuals, such eligibility determination '
shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and state laws,
regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

8.3.2. Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by the
Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such
times as.are prescribed by the Department.

8.3.3. In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the
Contractor shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services
hereunder, which file shall include all information necessary to
support an eligibility determination and sbch other information as the
Department requests in writing. The Contractor,shall furnish the

,  DS
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Department with all forms and documentation regarding eligibility
determinations that the Department may request or require.

8.3.4. The Contractor - understands that all applicants for services
hereunder, as well as individuals declared, ineligible have a right to a
fair hearing regarding that determination. The Contractor hereby
covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be
permitted to fill out an application form and that each applicant or re-
applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair hearing in
accordance with Department regulations.

9. Records

9.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

9.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidencing and reflecting all costs and other expenses incurred by the
Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, and all income
received or collected by the Contractor.

9.1.2. All records must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all such
costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original
evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of in-kind.contributions,
labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by
the Department.

10. Liquidated Damages

10.1. Liquidated damages are specified in, and may be assessed in accordance with.
Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

.  I, David M. Scanlan, Sccrclarj' of Siaieofthe Slate ofNew Hampshire, do hereby certify lhal MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL

HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07, 1889. 1

further certify that all fees and documents required by the Sccrelar>' of Slate's office have been received and is in good standing as

far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0006776481

aim

O

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 12th day of September A.D. 2024.

David M. Scanlan

Sccrclarj'of State
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Dartmouth Dartmouth-Hitchcock Boards of Trustees
Health

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L. Mines. MD. do hereby certify that:

1. I am the duly elected Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Marv Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and

. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock").

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the Amended,-Restated and Integrated Bylaws of the

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Corporations:

a. "ARTICLE II - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets. As
responsible stewards of tax-exempt, charitable Corporations, members of the Corporations'
Boards have the .fiduciary duty to oversee, with due'care and loyalty, the stewardship of the
Corporations' assets and operations in order to create a sustainable health system that is population
focused and value-based, and to advance their respective corporate purposes. In exercising this
duty, the Boards may, consistent with the respective Corporation's Articles of Agreement and

•  these Bylaws, delegate authority to Board Committees and other bodies, or to various officers, to
provide input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter
into contracts and agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the, Corporations
as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of their charitable purposes." '

3. Pursuant to policy approved and adopted by the Boards of Trustees consistent with the above Bylaws

provision, the Chief Clinical Officer, Edward Mcrrens, MD, has subdelegated signature authority to enter
j

into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial

Hospital.
/  . . ' 1

4. The foregoing authority shall remain in full force and effect as of the date of the agreement executed or

action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This authority shall remain valid for thirty (30) days from

the date of this Certificate and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written

notice of modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has been received by the State

of New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this 23^^^ day of January, 2025.

Roberta L. Hines; MD, Board Chair
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COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401
INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756

(603)653-6850

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This'
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POUCV NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002024-A 7/1/2024 7/1/2025 EACH

OCCURRENCE

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE

OTHER PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG

$1,000,000

$1,000,000

N/A

$1,000,000

$3,000,000

$1,000,000

PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

0002024-A 7/1/2024 7/1/2025 EACH CLAIM $1,000,000

X
CLAIMS MADE

ANNUAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OCCURENCE

OTHER

DESCRIPTION or OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECI TO RETENTIONS)
Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLA'ITON
Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor'to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the
ccrliflcatc holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or liabilit)' of any kind upon the company, its agents or rcpresentativc.s.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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DARTHIT^I

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

LSTILES

DATE (MM/OO/YYYY)

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER ̂ i^^nse //1780862
HUB International New England
275 US Route 1
Cumberland Foreside, ME 04110

cgNTACT Lauren Stiles
PHONE FAX
JA/C, No. E*l): (A/C. No);

Lauren.Stiles@hubinternationai.com

INSllRFRfS) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC*

INSURER A The Grav Insurance Comoanv 36307

INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER B Midwest EmDiovers Casualtv Comoanv 23612

INSURER C

INSURERD

INSURERS

INSURER e

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR

LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE
ADDL

IN5D
SUBR

WVD POLICY NUMBER
POLICY EFF
IMM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EXP
fMM/DD/YYYYI LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GE NERAL LIABILITY

)E 1 1 OCCUR
EACH OCCURRENCE s

CLAIMS-MAC DAMAGE TO RENTED
$

MED EXP (Anv one oerson) %

PERSONAL « AOV INJURY i

GEN-L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER; GENERAL AGGREGATE s

POLICY 1 \ |lOC
OTHER:

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG' $

$

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

$

ANY AUTO

HEDULED
ITOS

ffcm?

BODILY INJURY IPer oerson) s
OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

aI!^ only

sc
AL BODILY INJURY (Per acddenll s

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per acddent) i

s

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE $

AGGREGATE $

OED RETENTION $ $

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ^ ̂
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE rrn

If yes. describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS belw

N/A

SPX0702544 7/1/2024 7/1/2025

Y PER OTH-
^ STATUTE ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT
,  500,000

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE
,  500,000

E.L DI.<vFASE • POLICY LIMIT
,  500,000

B Excess Workers' Comp EWC01023S 7/1/2024 7/1/2026 NH Only 1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS/VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional RemarVi Sctiadula, may ba attachad If more apaca it raqulrad)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Medical Center

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
New London Hospital Association
Visiting Nurse Associates and Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire

NHDHHS

129 Pleasant Street

Concord. NH 03301

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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Dartmouth Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center
Health Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics

About Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth

Hitchcock Clinics

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health

(https://www.dartmouth-heaith.org)—include Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, the state's

only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary
and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont.

Our physicians and researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and

faculty as well as other leading healthcare organizations to develop new treatments at the

cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient.

Who are Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock
Clinics?

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center and the

only Level I Adult and Level II Pediatric Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth

Hitchcock Advanced Response Team (DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides

ground and air medical transportation to communities throughout northern New England.

In 2024, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center was named New Hampshire's best hospital

in the U.S. News & World Report Best Hospitals 2024-25 (https://heaUh.usnews.com/best-

hospitals/area/nh/dartmouth-hitchcock-medical-center-6120170) rankings, recognized as high-

performing in 11 common adult procedures and conditions. We also are recognized for

high-performing Maternity Care/Uncomplicated Pregnancy, which was part of the Best

Maternity Hospitals survey.
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics provide primary and specialty care throughout Nev\/
Hampshire and Vermont, with major comnjiunity group practices in Lebanon, Concord,
Manchester. Nashua, and Keene. New Hampshire, and Bennington. Vermont.

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center
Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center (hups://chiidrens.dartmouth-

heaith.org/iocations-directions/iebanon-region) is New Hampshire's only children's hospital and a

member of the Children's Hospital Association, providing advanced pediatric ippatient,
outpatient and surgical services at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center.

:

en-

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon (https://cancer.dartmouth.edu/iocations-

directions/norris-cotton-cancer-care-pavilion-lebanon), one Of only 57 NCI-designated

Comprehensive Cancer Centers in the nation, is one of the premier facilities for cancer

treatment, research, prevention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission
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We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community

partnerships, providing^each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every

time.

Our vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in our

region and setting the standard for our nation. ;

Our values

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency
;

• Trust ■ , '

'• Teamwork

• Stewardship

• Community.

Copyright © 2025 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics. All rights reserved.

Also of interest

Learn About Clinical Trials & Research (hUpsV/www.daitmoulh-hiichcockiorg/reseorch/leem-about-clitiical-trii'its-fesearch)

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and... {httpsi/Zvw.'w.(Jartriioutii-iiitciicock.org/about/historyi

Collaborations {https'.//w\v\v.dai tmouth-bitchcocl<.ofg/about/collaboiations)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and

Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022
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pwc
Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Ppinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
andjts subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of •
cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively refeiTed to as the
"consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Health System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit e\4dence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatemeht, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are
issued.

Auditors' Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would
influence the Judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T- (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, wv;v.pwc.com/us
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In^performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identity and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's abilit)' to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplemental Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating balance sheets and consolidating statements of
operations and changes in net assets without donor restrictions as of and for the years ended June 30,
2023 and 2022 (the "supplemental information") is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information is not
intended to present, and we do not express an opinion on, the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the indirfdual companies. The supplemental information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting-and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated
financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, "the supplemental information is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17,2023
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $  115,996 $  191,929
Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4) 289,787 251,250
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 184,104 169,133

Total current assets 589,887 612,312

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7) 1,071,462 1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 182,224 175,116
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 811,622 764,840
RIght-of-use assets, net (Note 16) 55,528 58,925
Other assets 193,333 172,163

Total assets $  2,904,056 ;$  2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $  15,236 :$  6,596
Current portion of right-of-use obligations (Note 16) 11,334 11,319
Line of credit 40,000 .

Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11) 3,386 3,500
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 146,747 156,572
Accrued compensation and related benefits 137,467 190,560
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3 and 4) 64,360 134,898

Total current liabilities 418,530 503,445

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,098,962 1,117,288
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion (Note 16) 45,671 48,824
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12) 91,349 78,391
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11) 206,305 228,606
Other liabilities 173,918 154,096

Total liabilities 2,034,735 2,130,650

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3,4,6,7,10,13, and 16)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9) 658,988 634,297
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9) 210,333 199,503

Total net assets 869,321 833,800

Total liabilities and net assets $  2,904,056 3E  2,964,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Operating revenue and other support
Net patient service revenue (Note 4) $  2,397,157 iE  2,243,237
Contracted revenue 84,346 77,666

Other operating revenue (Note 4)
Net assets released from restrictions

608,875

■  14,843 •

534,031

15,894

Total operating revenue and other support ■  3,105,221 2,870,828

Operating expenses
Salaries 1,423,091 1,315,407

Employee benefits ,332,386 322,570

Medications and medical supplies 725,480 649.272

Purchased services and other 458,901 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 85,715 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 90,457 86,958

Interest (Note 10) 34,515 32,113

Total operating expenses 3,150,545 , 2,892,907

Operating loss (45,324) (22,079)

Non-operating gains (losses)

Investment income (loss), net (Note 5) 58,119 (78,744)
Other components of net periodic pension and post

retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14) (17,691) 13,910

Other losses, net . (8,530) ■ (6,658)

Total non-operating gains (losses), net 31,898 (71.492)

Deficiency of revenue over expenses ' '  $ (13,426) a;• (93,571)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - continues on next page

. -The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Net assets without donor restrictions

Deficiency of.revenue over expenses 5P  (13,426) $ (93,571)

Net assets released from restrictions for capital 3,229 1,573

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11) 34,901 (32,309)

Other changes in net assets (13) (23)

Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions 24,691 ,(124,330)

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 23,637 39,710

Investment income (loss), net 5,846 .  (7.010)
Net assets released from restrictions (18,653) (17,467)

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions 10,830 15,233

Change in net assets 35,521 (109,097)

Net assets

Beginning of year 833,800 942,897

End of year 5P  869,321 $ 833,800

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets S  35,521 S (109,097)
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 90,806 87,006
Amortization of bond premium, discount, and issuance cost, net (2,779) (2,764)
Amortization of right-of-use asset 9,242 9,270

Payments on right-of-use lease obligations - operating (9,162) (9.190)
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits (34,901) 32,309
Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets (883) (523)
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments (79,799) 86,652
Restricted contributions and investment earnings (8,208) (20.151)

Proceeds from sales of donated securities 3,818 10,665
Changes in assets and liabilities

Patient accounts receivable, net (38,537) (19,089)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,984 (9,915)
Other assets, net (21,688) 2,517

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (31,082) 17,104

Accrued compensation and related benefits (53,093) 6,490

Estimated third-party settlements (71,907) (120,117)
Insurance deposits and related liabilities 12,958 (1,583)
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits 12,486 (28,422)
Other liabilities 21,191 (56,687)

Net cash used in operating activities (164,033) (123,525)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (129,321) (160,855)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 1,214 613

Purchases of investments (71,410) (65,286)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 249,684 137,781

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 50,167 (87,747)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 979,500 .  30,000

Payments on line of credit (939,500) (30,000)
Repayment of long-term debt (81,907) (9,116)
Proceeds from issuance of debt 75,000 .

Repayment of finance leases (3,599) (3,253)
Restricted contributions and investment eamings 8,208 20,151

Net cash provided by financing activities 37.702 7,782

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (76,164) (203,490)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 193,485 396,975

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year S  117,321 $ 193,485

Supplemental cash flow Information
Interest paid $  44,362 $ 42,867

Constmction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 5,105 9,407

Donated securities 3,818 10,665

The following table reconciles cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets to cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets limited as to use
Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in other investments for restricted activities

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown
in the consolidated statements of cash flows

2023

115,996

1,325

2022

191,929

1,350

206

117,321 S 193,485

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH), its Members, and their Subsidiaries (the Health System) is a
system of hospitals, clinics; and other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire and
Vermont. The Health System's mission is to advance health through research, education, clinical
practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at
the right time, every time. The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,
leading the transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The
Health System's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the follovwng entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH)
and Subsidiaries, (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc. (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary, and Visiting Nurse Association and
Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community, and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the
principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth
College.

D-HH, DHC, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

On December 6, 2022, D-HH entered Into an Integration Agreement with Valley Regional
Healthcare, Inc. ("VRHC") and its subsidiary Valley Regional Hospital and its affiliates ("VRH"), a
critical access hospital located in Claremont, New Hampshire. The parties have submitted the
transaction for regulatory review by the New Hampshire Attorney General with a target closing date
in early 2024.

Community Benefits
Consistent with its mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations. In addition, the Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area
healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component,of an integrated
academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and
research programs.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Certain member hospitals'of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of 'NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in the
Community Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Improvement Services include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public programs,, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, etc.).

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Health System.

•  Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development, of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and

.  economic determinants of health. Examples include physical'improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  . Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

•  The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2022 was approximately $235,081,000. The 2023 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2024.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30. 2022:

(in thousands of dollars)

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid $ 235,081

Health professional education 43,186
Subsidized health services 21,202

Charity care 16,011

Community health improvement services 15,695
Research 7,254
Cash and In-Kind Contributions 4,001

Community building activities 2,834

.Total community benefit,value $ 345,264"

In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $4^';000 and $462,000, respectively.

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled $157,615,000.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual, basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the^United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gains, and losses of healthcare entities
are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net
assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imppsed stipulations and are
available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose use has beendimited
by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation.

Use of Estimates ^ .

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation* of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and. pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Deficiency of Revenue over Expenses
The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the deficiency of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the care of
patients, Including contributions and investment income (loss) on Investments of net assets without
donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support. Peripheral
activities, including realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes in
unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the deficiency of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring such assets), and change in funded status of pension and .other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System'"does-:f»t anticipate collection of arhdunts qualifying as charity care, they are hot
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are .local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue,is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payers, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
paTty payers and implicit pricing concessions. Rejroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period -the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

/  !
Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act (CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)

10
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), CARES Act Employee Retention
Credit Funds, operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria sales, and other support service
revenue {Note 3 and 4).

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, and other highly liquid
investments,(primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level 1 Investments
under the fair value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the Health
System's endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash equivalents, are
classified as investments at fair value and. therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Investments and Investment Income (Loss)
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the deficiency of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid jp transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between, market
participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

' Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds^ private equity funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the deficiency of revenue over expenses.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH genera! partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized, gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the deficiency of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and losses, unless.
the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measuremerit of Financial Instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted .prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels, of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below;

Level l Unadjusted quoted prices in active* markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

11
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments. •

Property, plant, and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the deficiency of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the
donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the
assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital assets
are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how. long those capital
assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or
acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds.' Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.

12
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,367,000 and $8,885,000 as intangible assets as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.'
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is. accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBGR), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting, relief to contract
rhodifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBGR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate
reform. The Health System is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. The COVID-19 Pandemic

Gn March 11, 2020, the World Health Grganization designated CGVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation's healthcare system. In response to CGVID-
19, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic support to a wide variety of organizations and individuals. The Health
System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized
below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds

The Health System received $1,822,000 and $100,346,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In July 2020, HHS issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
recipients to identify healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,
attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic. If those expenses do not exceed the'funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining funds were used to compensate for a
negative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief Funds
awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the CGVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed
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. by another source plus losses Incurred due to the decline in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 30, 2023.

Medicare and Medicald Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances, related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000.
Repayment of funds commenced in April 2021. The balances of CMS prepayment advances and
accumulated payroll tax deferrals at June 30, 2022 were $54,890,000 and $16,550,000,
respectively, and are included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amounts for CMS prepayment advances
and payroll tax deferrals were repaid, in full, during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic,
including protecting the health and safety of employees and patients, as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies to be better positioned for
potential surges. Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate the impact of new or
changes to laws and regulations at-the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on
Health System staffing and operations. At this time, the' Health System remains unable to
accurately predict the full extent to which.the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the Health System's
future finances and operations.

4. Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over'^time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally,, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the.
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point io time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
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or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period. ̂
Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge alL patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions..

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for-service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are'paid using the
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on

' PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers'of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.
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Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate^capitated rate. (

The Health System's cost-based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year, based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MCPs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for-service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
The MCPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments, in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
MCPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer, that
would materially affect its revenues, for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and, as such, are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, home health provider taxes paid were
$579,000 and $627,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions . .
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, and for those who are uninsured, based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients'
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and.other known factors that impact the estimation
process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.'

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
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collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlenrients with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, additional increases in revenue of $24,098,000 and
$19,743,000, respectively, were recognized, due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating reyenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients
covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans, as well as patients covered
under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of total operating revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

2023

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital

Medicare $ 587,377 $  106,370 $  693,747
Medicaid 168,410 18,824 187,234
Commercial 862,502 88,492 950,994
Self-pay 11,307 802 12,109

Subtotal 1,629,596 214,488 1,844,084

Professional 504,370 35,578 539,948

Subtotal 2,133,966 250,066 2,384,032

Home based care 13,125

Subtotal 2,397,157

Other revenue 706,242
Provider Relief Funds 1,822

Total operating revenue and other support $  3,105,221

2022

(in thousands of dollars) ■ PPS CAH Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 542,292 $  99,976 $  642,268
Medicaid 158,121 15,739 173,860

Commercial 809,736 81,395 891,131
Self-pay 7,027 902 7,929

Subtotal 1,517,176 198,012 1,715,188

Professional 470,559 40,186 510,745

Subtotal 1,987,735 238,198 2,225,933

Home based care 17,304

Subtotal 2,243,237

Other revenue 528,762
Provider Relief Funds 98;829

Total operating revenue and other support $ . 2,870,828
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Medicaid Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital
On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected In each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SFY) 2021 through SFY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $85,853,000 and $77,488,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and, therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $83,582,000 and approximately $75,988,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recorded $85,715,000 and
$82,725,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6.0% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets.

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

Medicare 36% 38%

Medicaid 12% 12%

Commercial 41% 38%

Self Pay 11% 12%

Total 100% 100%
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5. ' Investments
V

The composition of investments at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is set forth in the following table;

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board
Cash and short-term investments $  6,988 $  31,130
U.S. government securities 80,595 126,222
Domestic corporate debt securities 271,321 .  234,490

Global debt securities 37,092 68,610
Domestic equities 205,200 198,742
International equities 75,199 63,634
Emerging markets equities 37.080 34,636
Global equities 77,479 73,035
Real Estate Investment Trust 2 2

Private equity funds 141,808 138,605
Hedge funds 44,558 55,069

Subtotal 977,322 1,024,175

Investments held by captive Insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 30,366 27,242
Domestic corporate debt securities 13,918 7,902
Global debt securities 13,180 7,595
Domestic equities 13,994 10,091
International equities 5,372 ■  4,692

Subtotal .76,830 57,522

Held by trustee under Indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments 17,310 99,397

Total assets limited as to use. 1,071,462 1,181,094

Other Investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 21,243 8,463
U.S. government securities 27,323 27,600
Domestic corporate debt securities 45,864 37,343
Global debt securities 5,282 10,059

Domestic equities 30,754 34,142
International equities 11,054 10,698
Emerging markets equities 5,187 5,587
Global equities 10,281 11,153
Real Estate investment Trust 18 19

Private equity funds 18,816 21,166
Hedge funds 6,368 8,852
Other 34 34

Total other investments for restricted activities 182,224 175,116

Total investments $ 1,253,686 $ 1,356,210
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case-by-case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize investments by the accounting method utilized as of June 30, 2023
and 2022. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those securities
accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2023

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eauitv Total

Cash and short-term investments $  45,541 3;  - 3;  45,541

U.S. government securities. 138,284 - 138,284

Domestic corporate debt securities 122,320 208,783 331,103

Global debt securities 55,554 - 55,554

Domestic equities 204,541 45,407 249,948

International equities 57,221 34,404 91,625

Emerging markets equities 267 42,000 42,267

Global equities - 87,760 , 87,760

Real Estate Investment Trust 20 - 20

Private equity funds - 160,624 160,624

Hedge funds 456 50,470 50,926

Other 34 - .  34

Total investments $  624,238 3;  . 629,448 $i  1,253,686

V

(

2022

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eauitv Total

Cash and short-term investments $  138,990 $;  - $ 138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064 - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 118,642 ■  161,093 279,735

Global debt securities 57,558 28,706 86,264

Domestic equities 19^1,767- 51,208 242,975

International equities 47,631 ■ 31,393 79,024

Emerging markets equities 298 39,926 40,224

Global equities - 84,187 84,187

Real Estate Investment Trust 21 - 21

Private equity funds - 159,771 159,771

Hedge funds 443 63,478 63,921

Other 34 • 34

Total investments $  736,448 5;  619,762 $ 1,356,210
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For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, investment income (loss) is reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as other
operating revenue of approximately $905,000 and $857,000, respectively, and as non-operating
gains (losses) of approximately $58,119,000 and ($78,744,000), respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the fund has fully
distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire.
Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified
level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $79,753,000 and $75,070,000. respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars)

Land

Construction in progress

Land improvements

Buildings and improvements •

Equipment

Subtotal property, plant, and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation .

Total property, plant, and equipment, net

/

2023 2022

$  40,749 :i  40,749

43,117 163,145

■  52,054 44,834

1,166,776 984,743

■1,101,410 1,042,582

2,404,106 2,276,053

1,592,484 1,511,213

$  811,622 ;P  764,840

As of June 30, 2023, construction in progress primarily consists of four projects; the Family and
Community Care Clinic located in. Keene, NH, the renovation of inpatient wings as part of the
Pavilion backfill project located in Lebanon, NH,' and two lab software upgrades to the Lebanon
campus. The estimated cost to complete the construction in progress is approximately $10,700,000.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2022, included the in-patient tower, the emergency
department (ED) expansion and the central pharmacy/supply chain facility renovation. All were
placed in service during the year ended June 30, 2023.

Capitalized interest of $59,000 and $6,853,000 is included in construction in progress as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Depreciation expense included in operating activities was $87,029,000 and $83,661,000 for 2023 and
2022. respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, dorhestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted rnarket prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).
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Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments 5  45,541 3)  - $ -  $ 45,541
U.S. government securities 138,284 - - 138,284
Domestic corporate debt securities 41,351 80,969 122,320

Global debt securities 24,429 31,125 55,554

Domestic equities , 200.252 4,289 204,541

International equities 57,221 - 57,221
Emerging market equities . 267 - 267

Real estate investment trust 20 - 20

Hedge funds ̂ 456 - 456

Other - 34 - 34

Total fair value investments 507,821 116,417 . 624,238

Deferred compensation plan assets

Cash and short-term investments 11,893 - - 11,893
U.S. government securities 40 - - 40

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,453 - - 10,453
Global debt securities 16 - . 16

Domestic equities 41,841 - - 41,841
International equities .5,874 -  . - 5,874
Emerging market equities 21 - - 21

Real estate 14 - ■- 14
Multi strategy fund 62,689 - - 62,689

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 132,841 - - 132,841

Beneficial interest in trusts - - 14,875 14,875
Total assets E  640,662 5 116,417 $ 14,875 $ 771,954
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2022

(in thousands of dollars) ■ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments $  . 138,990 3;  - ,3;  - $;  138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064 - - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 1,768 116,874 - 118,642

Global debt securities 24,745 32,813 - 57,558

Domestic equities 187.063 4,704 - 191,767

International equities 47,631 - - 47,631

Emerging market equities 298 - - 298

Real estate investment trust 21 - - 21

Hedge funds 443 - - 443

Other - 34 - 34

Total fair value investments 582,023 154,425 _ 736,448

Deferred compensation plan assets

Cash and short-term investments 8,053 - - 8,053

U.S. government securities 36 - - 36

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,874 1  _
- 10,874

Global debt securities 964 - - 964

Domestic equities 33,742 - - 33,742

International equities 4,911 - - 4,911

Emerging market equities 19 - - 19

Real estate 12 - - 12

Multi strategy fund 57,964 - - 57,964

Total deferred compensation

plan assets 116,575 - • 116,575

Beneficial interest in trusts - - 16,051 16,051

Total assets $  698,598 3;  154,425 3;  16,051 $ 869,074

There were no transfers into or'out of Level 1, 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

There were no liquidations of Level 3 measurements during the'years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022.
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8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2023 and
2022; , -. , ■ .

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Investments held in perpetuity , ' $  88,926 $  84,117
Healthcare services 38,596 36,123

Research 28,176 27,477
Health education 27,374 27,164
Charity care 12,486 12,155

Other 10,825 8,639

Purchase of equipment 3,950 3,828

Total net assets with donor restrictions 1P  210,333 3;  199,503

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

The Health System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions,^ which
are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation Is added to the fund, if any..
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to-net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endpwment fund; general economic
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conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total returnifrom income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve Its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment .Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022. '

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and
2022: ' •

2023

Without With

Donor Donor
(in thousands at dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  111,843 E  111,843

Board-designated endowment funds 28,688 - 28,688

Total endowed net assets . $ 28,688 $  111,843 :E  140,531 ,

2022

Without With '
Donor Donor

(in thousands ofdoliars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds
.  )

$ $  ■ 107,590 :E  107,590

Board-designated endowment funds 41,344 - 41,344

Total endowed net assets $  41,344 $  107,590 :E  148,934
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Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30. 2023 and 2022'are as follows:

2023

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 gJ  148,934

Net investment return 212 .  1,305 1,517
Contributions - 3,201 3,201-
Transfers (12,743) 2,561 (10,182)
Release of appropriated funds (125) (2,814) (2,939)

End of year balances S  28,688 $  111,843 3i  140,531

End of year balances

•-1

111,843
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 13,954 '

Net assets with donor restrictions $  125,797

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,728 $  108,213 $;  149,941
Net investment return (1,065) (3.998) (5,063)
Contributions - 12,950 12,950
Transfers 795 (7,105) (6,310)
Release of appropriated funds (114) (2.470) (2,584)

End of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 $ 148,934

End of year balances
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Net assets with donor restrictions

107,590

14,903-

$  122.493
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83,355 $

10. Long-Term Debt

A summaty of obligated group debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

1  (in thousands of dollars). 2023

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1)

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 2018B. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1)

Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2)

Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2040 (3)
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3)

Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4)

Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual ̂
amounts, through August 2030 (5)

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6)
Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2033 (7)
Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2045 (8)

Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7)

Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9)

Total obligated group debt

303,102

2022

83,355

303,102

■ 125,000 125,000

122,435 122,435

,109,800 109,800

99,165 99,165

22,860 23,950

21,715 22,605

14,530 14,530

10,970 10,970

•  - ' 4,810

125,000 125,000

$  1,037,932 !E  1,044,722
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Other

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%
through Novernber 2046 $ 2,343 $ 2,417
Note payable to a financial institution with entire'
principal due June 2034; collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free 232 247
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through December 2024;

collateralized by associated equipment 3^ 55

Total nonobligated group debt 2,607 2,719

Total obligated group debt 1,037,932 1,044,722

Total long-term debt 1,040,539 1,047,441

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 80,112 83,249

Less: Current portion 15,236 6,596.
Debt issuance costs, net 6,453 6,806

Total long-termdebt.net $ 1,098,962 $ 1,117,288

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023

2024 $ 15,236

2025 ( 19,363
2026 20,209

2027 20,915

2028 21,574

Thereafter 943,242

Total $ 1,040,539

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt

MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or the
"Authority". The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2023 consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
NLH, MAHHC, and APD. The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2022 consisted of D-HH,
MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group
agent.
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Effective June 26, 2023, after approval from the D-HH Board of Trustees, Cheshire withdrew from
the DHOG. The Cheshire Series 2012 bonds and the related obligated group note securing the
Cheshire bonds, will remain outstanding and therefore constitute a continuing joint and several
obligation of the DHOG.

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The

Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG {and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt

Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 20188 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B, insFebruary
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds. The
Series 2018B revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
credit. Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The
interest on the Series 2018A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of 5.00%.

The interest on the Series 2018B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.18%, and

matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A, in February 2020. The Series
2020A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being
used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds. Series 2017A and Series 2017B, in December
2017. The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 2017B
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 2012B revenue bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is

fixed, with an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 2017B revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 2.54%.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds *

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A, in October 2019. The Series

2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily to
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fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(5) Series 20180 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 20180, in August 2018. The Series 2018C
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to refinance
the Series 2010 revenue bonds. The interest on the Series is fixed, with an interest rate of
3.22%.

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, in November 2012. The Series
2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% {a net interest cost of 3.96%).

(7) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds; Series 2014A and Series 2014B, in August 2014.
The Series 2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022. The Series 20148 revenue bonds mature at
various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B revenue bonds
were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
Interest on the^2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on the
Series 2014B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B, in July 2016, through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B revenue bonds mature at various
dates through 2045 and were used to finance certain 2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed,
with an interest rate of 1.78%.

(9) Note payable to financial institution >

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.

■  The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an Interest rate of 2.56%.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is
$1,037,932,000 and $1,044,722,000, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of $17,310,000 and $99,397,000 at June
30, 2023 and 2022, respectiyely, are classified as assets limited as to use in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets {Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of approximately $46,000
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and $6,674,000 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as other current assets in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service reserves are mainly comprised
of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2023 and 2022.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 interest expense on the Health System's long-term
\ ^ debt is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net

Assets as operating expense of approximately $34,515,000 and $32,113,000, respectively, and
other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and $3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.

11. Employee Benefits

' Eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or defined
contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans to certain active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The

I  postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

the Health System's defined benefit plans have been frozen and, therefore, there are no remaining
participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

^  Defined Benefit Plans .
Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits expense, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets, is comprised of the following components
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation $ 45,924 $ 36,722

Expected return on plan assets (46,071) (65,917)

Net loss amortization 15,820 13,139

Total net periodic pension expense $ 15,673 $ (16,056)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of Jurie 30,
2023 and 2022:.

2023 2022

Discount rates 4.40%-5.10% 3.30%

Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A

Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 4.40% - 7.25% 7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Change in benefitj)bligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $  938,886 3;  1,140,221
Interest cost 45,924 36,722
Benefits paid (58,580) (54,864)
Actuarial loss (59,480) (183,193)

Benefit obligation, end of year 866,750 938,886

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 747,095 958,864
Actual return on plan assets 1,229 (169,405)
Benefits paid (58,580) (54,864)
Employer contributions

- 12,500

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 689,744 747,095

Funded status of the plans (177,006) (191,791)

Less: Current portion of liability for pension
-

Long-term portion of liability for pension (177,006) (191,791)

Liability for pension $  (177,006) $■  . (191,791)

As. of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

r

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in-net assets
without donor restrictions include $489,486,000 and $519,946,000 of net actuarial loss as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The amounts amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic pension
expense in fiscal year 2023 for net actuarial losses was $15,820,000.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30. 2023 and 2022:

Discount rates

Rate of increase in compensation

2023

4.85 - 5.90%

N/A.

2022

4.40-5.10%

N/A

The primary investment objective for the defined benefit plans' assets is to support the pension
liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing {"LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
impact fluctuating interest rates have on the.value of the pension plan's liabilities. As of June 30,

34



Docusign Envelope ID: 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

/

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

2023, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension liabilities. As of June 30, 2022, the expected LDI hedge was
approximately 70%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize
a diversified structure of asset classes. The asset classes are designed to achieve stated
performance objectives, measured on a total return basis which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses.

•/

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments

are as follows:

Range of

Target Target

Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%

U.S. government securities 0-10 5

Domestic debt securities 20-58 . 42

Global debt securities 6-26 4

Domestic equities 5-35 17

International equities 5-15 7

Emerging market equities. 3-13 4

Global Equities 0-10 6

Real estate investment trust funds ,0-5 1

Private equity funds 0-5 0

Hedge funds 5-18 s  11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the,Health System.-as plan sponsors, oversee the design, structure, and
prudent professional management of the Health System's pension plans' assets, in accordance
with Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, and authorities, and more
specifically the following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•• Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring' and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
pension plans own interests in both private equity and hedge funds rather than in securities
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underlying each fund and, therefore, the Health System generally considers such investments as
Level 3, even though the underlying securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily
marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans' investments that were accounted
for at fair value as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023

Redemption Days'
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 L^v^l 2 Level 3 Total or Liauidatton Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments S $  10,667 $ $  10,667 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 22,919 - - 22,919 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 96,004 250,964 - 346.968 ' Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities'
- - - - Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 89,391 26,849 - 116,240 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 18,912 22,361 - 41,273 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities
- 26,743 - 26,743 Daily-Monthly 1-17'

Global equities - 52,461 - 52,461 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 13 13 See Note 5 See Note 5
Hedge funds

- - 72,460 72,460 Quarlerly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $  227,226 $390,045 $ 72,473 $689,744

2022

Redemption Days'
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liauidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $  - S1  16,030 $ . S  16,030 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 124,686 - - 124,686 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 17,530 226,107 - 243,637 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - 24,136 - 24.136 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 104,070 31,324 - 135,394 Daily-Monthly 1-10

international equities 15,558 20,406 - 35.964 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 25,487 - 25,487 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities - 54,787 - 54,787 Daily-rMonthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 14 14 See Note 5 See Note 5
Hedge funds

- - 86,960 86,960 Quarterty-Annual 60-96

•Total investments S 261,844 S. 398,277 $ 86,974 S 747,095
>
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The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedae Funds Eaultv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  86,960 $  14 $ 86,974

Sales (13,013) - .  (13,013)
Net unrealized losses (1,487) (1)' (1,488)

End of year balances $  72,460 $  13 $ 72,473

2022

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedae Funds Eauitv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  15,512 $  15 $ 15,527

Purchases 81,400 - 81,400

Sales (2,152) - (2:152)
Net unrealized losses (7,800) (1) (7,801)

End of year balances $  86,960 $  14 $ 86,974

The total aggregate net unrealized (losses) gains included in the fair value of the Level 3
investmerits as of June 30. 2023 and 2022 were approximately ($12,443,000) and ($543,000),
respectively. Hedge funds totaling $13,013,000 and $2,152,000 were liquidated in 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.
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The weighted average asset allocation, by asset category, for the Health System's pension plans is
as follows at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

Cash and short-term investments 3% 2%

U.S. government securities 5 17

Domestic debt securities 42 33

Global debt securities 4 3

Domestic equities 17 18

International equities 7 5

Emerging market equities 4 3

Global equities 6 7

Hedge funds 12 12

Total 100 % 100%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.25% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $15,888,000 to the Plans in 2024
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payments, winlch reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 $ 122,722

2025 58,784

2026 59,960

2027 61,029

2028 61,971

2029 - 2033 313,803

The Cheshire Medical Center plan was terminated effective June 30, 2022, pending regulatory
approvals. Following regulatory approval, the plan sponsor intends to distribute assets and settle
plan obligations through a lump sum offering to active and terminated vested participants and a
group annuity contract will be purchased for any participant that doesn't elect the lump sum, along
with ail participants currently in pay status. The benefit obligation for the plan reflects anticipated
disbursement costs and a terminal cash contribution to fully fund benefits will be made at that time.
The obligations reflect the cost of providing the lump sums and group annuity, described above, as
well as administrative costs and a terminal contribution which will be necessary to fund all of the
costs of terminating the plan. It is expected that the obligations will be settled by June 30, 2024 and
the plan termination liability will reflect economic conditions, lump sum election rates and annuity
pricing at that time. As a result, the final plan termination liability may be different from the amounts
shown in this report.
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Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has employer-sponsored plans for certain of its members, under which the
employer makes contributions based on specified percentages of compensation and employee
deferral amounts. Total employer contributions to the plan of approximately $71,152,000 and
$64,946,000 In 2023 and 2022, respectively, are included in employee benefits expenses in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Postretlrement Medical and Life Insurance Benefits

The Health System has postretlrement medical and life insurance benefit plans covering certain of
its active and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and-life insurance
benefits to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretlrement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) ' 2023 2022

Service cost $ . 357 $ 456
Interest cost -1,956 1,394
Net loss amortization 62 752

Total. $ 2,375 $ 2,602

The following table sets forth the accumulated postretlrement medical and life Insurance benefit
obligation amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June
30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Change in benefit obligation

Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 40,315 $ 46,663
Service cost / 357 453
Interest cost 1,956 1,394
Benefits paid (3,588) (3,401)
Actuarial loss ' (6,355) (4,964)
Employer contributions - (33)

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year 32,685 40,315

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits • $ (3,386) $ (3,500)
Long-term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits (29,299) (36,815)

Funded status of the plans and liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits $ (32,685) $ (40,315)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for postretirement medical and life Insurance benefits is
included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic income for the postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans, included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Net actuarial (income) loss (1,970) 4,445

Total $  (1,970) $ 4,445

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the years ending June 30, 2023 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 $  3,486
2025 3,424

2026 3,396

2027 3,387

2028 3,227

2029-2033 14,893

In determinirig the accumulated benefit obligation for the postretirement medical and life insurance
plans, the Health System used a discount rates of 6.00 - 6.10% in 2023, and an assumed
healthcare cost.trend rate of 6.50 - 7.00%, trending down to 5.00% in 2029 and thereafter.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth College, Cheshire, NLH, APD, MAHHC. and VNH are provided
professional and general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance
Risk Retention Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive insurance company. RRG cedes the majority of.
this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive'insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda, and HAC cedes a portion of this risk to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H has
majority ownership interest in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to
the covered institutions, named insureds and their employees on a modified claims-made basis,
which means coverage is triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance
deposits are actuarially determined, based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future
development. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.
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Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at
June 30, 2023 and'2022. are summarized as follows:

2023

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $  93,777 $  2,372. $ 96,149
Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670

•2022

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $  79,831 $  2,245 $ 82,076

Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal.to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. It is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have
a material effect on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Line of Credit

The Health System has entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution, establishing
access to a revolving loan of up to $100,000,000. Interest is variable and determined using the
Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The loan
agreement is due to expire October 3, 2024. The outstanding line of credit balance was
$40,000,000 and $0 as of June, 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest expense , was
approximately $1,200,000 and $91,000, respectively, and is included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that''best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used'by department.
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June 30, 2023 and 2022

Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30. 2023:

2023

Program Management
(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraisina Total

Operating expenses
Salaries $ 1,238,158 $  183,063 $  1,870 $ 1,423,091
Employee benefits 293.359 38,778 249 332,386
Medical supplies and medications 722,957 2,517 6 725,480
Purchased services and other 305,192 148,439 5,270 458,901
Medicaid enhancement tax 85,715 - . 85,715
Depreciation and amortization 45,702 44,707 48 90,457
Interest 8,470 26,037 8  , 34,515

Total operating expenses $ 2,699,553 $  443,541 $  7,451 $ 3,150,545

Program Management 1

Services and General Fundraisina Total

Non-operating expense
Employee benefits $  15,606 $  2,077 $  8 $  17,691

Total non-operating expense $  15,606 $  2,077 $  8 $  17,691
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2022:

2022

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraisino Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $ 1,129,572 $  184,533 $  1,302 $ 1,315,407
Employee benefits 281,455 40,887 228 322,570.
Medical supplies and medications 645,437 3,835 - 649,272

Purchased services and other 255,639 142,241 5,982 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax 82,725 . 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 42,227 44,675 56 86,958

Interest 9,116 22,987 10 32,113

Total operating expenses $ 2,446,171 $  439,158 $  7,578 $ 2,892,907

Program Management

Services and General Fundraisino Total

Non-operating Income

Employee benefits $  12,144 $  1,755 $  11 $  13,910

Total non-operating income $  12,144 $  1,755 $  11 $  13,910
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15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets .reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets may not be
available for general expenditure within one.year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2023 and 2022 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30. 2023 and 2022, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 " 2022
t

Cash and cash equivalents $ 115,996 $ 191,929
Patient accounts receivable 289,787 251,250
Assets limited as to use ^ 1,071,462 1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities 182,224 175,116

Total financial assets $  ■ 1,659

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies
Investments for restricted activities

Bond proceeds held for capital projects
Other investments with liquidity horizons
greater than one year

Total financial assets available within one year

,469 $ 1,799,389

76,830 57,522

182,224 175,116

17,310 99,397

■  141,810 159,792

$  1,241,295 3;  1,307,562

The Health System used cash flow from operations of approximately ${164,033,000) and
$(123,525,000) for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively. In addition, the
Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $100,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is
derived using a collateralized borrowing rate, for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12
months or less, rather the Health System recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-
line basis, over the lease term, within lease and rental expense.
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Operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 3 to 8 years. These real estate leases may
include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to 5 '*
years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System's sole discretion: When
determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
is reasonably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

Certain lease agreements for real estate include payments based on actual common area
maintenance expenses and/or rental payments adjusted periodically for inflation. These variable
lease payments are recognized in other occupancy costs in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not included in the right-of-use asset or liability
balances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material
residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants.

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2023 2022(in thousands of dollars)

Operating lease cost

Variable and short term lease cost (a)

Total lease and rental expense

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease

Interest on debt of property under finance lease

Total finance lease cost

9,590

10,608

9,573

10,894

$  20,198 $ 20,467

$  3.778 $ 3,345

546 448

$  4,324 $ 3,793

(a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022
are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement

of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

" Total

2023 2022

10,067

546

3.599

14,212

9,952

448

3,255

13,655
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30. 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Operating Leases
Right-of-use assets - operating leases
Accumulated amortization

Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net

$  59;258

(26,731)

32,527

■  $ 61,165

(21,222)

'39,943

Current portion of right-of-use obligations
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding clirrent portion

■. 7,799
25,386

8,314
32,207

Total operating lease liabilities 33,185 40,521

Finance Leases
• Right-of-use assets - finance leases

Accumulated depreciation

Right-of-use assets - finance leases, net

32,837
(9,836)

23,001

27,963
(8,981)

18,982

Current portion of right-of-use obligations
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion

3,535
20,285

3,005
16,617

Total finance lease liabilities $  23,820 $  19,622

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases
Finance leases

7.54

.15.73
7.73

19.77

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases
Finance leases

2.36%
3.46%

2.24%
2.17%

The System obtained $3.6 million and $9.2 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30. 2023 are as. follows: .

(in thousands of dollars) Operatino Leases Finance Leases

Yearending June 30:
2024 $  8,474 $ 4,265

2025 '5,841 3,336

2026 4,311 2,869
2027 3,475 1,900

2028 2,784 1,701

Thereafter 11,340 15,043

Total lease payments 36,225 29,114

Less: Imputed interest 3,040 5,294

Total lease obligations ' $  33,185 $ 23,820

17. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2023,

the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there

were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or

disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

On July 3, 2023, D-HH affiliated with Southern Vermont Health Care Corporation and its

subsidiaries {"SVHC"), including Southwestern Vermont Medical Center, Inc. ("SVMC"), a 99-bed

community hospital located in Bennington, Vermont. Integrating SVHC into the D-HH System gives

D-HH an inpatient presence in southwestern Vermont with reach into eastern New York state and

northwestern Massachusetts markets.

In October 2023, the Health System issued a note payable in the amount of $100,000,000 to ID
Bank. The note matures at various dates through 2033, and is fixed, with an interest rate of
6.17%.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2023

Dartmouth- Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Oartmouth- Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
(in thousands of dollars) Health Hitchcdck Memorial AMociatinn Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Casti and cash equivalents S 2,375 S 202 S 40,750 S  32,082 $  11,462 $ . S 88,871 S 29,125 $ . S 115,996
Patient accounts receivatjle. net - ,241.747 10,868 11,022 7,607 - 271,244 18,543 - 289,787
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19.552 210.275 2,374 2.449 2.009 (36.789) 199,870 2,619 (18,385) 184.104

Total current assets 21,927 452,224 53,992 45,553 21,078 (36,789) 557,985 50,287 (18,385) 589,887

Assets limited as to use 135.937 832,895 13,089 17,990 25,786 (16,760) 1,009,937 61,525 . 1,071,462
Notes receivat)le. related party 843.946 14,308 588 - - (844,777) 14,065 (588) (13,477) .

Other investments for restricted activities 5 126,671 2,632 3,206 7,208 . 139,722 42,502 . 182,224
Property, plant, and equipment, net - 624,394 27,724 44,547 16,260 . 712,925 98,697 . 811,622
Right^f-use assets, net 344 ,32.819 14.967 266 4,897 - 53.313 2,215 - 55,528
Other assets 1,943 168,736 13,798 6,622 4,688 . 195,787 (2.454) . 193,333

Total assets S 1,005.102 s 2.252,047 S 126.790 $  118.204 S  79,917 S (898,326) S 2.683,734 $ 252.184 S (31.862) S 2,904,056

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current lialMlities

Cunent portion of long-term debt $ 13,365 s - $ 825 $  21 $  11 $ . s 14,222 S 1,014 S . s 15,236
Current portion of right-of-use obligations 204 9,136 759 49 422 . 10,570 764 . 11.334
Line of credit 40,000 40,000 40,000
Current portion of liability for pension and (

.

other postretirement plan benefits - 3,386 • - - . 3,386 .  . . 3,386
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 23,590 151,473 5,300 3,975 8,173 (53,549) 138,962 26,170 (18,385) 146,747
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 119,718 3,549 3,192 4,491 - 130,950 6,517 . 137,467
Estimated third-party settlements - 28.560 12,588 18,245 - . -  59,393 4,967 . 64,360

Total current liabilities 37.159 352.273 23,021 25,482 13,097 (53.549) 397,483 39,432 (18,385) 418,530

Notes payable, related party . 800,163 . 27,044 17,570 (844.777) . 13,477 (13,477) .

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,028,666 25,113 21.956 11 (105) - 1,075,641 23,321 . 1,098,962
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 140 24,333 14,786 243 4,635 . 44,137 1,534 . 45,671
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 89,947 322 253 283 . 90,805 544 _ 91,349
Liablity for pension and other postretirement .

plan benefits, excluding current portion - 197,049 - - 368 . 197,417 8,888 . 206,305
Other liabilities - 148,553 366 2,065 - - 150.984 22,934 . 173,918

Total liabilities 1,065,965 1.637.431 60.451 55,098 35,848 (898.326) 1,956.467 110,130 (31.862) 2,034,735

Commitments and contingencies 'i

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (60,873) 476.653 63.708 58,347 35.455 . 573,290 85,658 40 658,988
Net assets with donor restrictions 10 137.963 2,631 4,759 8,614 . 153,977 56,396 (40) 210,333

Total net assets (60.863) 614.616 66,339 63,106 44,069 . 727,267 142,054 869,321

Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,005,102 s 2,252.047 s 126,790 S  118,204 $  79.917 s (898.326) $ 2,683,734 $ 252,184 $ (31,862) $ 2,904,056
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(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use

Notes receivable, related party .
Other investments for restricted activities

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets, net
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of right-of-use obligations
Line of credit

Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretiremen! plan tsenefils

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits

Estimated third-party settlements

Total current liabilities

Notes payable, related party
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion
Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

, Net assets \without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

D-HH .  }
Health

and Other D-H and Cheshire and MAHHCand APDand VNH and System
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Suhsidtaries NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

$  2,375 $' • 1,470 S  15,911 $ 32,082 $  11,691 S  50,139 $  2,326 $ $  115,996
- 241,747 17,253 11,022 7,799 10,868 1.098 289.787

19,552 210,708 1,504 2,449 1,992 2,284 789 (55,174) 184,104

21,927 453,925 34,668 45,553 21,482 63,291 4,215 (55,174) 589,887

136,937 860,436 13,376 17,990 27,090 13,089 19,304 (16,760) 1,071,462
843,946 14,308

- - - -  .- (858,254) .

5 134,091 34,711 3,206 7,209 2,911 91 . 182,224
- 627,070 72,289 44,547 17,593 44,435 5,688 . 811.622

344 32,819 2,145 286 4,898 14,967 69 _ 55,528
1,943 168,902 7,130 6.622 2,231 6,505

- - 193.333

$

1,005.102 S 2,291,551 164,319 $. 118,204 80,503 145,198 29,367 $ (930,188) S 2,904,056

13,365

204

23,590

9,136

40,000

3,386

152,515

119,718

28,560

915

735

22,818

■5,406

21

49

3,975
3,192

36

423

8,312
4,564

825

759

5,990
3,907

74

28

1,481
680

(71,934)

15,236
11,334
40,000

3,386
146,747
137,467

37,159 353,315 34,802 25,482 13,335 24,069 2,302 (71,934) 418,530

- 800,163 10,477 27,044 17,570 . 3,000 (858,254) .

1,028,666 25,113 20,907 11 69 21,907 2,269 . 1,098,962
140 ■ 24,333 1,493 243 4,635 14,786 41 . 45,671

- 89,947 500 253 283 322 44
-

91,349

- 197,049 8,888 368 . . 206,305
- 148,553 1,500 2,065 - 21,800 - 173,918

1,065,965 1,638,473 78,567 55.098 36,280 82,884 '  7,656 (930,188) 2,034,735

(60,873) 507,534 37,307 58,347 35,609 59,404 21,620 40 658,988
10 145,544 48,445 4,759 8,614 2,910 91 (40) 210.333

(60,863) 653,078 85,752 63,106 44,223 62,314 21,711 869,321
$  1,005,102 $ 2,291,551 S 164,319 S 118,204 S 80,503 S 145,198 S 29,367 $ (930,188) $ 2,904,056
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance.Sheets
June 30, 2022

Dartmouth* Cheshire Alice Peck New London Ml Ascutney OH Obligated

1

All Other Non- Health

(in thousands ofdodars)
Hitchcock ' Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Grtxjp System
Health Hitchcock . Center Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Currerd assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,056 S 66,627 $ 20.165 S 38.416 $  28,467 $  11.327 $ $  167.258 $  24.671 $ S  191.929
Patent accounts receivable, net - 206,400 18.106 9,817 9,175 5.360 . 248.858 2,392 251.250
Prepaid eiqKnses and other current assets 23,561 161.262 19.580 3,522 4,452 1.472 (31,119) 182,730 (11.372) (2.225) 169.133

Total current assets' 25,617 434.489 57.851 51.755 42,094 18,159 (31.119) 598.846 15.691 (2.225) 612.312

Assets limited as to use 301.000 858.919 12,665 14.680 16.005 25.753 (98.848) 1.130,174 50,920 1.181.094
Notes receivable, related patty 842.052 11,557 . 803 . . (853,609) 803 (803) .

Other investments for restricted activities 490 118.082 16,422 727 3.925 6.846 146,492 28.624 175,116
Pn^rty. plant, and equipment, net

- 585,064 63.067 24,757 45.973 15.526 734,387 30,453 764,840
Right-of-use assets 1.362 .  35.321 1,830 14,892 166 5,249 58,820 105 58,925
Other assets 681 146,516 1,187 14.391 6.573 4,983 174.331 (2.168) 172,163

Total assets S 1.171,202 % 2.189,948 $ 153,022 S 122,005 $  114.736 S  76,516 S  (983.576) S  2.843.653 $  122.822 $  (2,225) $  2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Kabilities

Cunent portion of long-term debt S
-

$ 4.810 S 865 s 800 S  23 S $ S  6.498 S  98 $ S  6.596
C 559 8urrent portion of right-of-use obligations ,514 689 852 172 473 11.259 60 11.319
Cunent portion of liabifity (or pension and
other postretirement plan benefits

Accounts payable and accrued erqienses ^
Accrued compensation and related benefits

Estimated third-party settlements

147,626

3,002

3.500

100.110

169.194

68.876

16,607

6.817

22.999

4.683

4.431

17.488

4,843

4,507

21.886

6,693

4.434

647

(129.967)

3,500

152,795

189,383

134,898

6,002

1,177

(2.225)

3.500

156,572

190.560

134.898

Total current llat^ties 151,187 355.004 47,977 28.454 31,431 14.247 (129,967) .  498,333 7.337 (2,225) 503,445

Notes payable, related party
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion
Insurance deposits and related Kablities

Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion
Other liatxlities

1.044.845

803

808,602

25.084

27,359

76.678

220.350 .

129.092

21.867

1.233

623

7.774

1,109

23,060-

14,499

373

300"

27.437

32

401

1.749

17,570

(110)

"4,885

250

481

(853.609)

1.114,778

48.779

78,325

228,605

132.250

2.510

45 '
66

1

21.846

-

1.117,288

48.824

78.391

228.606

154,096

Total liabilities 1.196.835 1.642.169 80,583 '66.686 61.050 37.323 .  (983:576) 2,101,070 31.805 (2.225) 2,130,650

Commitments and contingendes

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets v/ith donor restrictions

(25.638)

5

418,255

129,524

53.646

18.793

54,590

729

48.974

4.712

31.078

8.115
-

580.905

161.878

53,352

37,665

40

(40)

634.297

199.503

Total net assets (25.633) 547,779 72,439 55.319 53.686 39,193 . 742,783 91,017 833.800
Total liabilities and net assets S 1.171.202 6 2,189.948 S 153.022 S 122.005 S  114.736 S 76.516 S (983,576) S 2.843,853 8 122,822 $ (2,225) $ 2,964.450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022

D-HH Heafth

and Other D-Hand Cheshire and MAHHC and APD and VNH and • System

(in thdu5and$ of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 2.056 S 68.075 $ 32,500 $ 28.467 $  11.631 $ 47,894 $  1,306 S S 191.929
Patient accounts receivable, net -- 206,400 18,106 9,175 . 5,431 9,817 2,321 . 251.250
Prepald'expenses and other current assets 23.561 161,508 8,296 4.452 1,499 2.678 483 (33.344) •  169,133

Total current assets 25,617 435,983 58,902 42,094 18,561 60,389 4,110 (33,344) 612,312

Assets limited as to use 301.000 884,007 13,183 16,005 26,979 14.680 24,088 (98.848) ' 1,181,094
Notes receivable, related party 842,052 ■  11,557. - - - . . (853.609) -

Other investments for restricted activities 490 125,614 37,124 3,925 ■ 6,846 1.031 86 . ' 175,116
Property, plant, and equipment, net • 587,739 66,385 45,973 16,947 42.436 5,360 ■ 764,840
Right-of-use assets, net 1,362 35,321 1,830 166 5,248 14,892 106 . 58,925
Other assets - 681 146,699 8,316 6,573 2,526 7.292 76 . 172,163

Total assets S 1,171,202 $ 2.226,920 S 185,740 S 114,736 $  77.107 $ 140.720 S  33,826 $  (985,801) $ 2.964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets
'

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt $ - s 4,810 S 865 s 23 $  - 26 S 800 $  ■ 72 $. $ 6,596
Current portion of right-of-use obligations 559 8,514 689 172 472 852 61 . 11,319
Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretiremen! plan benefits - 3,500 - - - - - . 3,500

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 147,626 100,617 16,726 4,843 8,831 5.481 4.640 (132.192) 156,572

Accrued compensation and related benefits - 169.194 6.817 4,507 4,490 4.735 817 ' 190,560

Estimated third-party settlements 3.002 • 68.876 22.999 21.886 647 17,488 - .. 134,898

Total current liabilities 151.187 355,511 48,096 31,431 14.466 29,356 5,590 (132,192) 503,445

Notes payable, related party .  808,602 - 27,437 17,570 - . (853,609) .

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,044,845 25,084 21,867 32 110 23,005 2,345 . 1,117,288
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 803 27,359 1,233 - 4.885 14,499 45 - 48,824

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 76,678 623 401 250 373 66 . 78,391
Liability for pension and other postretiremen!
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 220,350 7,774 - 482 - . . 228,606
Other liabilities - 129,092 1,109 1.749 - 22,146 . - 154,096

Total liabilities 1.196.835 1.642,676 80,702 61,050 37.763 89,379 8.046 (985.801) 2,130.650

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (25.638) 447.013 56,674 48,974 31.231 50,308 25.695 40 634.297
Net assets with donor restrictions 5 137.231 48,364 4.712 8.113 1,033 85 (40) 199.503

Total net assets (25.633) 584,244 105,038 53.686 39.344 51,341 25,780 833.800

Total liabilities and net assets $ 1.171,202 $ 2.226,920 s 185,740 s 114,736 $  77.107 S . 140,720 $  33.826 S  (985,801) S 2,964.450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Dartmouth- Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health
Hitchcock ' Dartmouth- Day Hospital Hospftai and Group ' Obiig Group System

fin Oioussnds of dollars) Health Hitchcock Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support -

Patient service revenue $ %  1,888,079 $  98,605 $  87,855 S  63,606 $ S  2,138,145 $  259,012" $ $  2,'397.157
Contracted revenue 3.8W 141,562 149 51 ^  3.657 (799) 148,454 . 336 (64,444) 84.346-
Other operating revenue 36,756 578,965 4,264 6,485 2,134 (43,983) -584,621 31,811 (7,557) 608,875
Net assets released from restrictions

- -  12,763 100 316 284 - . 13,463 1,380 14,843

Total operating revenue and oUier support 40,590 2,621,369 103,118 94,707 69,681 (44,782) 2,884,683 292,539 (72,001) 3,105,221

Operating expenses
Shanes

- 1,183,341 49,062 46,198 28,947 486 1,308,034 162,896 (47,839) 1,423,091
Employee benefits - 276,506 9.020 8,321 8,278 1,697 303.822 36,910 (8,346) 332,386
Medications and medical supplies - 650,157 - 13,130 11.852 4,379 . 679,518 45,962 725,480
Purchased services and other 20,277 366,903 15,821 11,834 21,278 (18,642) 417,471. ■ 56,691 (15,261) 458,901
Medicaid enhancement tax

- 65,805 4,426 3,366 2,273 . 75,870 9,845 85,715
Depreciation and amortzabon 1 68,566 3,372 4,775 2,311 . - 79,025 11,432 _ 90,457
Interest 33,194 28,101 805 1,064 479 (30.386) 33,257 1,544 (286) 34,515

Total operating expenses 53,472 2.639,379 95,636 87,410 67,945 (46.845) 2,896,997 325,280 (71,732) 3,150,545

Operating Qoss) margin. (12,882) (18.010) 7.482 7,297 1,736 2,063 (12,314) (32,741) (269) (45,324)

Non-operating gains (losses)

Investment gains (losses), net .  1,373 • 48,094 881 1,113 915 (252) 52,124 6,067 (72) 58,119
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income

• (16,269) - - . (16,269) (1.422) . (17,691)
Other (losses) income, net (10.643) 250 - 509 387 (1,811) (11,308) 2,437 341 (8,530)

Total nonK>perating (losses) gains, net (9.270) 32.075 881 1,622 1,302 (2,063) 24,547 7,082 269 31,898

-  (Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (22,152) 14,065 8,363 8,919 3,038 - 12,233 . (25,659) . .  (13,426)

Net assets without donor restrictions ' ' '

Net assets released from restricbons for capital . 2.139 56 26 233 . 2,454 775 . 3,229
Change in funded status of pension and other
postrebremeni benefits

- 37,322 - . 114 . 37,436 (2,535) . 34,901
Net assets transferred to (from) affiSales (13,083) 4,881 703 428 992 . (6,079) ■ 6,079 . .

Other changes in net assets
- (9) ,  (4) - - . (13) . . (13)

(Deaease) increase in net assets without donor

restricbons S . (35,235) i  58,398 $  9,118 $" 9,373 S  4,377- $ S  46,031 $  (21,340) $ $  24,691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Dartmouth'

D4tand)
Health

Hitehcock Cheshire and MAHHC and APD and VNHand System
fin thousands of dollars) Health Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Parent service revenue S S  1.888,079 S  245.887 $ 87,855 $  63,606 S  98.605 $  13,125 S $  2,397.157
Contracted revenue 3.834 141,815 84 51 3,656 149 . (65.243) 84,346
outer operaUng revenue 36.756 581,102 15,548 6,485 3,974 14.641 1,909 (51,540) 608,875
Net assets released from restrictions - 13,358 747 316 293 129 ' - 14,843

Total operating revenue and other support 40.590 2.624,354' 262,266 94.707 71,529 113.524 15.034 (116,783) 3.105,221

Operating expenses

Salaries - 1.183,341 144,785 46.198 29,820 53.203 13.097 (47,353) 1,423,091
Employee benefits • 276.506 33,677 8.321 8,435 10.002 2.095 (6.650) 332,386
Medications and medical supplies - 650.157 45,073 11.852 4,382 13.149 872 (5) 725,480
Purchased services and other 20,277 369.991 44.961 11.834 •  22.074 19.196 4.471 (33.903) 458,901
Medicaid enhancement tax . 65.805 9,844 3.366 2.274 4,426 . . 85,715
Depredation and amortization 1 68.566 8,945 4.775 2.425 5.203 542 . 90,457
Interest 33,194 28.101 1.031 1.064 480 1,115 201 (30.671) 34,515

Total operating expenses 53,472 2,642.467 288.316 87.410 69.890 106,294 21.278 (118,582) 3,150.545

Operating (loss) margin (12.882) (18.1-13) (26.050) 7,297 1.639 7,230 (6.244) 1,799 (45.324)

Non<operating gains (losses)

Investment gains (losses), net 1.373 50.245 2.389 1,113 997 . 'i.m 1.220 (329) 58,119
outer components of net periodic pension and post

retirement benefit income - (16,269) (1.422) - . - . (17,691)
outer (losses) income, net (10,643) 250 2.361 509 403 . 60 (1.470) (8,530)

Total non^perating gains (losses), net (9.270) 34,226 3,328 1,622 1,400 1.111 1.280 (1.799) 31,898

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (22,152) 16,113 (22,722) 8.919 3,039 8.341 (4.964) - (13,426)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from resUictions for capital - 2.223 691 26 233 56 . 3,229
Change in funded status of pension and oUter
postretirement benefits • 37.322 (2.535) - 114 - . . 34,901
Net assets transferred to (from) affliates (13,083) 4,872 5,199 428 992 703 889 - • .

Other changes in net assets •  - (9) - . - (4) . . (13)

' (Deaease) increase in net assets without donor

restrictions S  (35,235) $  60.521 $  (19.367) $ 9.373 $  4.378 $  9.096 $  (4,075) $ $  24.691

-

j
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Dartmouth- Cheshire AEce Peck New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated AO Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day 'Hospital Hospital and Group Obfig Group System
(in thousands of doBars) HeaKh Hitchcock Center Memorial Association HeaKh Center Elimtnations Subtotal Affiiates Qiminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support

Patient service revenue $ J  1,751.093 $  236,645 S  99.403 S  79,754 i  59,040 S 5  2,225,935 $  17,302 $ $  2.243,237
Contracted revenue 209 133,928 165 21 22 3.521 (60,573) 77,293 458 (85) 77.666
Other operating revenue 38,568 492,455 23,736 4.146 7,527 2,754 (50,711) •  518.475 16,731 (1,175) 534,031
Net assets released from res^ons 249 13,299 779 - 435 • 190 204 - 15,156 738 15,894

Total operating revenue and other support 39,026 2.390,775 261,325 104.005 87,493 65,519 (111,284) 2.836,859 35,229 (1,260) 2.870,828

Operating expenses
Salaries

• 1,091,601 135,083 43,266 40,219 28,960 (45,229) 1,293,900 20,422 1.085 1.315,407
Emftoyee t)enefits - ,266,795 31.761 10,302 7,537 8.240 (5,842) 318,793 3,514 263 322,570
Medications and medical supplies

• 578,581 43.203 12,266 9,946 4,127 , 648,123 1.149 . 649,272
Purchased services and other 25,538 312,373 42.723 15,951 13,068 17,383 (32,862)- 394,274 11.398 (1.810) 403,862
Medicaid enhancement tax • 64,036 9,468 3,980 •2,834 2,407 . 82,725 . 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 64,643 8,771 3,519 4,819 .  2,359 . 84,111 2.847 . 66.958
Interest 32,536 25,365 •  914 876 1,073 493 (29,530) 31,727 386 . 32.113

Total operating expenses 58,174 2.403,394 271.923 90.160 79.496 63,969 (113.463) 2,853,653 39,716 (462) 2.892.907

Opera^ng(ioss] margin (19,148) (12,619) (10.588) 13.845 7.997 1,550 2,179 (16,794) (4,487) (798) (22.079)

NorH>perating gains (losses)

Investment income (losses), net (8,026) (58,973) (2,068) (795) (1,114) (1.555) (210) (72,741) (6,003) . (78.744)
0^ components of net periodc pension and post

retirement tienefit income - 11,902 2,008 • - 13,910 . . 13,910
Other (losses) income, net (3.540) (1.641) (542) - 1 169 (1.E69) (7.522) ' 66 798 (6,658)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net (11.566) (48,712) (602) (795) (1.113) (1.386) (2,179) (66,353) (5.937) 798 (71,492)

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (30.714) (61.331) (11.200) '13,050 6,884 164 - (83,147) (10.424) . (93.571)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restridions for capital - 678 52 . 460 233 . 1,423 150 . 1.573
Change in funded status of pension and other

postretirement benefits • (27,860) (4.496) - - 48 . (32.308) (1) . (32,309)
Net assets transferred to (from) affiiates 7,600 (19,385) 4,066 2,571 2,096 795 - (2,257) 2,257 . .

Other changes in net assets
- • - - (23) - (23) . - (23)

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor

restrictions S  (23,114) .S (107.898) %  (11,578) S  15,621 S  9,417 S  1.240 S $  (116.312) J  (8,018). S $  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries .
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions '
Year Ended June 30, 2022

On thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue
. Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits

Medications and medical suppGes
Purchased services and other

Medcaid enhancement tax

Depreciation and amortization -

Interest

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) margin

Non<operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net
' Other components of net periodic pension and post

retirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, net

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
po^retirement benefits

. Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates
Other chartges in net assets

.  (Decrease) increase in net assets without donor

restrictions

04IH

and Other D-K and Cheshire and MAHHC and APD and
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Substdiarv

$ $  1,751,093 S  236,645 $ 79,754 $  59,041 S  99,403
209 134,388 165 21 3,521 21

38,568 494,363 23,794 7,527 4,370 14,587
249 13.873 821 190 204 548

39.026 2.393,717 261,425 87,492 67.136 114.559

. 1,091,601 135,116 40,219 29,729 47,352
266,795 31,770 7,537 8,361 11,169

• 578,581 43,203 9,946 4,126 12,297
25.638 315,589 42,938 13,057-^ 18,072 18,915

- 64,036 9,469 2,834 2,406 3,980
64.643 8,895 4.819 2,483 5,595

32,536 25,365 914 1,073 493 1,204

58,174 2.406,610 272,305 79,495 65,670 100.512

(19.148) (12.893) (10,880) 7.997 .  1,466 14.047

(8,026) (61,039)- (2,163) (1,114) (1,M3) (1.373)

. 11,902 2,008
■

(3.540) (1,641) (542) • 1 179 .

(11,566) (50.778) (697) (1,113) (1,484) (1.373)

(30,714) .(63,671) (11,577) 6,884 (18) 12,674

- 834 53 460 226 -

- (27,860) (4.496) . • 47

7,600 (19,391) 4.108 2,096 795 2,571
- • • (23) . .

$  (23,114) $  (110,088) S  (11,912) $ 9,417 $  1,050 $  15,245

Health

VNH and System
Subsidiaries -  Eliminations Consolidated

$  17,301 $ $  2,243,237
-  ' (60,659) 77,666

2,708 (51,886) 534.031
9 . 15,894

20.018 (112.545) 2,870,828

15,534 (44,144) 1,315,407
2.517 (5,579) 322,570
1.123 (4) 649,272
4.313 (34,670) 403,862

• - 82.725
523 - 86,958
58 (29,530) 32,113

24,068 (113,927) 2,892.907

(4.050) 1,382 (22.079)

(3.155) (211) (78.744)

. . 13,910
56 (1,171) (6,658)

(3.099) (1,382) (71,492)

(7,149)
• (93,571)

-
-

1,573

' . (32,309)
2,221 • .

• - (23)

S  (4,928) $ $  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
.  sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor

restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented
is prepared on the accruaj basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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Dartmouth
Health

Dartmouth Health
Board of Trustees'

TRUSTEES AND BOARD OFFICERS

Effective: January 1. 2025

Mark W. Begor, MBA (Kristen)
Board Chair

Chief Executive Officer, Equifax

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, Dartmouth-
Hitchcock/Dartmouth Health

Kathleen "Kathy" M. Fisher, MBA
(Rocco Maggiotto)
Retired Chief Investment Officer, AllianceBernstein

Thomas P. Clynn, PhD {Marylou Batt)
Board Treasurer

Retired Adjunct lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School of
Goveniment

Maria D. Padin, MD, FACOC

Chief Medical Officer, Southern Region/Community Group
Practices (CGPs), Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Richard J. Powell, MD (Roshini Pinto-Powell, MD)
Section Chief, Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery and
Radiology

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI (Ellen)
President & CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA (Amy)
Board Secretary
Retired Senior Financial Advisor, Resident Director, of
Bank ofAmerica/Merrill Lynch

Paul A. Taheri, MD, MBA (Kay)
Clinical Partner -Welsh Carson Anderson and Sfowe

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, FAAN.
(Robert)

Chief executive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Governance Oversight:

Kimberley A. Gibbs «
Director, Executive Administration and Governance

Administrative Support:

Primary
Claire M. Lillle

Exec. Coordinator for Governance & Leadership

Backup
Laura K. Rondeau

Exec. Coordinator for Governance & Leadership
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Jeffrey C. Fetter, MD

Education

August 1993-May 1997 .
August 1997-May,2001

Postdoctoral Training

June 2001-June 2006

June 2005-June 2006

SepL2019- Sept 2021

Licensure/Certification

April5,2006-Jun 30, 2022
Jan 2018-Dec 31, 2028

May 2010-Dec 2030
April 2010-present
Nov 2016-present

Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore MD BA
Case Western Reserve University, .Cleveland OH MD

Combined Internal Medicine and Psychiatry Residency-
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center, Lebanon NH

Chief Med-Psych Resident
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center, Lebanon NH

Physician Leadership Program
University ofNH, Paul College of Business and Economics

New Hampshire Medical License # 13042
Board Certified in Internal Medicine, Diplomate #255543
Board Certified in Psychiatry, Diplomate #60814
Certified in Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (Neurostar, Inc.)
DEA Buprenorphine X-Waiver

Academic Appointment
July 2006-Jan 2010, June 2020-present
Assistant Professor of Psychiatry
Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Hospital Appointments and Clinical Responsibilities

June 2020-Prcsent

Chief Medical Officer

New Hampshire Hospital
Concord, NH

• Clinical oversight of state contract with Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
.• Supervision of 26 Providers

,Aug 2018-June 2020
Chief Medical Officer

Riverbend Community Mental Health Center
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Concord, NH

•  Supervision of 18 providers: CSP, Inpatient, Child, Integration, MAT
•  Assertive Community Treatment Team Psychiatrist
•  Integrated Delivery Network (IDN2) Medical Director

o Medication Assisted Treatment for Substance Use Disorders

o Psychopharmacology Services and Re-Entry initiatives for county inmates
o  Integrated Primary Care and Behavioral Health Program

Jan 2013-Sept 2018
Chief Medical Officer

NH Department of Corrections
MHM Services, Inc.

Concord, NH

•  Supervision of Correctional Health Services for 2400 inmates
•  Utilization Management
•  Program Development
•  Psychiatrist: Special Housing Unit, Residential Treatment Unit

Feb 2015 to Present

Expert Witness
•  Independent Psychiatric Examiner, RSA 135-C Physician Certifications (Until June 2020)

o Cheshire, Merrimack, Rockingham, and Hillsborough Counties Probate Courts
•  Correctional Malpractice/Section 1983 Cases

March 2013-July 2016
EKC Interpretation Consultant
Dartmouth Psychopharmacology Research Group

Feb 2010-Dec 2012

Director of Consultation Psychiatry
•  Inpatient Psychiatry
•  Consultation to Hospitalists and Emergency Room
•  ECT, rTMS

Concord Hospital, Concord NH

July 2010-Dec 2012
^ Cardiometabolic Psychiatry Clinic
Riverbend Community Mental Health Center
Concord NH

July 2006-Jan 2010
Attending Physician with Privileges in Psychiatry and Internal Medicine
New Hampshire Hospital, Concord NH

August 2006-Jan 2013
Consulting Physician with Privileges in Electroconvulsive Therapy
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Concord Hospital, Concord NH

Mar 2009-Feb 2010 :

Cardiometabolic Psychiatry Consult Service
New Hampshire Hospital, Concord NH

Professional Leadership Positions

Dec 2017-Dcc 2018

Fellowship Committee, American College of Correctional Physicians

May 2016-May 2018
Psychiatry Representative, NH Medical Society

May 2014-May 2016
Legislative Liaison, NH Psychiatric Society

May 2011-May 2015
President, NH Psychiatric Society

Nov2013-May 2016
Executive Councilor, NH Medical Society

Mar2009-Jan201 1

Inpatient Psychiatry Liaison, NH Psychiatric Society

July 2007-Feb 2010
Chair, Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee, NH Hospital

July 2007-Feb 2010
Chair, Metabolic Syndrome Work Group, NH Hospital

Committee Assignments
June 2003-2006 DHMC Graduate Medical Education Accreditation Committee

Apr-June 2004 Chair, DHMC Psychiatry Resident Curriculum Project
July-Dec 2005 DHMC Resident Work Hours Task Force '
Aug 2006-Jan 2007 Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee, NHH
October 2006-June 2007 Metabolic Syndrome Work Group, New Hampshire Hospital
January 2007-2010 New Hampshire State Institutional Review Board.
March 2007-2010 ' Medical Emergencies Committee, NHH
Sept 2007-2010 Adverse Medication Events Review Committee, NHH
June 2009-Aug 2009 Defensive Measures Task Force, NHH
March 2010-Dec 2012 Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee, Concord Hospital
July-October 2016 Special Legislative Commission on Syringe Service Programs
October 2013-Sept 2018 MHM Inc. Credentialing Committee
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Memberships
American College of Correctional Physicians
Association of Medicine and Psychiatry
American Psychiatric Association
New Hampshire Psychiatric Society
New Hampshire Medical Society

Awards and Honors

April 2001 Case Western Reserve University Health Policy Competition, Honorable
Mention

June 2003 Abraham Lenzner, MD Award for Excellence in Consultation Psychiatry
April 2005 Association of Medicine and Psychiatry Martin Fenton, MD Award Med-Psych

Resident of the Year

April 2006 Dartmouth Medical School Department of Medicine Excellence in Teaching
Award Nominee

May 2006 ^ Dartmouth Medical School Students' Excellence in Teaching Award for
Medicine Clerkship

May 2007 Emory University Future Leaders in Psychiatry
April 2017 NH Public Health Association, Friend of Public Health
April 2021 NH Psychiatric Society Leadership Award

V  ' I

Research Experience
Site Investigator for Riverbend: "Cannabis, Schizophrenia and Reward: Self Medication and Agonist

Treatment" NIDA D14016, Dartmouth Psychopharmacology Research Group
(A. Green, PI)

Principal Investigator: "N-3 Fatty Acids for hypertriglyceridemia in patients with schizophrenia taking
atypical antipsychotics." Dartmouth Psychiatry Department Junior Clinical
Investigator Research Award.

4

Site Investigator for New Hampshire Hospital: "Clozapine vs. Risperidone for People with First
Episode Schizophrenia and Co-Occurring Substance Use Disorder," Dartmouth
Psychopharmacology Research Group (A. Green, PI)

Collaborating Investigator: "Management of Risk of Relapse in Schizophrenia III," NIMH #MH41573
(S. Marder, PI)

Site Investigator for New Hampshire Hospital: "Pilot study for treatment of persistent psychotic
• symptoms in schizophrenia," feasibility study to prepare for NIMH funded
randornized antipsychotic trial. Dartmouth Psychopharmacology Research
Group (D. Noordsy, PI)

Teaching Experience
May 2004 Conceived and Organized Psychotherapy Roundtable for Residents
June 2004 and 2005 Taught "Medical Emergencies for Psychiatry Interns" Lecture Series
June 2005-2006 Initiated and Facilitated Med-Psych Residents' Report
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June 2006

2006-2010

Nov'2007

Sept 2008
May 2009

May 2010
May 2010

Oct 2011-2013

May 2012
Oct 2012

Fob 2012

Nov 2013

Nov 2013

Jan 2015

Fob 2017'
March 2017

Oct 2018

April 2019

Dec 2019

April 2020-present
Dec 23, 2020

Dec 29,2020 -

Jan 7,2021

Jan 21, 2021

Feb4, 2021

Sept 2021 -present

"Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Mental Illness," Crohn's and Colitis
Foundation Symposium at Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center
" Supervision of year medical students on psychiatry clerkship
Supervision of 2"^ year psychiatry residents
Initiated and Organized Weekly Unit "Doc Talk" Seminar
Internal Medicine Morbidity and Mortality Conference, White River Junction
VA Medical Center

NH Hospital Grand Rounds: "Cardiometabolic Risk and Mental Illness"
Dartmouth PRC Seminar: "N-3 Fatty Acids for High Triglycerides in Patients
Taking Atypical Antipsychotics"
OH Grand Rounds: "Consultation Psychiatry"
"Severe Depression and Cardiovascular Disease" New England ECT Annual
Meeting
CH Simulation Center Course "Psychiatric Emergencies: De-escalation";
Conceived and Executed Course; Filmed Video Training, Moderated
Simulations

NH Hospital Grand Rounds: "Inpatient Violence"
NH Medical Society Annual Scientific Meeting: "Obesity and Mental Health"
Concord Hospital Grand Rounds: "Psychiatric Perspectives on Obesity" ^
NH Medical Society Annual Scientific Meeting: "Mental Illness: Skills Every
Physician Should Have"
Concord Hospital Symposium: "Inpatient Violence"
NH Hospital Grand Rounds: "Correctional Medicine Update"
NH DOC Grand Rounds: "SHU and Analogue Environments"
Psychiatric Consultant: Northern NH SWAT Team Hostage Negotiation
Training Exercise
Association of Medicine and Psychiatry National Meeting, Chicago IL:
"Correctional Medicine"

Kansas University Department of Psychiatry Grand Rounds "Correctional
Medicine"

"Psychiatric Diagnosis and the Law" NH Circuit Court Judge Conference
Weekly COVID-19 Briefing forNH Community Mental Health Centers
"COVID-19 and the Mental Health System" NH CMHC Statewide Zoom
"COVID-19 Vaccination" Riverbend Community Mental Health, Inc.
"COVID-19 Vaccines for Mentally III Patients" NH Office of Public Guardian
"COVID-19 Vaccine Messaging and Disinformation" National Association of
State Mental Health Program Directors
"COVID-19 Vaccine Messaging and Disinformation" NH Hospital Grand
Rounds

Psychiatric Leadership Elective rotation preceptor for 4'^ year residents

Original Articles:

Aschbrenner, KA. Naslund, JA. Reed, JD. Fetter, JC. Renewed call for lifestyle interventions to
address obesity among individuals with serious riiental illness in the COVID-19



/
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era and beyond. Translational Behavioral Medicine 11(7) July 2021, pp 1359-
1364, https;//doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ibab076

Fetter, JC. COVlD-19 Vaccination Strategies in Public Psychiatry. Psychiatric Services 2021; 72(2).
a0.1176/aDDTp5?722^-

Fetter, JC. Framework for Psychiatrists' Role in the COVID-19 Response. Community Mental Health
Journal 2021. Epub ahead of print.

Fetter, JC. Implementing a Correctional Electronic Medical Record. CorDocs: Newsletter of the
American College of Correctional Physicians. 2017;20(2)

Fetter, JC. Chronic Pain in Corrections. CorDocs: Newsletterpf the American College of Correctional
Physicians. 2016;19(2) , ■

Fetter JC, Brunette M, Green A. N3 Fatty Acids for Hypertriglyceridemia in Patients Taking Second
i  Generation Antipsychotics. Clinical Schizophrenia and Related Psychoses.

Summer 2013 73-77A '

Fetter JC, Bartels SJ, Parker C. A cardiometabolic psychiatry consultation service in a state psychiatric
hospital. Prim Care Companion of CNS Disorders 2011; 13(2)

Fetter JC. Diagnosing and Managing Violence. Prirh Care Companion J of CNS Disorders. 2011;13(5)
s

Shagoury P, Currier M, Bemis R, Fetter JC. A motivational interviewing group to manage
cardiometabolic risk on an inpatienfpsychiatry unit: A chart review. Prim Care
Companion to J Clin Psych; 2010; 12(6) .

Shagoury P, Currier M, Fetter JC. A motivational interviewing group to manage cardiometabolic risk
on an inpatient psychiatry unit: A case study. Prim Care Companion to J Clin Psych.2010; 12(3)el

Fetter JC. Mirtazapine for MDMA-Induced Depression. Am J Addict. 2005 May-Jun; 14(3):300-1

Denard PJ, Fetter JC, Zacharski LR; Rectus sheath hematoma complicating low-molecula'r weight
heparin therapy. Int J Lab Hematol. 2007 Jun;29(3): 190-4.

Fetter JC. Psychosoeial Response to Mass Casualty Terrorism; Guidelines for Physicians. Primary
Care Companion to J Clin Psychiatry 2005; 7(2): 49-52

Fetter JC, Askland KD. Antidepressants for Bipolar Depression. Am J Psychiatry 2005 Aug; 162(8):
1546

Fetter JC. Letter: Weight gain and quality of life among patients taking antipsychotics. Psychiatric
Services 2003 Jul;54(7): 1041

Fetter JC. The Gift of Therapy: A Letter to a.New Generation of Therapists and their Patients. Prim
Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry. 2006; 8(3): 181
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Poster Presentations:

Mistier, L, Auel E, Sanders E, Thomas J, Moore E, Fetter JC. Awake Proning for COVlD-19.
Scheduled for Association of Medicine and Psychiatry Annual Meeting Sept 30, 2021

Mistier, L, Auel E, Sanders E, Thomas J, Moore E, Fetter JC. Awake Proning for COVID-19 in a
State Psychiatric Hospital. Presented at NH Psychiatric Society Scientific Meeting, April 2021.

\

' Fetter JC, Barton E, Grattan V. Englander C. Hepatitis C Treatment in a Correctional System: 10
Years' Experience.

Presented at National Committee for Correctional Health Care National Conference, Oct. 2014

1

Fetter JC, Bartels S. Developing a Medication Algorithm for Second Generation Antipsychotic-
Induced Metabolic Effects.

Presented at Future Leaders in Psychiatry, Atlanta GA 2007

Fetter JC, Gillock KL, Friedman M, Howard J. Adiposity and Chronic Traurnatic Stress.
Presented at Association for Medicine and Psychiatry Annual Meeting, Los Angeles CA, 2006

Scientific Sessions:

Chair, "Weight Gain and Mental Illness"
American Psychiatric Association General Meeting, New Orleans, 2010

Other Activities:

Cubmaster. Cub Scout Pack 86, Concord NH: May 2021-present
Board of Directors. Unitarian Universalist Church of Concord: July 2019-July 2020
Pandemic Policy Committee. Unitarian Universalist Church of Concord: August 2020-prcsent
Fiddle. Limberjack, and 3-string Guitar, Wholly Rollers bluegrass/old time gospel band: 2015-present
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Samantha Swetter, M.D.

Samantha Swetter, M.D.

Date Prepared; 08-19-2021

I. Education

May 2012-May 2014
Albert Einstein College of Medicine
Doctor of Medicine Program,
Degree: M.D.

July 2009-May 2012
Albert Einstein College of Medicine
Medical Scientist Training Program
Department of Biochemistry

August 2003 - June 2009
University of Nebraska - Lincoln
B.S. Mechanical Engineering
Pre-riiedicine Professional Program
Minor: International Engineering
Honors Thesis: "Resistance Characterization of a HiPIMS Plasma Discharge."

II. Postdoctoral Training

July 2014-June 2018
Psychiatric Residency Training, Chief Resident
The Mount Sinai Hospital; New York, NY

III. Academic Appointments

August 2018 - present
Assistant Professor of Psychiatry
Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

IV. Institutional Leadership Roles

Associate Medical Director: Nov 2020 - present; New Hampshire Hospital
Secretary of Medical Staff Organization's Executive Committee; Nov 2019 - present;

New Hampshire Hospital
Chair of Utilization Management Committee; Nov 2018 - present; New Hampshire

Hospital

V. Licensure and Certification

New Hampshire, Medical License and DEA .

VI. Hospital Appointments

August 2018 - present



Docusign Envelope ID: 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E695F

General Adult Admissions Unit Psychiatrist
New Hampshire Hospital; Concord, NH
Lead an interdisciplinary team treating patients with serious mental illness on an acute
care unit.

Nov 2017-June 2018

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Consultant
HPR Treatment Centers; New York, NY

Conduct initial TMS evaluations and brain mapping for TMS.

July 2016-June 2018
Insurance Appeals Evaluator
The Mount Sinai Hospital; New York, NY
Evaluate insurance claim denials and make formal written appeals to the insurance
providers.

September 2016 - September 2017
Per Diem Staff Psychiatrist

St. Joseph's Medical Center; Yonkers, NY
Per diem coverage of consult liaison, emergency room, and 29 inpatient beds on nights
and weekends. Responsible for triaging new consults and staffing urgent consults/floor
issues.

VII. Professional Development Activities

Structured Interview for Psychosis-Risk Syndromes (SIPS) and Scale for Prodromal'
Symptoms (SOPS) Training and Certification;

PRIME Research Clinic

Feb3, 2018

TMS Training and Certification;
Brainsway
Nov 9, 2017

Suboxone Training;
The American Osteopathic Academy of Addiction Medicine
Apr 26, 2017

Transforming Clinical Practice Initiative;
APA learning collaborative on collaborative care for New York residents led by University

of Washington
Sep 2016-Dec 2016

Mental Health Perceptions in Rural Uganda
March 2014-May 2014
Kisoro, Uganda
Develop, implement, and analyze surveys regarding mental health perceptions in the
rural communities of Kisoro, Uganda.
Sponsor: Albert Einstein College of Medicine

VIII. Teaching Activities

Swetter 2 of 7
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A. Undergraduate teaching

Physiology Lab Teaching Assistant
May 2008 - Dec 2008
University of Nebraska - Lincoln
Primary course facilitator

B. Undergraduate Medical Education

Assistant Professor of Psychiatry at Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth
August 2018 - present
Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Attending on clinical teaching service for clerkship

Psychiatry Shelf Review for Medical Students
Mar 2015

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai

Course developer and facilitator

0. Graduate Medical Education (GME) teaching:

Assistant Professor of Psychiatry at Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth
August 2018 - present \

. Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Attending on clinical teaching service for residents

I

Resident lectures and clinical supervision at Mount Sinai Hospital
Chief Resident, July 2017 - July 2018 '
Co-Leader for Psychiatry PGY1 Didactic Course, May 2016 - Jul 2017
Clinical Lectures to Psychiatry PGYIs, Aug 2016 - Mar 2017:

Lectures given include: First break psychosis, Delirium, contraindications to
common PRNs, Alcohol use disorder

Clinical Case Lecture to Psychiatry PGY2s, Oct 2015
Ethics^Case Lecture to Psychiatry.PGYIs, Mar 2015

IX. Engagement, Community Service/Education

Post-secondary education counseling at Frederick Douglas Academy III High School,
May 2012 - June 2018, ~8 hours/year

Einstein Community Health Outreach - Student-run No Fee Clinic, Apr 2013 - May 2014
Session Coordinator, -20 hours/year

Homeless Outreach Program at Einstein, May 2012 - May 2013, Educational Session
Facilitator, -10 hours/year

Volunteer at Bryan LGH Medical Center Emergency Room, Nov 2007 - May 2009, Staff
Support, -40 hours/year

Notetaker for Students with Disabilities at University of Nebraska - Lincoln, Jan 2004 -
May 2004, Jan 2009 - Feb 2009. Notetaker, -20 hours/year

X. Research Activities

Swetter 3 of 7.
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Survey of the Organizational Readiness to impiement Coordinated Speciaity Care
for First Episode Psychosis at New Hampshire Community Mental Health Centers
May 2021-present
Role; Primary Investigator
Percent effort <5%

No sponsoring agency and no direct costs

P. falciparum infected erythrocytes as an aptamer target,
August 2009-March 2012
Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY \
Artificially evolve ribonucleic small molecules to elucidate parasite biology and provide
novel diagnostic/therapeutic strategies for Plasmodium falciparum-\hfecte6 erythrocytes.
Role: Medical Scientist Training Program Candidate
Sponsor: Albert Einstein College of Medicine

Clotting Factor Purification and Characterization,
May 2008-May 2009 /
University of Nebraska - Lincoln
Purification of rFVIII from transgenic murine milk. Characterization of a portable fibrin
sealant bandage for arterial hemorrhage
Role: Undergraduate Research Assistance
Sponsor: Undergraduate Creative Activities and Research Experience (UCARE)
Program

High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering Modeling,
August 2006-May 2008
University of Nebraska - Lincoln
Characterization and equation modeling of plasma field used in kinetic sputtering.
Role: Undergraduate Research Assistance
Sponsor: Undergraduate Creative Activities and Research Experience (UCARE)
Program

XI. Program Development

Value-Based Pilot for Health and Recovery Plan Members
The Mount Sinai Hospital

. Sep 2016-June,2018
Type: Clinical
Mission: Engage high-risk mental health populations in wrap-around services to improve
health outcomes.

Role: Consolidate referral data to Medicaid Home and Community-Based Services
(HCBS) for high-risk populations and help analyze for quality improvement measures.
Outcomes: Referral rate

Tele-supervision and Training Program for Rural Practitioners in Liberia
The Mount Sinai Hospital
Aug 2017 - June 2018
Type: Clinical
Mission: Increase access to mental health services in rural Liberian communities.

Role: Tele-supervisor and mentor for practitioners.

Swetter 4 of 7
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XII. Major Committee Assignments, inclusive of Professional Societies

A. Natlonai/lnternationa!

B. Regional
Treasurer: New Hampshire Psychiatric Society; May 2021 - present

C. Institutional

Chair of Utilization Management Committee; Nov 2018 - present; New
Hampshire Hospital

Secretary of Medical Staff Organization's Executive Committee; Nov 2019 -
present: New Hampshire Hospital

•Community Service Committee Member, American Psychiatric Association;
March 2017- June 2018

Engineers Without Borders - University of Nebraska (EWB-UN),
Co- President of University Chapter, Aug 2008 - May 2009,
Community Health Assessment Committee Chair of University Chapter,

Nov 2008 - May 2009
International Association for the Exchange of Students for Technical Experience

(lAESTE), President of University Chapter, Sep 2004 - Mar 2007

XIII. Institutional Center or Program Affiliations

New Hampshire Psychiatric Society Feb 2019 - present
American Psychiatric Association Feb 2017 - present
Anxiety and Depression Association of America Oct 2017 - June 2018

XIV. Editorial Boards

Einstein Journal of Biological Medicine, May 2011 - May 2012
Assistant Editor

XV.Awards and Honors

ADAA Alies Muskin Career Development Leadership Program Award, Nov 2017
Global Health Fellow to Uganda, Jan 2013
Grant recipient for undergraduate research (UCARE), May 2006, May 2008
NASA Nebraska Space Grant Scholarship Recipient, Nov 2007

. Milton E. Mohr Mechanical Engineering Scholarship Recipient, July 2007
InfoUSA sponsee in "This.is India!" Exchange Program, Mar 2007
Department of Education grant recipient for foreign exchange to Brazil (FIPSE), Dec

2006

Society of American Military Engineers Scholarship, Nov 2006
Tau Beta Pi Inductee, Aug 2005
Pi Tau Sigma Inductee, Jan 2005
University Honor's Program, May 2003
Regent's Four Year Tuition Scholarship, May 2003
Engineering & Technology Four Year Scholarship, May 2003

XVI. Invited Presentations

Swetter 5 of 7
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A. International

B. National

C. Regional
New Hampshire Hospital Grand Rounds - Catching Catatonia
New Hampshire Hospital, June 2021

New Hampshire Hospital and Severe Mental Illness *
Colby-Sawyer College, Adventures in Learning
January 2021. Virtual Lectures

Grand Rounds - The Borderline Facade
Mount Sinai Hospital. Oct2017

Summer Roundabouts - Widening Your Differential Diagnosis *
Mount Sinai Hospital. Aug 2017
Case-based presentation to residents of all years regarding how to formulate

patients and acquire sufficient information for a diagnosis.

"Me Too"*

Albert Einstein College of Medicine. Mar 2017
Invited discussant for presentation on mental illness in physicians and medical

students.

XVII. Bibliography

A. Peer-reviewed publications in print or other media

Swetter, S., Fader, R., Christian, T., Swetter, B. (2018). Compulsive Sexual Behavior.
Evaristo Akerele (Ed.), Substance and Non-Substance Related Addictions. Manuscript
submitted. Springer Nature. *

Hanna, J., Swetter, S. ■ (2018). A Case of Delirium and Rhabdomyolsis in Severe Opiate
Withdrawal. Psychosomatics. 59(4): 405-407. *

Meyer, J.P.. Swetter. S.K., & Kellner, C.H. (2018). Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) in
geriatric psychiatry: A selective review. Psychiatric Clinics of North America. 41 (1): 79-
93.* ^ ■

Cumper, S. (now Swetter), Ahle, G,, Llebman, L., & Kellner, C. (2014).
Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) in Parkinson's Disease: ECS and doparhine
enhancement. JECT. 30(2), 122-124. *

B. Other scholarly work in print or other media:

Peer-reviewed article in non-indexed publication:
Swetter, Samantha. (2017). Unexpected trauma. The American Journal of Psychiatry-
Residents' Journal. 12(7).10.

Swetter 6 of 7
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C. Abstracts (include both oral, exhibit and poster presentations):

Poster Presentation - Recombinant Clotting Proteins for use in Arterial Bandages
University of Nebraska - Lincoln. May 2008

Poster Presentation - High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering Modeling"
University of Nebraska - Lincoln. May 2008

Swetter 7 of 7
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Patrick R Hattan, MD

Professional Licenses/Certifications:

New Hampshire State Medical License June 2021-23
American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology-certified physician Sep 2019-2029

Professional Experiences:

New Haimpshire Hospital, Concord, NH July 2017-present
• Associate Medical Director October 2020-present
• Attending psychiatrist, acute inpatient psychiatric unit
• Chair, Medical Records Committee of the NHH Medical Staff Organization

Dec 2019-present
Academic Background:

Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Hanover, NH July 2017-present
Assistant professor of psychiatry

Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School July 2012-June 2017
Cambridge, MA

.  Internship in General Internal Medicine
Residency in Adult Psychiatry

Areas of special focus in addition to standard residency curriculum:

PGY4 focus on junior resident supervision and medical student teaching (see below)
PGY4 focus on Emergency Psychiatry
Ambulatory Community Service, CHA Outpatient Psychiatry Dept
•  Specialty clinic serving the severe and persistently mentally ill.
Center for Mindfulness and Compassion, CHA Outpatient Psychiatry Dept
•  Founding member.

Dartmouth Medical School, Hanover, NH , Aug 2008-June 2012
MD

McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada Sep 2003-June 2008
Bachelor of Arts and Science, major concentrations in Biomedical Studies and History
Graduated with Great Distinction (/Wagna Cum Lauds equivalent)

New Hampshire Technical Institute, Concord, .NH Sep 2001-Dec 2002
Part-time post-secondary studies, undeclared concentration

Peer-reviewed Publications:

Barnes N, Hattan P, Black DS, Schuman-Olivier Z. An Examination of f^indfulness-Based
Programs in US Medical Schools. Mindfulness. Published online: 2016, Oct 6. DOI
10.1007/sl 2671 -016-0623-8.



Docusign Envelope ID: 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

Bambico FR, Lacoste 8, Hattan PR, Gobbi G. Father absence in the monogamous
California mouse impairs social behavior and modifies dopamine and glutamate synapses
in the medial prefrontal cortex. Cerebral Cortex. 2015 May; 25(5): 1163-75. DOI
10.1093/cercor/bht310.

Bambico FR, Hattan PR, Garant JP, Gobbi G. Effect of delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol on
behavioral despair and on pre- and postsynaptic serotonergic transmission. Progress in
neuro-psychopharmacologyand biological psychiatry. 2012 Jul 2; 38(1): 88-98 DO!
10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.02.006.

Poster Presentations:

Barnes, N, Black DS, Hattan P, Schuman-Olivier Z. The Emergence of Academic
Mindfulness Centers Associated with Medical Schools (AMCAMS). Poster presentation
at the Mind and Life International Symposium on Contemplative Studies. Oct 2014.

Bambico F, Hattan P. Cannabinoids elicit antidepressant-like behaviour and activate
serotonergic neurons through the medial prefrontal cortex. Poster presentation at
Programs and Abstracts of the 17th Annual Symposium on the Cannabinoids. June
2007. .

Supervisory/Teaching Experience:

Clinical supervision of PGY2 general adult psychiatry July 2017-present
house officers and 3rd year medical students
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center/Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Individual psychotherapy supervision Jul 2016-Jur;ie 2017
Supervised a PGY2 resident for 4 psychotherapy cases and 1 therapy group
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Medical student teaching Nov 2016-Dec 2016
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School.

Chiefship of the PGY1 psychiatry intern class - Jul 2016-June 2017
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

^ Individual psychopharmacology supervision
Supervised three PGY3 residents in a Transitions Clinic serving patients needing short-
term treatment while between providers
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Neuroanatomy Teaching Assistant, 300-level anatomy course Sep 2007-Dec 2007
Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, McGill University

Lectures/Presentations: i

Hattan P, The History of New Hampshire Hospital
New Hampshire Hospital Grand Rounds October 2021
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Hattan P, Nagarajan T, Stanciu C, Praharaj D, The Neurobiological Effects and
Pharmacological Management of Inhalant Use Disorder
New Hampshire Hospital Case Conference March 2021

Hattan P, Engima: Treatment Planning with a High-Risk Patient Who Does Not Want to
^  be Understood

(  New Hampshire Hospital Case Conference May 201,8

Hattan P, Introduction to Psychopharmacology, parts 1 and 2 Nov 2016
Post-doctoral Psychology seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Hattan P, De-escalating the Agitated Patient June 2016
PGY1 intern orientation for general internal medicine, psychiatry, and transitional
residents, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Hattan P, Fundamentals of Neuroanatomy Jan 2016
Brain & Behavior: PGY3 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard
Medical School

Hattan P, Depression in Animals and Animal Models Mar 2015
Brain & Behavior: PGY3 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard
Medical School

Hattan P ̂ Antipsychotic Medications for the Treatment of Psychosis Oct 2014
Psychopharmacology: PGY3 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard
Medical School

Hattan P. Antipsychotic Medications, QTc Prolongation, and Sudden Cardiac Death.
Consult/Liaison Psychiatry: PGY2 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health
Alliance/Harvard Medical School June 2014

Hattan P, Metastatic Struma Ovarii June 2011
Dept of Obstetrics & Gynecology Grand Rounds. California Pacific Medical Center, San
Francisco, CA

Employment Experience:

Research Assistant Sep 2007-Aug 2008
Department of Neurobiology and Psychiatry, McGill University
.  Obtained proficiency in single-cell electrophysiology and tDehavioral modeling in

, experimental animals. Researched novel antidepressants and animal bonding.

House staff 2003
Killarney International Youth Hostel, Ireland

Teaching Assistant, grades kindergarten - 5 2000-2002
Salisbury Elementary School, Salisbury, NH

Extracurricular/Honors:

Patient Care Award, Cambridge Health Alliance May 2014
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•  Recognized by the hospital for compassionate patient care based on patient-based
survey

Gold Humanism Honors Society, Dartmouth Medical School June 2012
•  Elected by classmates for representing the values humanism in medicine

Psychiatry Department Award, Dartmouth Medical School June 2012
•  Recipient from the graduating class of 2012

American Medical Student Association, DMS chapter- Sep 2008-Aug 2011
. • Chapter president 08/09-08/11

Adult Mentor Sep 2006-June 2007
Big Brothers Big Sisters of Greater Montreal

Personal Information:

DOB July 27, 1982
Native of Salisbury, New Hampshire
Interests: American history, outdoor sports, cooking.
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Clyistina L. Kirkpatrick, MD

Work Experience
* Hospitalist, Concord Hospital, Concord, NH, 2008 - present
*  Palliative Care Program Director, Concord Hospital, 2012-2015
* Associate Medical Director,. Hospitalist Group, Concord Hospital, 2015-2022
* Attending Physician, Family Health Center Hospitalist rotations, 2012-present
*  Family Health Center/Hospitalist liaison 2022-present
* Hospitalist, St. Peter's Hospital, Helena, MT, 2005 - 2008
*  Internal Medicine, St. Peter's Hospital Clinic, Helena, MT, 2003 - 2004

Board Certifications

* ABIM Board Certification through 2024 .
* Hospice & Palliative Care Board Certification through 2033

Licensure

* New Hampshire Medical License in good standing
*

Accreditations

* BLS/ACLS

Education

* University of Cincinnati, Internal Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, 2000 - 2003
* University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT 1996 - 2000
* Bachelor's of Arts, Medieval Studies, Wesleyan University, Middletown, CT 1990

References

References available on request
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R. Joseph Wcndling. Jr.

Curriculum Vitae, August 2021,

Education:

1986-1992

1988

1992-1996

1996-2000

2000-2001

Ccrtincatlon/Liccnsing:

Iowa State University, Bachelor of Science in Horticulture
Baling College of Higher Education, London, England
University of Iowa College of Medicine, MD
University of Michigan Department of Psychiatry Residency
Dartmouth College Department of Psychiatry Geriatric Fellowship

USMLE 1, II and 111- passed
State of New Hampshire license #10979
State of Vermont license.

ABPN- certified through 2021
ABPN-Geriatric certification through 2022

Research:

Iowa State University;
The effectiveness of silver thiosulfate in prevention of ethylene oxide induced

senescence in Sfrepfocarpus sp..

The effect of day/night temperature differences on flower induction of day-neutral
strawberries,'Tristar'and Tribute'..

University of Michigan-
The rate of complications with ECT in the geriatric population and its correlation with

cerebrovascular risk factors.

Employment:

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, Glencliff Home, Medical director
2012-present

West Central Services, Adult outpatient program. Elders Program, Nursing home consultant.
July 2001- present

Valley Regional Hospital, Behavioral Health Unit, Assistant Medical Director 2003-2005

Lilly Lecture Bureau, 2001- 2003

St. Joseph Hospital, Psychiatric Emergency room physician, Mount Clemens, Michigan,
1999-2000

References: Available upon request.
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Meghan Farley, PMHNP-BC
meghan.d.farlcy@dhhs.nh.gov

EducationiI

MGH Institute of Health Professionals- Boston, MA May 2020
Master of Science in Nursing • Bacbe/or of Science in Nursing
Overall CPA: 3.7 '

Psychiatric/Mental Health Track
■  • Disdncdon "Padcnt Perception of their Role in Care"
■  Vice President/a founding member of MGH-lHP's first Mental Health Club

Emmanuel College- Boston, MA May 2016
Bachelor of Art in Psychology "
Overall GPA: 4.0

■  Graduated with honors, disdncdon and complete thesis
President of Emmanuel's Chapter of Psi Chi Honors Society

rLicensure/Certification

Registered Nurse New Hampshire License number: 082368-21
Advanced Practice Nurse Practitioner New Hampshire License number: 082368-23
NPI: 1447868617

PEA: MF5974781 exp. 9-30-23

Advanced Practice II

Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner Attending/ Instructor September 2020- Present
New Hampshire Hospital, Jnpadent Psychiatric Unit

■  l.x:ading a team of interdisciplinary clinicians to provide inpatient psychiatric care and support to people
with severe psychotic disorders. Providing evidence based care to a wide range of psychiatric diagnosis.

■  Collaborating with psychiatrics, specialists and medical providers to deliver high quality care.
•  Involved in providing education to medical students, nursing students, residents and-APRN students
■  Involved with research studies and research groups at NHH.

Advanced Practice Psychiatric Nursing Fellow May 2020- September 2020
Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder Inpatient Unit'and Program of Assertive Community Treatment

■  Managed a caseload of patients who arc experiencing chronic psychotic disorders with guidance from a
mentor on both inpatient and outpatient level.

■  Obtained training on Open Dialogue techniques and participated in resident didactic series.
■  Gained super\'ision with an attending Nurse Practitioner, the Clinical Director of Psychotic Disorders at

Mclcan as well as pharmacists.
Advanced Practicum Psychiatric Nurse Practicum Student September 2019- April 2020
Lynn Community Health Center

■  Facilitate outpatient follow tips, treating patients with a wide range of diagnosis including depression,
anxiety, bipolar, schizophrenia, panic disorder and substance use disorder.

■  Facilitate follow up appointments for the adolescent school based mental health with preceptor supcr\'ision.
■  Attend a weekly three-hour seminar facilitated by two psychiatrists

Advanced Practicum Psychiatric Nurse Practicum Student May 2019- Au^st 2019
UMass Memorial Hospital; Emergency Mental Health

■  Conducted extensive assessments of patients arriving to the ER due to mental health concerns under
supervision of a Clinical Nurse Specialist.

■  Presented each case to the attending psychiatrist and participated in discussions regarding appropriate future
care and criteria for sectioning.

Registered Nurse, McLean Hospital-Belmont, MA December 2018- Present
Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder inpatient Unit

■  Collaborate with psychiatrists, social workers, and pharmacists to create treatment plans for patients,
■  Evaluate and act upon the mental health and medical needs of the patients through nursing inter\'entions, or

working with other professionals to provide appropriate care.
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gURjRENT Professional Committees. Research and at NHHj

Co-Chair of Suicide Prevention Committee at New Hampshire Hospital December 2020- Present
■  Provide education to NHH employees and patients regarding suicide prevention and resources available.
■  Managing and updating NHH policies related to suicide prevention to reflect best practices.

Member of New Hampshire Nurse Practitioner Association December 2020- Present
Member of Transition of Care at New Hampshire Hospital April 2021- May 2021

■  Assess patterns in barriers in transitions to care to identify areas of needed intcn-ention
QPR trained February 2021

■  Emergency response training on how to best approach someone in crisis
Member of Research Incubator at New Hampshire Hospital April 2021- Present

■  Engaging in processes of if implementing research such as literature reviews, discussing gaps in literature
and collaborating with others with similar research interests.

■  Helping implementation of study invesugating vaccine hesitancy
*  Engaging in Research Fundamentals Virtual Course

PastR£searchj^d Volunteer Clinical Experience1[

MGH Covid-19 Hotline- Somerville, MA March 26-31 2020

■  Collaborated with Advanced Practice Nurses on the best way to develop and improve the triage training.
■  Created training material that was better suited for the rapid turnover of staff and quickly-changing policies.

Emmanuel College- Boston, MA Jan 2014- May 2016
•  Worked in multiple psycholog)' based labs run by tenured professors.
■  Ins'estigatcd topics including mindfulness and yoga in female college students, gender identity, empathy,

emotion regulation, and friendships in older adults.
■  Gained experience in data collection, SPSS functioning, assessing validity and reliability of measures,

conducting literature reviews, coordinating lab responsibilities for PI and writing research papers.
MGH Resilience Enhancement and Prevention Program- Boston, MA Mar 2015- May 2016

■  Assessed patients for acuity and scheduled patients for initial consultation with doctors.
■  Built Redcap sur\'cy to assess mental health risk factors for patients newly reporting psychiatric symptoms.
■  Contributed to weekly staff meetings with psychiatrists and psychologists regarding the programs progress.
■  Help to facilitate Dialectical Behavioral Group 'Hierapy sessions.

Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA ' Oct 2014- Dec 2014
■  Shadowed resident psychiatrist's initial inter\'icws with incoming patients.
■  yVttended and contributed to resident and attending psychiatrist meetings regarding their intakes.

Phoenix House, Dublin, NH ' May 2014- Sep 2014
■  Worked with adolescents in drug/ alcohol rehabilitation program.
■  Co-facilitated and designed daily groups and recover)' therapies.
■  Provided super\'ision and support for patients experiencing emotional/behavioral difficulties.
■  Collaborated with clinicians to improve treatment process for patients.

Harvard Universit)', Cambridge, MA - Feb 2014- Sep 2014
■  Inspired by fixed and growth mindsets: the research lab examined longitudinal relations between parental

evaluations, students' beliefs about the controllability of their thoughts feelings and behaviors, and
emotional and academic outcomes in middle school youths.

■  Collected data in local elementar)' and middle school as well as coded the data and lightly involved in
drafting paper for publishing.
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NH Department of Health and Human Services

KEY PERSONNEL

List those primarily responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Job descriptions not required for vacant positions.

-Cohtractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

NAME JOB TITLE

ANNUAL

AMOUNT PAID

FROM THIS

CONTRACT

ANNUAL

SALARY

Jeffrey Fetter Chief Medical Officer (NHH) $360,600.00 $360,600.00

Samantha Swetter Associate Medical Director (NHH) $305,964.00 $305,964.00

Patrick Hattan Associate Medical Director (NHH) $305,964.00 $305,964.00

Meghan Farley Lead APRN $140,628.80 $140,628.80

Christina Kirkpatrick Medical Director $295,000.00 $295,000.00

Robert Wendling Medical Director (Glencliff Home) $111,394.00 $111,394.00
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STATE OFNEW1141^

PEP^tMENf OF AND HUMAN SER\a^^

HAMSTJ^/HpS^ITALi&WSIpEm
•ljoH'A;\yetvor ^ .
■6>a>iDisst6ber 218 EAST ROAD, HAMPSTEAD.NH 03841

j., .. 603^2^5311 Fax; 603-32^5529 wWw.dbb5.pb.gov
'jcWdn'LoMer.

rtlef OfficW

May.9. 2024.

iMis Excellency, GoVem^
and the Horiprable-Councii

Stal:e:H6use
vbbncbr^, New Hamp^^^^

REQUESTED ACTION

Alrthorize the' Department of Health anrt IHuman Services, Hampstead Hospital &
Residential Treatment;Facillty^^ a ;Sble:;Sburce amendmeht tb;ah exis«
yi^lch wasidrigih'ally Mnipetitiyeiy bid, with Mary Hitchcock Memorial H (VC^/1771-6P)r
Lebanon, NH, to ad^^^^^^ of services jfor the proyi^^^ and young, adult: psyc
t^haViofalrteaith'seh/ic^sat Hampsitead H6spit'al,& ResidentialTf^^^^
'the price;lirnitation:by $g^7,'373TrorTi^^t; ,1.11.426 with no change to the cbritra'ct'
completibn date bf . June Sp^^^ effective.'upon Governor rand Council apprbvaL32% Genera
;Fuhds;:,68^

The original coritradwas apRr^^^ Cbuncitpri;March 23,'2022, item^^^
arid most' recently amended with GoVembf arid Gouricil apprbvai rori Oecembbr;^ item
#19. . ' ■ ■ . "7'

Funds are available inrthe following accounts'for S years -2024:ahd 2625vaiid
Tare aritlcipated to be available, in State Fiscal Year 2026,;upon the availablli^iarid cbntiriued
; apprdpnatlpnbfitoridein the future
"wfthlnthe price llrrilt^iob and encumbrarices.betwe^^^
-If needed'andjustifi^

See a^bhed fiscal
EXPLANATION

This requeslls SbleSbUrce because the,Department Is arriendlng the scop^^
end adding fuiidirig, The bepartmerit released a requesifbr proposals in Npyemb^^^^
provision of behavioral heallhrservices at Hampstead Hospital and Residential Treatment Facility
(HHRTF) arid received tWd;(2)Tesponses.:MaryHit(^c6ck Memorial HospKal wasselebted as thev
highest scoriri^^ veridbr. buring .resultjhg" cdritract riegotjatlohs, the Department and Mary
Hitchcock, Memp^^ that arnending this existing .contrarrt to add
behayipral health se^^^ wpulAresuILiri g^ and pyeraJl.iitiR
seryice putcpmes; this approach will ailbw the Coritradpf to,utilize the successful service^m
depfbyed at bbth NsW. Ham HPsprtai ehd Glenc^^ as well-as leyerage .certain,
po'sitioris req'uire'i.withirj :th^ facilities.. Add|tipnal|y, the; pepartrTient will be able to;
mdre'efficierrtl^^ services, with^^^^ contract and ensbre^redMirernents
are/Cdnsistejitac^
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Ris ̂ celter^, GbvemorCHHsto^^ T; Siihuhu
and theHbiiorable Council

Page 2 of 3

The purpose of this request is to modify the scope cif services and add funding for the
:Contrador to provide child arid ypdng adult psy&iatHc behavioral health services at'HHRTF, The
'Contrarkor will provide inpatient psychiatnc services to children, adolescerits, and young adults
'admitted on either a ybiuntary^pf.ihvoiuntaiv basis, as well as Psychiatric Residential Treatment
Facility services for children arid adolescents. The Coniractor will provide the following positions:
Chief Medical Medical Director, Staff Psychiatrists and Psychiatric Adyahced
Practice Registered Numes, iStaff Psychiatrist^ Advartced Practice Registered tjurses; rind
-Behavioral Analyst.: .

The Department will be brihgirig a separate request fonward Governor & Council and to
doint Fiscal CoHimittee, to transfer funds-to the appropriate .class lines to allow for the
establishment of positions. This action will allovy the State to offer employment to the existing staff
providing crillcal seiyjces afiiHRtF, whic^^^ limited to the follpwing positions:

Counselbrs/Cbunselor'Aides • Registered Nurses/Supervisors

■Safety Ambassadors • Sbcial.VVbrkers
Pharmacists/Te.chhic^ • -Admiriistrative Support^
Programming; Milieu'Supervisors

The Departrnent anticipates servirig' to, approximately -890 indiyjduals ;ahnually (870.
'.inpatient and 20 residential admfssions) through this amendment-.^

The pepailmeM is the pvyrierand operator and responsible'for all fuhctlbhs of HHRTF;
this includes"developing'the qyerali .strategic mission of ,HHRTF, ensuring qualify sen/ipes are
provided^ by the Contractor, in cpmpiiance with" aircqntractual requirements as'wejj a^'all federal
and slate laws andfeguiatlons; arid billing for and collecting revenue pn;services rendered. The
Pepartmeht's vision is for the HHRTF carnpus to become a center of excellence for deliveririg
thefapeutic yourig people with highly complex arid acute behavioral health
heeds. Such a campus sbts th.em on a more stable course.in their homes arid; com^

.also attrads and traihs;a robu capable, and,highly skilled workforce.
yVhJle HHRTF is a physical facility, it is also ah irit^ral part of the hiulti-facjated continuum

of care, for young people in New Harnpshire, known as the Childreri's Behavioral Health Systehl
of Care (Sp.d). The SOC is both a strategy and a set of services. It is designed to serye many
different emoilonal, l3ehayioral,;and',n:iental heafth needs of children by expanding the'State's
capacity to provide early and effective home and commuhity-based services and reduce reliance
bri fesldehtlal and inpatient trealmeni unless cilnicallyTequifed^ The Departmehfstaff wilbe on-
site at HHRTF to actively work .with the Goritractbr to provide strategic arid bperatioha! byersrght
ip ensure high-quality, eviderice-based services are delivered and tightly coordinated;With fami|y
members.and community resources.

The Department wljl mbhitbr services by reviewing quality assurance and moniiorlng
plans, arid rnonthly. quartefly'arid arioual reports provided by the Cpritfactqr:

Should thb Governor and Council .not authorize this request the Departmerit will not have
the clinical staffing required to continue "services and operations at HHRTF putting current patients
and other childreh andyoung adults who requife psychiatric inpatient residential behavjbral health
servicesat senoiiC'risk.
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H'iS Exc^tency; Goveifbr^ Tv Siihunu
and't^;HonQr9ble Council

Rage 3,of 3

Area served:,.Statewlde.

, In the eyenf thiat the Funds; become rip jpnger ayailable. additional Gehefal Punds
,Will be requested to support

Respectfully submitted.

Lori A. Weaver

Commissioner
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OePARTMENT OF.NEALTH AND HUMAN SERViaS

FISCAL OETAnS SHEET

H««t)h«hd |^iid^8»r4cM, k«8R^ And HununSfirvtCM Dd^tljnent of, HHS:>ftwH«Ri'p«hti« HOTpiUt,:Niiw.
HAmp«^« Hooplul, Acutt.^yehli^ SofvicM

Stata Fiscal

Yoar
Claia/Aocci^' .CiaaaTKIe; JobNui^f Curr^Budbel

jncraast^;
(iOiibfaaMd) Arnourit

RirMMd Budgat.

2022 102-500731 Contracts for Proaram Sefvic«s< 94058000 55.881.431 SO $5,661,431

.  2023: 102-500731 Contracts (Of Proaram Services 94058000 . $13,075,773 .$0 .'$13,075,773

2024 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services ;94056000 ' .,$13,550,376 SO $13,550,376'

2025 102-500731 . Contracts for ̂ ooram Senrices ;94058000 . $13,958,688 ;$0 $13,956,666'

2028 102-500731 Contracts for Proorsm Setvlcei '94056000 $14:375.594 SO $14,375,594

'Sub Total :J60:840M2 $0 l$60J40.062

05-SS^S1r910010:47.100(IO0 KoaRA and Seie.Ui Sarvteta. HtaMR and Human SooHcaa Oapl of. KHS: OtanclJfT, ProftMlonal Cart>

Stata Fbcal
Yaar

OmrAdount :ci»is"nd« job Number' CuireniBudc^tr
Increased^ ,

fDecreased) Amount
PiovlMd But^t

2022 101-500729' MDdical Pavments to Providers 91000000 $73,193 so 173:193

.2023 101-500729 Medicat Pavments to Providers :01000000 $150:778 . . . so $150,778

2024 101-500729' 'Medical Pavments 16 Providers 91000000 '$155,302 SO $155,302:

2025 101-500729 Medical Pavments to Provldafs 91000000 .-159.960 so ■  -159.9601

2026 101-500729- ^Medical Pavments lo'Provlders (91000000 $164:756 .  SO .$164.758>

SubTotal $703,991 $0 $703,991

0US-M-9S0O1P*2S48<)000 HEALTH AND SOCIALSERVICES. DEpT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVC8. HAMP8TEA0 HOSPtTAL. FUMPSTEAO
HOSPITAL.OP^TONS

State Rscai

'Year-
Class/Aceoiinl class riiie Currant Budoeiv.

liwea^'
rDecfusa^ Amount

'Risvited Budget.

2024 102-500731 Contracts (or Oor Svc TBD $0 .  S90.242 soe.242

2025 102-500731 Cofilracts for Oof Svc TBD :$0 $4,795,001 rS4;795.0ei

2026 102-500731' Contracts (or Opr Svc TBD $0 $4,673,070 $4,673,070.

.. —
SubTotal. .$0 19.$e7.J73 $9,867,373

lOvema Total I 9g1;S44.0S3 -S9.5e7:373'l 971:111.^
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'pbcuSignEnv«1<^>e.iO:.C09(}9883^B99C^97.C-9F.B&:F6DEB102FS9E

estate of New Hampsm^^
vDopaHment;6f Health,and Huma

Amehdment #2

This Amendment to the Rsychia^ M,edica| i^rvices contracl Is by and between the.State of .t^ew
Hampshire, DepartmenlLot^ Serylces ("State" or "Department") and Maryf Hjtbl^poc
Mem.orlaj HospitaU'The.Cintrart^ . - -
WHEREAS, pufsuaht tb ah agreeitieht (the "Cbntfact"):appfoved by the Govemof and Eitecutlve Couhcil

rofi March 23^ 2022 (Item #31). as amended pn'December-21. 2022 (Item'#^
perform certain' seivices ijased and conditions specified in the Cohtract a;s amended^and
in consideration bf.certa^^^ ' . *

wrtER^S,. pursuant to Form iP-37i General Provisions, the: ̂ ntract'may t>e amended uppr\ writteri
agreernent orthe.parties and-apprpya^^ Gpyernp.rand.ExecuUve.C^^ ^
'  , . ' __ _ _ . . .. . ̂  - -

NOW.THEREFORE^ihcbhsideratidh'of.thPTOregoin the'mutualcpve"hahtsand.cohdrtidriS'^cohtaihe^^
Ih the; Contract^'andset;fbrth''herein,-.the;paities:hereto agree toamendas.Tollows:^

'i,'. Form P^,3,7,,General Rrpyislpns, B|pck'1,8, Price Umitiatjbn..^^^^

$73 i111 >426

% Modify Exhibit'Bj Scppe of.Services; by;replacing3im
ScppepTSejyices.'w^^^^ hereto and~ihcPfpp'ra^^ refererice;herejn.

.3.1 Modi^ Exhibit G.^Payment Tenhs, Section'3,: wi to-Subs'ectiohs 3.1-througk3'.4;,'to
readf " ■ . -

3;. The":Contractpr shal(;proyide.'serviceSvU^ based on.the Budget be.ioyv per
applicable: Seb'ice Area/a^^^ ypar.- The.,Cpntractpr shall b.e cbmpehs^
;proyide:and.iiieiiver the seryices described in Exhibit B.-'Scope of Services, on'the:basis ofihls
■Budget:: " . , ' "

i  " Budget:

AgreementrPeilod by State Fiscal Year, . .

^Service"
;Area#j.

;i/1/2022r'
;6/30^022;

7/1/2022--
|/3b/2d23

*7/1/2023-
6/^2024.

^7/1/2024^
,Md/9b25 ,

7/1/2025-

,$5,396,232 .$1.1,964:356. ;$1:2.323,287 $.12;692,984] $1;3:07,3.773

Sefyi^.
Area #2'

1/1/2022-
^30^20^.

■ 7/1/2022-
• 6/30/2023 •

— ' .y '

7/1/2023- 7/1/2024-.
'6/30/2025

7/1/2025^
:^/30y202$

•j $.558,392' !$1.262:t95 $1,382,391 $1,423i864; $1,466i579
■Service
Area #3

•

GSC Approval
■-6/30/2O24

■7/1/2024..
6/30/2025

7/1/2025- '
::6/3d/2d26

.

4.

,  J
^  $99,242 $4;79$,061; $4,6.73;070

4.': Mpdi^ Exhibit;d;,^paymenJ.,terms',:SeCto ^ .
5. ,ln lieu of^ Hard cPplesyeirinvot^ assigned ah electr6hic^ signature and. emaiied .to

NHHFinahcialSeivices@dhhsVnh'.gb^ 'Service ,Area i &' 2' ■services,.
d' - ■Shauh;E-Qualter@dhhs:hh;QoVfor Seivice Area 3; ,:;r

RRRr2022^NHrt^3;pSyeH-01-A02
:  A-SX1.3:

'Page'l'of 3..

-0#i

•CPhlfactbr.lhitiafs': -
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..Design E^l6^IO':!C0909883-899C^97C<9FB8-R6D£B.1p2F59E:

J

.All. termVand .conditions orthe Contract and prior amendments/not modified !by this Amendmerit remain
Nnfu!|:for^-:and.effe^^^^^ approvai..

'  iN V'/ltNES^^^^^ the;partjeslhaye'ael,their hands'■as^of tHe d^^
■x- ? -

r., - , Slate.olNew HampisN^^^ • .
•Department of HeaIth;and.,Human Services: 5-

5/9/2024.

Date! Name: Lori A. "weaver
Title:: ,

DHHS commissioner-

15/9/202^1.

■ Date-

.Mary'lrtifchcock.
-OMVtliiMlv:

J ; Merrens;, MD'
■Titian - . ; ' - , .

Chief .CViriical pffi'cer

' V.

t

'•y

.Mary'Hitch^ Hpspilal.j
;Rf;P.r2022tNHHrd^PSYCH^ Pago^ofl'
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,;bj>cOS]gn,Enve^

th8;precedingr^?^end^^ ihavlng been reviewed by Jhis is approy^ as to fpirh. subsjance,: ar^
execution.

•OFFICE OF THE AnORNEY GENE^

5/9/2024

Date,

'juniiuuim^

"[Namef, Roby^n Guarino:.

■fitler' •
Attorney

on: , (date of.meetliig);

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:
Title::

^v'

jMary Membriel-Hw^^
^FPr2022r»^HH;63-RSYCH^:i-A02

' a

Rage''3;6f;3,
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OocuSIgn Envelope lb: C0909883-B99C-497C-9FB8rF60EB102F59E

^New Hampsh^^ Human Services
Psycbiatrfc and Medical S

EXHIBITB ̂vArnendmerit #2

Scope of Seivlces. y

f';^at6mentof Work'

1,1.. The .Cpntractbr-shair provide services at- New:
Hampshire .Hospital (NHH). ithe plahned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
ii[NHFH), jolenbiifTH^ andjHampsteadH^ Treatment;
Faciii^ (rtHRTF)^.;The;Qontrac.tor shall provide services In the following sjeiviM^
-areas: ^

1 t-.l • S^eryic^ jAtea ■_ psychiatric^ care: for adults adniitted to New.
Hampshire: Hospital (NH New' Hampshire Forensic Hospital
'(NHFfl|^ and Glehctiff Home;
Service Area #2 r. Non-emergeht m¥dicai:c^ adults admitted to
New,Hampshire HbSpital/arid New HampsHire Fore^^

'i.T.3. Service; Area::#3.r Psydhiatricarid noh-eniergent medical care for
^children, adofe^nts; and yoUng :edLilts ages five (5)f(d f^eniy^
;(25) yebrc :pld, ;as well.as. P Treatment Facility
(PRTF) services for Children and adolescents up to age"2T adrnitted to
HHRTC: ^ ^

%i. ' iFor the purposes olthis agreement, all references-lb days shall mean cajehdar
daysy^unlesg Oth^^ ^ -

i;,$l For the'purposes of: this agreement, all references to busrne7s;s-.;hp0^^ shall
-  • imean Mo;g^7thro^ S'AM;toA Pfy). ^xCjuding ^afeand tedeial:

V  'holidays; .. '• ^ '
14:, "All Services Areas - General Requirements

%4.T. ThevCohtractorshairdeliver psychialrlcahd m^ NHHi
;lhe7plahhed nS iSlehcjiff Hpme
1.4;1.1: ,Prpyidih§ tii^hly gualifjed .peTsonnel as deicribed in the;

ifollbwihg se.ctos;'
'  ''i' '*•'

1i4;T;2; :VVorking,With the New Hampshi of Health and
Hutfian ;$eiiVices fbepartmeht") to'continue.d and
;refinihg an Jiritegrated mental health ca by applying
;prirfcipies prmbhagedic^ fprclim

'1;4^1;3 Assisting with^educatl6hal land itraihing programs, .al the
direction, of the; fespective: Service Areas'" dhief Executive
;Qfficers;;(the:tCEQ-j;.; • ;; < '

£■> 1 ;4.2; T^ .Gpntractpr shall, recruit !and, retain- qualified iindividuals fpr the
Maffing heedS;^ ;(*!Contractor Rersonherj, a^nd as

_ pfterwise necessary to fulfill the reguirements:describedy hefein,.-'TK^
■  ' i?9htraPtPr'^^ " ' "

.V, , I
iRFPr2022-NHH-03-RSYCH:0.1-A02 .^Ma^ Hilciiccw^^^^ CcriJrador.lhlliais.
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'  EXHIBIT B-Amendment #2

1.4.2.1. All Contractor Personnel provided
. consultants of the Contractor.

are emplbyees or

1:4.3.

1.4.4.

1:4.5.

1.4.2.2. No Contractor Personnel are erhployees of the State of New
Hampshire,

The Contractor agrees that one (1) full-time equivalent (FIE) is equal
to p.ne (1) fullrtime employee who works forty (40) hours per .week.

The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel meet and adhere

■to: ^
1.4.4.1. The codes Of ethical conduct applicable to their license

.  category:

1.4.4.2. Behavioral policies of the Departrhent;

1.4.4.3. Department ihforrnation security and privacy policies and use
agreements which have been provided to Coritractor; and,

1.4;4.4, All other human . resource-related expectations' of the
Department, NHH, NHFH, Glencliff Home and/or HHRTF, as
well as New Hampshire Department of Information
Technology (DolT) security policies.

The Contractor shall provide staff as indicated in Table 1 below as the
Contractor Personnel, which Outlines the.FTE allocation limits for the
minimum required staffing positions. ' *

Table 1

Poisltlon Title
•  :

Minimum PTE/Staffing Ratio
Limits

NHH

a. Chief Medicaf Officer ■1 FTE

b. Associate Medical Director 1 FTE

C: Staff Psychiatrists Ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric
APRNs shall be 8:1. Deviations
from- this ratio shall require the
approyai of.the GEQ.

Psychiatric APRN - 1 FTE; ratio of
Psychiatric APRNs to Psychiatrists
cannot exceed 4:1

d. Psychiatric Advanced Practice
Registered Nurses (APRN)

RFP.2022-NHH<)3-PSYCH-01-A02

B-1.0

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
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■EXHIBIT B - Amehdmerit #2

N

'■ eV ChiefiPsychpIp^ 1.FTE

' f. .psychojpglst 1 FfE

g; Forensic Psychplogis ■
fv. ' %

1 PTE

Ratio :of patients tP ^Forensic
Psycholbgist riot to exceedi24:1'.

■ % :AdmimstratiV^^ O.SFTE.

mfH,

a; .jFprepsic Psychia^ ^ 2. FTE - ..

b; Fo^ensic psychpibgist
A'

2 PTE

Ratio of ■ patierite- to Fpreribic
Psychologists noPtoexceed 12:1

c; ForensibBehayioral A ^ 1:FtE

^Qlericliff Home

a; ;Medi.carpifect"or' . 0/4 FT,E •

HHRTF ^
a. ^hie^Wiedical Officer r'FTE-.

. p . ^General Medical ,4FTE

c. Administrative Staff 0.5 FTE \

d;. Staff:Psychia^^^ Ratio of' ■ 'patients to. Staft
Psychiatrists: and Psychiatric

.APRNs shall be 8:;1; peyiatibns
from this ratio shall, require the
apprpva! of the.CE.G).
Psychiatric APRN(-'1 /O RTE^fatid of
Psychiatric ' i^PRNs to - Slafl
Psychiatrists cannot 4:1

0; Psychiatric Advanced Practice
■ Regisifered Nurses (APRN)

«

vIn .

f. "Advanced Practice . Registered
Nurses ,(APRN)

iFTE

RFR-2022-NHH-p3-PSYCH^t.'Ap2
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EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

'v.;

2. Service Area #1 - Psvchlatric Care

2..1. New Hampshire .Hospital

.2 i;i. Chief Medical Officer '

The Gontractoc shall provide one (1) PTE psychiatrist to serve
'  ̂ as the Chief Medical Officer.

■  2.1.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer :is-
physically.present at NHH and NHFH for a minimum of forty
(40) hours per week and oversees all providers at NHH and
NHFH referenced herein." . '

2.1.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is
"■ ' responsible for the same duties and requirements outlined in

this Section ,2,2.1. for NHFH upon comrnencement of patieiit
services at NHFH, including overseeing clinical staff at NHFH
provided by the Contractor. The Contractor shall ensure the
Chief Medical Officer:

2.1.1.3.1. Is a board, certified psychiatrist- licensed to
practice medicine ifi the State of New Harhpshire
and has clinical privileges at NHH and NHFH.

2.1.1.3.2, Is a senior administrative , psychiatrist with a
■  minimum of five (5) years of experience In a.

.  ■ position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector ^ program;. psychiatric,- hospTtal;
goyernmental authority: or stale or national

...1 medical/psychiatric society or organization
Involved In the delivery of public sector psychiiatric
services. '

2.1.^.3.3. Has completed an Accreditation Council for
Graduate Medical! Education (ACGME) approved
residency'program with board certification in

■> psychiatry by the American Board of Psychiatry
and Neurology. (Additional ' subspecialty
certification in forensic, geriatric pr-
child/adolescerit psychiatry may be substituted for
two (2) years of administrative leadership.

-  Coinpletioh pf a graduate curriculum In medical
adrhiniistration is preferred).

2.1.1.4. The Ccntractor shall ensure the Chief 'Medical Officer
participates, as needed, with Staff Psychiatrists in on-cail and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week~to ensure on-
call psychiatrist services' are available .24 hours per ;day, 7

RFP.2022-NHH-p3-PSYCH-bi-A02 Mary Hllchcc^ Mempfla! Hospfial ^ Coniradbr (niiJals
B^l.O P^e4or54 Dale ^7^/7024
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EXHIBIT 8 - Amendment #2

•ji

days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
.r that there will be one on-cati pool of Contractor Personnel

prpylding calf coverage services to NHH and NHFH.
'  .5. In the event the Chief Medical Officer resigns, or Is otherwise

i' removed' from providing services to the Department, the
• Contractor shall: ■

2.1.1.5.1. Furnish a psychiatrist within 'ten (10) business
i>. days, not including holidays; to serve full-time as

interim Chief Medical Officer, until such time as
^  ' the existing Chief Medical Officer either resurnes

full-^ime duty or is replaced by a new Chief
Medical Officer. ■ . a

2.1.1.5.2. Unless the CEO agrees to waive any requirement
in writing, ensure the interim Chief Medical Officer

'  meets all requirernerits for the Chief Medical
Officer,.as set forth herein.

' 2-.1;1,.5.3. Provide transitipn services to NHH and NHFH,'at
ho additional cost to the Departrnent, to avoid any

,  interruption of services . and administrative
.  " • responslbllllies.

2.1.1.6. Subject to (1) the statutory authority of the department's
f . Gbmrrilssioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
*  with, respect to adniinistratlve/cllnlcal rtialters, the Contractor

shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

-■ 2.1.,i.6.1. Develops and submits NHH and NHFH provider
staffing needs,. Including a schedule of psychiatric

'  , and related clinical personnel, for De'partitient
approval" prior to the commencement of each
contract year' or as otherwise requested by the
Department;

... , :2,.1.1,6.2, Coordinates with the CEO on all clinical activities
.  in order to accdmpiish the day-to-day clinical

operations of NHH in a manner cdrisistent with
RSA Chapter 135-C and the rules adopted
pursuant thereto, all Department policies, and all

'  ■■■;, standards of the Joint Commission (TJC) and
•  ̂ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

;  ■ (CMS); ■ ■
2.1.1.6.3. Participates |n the formulation, implementation,

and supervision'of all clinical programs for .the
7  .

•  * V
RFP-2022-NHH4)3-PSYCH:(I1-AP2 MaiyHilchcock.Memorial Hospital . . Contractor initials .^
B-1.0 Page5:of54 Date
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exhibit B - Amendment #2
r-

•

.  diagnosis, assessment, treatmehi,- care, 'and
management of NHH and NHFH patients:

2,1.1.6.4. Supervises all documentation requirements for all
•  ' Staff Psychiatrists and other clinical (iefsonnel

employecl by the Contractor and providing
services af NHH and , NHFH under this

•  „ Agreement;

2;1.i;6.5. Ensures adequate coverage on vveekends and
holidays to maintain compliance with
docurnentatipn requirements to justify medical
necessity of stay, including, but not limited to, the

^  need for daily progress notes ;6n patients covered
by Medicaidv Medicare or commercial ihsurance
(Should clinical cafe responsibilities impede a

'  provider's ability to complete daily progress notes
•  • ' - : op weekends or holidays, the next progress note

will be written within 72 hours):

2,1.1,6.6. Performs annual performance evaluafiphs and
discipline, as necessary, for airStaff Psychiatrisb^
3ocl Other Contractor Personnel providing

^  services at NHH and NHFH. Including consulting
•  : with and seeking input from the CEO as to the

V, ,• * -Department's satisfaction with the "services
provided by the individual under review;

2.1.1.,6.7. ̂  Performs an annual ■administralive review of all
■ Contraclor Personnel providing services at NHH

andNHFHtoerisorecorTipliancewith.Department
policy, iricludtng but not limited to: tfalhing: record
keeping; matters of medical records; CPR arid

'  CMP training . and/or retraining; " TJC
■  requiferriehls; -customef service Vesponslbilities;-

•  ■■ HIPAA'compliance; and attendance at mandated '
in-service training.

•' 2.1.1.6.8. Eilsures compliance with the requirements in
.  - Part 2.2.1.6.7, and takes whatever disciplinary

'  ' action necessary in instances of non-compliance
^  with ■ Departrtient policy., or .Medical Staff,

'  Organization bylaws;
r. 2.1.1.6.9. Complies with ajl applicable ■ performance

>• Standards :in this Agreement, pertaining to'Staff
'  Psychiatrists;

RFP:2022.NHH-d3;pSYCH<ii:Ap2. ' Mory HiichcockMemoflel Hospliai Conlraclor (nitlala
B-1:0 ' Page 6 01M 5/9/2024
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EXHIBIT B-Amendment #2

2.1.1.6.10. Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New_
Hampshire's mental health service systern;

■2.1.1.6.11. Supports Department's customer service culture
by adhering to and ensuring that Staff
Psychiathsts under their direction, adhere to the
established Customer Service Guidelines for
Physicians; .

2.1.1.6.12., Reports any issues known to them to the CEO
■  regarding all admissions, patient care or any other

situatipris that may pose a significant risk to
patients or the cbrnrhunity or that rhay result in
adverse publicity or in any way undermine public

■ confidence in the clinical care provided by NHH
andNHRH;

2.1:1.6.13. Participates .as a member of NHH's Executive
Team;

.2.1.1.6.14. Participates iri the recruitment of other Clinicai
Department personnel, upon the request of the
CEO;

2.1.1.6.15. Establishes, subject tb appfovat from the CEO, an.
employment schedule for all clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor to provide services at
NHH andjNHFH;

/  2.I.I.6.I61 Assists the NHH Executive Team with enhahcing
clihical practices arid, care across the
organization; and

2.1.1.6 17. Prbvides clinica) coverage for other clinical staff,
as necessary, due to absences or vacated
positions. "

2.V.I.7. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medjcal Officer
oversees clinical staff in Service Area # 1 and Service Area #

• 2.

2.1.2. Associate Medical Director ^

2.1.2.1. The Contractor shall provide 1.0 PTE Associate Medical
Director, which may consist of multiple individuals who fulfill
the 1.0 PTE requirement,-as approved by the CEO.

RFp.2022TNHH03kPSYCH-pV.A02

B-i:o
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EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

2.1.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure an Associate Medical Director is

physically present at NHH and NHFH for no less than forty
(46) hours per week.

2^1.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director
p.e'rforms the duties and, requirements outlined in this Section
2.2.2.3 for NHFH upon commericement of patient services at
NHFH, The Contractor shall'ensure the Associate Medical
Director:

2.1.2.3.1. Is a Board Certified Psychiatrist licensed to
practice medjcine in. New Hampshire. ■

,  2.1.2.3.2. At all times, maintains both a license to practice-
medicine in the Stale of New Hanripsh|re and
clinical privileges at NHH and NHFH.

2.1.2.3.3. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist having a.
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a

"  • position of clinical leadership for a major public
^  sector program, psychiatric hospital,

governmental authority, or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or organization
involved in the delivery, of public sector psychiatric

'  services. (Additional subspecialty certification in
forensic, addiction, geriatric or child/adolescent,,
psychiatry may be substituted for two (i) years of
administrative, leadership. Completion of a
graduate curriculum in medical administration is
preferred.

2.1.2.3.4. Completes an ACGME-approved residen.cy
program with board certification .in ;Psychiatry by
the American^ Board of Psychiatry and Neurology.

2.1.2;4. The Contractor shajj ensure the Associate Medical Director-
possesses or develops the skills necessary to serve in the'
capacity of the Chief .Medical Officer, on a temporary or
permanent basis, in the event that the Chief Medical Officer
position is vacated.

2.1.2.5. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

participates as needed with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call ,and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure ̂

.  . P$ychiatrist-On-Call service's are provided 24 hours per day,
.7 days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-cal! pool of Contractor

RFP.2022-NHH-03-PSYCHK)1 -AOi Mery Hitchcock Memorial Hosplial Contraclof Inllials,

B-1.0 * ' P8gee6f"54 bate
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Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH and
NHFH. ■ ■ , ' _

2.1.2;6. In .the event the Associate Medical Director resigns, or is
otherwise removed from providing services to ■ the
Departrnent, the Contractor shall:

2.1.2.6.1. Furnish, a psychiatrist or other qualified provider,
as determined by the CEO,;.within ten (iO)
. business days, not including holidays, to serve full-

time as interim Associate Medical Director, until
the existing Associate Medical Director either
resuriies-duty full-time or . is replaced by, a new

■  Associate Medical Director.

2.1.2.6.2. Ensure the Jfiterim Associate Medical Director
■  meets all of the, requirements for the Associate

Medical Director as set,forth herein,.

2.1.2.6.3. Provide transition services to Department, at no
addilionaj cost, to avoid ■ any interruption of
services and administrative responsibilities..

2.1.2.7. Subject to (1) the statutory authority of the Department's
Gommissioner pr designee, and (2) the authority of the GEO.
witt\ respect, to administrative arid/or clinical matters, the
Contractor shall erisure the Associate Medical Director:

2.1.2.7.1. Coordinates/all clinical activities with the Chief
Medical Officer and the GEO in order to

accomplish the day-to-day clinical operation of-
NHH in a manner consistent with NH ;Revised

Statutes Annotated (RSA) 135.-C and the rules
' adopted, pursuant theretp, all NHH policies, ar^d

'■ all standards of The Joint Commission (JJ"C) and
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

2.1.2.7.2. Establishes staffing needs, includirig but hot
limited, to psychiatric and related clinical

f  personnel, on a periodic basis, with the Chief
Medical Officer and CEO;

2.1.2.7.3. Serves In the capacity of the Chief Medicai Officer
in the event of the Chief Medical Officer's
absence; ■

, 2.1.2:7.4. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer in the
forrhulatioh, implementation, and supeivisioh of

■RFP.2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 ' Mary Hiichcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

B-1.0 " Page 9 of 54 Oat^ S/9/2024
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a|i^ P.i'picai, prbgrar^s" "for the diagnosis;
■  assessmeni, treatment, care;, and nianagem

paliehts;' '
•2;i:.2.7.5. Superyiisesjail documentation requirements of ail

.: 'Staff Psychiatrists ^and: other : Contractor
Rersprihel proyiding se

2.1.2:7 6. :Rarticipates,'with th'e Chief Medical, Officef^^
'  ahpual performance eValuatidns and:

idisciptinary actions, as ■necessaryv -forrvaii.
i; ■ :Psych|atrists and {other Contractor Personnel.

arid NHFH/ jhcfudihg
;as^stirig the Gt^i^^

;2|1^2;7.7. VVorks with the Ghjef
■' . ap MMa'/admimsl review pf^alj'Cpntractor

!Personnerto,ensure;icompliance with Oeparlmenti
ipplicie^ including but npt limited -to:; ttrairiihg;;

.. ;?dcprd keeping; rnatters^pf medjcaj records'; CPR.
.and. -eMP., Uaimng -and/or feiraining; TJC
requirements customer .seivice res

^  'mfprmaticin security, priyacy, iand. HIPAA
r' " ^ compjiance; and attendance at^rhandated Inr.
•  s ' ■ ■■ ^serticpvtraihingj; ^

•2;1'.'2.7;8: Cpmplies with; all appiicable' performance
Standards pertaining to Staff RsychiatfistS;

7;1..i2v7.9. Provides consultation to the; Department:relative;
,tp 'the development of the' iState: of hlew';

:  iSatOp.shjre's men^^^^^^
iRror^

■5 fo aniensurihg "that Staff psychiatrists adhere d
A  , ' ' the established custbhier service; guidelihes for

'  'physiciaris;
;2.-1:27..11. ^Reports any known jssues to the: C.hief Medical

Officer and CEO reg'ardlhg: adrffjs^^^
pare or ipny Other ■situatipn that :may ppse ;;a

,:signtficar)trisk!to paiieriis or the community or ihat-
'  ' s - TOy insult In !adyerse publicijy or :ih ariy. way

:undermihe:'p^^
provided::byiheibepartrTient; ^

^2:T*?:7.^t2, if^riicipaJesiwIilh jheOhief M
.dEO:ih theTdeVelopmeht:of cH^

{RFP-2b22^HH.O^ Majy Hilj^wrt Memo^lH Cbftlractbrfeiiiais'
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^2;i52^;13. iParticljbaies In ihe' recruitirierlt of' ofHeP dliriical
.j. 'A ' ' perspnneli uppn'thevreq^est.p^^^^

r  ■' 4;; Assists im^tabljshing, ^ubjec^^
Chief Medical; CEQ/an erhplpymenl.

... • schedule for-all Cohtraclor Rerspnnd! .'provided
-  wn#f1his Agreem^^

■ 2;i:2;7.15;r Assists- the -Chief Medical 'Qffider and 'th'e-CEO
■  iwith the clinical supeivisloh mid edu^^^

.•* • other chnicaMa^f: an^ '
.  2;i:2^:^6; 'jf^oyjdes clinicai cbyeragfe%r

'  ... ; as necessary due ;to' absences pr "yacated
V  ' - ." 'positions.

Ni: 2/13. /Staff Psychiatrists and P~sychlatHc:Ad
Nurses lAP.RN)
S.i . f ha ijCbntraclbr' shall iensure;-the; ;:atip ;bf' patienle to Staff

r  .Psychiatrists and Psychiatric: APRNs is not less ttiah-8:1.,.
.  unless othe^ the CEO; for/a speci^^^^ pbnpb

iojtirrie;. ■ ,

2,1 ;3,2. The/Gphtra the ratio pf Psychiatric APRNs to^
Siaff'psychiatrics .d^^^

;2.1 ;4.t: TheXohtractorrshall ens^ Rsychlaiflsts are: physically
pfesental NHH and NHFH a/minimum pf f(Cly"(40)'h6pre per-

*' 'wepfev -The-Cpnlrapt^^^^^^^ Staff Psychiatrists;
;2/l/4,i;l.. .Have appropriate expen ih./the: specialty in.^

v%, iwhIcK' they /iare board/ /certiried :p/r :eligible; ;fpr
,  cmtific^ibn; ^

'  . - '2:1;4/1;2! HaVe cdmpleted.ari AGGME-apprbyeO^ residehcy'
program Jo ;psyc_h^^^ i

•  . ;2;1/4.1.3. JFbrmulatei .and ihipleme.ht 'treatmerit :pJariS' arid
plihlcar seiyices, iifi /cbpperatipn with treatment

^  ' leams/i for the.'diagnosis/ assessment, treatment;;
'  ■' pare and.managemerit of: patients;.

■2;1,/4.1.4. /Maintain; and.- direct -if' .dinically! appropriate:
/treatmenl plan fof/assigned 'cases in concert with
^the, /multidisaplihary Caff cbnCC^hf iwilK' the

.  pepartimenVnbrrn^ " "

REl^2p2/2^N^ Maty CwBcipi/iri^^^^

6ri:d
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.< • EXHIBIT B-TjlVme
^  A,.

-  2.1.4.i .5; petermine Jhe appropriatehess' 6V admissions,
^  transfers- and discharges cdnsis^eht iWith .RS"A.

2,1;4.;1.6. Provide, ;tn coordination with the Chief Medical
Officer, the Associate Medical Director, and other,
staff physicians, ph-call after-hpure cpyerage phd
serve as"on-site.:after-hours coverage, on a 24^
hour a:day. 7s6ay a week', year round basis when
riecessaiV as deterrhined by the GEOi Chief

■V- Medicai Officer, and/or Associate Medical ,
Dir.ecior; 'Eor the avoidance of doub), the parties
agre'e' that -there wiil be one on-call pool, of
Cpritractor personnel providing call ppverage

■ services to N.HH and.NHFH:
:2>;4.i ;7. Participate in the Med^ Staff Organization arid

other' ■adrriinislrative cornmittees; assigned
committees and task forces;

;2.i ;4.-1.8. Compiete'medicai and/or psychiatric consullatipn
on patients, ffdrh facilities; other Wa& NHM,
corisjsterit'with

'^2;.^;.4.'iy9v Gdrnplete,; "m a /tirhely ^rhahher; fall' necessary
dpcumeritatidri, as required by TJp t^and, ICMS
standards;

'2.:i i4;1 .Id.; .Complete ■Occufredpe^^ in cpmpliam^^ with
Department policy; .

Cprhplete alj . rriedica! .fepord rdpcum^tatidh,
. iricludirig -ohgoing and timely docurnentation xof'
'cllriicar :ca^^ fegardirig medicai, necessity;
jncl.uding daily progress notes tp/dopumeM .and
suppod medical necessity, within timeframes a^^^
specified :by. the NHH's^ DbcumentatiOn
pplicy and procedure and other rejeyarit policies
fandiprocedures.

'Adhere to^.ajT Department pplicies. includihg. but
not lihilted' to pdlidies ..on Medical Becpr.ds.
pocOmentation and Progress Notes;

'2.1,.4.i;i3. Ensure that documentation ;is! consistent with
s- hprmatiye data cpllectdd'by the. fCpmpljah^^^

^Officerahd Utjlizatidh. RevJ Managef;

;.RFP-2022;NHH:P>P^ Mary:Hijd>codi,.M^^^ •
'Pa9e^2pi54; bate S/9/2Q24,
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"  ̂ EXHIBITS- Amendment #2

.  2,1.4,1.14. provide .Other services as required, which are
consistent with the hiissidn of the Department; ̂

2.1.4.1;15. Appear and testify in all court and administrative
hearings, as required by the Department;

2.1.4.1.16. Develop ahd rnaintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,,
comitiunity providers and other interest groups
vital to the functiorilng the Department's systern of
care, including for the purpose of transition
plarihing by adhering to Department standards;
■and

2.1.4.1.17. Participate, in the utilization review processes,
including appeals and other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director, and/or the CEO.

2.1.4.2. the Contractor shall ensure a minimum of one (1) PTE Staff
.Psychiatrist is dedicaled to provide services to. the. NHH

.  ■ - ihpatient stabilization unit (ISU).
2.1.4.3. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff

Psychiatrist certified in forensics is dedicated to provide
'■ _ - seivices to the-NHH forensic unit, which does hot exceed a

24:1 palient^to-provider ratio. : '
.. 2.1.4.4. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum oT (1) PTE Staff

Psychiatrist is certified in addiction; be a physician who is
certified in general psychiatry; and has significant clinical
experience iri addiction medicine. (A fellowship training and/or

;i board certification in addiction medicine or addiction
' psychiatry is highly preferred.)

2.1.4.5.'The Contractor shall! ensure a riiinimum of (1) PTE Staff
. psychiatrist is a Geropsychiatrist who has:

2.1.4.5.1. Completed an ACGME-approved, residency
^  program in psychiatry, and is board certified by

the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology
in Psychiatry; and

2.1.4.5.?. Completed a one-year geropsychiatry fellowship
and is'Specialty certified by the American Board
of Psychiatry and Neurology in geriatric

:  psychiatry. (Two (2) years of additional cllnicaj
■  experience in geriatric psychiatry] may be

-  substituted the ohe-yeaf fellowship.)
•  ! V)

RFP-2022-NHH-63-PSYCH-01-Ab2 Ma^ HUctKOcJc Memorial Hojpiial Contractor Initials
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EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

2.3i4.6. Ttie Cbntractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrtsjs provide^
services on; a'ftillTtirne basis as; defined in Paragraph 1;4.3'

•  above and^limlt the^ to treating NHH patients
except^fbf Aighl ahd%eekend

■  time or Rer diern.

2.:1r4y7:.'Not^jthstahdm the above, the Departme^^^ and Gpnt^
agrbe that (ij Staff Psychiatrists may ;perfprrn pCcasipnal
^outside practice?^^^^^^ with the adyahce^wntten jappm of
the GEO and Chief Medical Officer,>but onlyilf, said duties do
not, :ib ;the spje "ji^gmi^t bf tl^
'psychi^^bsts' duties 'at'the' iDepa^nii^t: land ̂ (iijjCbnlracfor
■Personnel may b;e permitted,-;,subjecl to prior notice and the-
^approyaj of both the Chief Medical Qffi^^^ CEO; tb:

_  ' «; perfpTm educatlpnai or research'actlyitjes 'so;iong -as' those.
activities 'further the mission 'and goajs the, department ,
f^taff Psychiatrists, iapd GbhtractQr Pefepn for
:such activiiies^shair provide, mphthiy- dbcumebtatiohl a^^

•  • * vsunfirhary. progress, reports ̂
'the.GEO that epbcifi^^^^^ time: spent deVoted' tb ebucbtiona

,  fesearch activities;

'• 2,4;4,8; The; Cbntfactbr shaH ensure SfaffiPsychiatrists participate in,
;on-caili aff®rrhours coverage above the ^O^hpur week to
ensure on-callpsychiaUist services areiproyd^^ ftoursper^
■day; 7idays;pervyee.k.;Fo;rthis,,rea^
.repbrts summarizlhg /ulj-tlrne equiyaient staffing fpr^ each

'  Invoicing perlod/Fbrtheeyoidance ofdoubtVtheparties agree,
that there will b.e; one •pn-cajl. pool of dohtr^^^^^ Personnel-
iprpvidihgv^^ coyerage sen/ices; tb NH}^:an^^

2vi:4:9rThe Cohtractbr agre^ Staff Psychiatrists ;m'ay alsb be.
V  r: required to participate in bh-calli f;afler-hours.; bbyerage; as

needed for NHPH'upon comme'ncementbf patierit services,at
:;NHFH. ^ ■

21.5. Psychiatric AdvancedlPractlce:Registered Nurses (APRN)
2;,1.5.1. The" Cbhtfactpr shall ensure Psychiblfic APpNb^ppssess an

^/^PRt^; ^ have: board certification'BS; Psy.chlaln^
.  ■ ' 'Mental.Sebitb Nurse Practitib^^

2.1.5.2. The; Gontraclor ishall -ensure Psychiatric APRf^s provide
pljnical^seryices ih;:extended ;care.^.and;;adrd
patibrits with severe me^^^ iltrifess anb medi.cal,;cp-i^brtjidjtie
in ;accofbahce with the scbpe. of- bescr|bed .in §$A
1326,-.$41 .theGdntractor sb^ ensure Psy.chiafnc^APRN^^

; [rFR^2^NHH;0^PS iMaiyHijchcock Mef^^ Comfaclor iniilats -

:0#.;
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EXHIBIT B^iAmendment#2

. .W
wr-

2.1 i6;

2.i ;5;2;1; Perform ad_yariced assessments.

,2.1.5.2.2; Diagnose^ prescfibei .admiriistet'
treatment regimens.

2-1.5:2.-3. Rroyide cpngUltatipn as appropriate,^

2.1.5;2.4. Independenliy prescribei'dispense,;and'disW
•  ' wit|)in.tHe;'fpm

and;act.as treatment team leaders In accordanc®
with-Stete New. HarripsBireJaw'a'nd.m^^
vby-:!aws; c-

.2:1.5:2.5. Provide docurnentalion in :accofdari'ce with
■Department policy and the allowable .scope of ■

•  • practice foiVr^RRNsv * r
Chief Psychplbgist:
2.1:6,1. The. GontractoriShall prov one pj FtElChief PsYcboIogisi:

/at ^NHH who is a::c!iriical psychologist (RhD or Psy\D.). The;
'Gpnlracto^^ .CnsureThe ■Ghl^'f^sycholpgist::

Aditiiriisters and 'analyzes' pisychblpgical test
batteries and,'61101^^
acute: psycliiatfic iri^patiehts in}a timely;:^
including: cognitive iCSspSsmenl^^ arid
psycHiatric djagnpsesi ' and: treatrnenf' and,:;
discharge planning,

/2:i;6:i:i.

.RFR-2022;NHH;03-RSYCH.0lrAb2

:2;i;6.1.2. Prpyides expert, clinjcal vCbhsultatid^^^ to
psychialfnsls; neurpipgiCIs, treatment ?team,
guardians, and aftercare agencies, as we!|ee,at,
judicial hearings^

i2.1,:6;1 ■3/' l^^ clpCely wit^ psychiatrjc prpyid
tearn member^, as needed, to; promote" ^hig'h
quality palierit care.

.2.1;6.1;:4. Determines and provides psychplpgical treatrrierit
including but not- limited to:- crisis Jnterv^ention;
[ndividuajl behavioralj and gTpup; therapy;
cpgnitiye; trairjlng to ecute, psychiatric in/patjents
with severe 'irppaitrnent; and family. :couf>selihg
whe'ri indicated."

:2.1.6,1.5. Consults with nursing and. ether staff; ^ab^
management ordifficultpatierits.

iPageiS-bf 54
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EXHIBIT B-- Amendment #2

.2:1.6.1 -6. Paltieipates iri.arid" suggests Psychology quality^
assurance audits a^nd cjinicat prpgi^mveyajuatibh
effods";.-

Qpllabprates with state-employed Psychplogistsi
and ;thelr respective leadershipi 'tp •develoji)
consistent,' evidence-based clinical p/aclices
thrpughbutdhe:organ«^

2.1.^7. /Psychbibglst
^2.1.77^ . ThejGbnt^^^ piiovide 'one (1) PTE jPsychpIopist ;at' .

■ rNHH. The Contractor shall ensure the Psychoibgist who is a
^lihjcal; psychplbgist or Psy]D,). The: GGntractpr shall
'®.n'SMJ.!B,:the;F^sych

^-Administers and ^analyzes; p^hological tei^
%  . batteries; and cliriica) assessrhent- IriteryieyrSi

f  including; but not limited To: cbgnitiye
^  assessments,. ;personality" 'and psychiatric

,  diagnoses, and treatment and." discham.e
■;v ' " p.'OT.Ing- ^
,  ■ )2;1,;7:i1.-2. peterrriiries: - ;and provides psychdlqgicaf "

.  j '*" V j!^Wierit> ;
r. 12.1.7;,i73. Gompletes. progress notes and other

'  ' o^cumehtatfo^^^ j ^
2:T.8.> Pofeh^lcJPsyChplogist ■

Zi;8.1. Xhe iContrabtor ^shall provide, a, minimum of one, (iX ffl
Torensic Psyqhdidgistat NHH to assisl.with servirig^:^^^

,  ■ {deemed nbV:gu^ insanity., Jn.cprn to"
patients: whom

■inpatient psychiatric treatment.The Contractor shail ensure
'.theTdrehsic-Psychdl.dgist:'

I  ' S.i.8.5.i. Is iaxlinlcal psychplogist (PhD,; Psy.p;, or Edb
■  r. ' with forensic experlehce);^ . . -

;2.X;3.i.27 t^as significant.; clihicaf'ex In ;fbrensic
'  psychol6gy:^arid' ' "

,2.T'8;1;3. htas a" cOriiinbation in forensic psychbibgy
'  (preferred).

-  2;i.6!2. .Thbieontraclbr-^i ensure'thb:palient-lb-p^^ Tor
ithe FpfensicXI^ycholdgist does nd^^ ' /

2ii.9'.. AdmihistratlyeSta^' r/r^w,

tMafy:Hitc^ic&ck'M.cmi^al iCohtrKtw Iriliials . -
iB.'l-O.' Page'VebfM .bafa ^
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EXHIBIT B-Amendment #2

2.1.9.1. The Contractor shail provide a minimum'of one half (.50) PTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH
to clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure, the
Administratiye Staff;

2.1.9.1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondencei inquiries, and projects.

2.1.9.1)2. Organize systems of distribution and, review of
these items to ensure efficient comrhunication.

2.1.9.1.3. . Answer adminisfrative questions on behalf of the
Departrnent In a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiiatry
Adminlstfatipn and Chief Medical Officer./

2.1.9.1.4. Respond to routine cbrfespdridence in a finiely
manner.

2.1,9.1.5'. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/pr finishes dpcunients.

2.1.9.T6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files,
■  related to the contract between the Department

and the Conlractpr,

2.1.9,1,7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature,

fi' 2.1.9.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct ,
persons, and inquiries,, provide informatipn. and

.  recdghize and assess devefoplhg situations of
significance to the overall functioning of the

,  , Contractor within NHH and NHFH,

2.1.9.1.9. Monitor 'budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of.providers related to the contract with
NHH.

2.1.9.1.10. Schedule weekpnd and holiday provider
coverage at NHH and NHFH in coordination with
the Associate Medical Directors

2.1,'9;1;11. Provide reports and'other data to ensure proper
.contract billing. ''

2,1.9,1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

RFP-2622-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 " Msfy HitdicocK Hospital Conlractof Initials
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EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

•  !' • '
2.1;9.1.13. Support medical provider teams with

!  cbrnrtiunicatidn. data extraction and other
I . adrriiriistrative tasks.

2.1.9.1.14. Support QI/QA/Key Performance Indicator
I  monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
1  Associate Medical Director.

2.1.9.1.15. Support all contracted ; providers with
adrninistratiye tasks required by the. Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, lime
atte.stations, and compliance monitoring.

2.1.9;1,.16. Perform'other duties as required or assigned.
2.2;. New Hampshire Forensic Hospital

2.2.1. Forensic Psychiatrists

2.2.1.1. The Cbntfactor shall provide a minimum, of two. (2) FIE
Forensic IPsychiafrists to provide services at NHFH- upon
completioh of the NHFH. The Cbhtractor. shall" ensure-all
Forensic Psychiatrists:

2.2.1.1.1.1 Have appropriate experience In the specialty in
which they are boarded or board eligible,; and

Have completed an ACGME-approved .residency
program in psychiatry. '5"

Formulate and irpplehient treatment plans and
^ clinical services, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatrhent,
care and riianagement of patients;

Maintain and direbt a clinically appropnate..
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplinary staff . consistent with
Departrnent norms;

2.2.I.I.5.::'Determine the appropriateness of admissions,
transfer and :discharges. consistent with RSA
135^G: ■

Participate in the Medical Staff Orgahizalion and
other administrative committees at NHH and/or
NHFH," assigned committees and task forces;

2.2A AJ. Complete medical.arid/br.psychiatric consultation
on patients from facilities other than NHFH,
■consistent with Department policy;

2:2.1:1.2.

2.2.1.1.3.

2 2.1.1.4. .

2.2.1.1.6.

RFP-2022-NHH-P3-PSYCH-01-A02
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EXHIBIT B r-Amendment #2

,-v -

I

Complete all necessary documentation, as
. ] required, by TJC and CMS standards;

2.2.1.1.9. Complete Occurrence Reports in compliance with
Department policy;

2.2.1;1.10. Complete all rnedical record docurhentation,
Including ongoing and timely documentation of
.clinical care regarding rhedical necessity,
including daily progress notes lb document and
support medical necessity, within tirriefrarnes as
specified by the Department's. Medical Record
Documentation policy and procedure ahd^ other
relevaht policies and procedures.

2.2.1.1.11. Ensure documentation is consistent - with

normative data collected, by the Connpliance-
Officer and Utlliialloh Review Manager;

2.2.T.1.12.-.Provide other sen/ices as required, which are
j  consistent with the riiission of N.HH ahd NHRH,
j  'and the intent of this Agreement;

2.2.1.1,.13l Appear and testify in all court and administrative
I  hearings as required by the Department;

2;2.1.i.14|. Develop arid mairitain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning of the Department's.system
"of care,, including for the purpose- of transition

, planning. In accomplishing this requirement, the
Contractor shall ensure psychiatrists adhere to
Department standards;

2.2.1.1.15. Participate in utilization review processes,
Including' appeals and other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director, and/or GEO; and

2.2.1.1.16'. Participate in on-call afterhours coverage and
I serve as on-site, after-hours coverage, on a 24-
■  houra day, 7-day a week, year round basiswhen
'  necessary :as determined by the CEQ, Chief■r j Medical Officer, and/or Associate- Medical

I Director. For the avoidance of doubt, .the parties
I  agree that there will be one on-call pool of

Contractor Persbrinel providing call , covejage
services to NHH and NHFH.

'RFP.2"022-NHH.O3.PSYCH-0i-A02
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EXHIBIT B-Amendment

"  I <
2 2;1;2; The Gohlfactdr ;agrees; Forerisjc Psychiatrists, may also be

required to participate in pn-call. -afterrhpur? cbVpTatje -for
•NHH,.as heeded. • •

2-;2:i v3: The'Gdntladtpr s^^ ensure .ai| Forensic Psychiatnstsprbyid^^
services on a fulkime basis as defined iti Paragraph: i;4f3..

jabove. ahd Jimit'their practice tp treating pepartniept pa

2;2;;1.4. Nojwithstanding the abbVei the Contractor agrees .Forerisic;,
.  ;RsYc.hjalrists,m^^^ bccasiphaj putside practjceydulie^^

• with fee'adyanee: writt^^ CEO and, i^hief
;MedicaI Officer, but only'if-said rduties, do" hot,, in- the rsole
'judgment pf the^CEO.jrifertefe with the psychia^
'the;peRar|tmeht.

2.2.1 ;5. The Cbritr,actbfshall ensurepofehsicPsycHiatnsts pa
' 'T pn-call,= :after-hbure, cV^^ the 40-houf ̂
'ensure onVcail.psyehiatfistservicesare-provided 24 hours: per
day, da-Ysyper week.; For this feasph; fee Cphtra^tpf ShaN

.. pfeyide reports sumfearizihg^to
;e;ach inypjci^^^

2;2;2i FbrensiciPsycholpgists

2)2^:1. Tho Gpntractorx^^^^ prpyide: a miniriiufe ipf :;twp (2)" PTE
, Porensic Psychpl^^ ^HH..to:assist with serving palienis

deemed not gCiilty' by .teasohs; bf ihsahity, ihcbmpetehl ito
^:stah;P triai, prrbtHer ciyilly cpmnriiHed ̂ patients whd ̂ require
Inpatieaf psychiatfic treatment: The-CpntraclorJshail ensure
Forensic Psychologisis:

2;2.:2.1,.!i. Are clihical psychologists (PhO or Psy.D.ji:
2!2.2..1.2.,' Haye ̂ sighificaht elinicaj .expbnence ̂iri forensic

pSychplpgy; and ■ ^
2:2.2.1.3.^ Have certification in forensic, psychology

;j (preferred). .
2;2.2/2. The; Cpntractor shall ensure one; (1) PorensiC; Nychojogist'

prpyides services b'eginnirig in State Fiscal YeaT 2022, that
indude, jbpf y"
2;2.2.2.1.J .Assisting with the design and bperalibnal

plferilhg for hlHFH;

Develbping'wbrkflows'ahd pblicies for NHFH;;2:2.2.22.

^2.:^2.3. -Assisting fe ensuring regulatory- readiness' for y_c»

RFRr2022rNHHk)3kPSyCH"bl^^ (Mafy Cpnifscrof inlilalV-..

BVi:p j' .Pageriopii^' ^ ^
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exhW

<lr- , I .. _ .
^2,2:2;2;^.j; Supporting TJQ accreditati6h:.;prdc«ss; for NHFH:;
1  r 'and - ■ ^
;2;2;2.:2:$.!■ Se.iVingrpatiehts deerned not guiity'by jeasbhs:

j; Jhsapity; iijcpmp^^
cbmrnjtted patients y whom; require i'npatierit'

"j psychiatric treatment, upon comrriencemeht: of
I  seryices a "

2/2;2.,3./The .(Contractor s ensure the;'(2) Forensic Psychologists'
'  ■ptdyide-fuJMime^O

opemrig pflhe facility.: ' • •

52;2;2.4.rThe Cooiyactpr shail, ensure; th^ ratip fpV
't.he^Forensic |?sVcholo ,12M tal

2-2.3: Behavibral

'2,2:3.1. The:C:onti;actor mlriiinum ofone.(i) FTE^Board
■Ced.ifiad Betfavipral provides^ services- tpl t|ie
Pepartpe|nt;uppn;cpmpl^^^^^^ of NHFH. The Cpntractor sKa^
ensure the Behavioral Analyst:

fepprdinates; and pipvides: services; jh applieid!
behavioral ahalyisjs, function i'anajyses lahd^
assessment, beHavtpr acquisitiph and' reduction
prpcedures, and adaptive,Jife
Provides ohigoing support to clirilca) staff^ as;< itf
relates toJhe :imp|eme ahdidPcddiehtation
associated.Withbehavior^^ ,

Assists in:the deyetbpment andlmpierneriTatlon pf^
assessment " tools. cpnd ucts; functibnal;
asses^rhen^^^^^ analyses when fpprdpriate,
and develops appropriate behavior strategies- to,
teach apprbpnate behavlbf arid reduw
maladaptive behaylbrs;

Provides brigoing suppbil and trairiirig' to direc^^
ca/e 'pfbfesjipnals; clinical 'Staff and other
IndividualSi rncluding.jbut not limited ;tb. palienlsl
guardiansi-as needed;

2.2:3.1.1.

. >1
r'l

.2.2i3.:1.3.

;2.^.3.1.4.^

2:3. GlenciiffiHome

,2;3.1.: Medical Director

2.3.1:1. The .Goriifaclbr ■shall provide one :(1) part-time
:GerppSyc|iialrisl to . serve as the iM'edical brrectbr fdritwo :(^

lRI:P^20227NHH;p3^P.S.XCH-0.r:Ap2
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days per week -(sixteen (16) hpuis iper week) at Glehciiff
hipme. the C'pntract6r.shaii.e;nsure^^t^^

PPPC^tn^tes .ail mediMi care and direct
psychiatric services, ireatrrient and associated
foilowTUp'tpail residents of Glehcliff Home;

'  GompliBtes and appropriateiydocumerits; care'for ■
aii individuai's reduirlhg care.- as identified by
Gjencllff Home'^ ^

2;3'T:.1 '3. Proyides-adrhiriislraliye^funciloris, :lrtd
not limited to policy re establishmentthat
refiectcurrehtistandards pIpractfcei'P

.T physicians;: attendance at rnandatbry cpmmitVee
-• meetih;gs.^ ihcludihg but not lirniied to, quality

assurance: and perforrnance improveifieht
|QAPI)i infection, control, and ..adrnissions;

" ̂ regulafty- review the fuse of psychptrppiC .
•  medicatlphs ̂ tpf-pbrnplia^ With ihe^ Qmnibus ..

,v BudgethRecpnciliation Act (OBRA) ■regulations;
^  and the ,provision of .other assistahc

standard^ for ^ahbual State insp;^ctiiphs and
Federal regulations;

Prep^^ for,, travels, as ne^
. expert testimony in probate'court, as needed, on

V; matters that-may :include,; but are inol lirnited -lPj
guaifdia^hlp c^es, electracbnyuls^^ ;therapyj
ai^ dp/petfe^suscit^^ ■ . ■

;2.3;1.Ti5, 'written ipahehl eyajualions gh each
patient as iWequently :as 'required by . the .

■' ' pepartmeht np case: ies's^ than once per
calendar;yeaV; a ■

r2.3:il,l'6y Jibryes^ as- liai^p' With dtbdr drgapizations;
.Jncludihg.ibut not Ijm^ tb I^HH, when aGlencliff -

'  , Home resident .'is receiving services at another t-. *
'  .heajthpare-ins^^^^^ • ■' a.

2.3.d.2' the Contractor:>shall;.ensur,e,Toutine;or.emergency ie|eprtohe
'Cpnsultatipn:is;pfpyided by'the WlediM^
'quajified; pKysiciaii; :at hp additional .cost, Jwdntytpur (24)

;  hours per day, seyendt) days per weeki ififty-twO"(5^) weeks.^ r,
'p'er'yeatv td;Giencliff'Hom

2.4Jv Addiitiortal:Requirements;iforNHH:and NHFRoril^^^
'V' * ' .

■/RFP:202.2-NHHp3t.p"^^ Mfify ConlragorinlH^
VB-1.0.
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EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

2.4" 1. The Conlractpr shall ensure inter-disciplinary case reviews are
completed on 100% of patients who are clinically stable for greater
than fifteen (15)'days and still admitted to NHH and NHFH.

2.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure that staffing is maintained at a level that
ensures no impact on the number of NHH and NHFH beds available

■ and that NHH and NHFH units do not stop admissions due to the lack
of coverage for staff provided by the Contractor.

•2.4.3! The Contractor shall ensure that on-call after-hours coverage Is
provided by ho less than one (1) full-time Psychiatrist.. .Additional
personnel who provide coverage rnay be either a Psychiatrist or a
Psychiatric APRN. .

2;4,4. The Coritractor shall ensure onfall after-hours coverage is assigned
in one-week ihcremeh'ts In rbtatiph arhong the full-time NHH and
NHFH psychiatric staff.

.V

2.4.5. The Contractor shall ensure the on-site after-hours coverage on
weekdays, weekends and holidays is provided, by a Psychiatrist or
Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN). The:
Contractor shall ensure staff are certified or eligible for certification by
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, or, .is in training: iri.
an accredited psychiatry residency program with at least three years

.. , of trairiing experience, or is credentialed as a Psychiatric APRN
through the American Nurse Credentialirig Center or equivalent

'  , credentialing body.
2.4.6. The Contractor shall maintain a pool of Psychiatrists or Psychiatric

APRNs, or a combination thereof, who are credentialed with NHH and
NHFH for the after-hours work, and the after-hours staff are assigned
to iri-house after-hours coverage by the Chief Medical Officer or
Associate Medical Officer with a six ,(6) month rolling calendar. The
Contractor shall ensure the pool is of sufficient size and appropriate
qualificalioris to ensure The ability to meet the staffing level
requirements and performance standards specified herein.

2.4.7. At the request of the CEO, staff provided by the Contractor shalj
provide tele-psychiatry or offsite corisultalioh. The Coritractor shall
ensure staff who conduct tele-psychiatry have professional
malpractice insurance in effect, in an amount satisfactory to the
Department, and meet all credentialing and provider enrollment
guidelines pertinent to providing tele-health services.

2.5. Performance Standards and Puicomes for NHH and NHFH only -.Service
Are,a#1

2.5.1. The Contractor's performance standards and outcomes shall be
monitored toerisure:

RFP-.2022-rWHk)3-PSYCH-01-A02 .Mary Hllchcock MemorialHosj^lBi. . •> CorUrador Initials _i .
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2.5.1.1. Within forty-five (45) days of the assignment of the Chief
Medlcai Officer, and arinually thereafter, the Contractor and
CEO, in consultation with the Chief Medical Officer, shall
develop a list of performance metrics, which shall be updated

^  oh an annual basis at a minimurh, based, upon the
;  deliverables, functions arid responsibilities of the Chief

Medical Officer, subject to approval by the CEO. which shall
. be reviewed for approval on a quarterly basis.

2.'5.i.2. Services provided by the Chief Medical Officer are
satisfactory to the Department; The Contractor shall, no less
than annually and more frequently if required by the
Department, provide an evaluation tool to solicit input from the
CEO regarding the Chief Medical Officer's provision of
services.

;; 2,5.'1.3. A corrective acfloh plan Is .developed to address any material
-concerns, as defined by the CEO, in the evaluation tool, and
provide a copy of the plan to the CEO for review arid approyat

2,5,1.4. the Cpntfactof shall rrialritain staffing' levels at all tirties to
mitigate any impact on the number,bf beds availaTi>Ie''an^^
interrupted.admissions due to the lack of staffing coverage.

2.6. Key Perfpfmance rndicatprs for NHH and NHFH pnly - Service Area #1

2.6.1. The Contractor shall ensure providers at NHH and NHFH comply with
the following Key Performance: Indicators:

2.6.1.1. Psychiatric Progress Notes *

2:6;1:1..1. Completed daily on patients who are dertified as
acute inpatient level of care. :

2.6.1.1.2, Gompleled wjthih 24 hours of seeing a patient.

, 2.6.1.1.3; Completed not less than five. (5) times per week
n  or unless otherwise specified by the CEO, their

deslgriee of the Departrrient, on patients who are
no longer acute level of care;,

2.6.1.1.4. eontent as it pertains to:

2.6.1M .4.1; CMS local coverage determinations
■  ■ for NHH and .NHFH; and

.  .. 2.6.1.1.4.2. NHH and NHFH facility's policies-
and procedures. •

2.6.1.2. Patient Length of Stay

I  RFPT2022.NHHr03-PSYCH-01-A02 , Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor (liitials
V  "
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v:'C

2.6:1.2;1. ' Eyaluatipn through idatp cplleclipn ;arid ;case
iVevieW'Of actwertreatme^ during patient stay;

r2.6:T;3:'CMS Certificatipn

>2.6.:1.3.1,. :C._ertificati6ris :and/pr re-certification cpn^ in
accbrdahce to requiredlSMS^andNHH^^^ NHfH
tirneframes. ,

'  !2-6.1.3.2, Assigned 'certifrcari status^ is ciearl^ supported
.  vv iin psychidtric progress note

;2\6,1.4,1, fCpm^lanc^ with jail S^istihg: and future;;
istandardized work processes with-the'qdal of'
reducing variatidn in care.,

;2;6y1:4.^, [ndWiduarnletrics ard deve^
fergetbultdomes pf t^^^ ■

^2:^115, Treatrn • "

2;6.1i5.1,., l^rpVider specific portioris^'of treatment plans are:
'Cpmple^edwithin;24 hours of admission."

, 2.6.1.5.2;; perfdrmance measured by^
are tpfovided to the Chief Medical Officer and

*  CEG); " '
•  - ■  }' ,•

r 2r6.1;5.3.. Cbriterit as it pertains Id:
iCMSlocalcoveragedeterrnin^^
for NHH, and their associates'^

/  :Ppj!bi6s;:a^^^

2:6:1?5.3:2. NHH and. f^HipH'.:^licies; and
prpcedureS.,

^  2'6;0; (Ahhual.ReviewS ':v

2:6.1.6:1;: .^Ttie t^hlef Medical' ̂Officer or de;^gnee. irluSt
cdn'duct'and ddcumerit annual revievys on all

Q. Cpntfactpr .^ersdhri^
'this, Agreement;. The; Contractor. -shall ensure
pertormance; eyaluatipns are in cpmpiiance wU^

-• prdfessiprial standards, for revaluations per
and TJC .guideline^

12.® Quality; Plan for NHH and NHFH only ̂ ■Service
Area #! - '

0$;. .

'RFp;-2d22;NHH;43Tf?SY;CH:0t-A02' '. M8fy,,Hll^C0C,k:MeiTl0ri8r^ , —___
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27.1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum;

2.7.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH and NHFH beds
at full utilization; '

2 .7/1.2. Ensuring Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision and
tralnlrig to perform the assigned tasks;

2.7.1:^. Ensuring patients* receive care consistent^ with evidence-
based care; and

\

2.7.1.4. Creating and irnplementing the highest standard practices to
protect the safety of patients, staff, arid visitors.

2.7.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer rnpnitors
progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and Contractor on a
quarterly basta.

2.7.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer meets with the
CEO and Contractor at minimum on a quarterly basis to review
progress tovyard Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well

.  as Key Reiiormahce Indicators specified in Subsection 2.7.'atipve.
2.7.4. The Contractor shall oyersee the performance of Ihe Chief Medical

Officehtbward these Quality Assurarice a Mdhitoring goals.

.  2.7.5. The Contractor shall feyilsw and revise the Quality Assurance and
.■ - MoTiitonhg Plan, ir{ consultatibn-with the CEO on an annual basis, or

as otherwise requested'by the Department.
3. Service Area #2 Non-Emergent Medical Services

3.1. New Hampshire Hospital and New Hampshire Hospital Forensic Kbspital
3.1.1. General Medical Director

3.1.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) FTE physician to senre
as the General Medical/Director at NHH and at NHFH upon
commencement of patient services at NHFH,

3.1.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director is
physically present at NHH and/or NHFH a minimum of forty
(40) hours per.week and oversees all clinical staff in Service
Area #? referenced herein. The Contractor shall ensure the

. General Medical Director:

3.1.1.2.1. Is a primary care or internal medicine physician
■who has completed residency ̂ with at lOaM three

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Mery Hjlch'cocX Memorial Hospiial Conlraclor inlijals ^
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(3) years of experience; in superyi^in primary
care clinjcia^^
carer'field is preferred,!

;3,1,1.2.2, Prpyidescprisulfation for irifectioniprevention and
infection corilrorpractices and protocols;

:3,i,>1;2;3. Assumes a leadership role in maintainirig and
improving medical standards of care,for patients;

3;.!.^'2.4., Parthens vwith .state^mpbyed medipaj :provid
to provide eyiderice-basdd medical 'care. to
patienb of NHH:and!_NHFH^

3.1:.1.2.5. Educates ;siaff in the- app'rdpriate lapplicalion of
'  : evidence based practices' and pfdipcbis' for

rhedical care.;

•i3-1';2. General Internist/Hospitalist

3:t;2.t. The ' Cqntractor shall provide ^one (1) iFTE General
Interriist/Hdspitaiisl. t gpntrabtpY shall

*  ■ IribrnisMpspitajist:

:1s e pnhhajy care or int^rial m^^
who has completed: residency^with at:;b
(3) years oFexperienc.e. tAbdardrcertifi^^^^
;pnn^fycare

:3;"1.2:l ;2; provides general medicar'care to patients at NHH
andf^HFH. ' '

,  -S 'l .2.1.3,; G.ohsults with ;specialisls statewide to irtTprpye
rriedical cbrhdfbiditie¥ fdt patierits :at NHH and
NHFH,.

-  3.'1,2:'1,4. iCpdrdjriAtesdare^^w community';hospltals ̂
•r b ensure patients: receWe;hQSRU^^

care/if needed,'Outsjde of NHB an'd.NHFH.

3,i 2;1,5. Assists and panicipates in varibus, hbspital-wide
iriitiatiyes. in.cludihg-but nbt W
cliriicsi .medical itesting event's; and other
fuhctibn.sjthat may result; ifrom a; pandemic, :or
otherpublic heait'd

:3J1,3. Aldyahbed practice

3,!;3..1,;The Cbnfractp^^^^^^ /^PRNs.tp eornple'te
primary, .acute, and specialty ;heallhcare; -iservbesw The
^ContraictpfiShalleri^

i

RFPr2p22rNHH'e3-PS^ Miry HIlUicb^Mwortal Cohireclor InillSis.j
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.3^1v3M.i. :G6mplele:a bo^rd certificatibri compete
examlnatw^^ wjtb c,redentiats;tha^^^^^^^^
five (5) years, and completes specific, continuihg
education' fequirerrients^ to reriew; specialty

' ■ ■■ certifications as needed,,

3>1.3.1..^ Treat" patients'wU diagripsed disorders: a
;  with medical cornprbidities

durir^g their adrnission.

•37l:3^!1.35 CcpMlt; with s^aalists- ^statewi^^
medical comorbidlties for. ipatiehts :at NHH end

'  NHFH: ^

^  3.1.3;T.4- tCpordinate care with Ipcal,/community hospitais,
:tp ensure patients receive hospital-level rnedical •

^  ' care, if/needed, outside Qt NHH and NHFR.
■3r1>3:1;.5, Assist and p^iapale tn ^/ariOus. hOs|>ita!-wide'"

|nitiatiyes,;. such as yaccinaiipn ^clinicSi medical;
testirig evenis, and other^functions that mayiresult;
ifrpm^^pandem health ;relaied ■
'event.

The Gontractor shall provide.a minimum of oneihalf f.SOJ FTE
;  ' 'SdOfi'mstratiye/Siaf^^^

i  sstaff: The Cpnlfact^ stiajj eh^jfet Ithe/
^dmimStratiW'Staff: •• •-

'3^1 'Scteeh ianp assess re lative; pHpnties: bf
correspondence,/inquiries; and projects;

3/1^4:1.2; -drganize; systems of distribution end^ neyiew/ bfi
these items to ensure efficient cpmnn^^^^

3Vt;4:l .3: Answer'admjnistralive/.questions on behalf dfthe;
-  ̂ Department [in a professional .manner In.

icpordjnatipn wjth; the director /of .Psychjatry
Adrpinistration'and Chief Medical Officer.
[Respond to [rputine cpT®.sp,P
.manner...

_  \

4^^(1.5, iCompQse/^drafts of; selected correspondence,
special studies; and/or finishes documents.
Qeyelop:.and^rrfaintain

Related tptjie cpntracl betvreen ^d»
.Cpntraetpr; ^ ■' . j

RFP-2p22^^^^^ ContrMiorJniliis,.^;; . '
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3.1.4.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature. ■ ' ;

3.1:4.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide inforrnation, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the Overall functioning of
Contractor within NHH and NHFH.

—  3.1.4.1.9." Monitor budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with

•  !'' , the Department.

3,1:4.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage at NHH and/or NHFH ih cpordination
with the Assbciate Medical Directors

3.1.4.1.11. Provide reports and. other data io ensure proper
contract blilihg.

'3.1;4.1.12. Manage and complete multiple pfioritles by
established deadlines.

3.1.4.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
communication, data extraction and other
administrative tasks.

3.1.4.1.14. Support QI/QA/Key Performance Iridicator
monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the

'  , y Associate Medica] Director."

3.1.4,1,16. Support all contracted providers- with
administrative tasks required by. the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, time
attestations; and compliance nhonitoririg.

3.1:4.1.16, Perform other duties as required or assigned.
h' ■ ' ' ■

*3:2. Additional Requirements ̂Seivice Area #2

3.21, For all npn-urgenl medical consult requests. Contractor Personnel
shall review and issue either ah approval o7 an alternative treatment
recommendatjon " within thenext business day (non-holiday or
weekend) of a non-urgent consult request being made.

3.2.2._ The Cpntractpr shall act upon all urgent and/or'emergent medical
consult requests .within one (1) hour of a consult request being made.

3.2.3. _ The Contractor shall complete a history and physical (H&P), for all
patients within 24 hours of admission, and every 30 days thereafter.

RFP.2022-NHH433-PSYCH-6VA62 Mary Hilchcock Memoriat Hospilal' - Contractorlniiiala
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for patients with a length of stay (LOS) greater than 30 days at NHH
arid.'NMFH.

^  3.2.4. The Contractpi; shall ensure provider staff provide on-cail. after-hours
coverage above the 40-rhour week to ensure on-cail physician services
are available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. For the avoidance of
doubt, the parties agree that there will be one on-call pObI of Contractor
Personnel providing call.coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

3.3, Performance Standards and Outcomes - Service Area #2

3.3.1. The Contractor shaii maintain staffing Levels at allfimes to mitigate any
irnpact on the number of beds available and interrupted admissions
due to the lack of staffing coverage.

3.4. Key Performaoce Indicators'-Service Area #2

3.4.1, The Contractor shall ensure providers comply with the following Key
Performance Indicators;

3.4.1.1. Progress Notes ■'
3.4.I.I.T. Completed within 24 hours of seeing, a patient.
.3'.4.1.1\2. Content as it pertains to:

3.4.1,1..2.1. CMS local coverage determinations
^  for NHH and their associates'

■  policies: and

3.4.1.1".2-.2. NHH. and NHFH policies and
procedures. .

'  3.4.1.2. Standardized Process

3.4.1.2.1. Cpmpliance with' all existing and future
standardized, work processes with the goal of

•  reducing variation in care.
3.4.1.2.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the

targetj.putcpmes of the standardized work. '
3.4.i.3> Treatment Plans

3.4.1.3,1, Provider specific portions of treatment plans afe
completed withiri 24 hours of admission.
Performance measured by random monthly
audits which are provided to the Utilization
Management Committee. '

3.4.1.3.3. Content as it pertains to:

■  . . ' V ' ■" ■ ■■ GRFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Mary HilchcocK Memorial Hospital C^raclbr Inllials
S-IO . Page'3tf6f54 bal'g V9/2024
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3.4.1.3.3.1. CMS local cpverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'
policies; and

;  3,4.1.3.3.2. Department policies and
procedures,;

3.4.1.4. Annual Reviews ::

3.4;i .4.1. Annual reviews are dpcumenled bh all Contractor
Personnel performing services under this
Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure
perforrhance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS

«  ; and TJC guidelines.

3.4.2. Upon request by the Department, the' Contractor shall identify
additional performance metrics, develop performance goals, establish
monitoring processes and engage in collaborative performance
evaluation processes for Sfervice Area #2.

3.5. Quality Assurance and Monitorihg Plan-Service Area #2.

-3,5,1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and fyioniioring. Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Cbrifractbr shall ensure the duality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses, at a minimum; r

3.'5.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH and NHFH beds
■  atfull utilizatipn;

3.5.1.2. Ensuring the Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision
and training to perform the assigned tasks; '

3.51.3; Ensuring thai paliehts receive care consistent with evidence-
ibased care; and

3.5.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practices to
protect thesafety of patients; Staff, and visitors.

3.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director monitors
'progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and.
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and a representative
of the Contractor on a quarterly basis.

3.5.3. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director meets with
the CEO and Contractor on a quarterly basis to review progress toward .
Quality Assurance and 'Monitoring Pian goals, as well as Key
Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 3.4. above.

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-0i-A02 Maiy Hilchcott Memorial Hospllal Conifactpr Irttials"
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-  3.5,4. The Contractor shall oversee the pefforrnance of the General Medical
Director toward these Quality Assurance and Monitoring goals.

'3.5;5. In consultant with the CEO, the Contractor shall review and revise the
Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan on an annual basis, or as
otherwise requested by the Department.

4. Service Area #3 - Hampstead Hospital and Residential Treatment Facilitv

4.1. Readiness period - Governor and Council Approval of Amehdrheht #2-
June 30, 2024

4.1.1. The Contractor shall, in collaboration with the current Contractor,
develop a plan to transition for the below'Section 4.2 Required
Positions In a manner that ensures continuity of operations and .

■  patient care and minimizes disruptiohs to staff arid patients within ah
agreed upon period with the Department.

4.1:2. The Corilractor shall ensure staff are hired and able to provide the,
required services under this Agreement at HHRTF by July 1, 2024.

4.2. ReaUired positions:

■■ 4.2.1. Chief Medical Officer

4.2.1.,1.. The Contractor shall provide at minimum' one: (1)'F-TE'
psychiatrist to serve as the Chief Medical Officer.

4.2.1.2. The, Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is-
physically present at HHRTF for a niinihiuiTi of forty (40) hours
per week and oversees air providers at HHRTF referenced
herein. '■

4.2.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer |s
T  vr responsible for the sarne duties arid requirerhents outlined in

this Settion for HHRTF upon the Contractor's
connmencement of patient services at HHRTF, including
pverseeirig clinical staff at HHRTF provided by the Contractor.
The Contractor shail ensure the Chief Medical Officer:
4.2.1.3.1. Is a board^certified psychiatrist licensed to

practice medicine in the State of New, Haropshire
arid has clinical privileges at HHRTF.

4.2.1.3.2. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist with a
minimum of five (5) years of experience. In a
position of clinical leadership for .a rtiajor public
sector program: psychiatric . hpspital;
governmental authority.; or state or national
medical/psychiatric society . or organization

U  i

RFP-2622-NHH-6^PSYCH-bl-^^^^^ Mary HftdKod MemwW.Hbs^lal Coriira'ctof inlllals-
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EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

involved in the delivery of public sector psychiatric
services.

4.2.1.3.3- Has completed an Accreditation Council for
Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) approved
residency program , with board certification in
psychiatry by the American Board of Psychiatry
and . Neurology. (Additional subspeciaity
certification in forensic. geriatric or
chjld/adolescent;psychiatfymay:bei.aafcfstiiutedfor
two (2) years of administrative leadership..
'Completion of a graduate curriculum in medical
administration Is preferred).

4.2.1.4.- the Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer
participates/as needed, withvsaff psycniMst^^W^ arid
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure pn-
call psychiatrist services are available 24 hours per day,, 7
days per week. Forthe avbidarice of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one ori-call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage services to HHRTF.

4.2.1.5. In'the event the Chief Medical Officer resigns, or is othenwise
removed from providing,'services to the Department, the
Contractor shall:

4.2.1.5.1. Unless the CEO agrees to waive any requirement:
in writing, ensure the interim Chief Medical Officer
hneets all -requirertients for the Chief Medical
Officer, as set forth herein.

4.2.1.6. Subject to the direction of the CEO, the Contraclor .shall
ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

4.2.1.6.1. Develops and submits HHRTF provider staffing
.  needs, including a schedule of psychiatric and

related clinical personnel, for Department
approval prior t6 the commencement of each
contract year, or as otherwise requested by the
Department.

4.2.1.6.2. Advises with the CEO on ajl clinical activities in
order to accomplish the day-to-day clinical
operations of HHRTF in a manner consistent with
RSA Chapter 135-C and the rules adopted
pursuant thereto, all Department policies,, and all
standards of The Joint Commission. (TJCj and

RFPr2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-Ol-Ad2' ' Mary Hitchcod( Memorial Hospital ContraclorlnJilals
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>ir. Centers; for 'Medicare and Medicaid Services'

^4v2y1;iS/3; PaHicipates :iri the'formulation,
:and supeivisipn df aii ciihical prog^^^^^

■  ' , diagnosis, assessment; treatment, care, and
■  _ imanageme^^^^^

4.2.1 ;6:4. Sdpeivises ^aii docunientation reqiiirerrients'for
;a'nd ithe, -perforrnance^ . services (.of all Staff
RsychiatlriStS' ^and; dthef elihical ;perspnhej!

.. * '■ ernplpyed by . the Cpntractor iand^ prdv.ldjng
,.j seivices at HHRTF^^

:4:2.1.6."5.. .Ensures: adequate^ cpyerage on weekends -and
hblidays Ifo mainlaih compliance, with,
documentation requirements set fprth ;ih this ,
.contract and Jn -accordahce With all,^accfeditati^^^^^
phd; legal fequirements: to justify- fmedical'

V  r, ' necel^ity ofstaW Including; M
'  heed fordaiiy progress: notes on patients; covered

^  by: Medicaid, Me^^ commerciai. insure
4f2.1;'6.6;(' -Perfbrms annual ipertbrrnance eyaluations arid

4  , discipline^ as hecessaiy/fbfail Staff Psychi^^^
•- ^and other JGbntractor per^

,  - '""^'^seryices.at HWRtF,;nncluding consultlhg'^^wilh.and
.* . Seeking input: from the 'CEO as jtp jthe;

-■" ' ' Q.epa.dhi'eht's^ satisfactlpn: with the services;
'■ , PfPyided Py^he inp^^ ,

4i2v^7. If^rtprths iahi annual adrriim^
r  ' Contractor Personnel providing, services: jat

HhjRTF. 16 ensure -complianbe: With Ihis
Agreement^ but hot limited'to; iralnlrig;
record Iceepihg;- matteis of-rriedica^^^^^^^ CPR
and CMP training and/or retraining; TJC
requirements] .custorher service responsibilities:
HIPAA compliance; and^atteridance at ,

-  ' inV^Bivice.tf.aihingy
^  4.2.1.6 8. Ensures compliance with the requirements in

parl 4>1.1(6.7( :and takes whatever disd
3ct'P0 hbpessar^^

)  - with; bepartmerit- policy pr Medical Staffs
Grgariization byiaws.

I  ,
;Rpp.2022.NHH:pi^]^ Mcry •- Cohlraclof Initials
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CV t-

5- .

4;2j;.6:9 jSomplies; ^itfi ait applicable perfbmian'ce
standaids ̂jn ilhis Agreement pert^ Staff;
Psychiatfisls.

.4.2.4.6:10; .Provides;consultalion;b:the|De
-  :t6 'the- developrherit of .the^ State :of INew
•  Kampshire-s.me^ systerpi '

.. 4;2;16;Ti. .Ehsurihg' the' S Psychiatrists Under their
^  direction isuppbrt [the pepadment's custorher

■  ■ ■ ^ .seryicexiulliire^.
'4-2/1 ;6.12.; iRepprts any" issues to the CEO iregarding;

^admissions, patient p^pr any othefsitualip^
thatimay.poseasignjficarit risii.tp pah^

' '■ ' community,^ p'f that; may result in -adverse^
■  iPHht'pijy or io way- Undermine ,publiC'

confidence in -the xliriicaf care, by
^  HHRTF.

y  " 454,6.13, a' member of HHRTF's
Executw^^^
Padjcipates. In the;;recruitmeht pf^^ther^ciihicali
Oepartmlht;persbnhel, upon the
CeOv ■

4:2.1^6.15. Esjabjishes^ sybjebt to appfpval ifrpm .PEO,,
an: emplpym^^ sGhedule; a rclihicar-:
rbtatioh/Sch^dule; for providers, for ail .'cjinical
perspnhei .employed by: the Cbhtfactof; tb;
prpyjcie eeryjcbS;

4;2/!i6^Iij^ Assists: -the^ HHRTF Executive Team jwith'
^  c: t. enhancing ciinicafpractices ahd;care.acrbssth|e

ofgahizatiP'n; and:

V. i 4.2.1.6.1,7: Coordinate with clinical staff te ^ehs/jre; full
coverage of psychiatricVs^^^
due to absences of vacated poslliohs:

"  "

4,2.2; deneral lyiedicai.Djrector:-
45:24. , The; Contractor .shall provide la physician, tp^serve: .as-the

'  Oerieral Medical Director at HHRTF upon the Gontfactof'is
cpmmen(^®iS}dtMf!ehfS

4:2.25, The- Cbhtfactof ishall erisure^the Ge'neral, Medical birector
p^yidies: cpyefage ehd byef^e
The; gg^fierai medical staff' is rdefined; as the. providers.who

m5P/2d22:NHiH,:P>^^^ '• 'Mafy;'H!tchco^ •Cofliraelor
?Page,^,qI5^' ' ^
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•- ipfpvide'C^re for individuals heeding hdh-Psyc^iatnc care. Xhe
^Cpntractpr shall

^4:;2t2;:2.1. ;is' a primary cafe. !farniiy medicin of
^  \pe,dialr(cian:yvho,has:co

'  least three (3) years of: experience in- ■
primary car^e eiinlciahs; (A board ̂ rtjfic^
prlmafy care field Is pre

.  4i2.2.2.2: Rrpyides cph'sultatibh for:ihfec!lph pre^
mfedtiph cpn^^^^

"  ;42i2.2.3. Respprtsibie for ' niairitaining and irnproying
;  h^sd'pslstandards^ f

"  * '^.2;2;2;|i ;Educates:staff oioerisuresan^
program iis implemented for istaff to apply

' - ' ' ;dPPifPpdaie« :ewdehce4:ias^d^ iproptfces: and
protbcpls fdr;rhedical:care: r?

4';^.. ̂ Adv.aneed Rractice Registered'Nurs:e-^(^
#.2:3:1. The-Contraclor:shari provide;one-yi') ̂

prlmaryy .acute, and ispecialty healthcare: .services.^ .
'Cpnlfacfor.shaire

.  ' 4.2.3.1 ;1. Corhplete a board certification competency-based
;examin^^ cfedentiajs that remaio

'  " if'Ve (5) years and. cpn^piMes :S ^
education requirements; !to renew ' specialty'
ceftificatipns;as needed.^-

v*' ^ , . ... ...

4;2;3.'1 2: treaV patients' with' diagnosed ̂ disorders along
wilh.medjcal cprhbfbiditi^
dufirig their

t4:2:3.:1 ;3„., .Gphsuit wjth; 'speciajisrs,, etatewiije to .impfbye
medicalxomorbiditles for palients.at HHRtF.

' 4;2:.3-1.4. Coordinate, care.with jbcal-'community-hospitals,
to, ensure .patiehts receive hospital^evel medical
care,;if needed, outside of HHRTF.

'* "" -,v ^
4.2.3.1 .'5. Assist and participate; in various :hospita1-wide

mitiatiyesj #uch es -yaccinatiph clinics: ifiedical
*• testing events, and other

from a pandemic: or otherfpublic. hea'lth relatbd
event; ' ' " ,

; 4:24.. iStaff/R'sydliiatrists and,,Psychiatric iAdvanced ;Rractice Registered
Nufsds^^APRN);

REP-2022-NHH^3;pSyCH^:i-A02 ^Mafy'Hiicrtcock'fiemi^ . " • Cbniredbr irtUiij;:
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4.2.4.1. The Cohlractor shall ensure the ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric APRNs is" not less than 8:1,
unless othenvise approved by the CEO for a specific period

.  of time. . ' '

4.2.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio Of Psychiatric APRNs to
Staff Psychiatrists does not exceed 4:1.

4.2 5. Staff Psychiatrists

. 4.2,5.1. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists are available
■onsile at HHRTF:

4.2.5.1.1. Have appropriate, experience in the specialty in
which they are board certified or eligible for

.j certification.

4.2.5.1.2. Have completed an ACGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry.

4.2.5.1:3, Formulate arid irripiemerit treatmerit plans and
•  " ciiriicar services, in cooperation with treatment

teams, for the diagnosis, assessrnent, treatment,
care and managernent of patients.

4.2;5.1.4. Maintain arid direct a biinlcany appropriate'
•  treatrrient plan for assigned cases In cbncert'with

.  the multidisciplinary staff cpnsisient with the
Department nprrris.

4.2.5.1.5. Determine the appropriateness of admissions,
tirahsfefs, bnd discharges consistent with RSA
i.35rC. ' ■ ,

4:2.5;i.6: Provide, in ooofdiriation with the Qhief.Medical
Officer", and other staff physiciahs. ori-call after-
hours coverage and serve as on-site, after-hours
coverage, on a 24-hour a day, 7-day a week,

•  year-rourid'basis when necessary, as delerrriined
by the CEO,. Chief Medical Officer, and/or
Associate Medical Director. For the avoidance of

*  doubt, the.parties agree that there will be one onr
call pool of Contractor Personnel providing call,
coverage"services to HHRTF.

4.2.5.1.7. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other adrriinistrative comrriittees, 'assigned
committees and task forces.

RFP-2022-NHH-b3-PSYCH-6l'A02 ' Msfy HilchCOcK Memorial Hospilai Conlractor Inilials
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■  iv 4.2;,5.'1..8; Completermedical^and cbrisultatipn
i  Pn patients frprn jfadlities than HHBIF.:

iConsisteni: with .CUfrerit /Depaft'merit policY, Vas'
requested by the De

'4f2.5.i.9. 'Complete: all necessary, documeiitatlbh,' as
'  required by and in accordance with this .

-r. - agreement and TJC and QMS^

•  .4;2;5,1.1p- 'Cpmplete; Incideht Peppfts in fcpmpliahce. wHh
Pepaftmeritpcltcy.

... 4-:2.5 l^it, tCornp^^^ rnedicaj record docurhenlatidn.,
*  Jihcjujirig ohgdlng and tirrjely. dpcumentatidn; of

<clinical: care Tegardihg medical inecessi^,;
*  . '' 'nPftidjng 'daily progress dpcuitient^iand:

^  ' 'Support .medical ,n
specilied. by HWRtiF policy, and procedure and

y  .otherre|eyaril policles'a^

r. 4/2.5.1.12. rAdhere to all Department-policies, ;including,sbut
•  poll limited to. (wlicjes on :Medical .Recprds:

t  . pocumentatipnahd ̂

4:2:5:1,1,3. :Ensjijre that dpcVrnentattpn is consistent! with;
*  . permatiye, d^^^

Officer and uiilizaiioP'^

4^2.5-1.14; pther^jyicesya^
consistent,with,the mission of tke.bepartment.

.i.: 4>2;5>f.i^. Appear and testify Jn.;:a|l HHRTF'involved: court
'  ̂nd admirtistratiye heeting^ as riecessary;ahd/as

required/by the bepartment,

4/2-.5.1^1 6;^Deyelpp/and^ pOsitfye. relatii^^
Qepartmentvptairi patientsrifarnilfe^ adypcates,:

■  community ̂providers'and other interest groups,
vitaltb the functioning the pepartmerit's system^^^ ^

ihcludjng;:fpr the purpose::pf itrah^lip^
.  * planning :by. adhering rto DeparlmehU;standards:

Sand '

;'4/2.5:1.lX '/participate jn the/utilization review, processes^
including appeals' and Other processes, as"
required by the Chief Medical Office^ ,ahd/br:lhe

4;2/5i,2; The C^htractbr sh^ a.,minirTiurh df^prie,S[i)
b^ychiatnsl is dedicatecl sen/ices to HHRJE:

RFe;2b22,-NHH-03-i?SYCH;01-^ Mafy.Hit^cdtt 'ConlraicloflnHlals . ..
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4v2.5.3; The vCdnlractdr shall ensure ..Staff Rsychiatrists .'prpvjde
services on a fulMlme basjs as Jdefihed ^ Paragraph 1..4;3
:above;and ilmit,their;practice to treating HHRTPpatients only;
except for night and.weekend staff] Who may^be working part-^
tiniepKbe^

4/2.5.4. Nphwitbsta^ above; the: pepartmeht arid: Gonlractqr'
:agree that- (1}' iPsychiatrisis riiay: peffo'rm, olccasionbi

•  * outside; practice ̂iutiess With the advance'written approval of
thevCEO and Chief Medical bfficer. but only ilsaid duties do
■noti in the sole; judgment of the CEO, ihterfere
psychialri^^^ |t the Depart'me^^^^ ;(ii): Cpntractpr'
Personnei may be permitted; subject to,prionootice and the

'  . approval of both the Chief Medical Officer ;and CEO; 'to
'P^^-ifPCSl/fi^ucatip Or jreseafch activiti^^ so Jpng as^thobe
^tiyihes terther the nil^on and goals of the ■Departrnent:
Staff Psychiatrists and Contractor Personnel approved -for'

.. sucb lactiWties shail -proyide nri6hth|y .dpcumen^^^
surhmary progress reports to the'Ghief .M

■  the'iGEb that specifies lime spe'nt.deVo educationaror'
research activities.; * .

4;;2.5;5; The Cdhtractor^shair^ &aff Ps^chiaffists participatie jh
pnrcajj, after-hpurs cpyerage- to; ,ensure;on-ca|! psychiat^
services are proyided]24:hours; per day, 7-days perweek.lF'or
this feason, the Cohlractof provides reports:summafizihg fulP
tim§ fequivalentVstaffing^ each ihyoicing: periods, For the
avoidance ofedpubl; the paiiies;agree that Ihere .wi^ One
ontcail pool of Contractor Rersonriet prbyiding calj-,cnverage
sejvjces to HHRTF.

.4;2.6; Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurses (APRN)
■  .4^.6;ii'. thevContractorehall ensure Rsychiatric .APRNs-p^^

■ APRN degree.and have, board certification as' Psychiafrlcr
MentarHealth Nurse; Practitjoner^^^

4.;2.6.2. X-h?- bbnlr^ptor shall ensure Rsychialric APRNs provide
;c)ihlcabseryices :ihlextended care; and'adr^^^^^
•p"aliehts;with^Jseve|^^^^^ iJlhess and medj.cal cp-oto •

.. :in accQrdance'With the .sdppe.Of practice deschbecl |n; RSA
326hB]^ T thecdhiiebtpr sha^

■ 4;2:6.2.'t. Perform adyahced assessiOents.

4.2:6.2:2. Diagnose;,, prescribe, administer and. ;develpp
treat^enf regime -

4.2;6;2;3. Provide cbhsultatiori aSapprop^
;RFP^2bM^N>w4>PS^ ,Mary ; Contradof ihilias:

eage.MpfM .'v
•  /■
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.  . 4.2.6.2.4. Independently prescribe, dispense, and distribute
psychopharmacologic drugs within the formulary

v  - and act as treatment tearn leaders in accordance

with State New Harripshire law and medical staff
■  by-laws.

.4.2.6.2.5. Docunrieht patient care and treatment in each
patient record in accordance with HHRTF policy.
TJG Accreditation, and CMS regulatory
standards.

■ 4.2.7, Administrative Staff
4.2 j,.i. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) FIB

Administrative, Staff to. provide administrative support at
HHRTF to clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure the
Administrative Staff;

*  4.2.7.1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, "and projects!

■4.2.7A,2. Organize systems of distribution and review of
these Itenis ,to ensure efficient communication.

4.2.7.1.3. Answer adrriinistrative questions on bebajf of the
•  ■ Department in a professional manner in

coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Adrninistration and Chief M.edical Officer..

-  4.27.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a,tirhely-
manner.

4;2.7.1.5. Compose drafts of selecte'd correspondence,
special studies, and/qf finishes dpcurrients.

.  4.-2.7.1.6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
V  related to the contract between the Department

and theOoritractor.

4.2.7.1.7. Conduct special studies of ah administrative
nature.

4 2.7.1.8. .Serve as resource person who is. able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of the

' Contractor within HHRTF.

4.2.7,1.9; Monitor budget accounts, ^attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with
hhrtf: ,

A* ,

RFP-2022-NHH-O^PSYCH-01-Ao2 Mary; Hll'chcoa Memorial Hospital Coritroctw Irtllals
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4;X-7-1-1.Q- Schedule, 'wepkend' and holiday provider
coverageat HHRtFincodrdinationwith
Medical>6#iceT..

:4i2;7.;1.li . Provflde reports and other data to ensure proper
•cbntradt billing.

A; * "♦ > •.

■  •4.2:7:1.12; Manage 'and connpiete fhuitlpie iprioritles by:
- • eslablibhed deadlines.

4;2l7:i.j3. Support jmedlbai provider' teams ^ with
cdrnmuhicatidn. . 'data, extraction and other

■  administrative
4.2.7.1.14.,.vSuppdrt QI/QA/Key Pedormahce IndicalPr

r^phitodng tepprtihg'^^^ CP.N.M-flctipn ;with the
'  Shief Medical ■pfficer., ^ '

'^1:27^1,15^50^^6^^ ^ell ;dpht(^|ed; ■ ^Fnbyidei^ , 'with
admihisirali^^e tasks required by the eonlractbr;

' iincludihg but nqtliniited to expense trap
(attestations, and cpmpjiance monitpring.

^  4S 7vi ;i6, p.erfQrm pther duties as repuired.prvassi^^^^^
4.3.; Additidnai Requirements r Seivice^ #3 {

4,3,1, The pepartmehViaK^ ponlractPr ,agree;to continually:evaluate other
service models ;t6 Imprpye access; quality, and affordabilityT; Upon

'• 5mulual:agreemerit;6f id hew-rtodeli fe pailies shalj seek tp enter in^
an amended Pr new contact pri mutuajly agreeable temis sub|e.ct to ■
th'e.apprpYal:pf th^ Goyefh'or and Exe.cutive'Gduncil.

4T3.2,, The; Gpntrector jshal! ,ensure iWter-disciplinaiy case: reviews ;;are
porriplefed 'on ,l6wo o^|patierits who are clihicallyrstabie" fof'.greater
than fifteen {15)-days, and ohSdihg ev^ 1 S days, and stilledmltted to

'  fiHRTpr":^ ■ "r ■ ■■:' ■ ■ ■ ■
43:1;. 7h,e Cpntraclpr sKall en^^ |s provided; in eccprda'nce

with the agreed^upon staffihg pjan and at a level that ensures no-impact
to safety, the number of HHRTFPeds.ayailable and that HHRTF uriits
# hot ;stpp ;admissiphs;du^^^ tp^lhe; lack brcpyetege for staff; pfpyided

'  py-th.e Cpntractpr.
'  4:3.4;; The^ iGpnlractor ^Sh^l ensure jfdr after hpujs' pn-tcall psychiatqc

coverage, at least hpurs^pi the after hpufsron call tirrie, each week
must be covered by a psychjatrlst, and the,remainder of the after hours

'• oh call tinie can be; a ■cdmbihatibn of psychiatrist and psychiatric
APRN.. . ■ ' ^

f

•^RFP-2()2^NHHP^PSyC'H Maiy HHchcoUiM '^CootOidonniiWs
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4.3.5. the Contractorshall ensure all HHRJF psychiatric staff provide on-call
after-hours coverage in one-week Increments in rotation.

4.3.6. The .Contractor shall/ensure the on-site after-hours £overage at
HHRTF 'on weekdays, weekends and holidays is provided by a
Psychiatrist or Psychiatrlc.APRN. The Contractor shall ensure staff are
certified or eligible for certification by the Americah Board of Psychlaliy
an^d Neurology, pr is in training in an accredited psychiatry residency
program with at least three years of training experience, or is
credenlialed as a Psychiatric APRN through the American Nurse
Credenlialing Center or equivalent credentialing body..

4.3.7. The Contraclpr ;shall maintain a pool of Psychiatrists or Psychiatric
APRNs, or a combination thereof, who are credentialed with HHRTF,
■for the after-hours work, and the after-hours staff are assigned ,to in-
house afler-hPurs covera^^ by the Chief Medical Officer or General
Medical Officer. The Contractor shall ensure the pool Is of sufficient
size and appropriate qualifications to ensure the ability to meet the

-  staffing level requiremeriis and performance standards specified
* herein.

4.3:8." The Cpntractpr shall cornplete a history snd' physical (H&P) for all
.  patients within 24 hours of admission, and every 30 days thereafter,

for patients with a length of stay (LOS) greater than 30 days at.HHRXF.
4.3:9. The Contractor shall ensure provider staff provide on^call. afterrhours

ooyerage abOye the 40-hour week to ensure on-cali physician services
are available 24 hours'per day, 7 days per week.,

4.3:10.. The Cohtractof shall utilize.pfactices arid deliver'sefvices In alignment
with the requirements iri NH RSA 135-F by: '
4.3.10.1, .ytjiizing the. Chjld and Adolescerlt Needs and Strengths

.  (CANS) assessment tool.
4.3.10:2. Supporting the Core Values of the NH Children's System of

Care, as Outlined Table 1:

Core Values of the NH Chijdren's System of Care

Family Driven and
/outh Driven

Ypulh arid Family dfiyen, with the strengths and needs of the
child and faiiiily deterfriinirig the types and mix of services arid
supports provided. Family arid Youth is the core, of the work.
Youth and F^amilies take a lea.dership roje at the ipdiyidua
service delivery level as well as policy, planning' arid systefri
levels.

RFPr2022-NHH4)3-RSYCH-01-AO,2
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Cbrnmuhity
Based

Service?-are; provided .at,The cpm^ the .Vputh
and .farriiiy in their home 'and community: Services provided
also ihcludev-systehfi wjthlha supporlive,
adaptiye: infrastructure of structures, processes, and
relationships'at the cornmuriity level.

Culturairy <and
Uhguisticatry
Competent

Guitufally .and: ilihg^uistically' ;competeht, with agehcjes,
prpgra;ms,,an'd;seivices racial, ethhjc:
and Jmguislic differed pppuiatibns they,; serye; to
facljitate acceiBiS :tp and'ulljNz^^ pTappfppriate seryice^^^^^
supports;

i
rreatrrjeptand suppbd are delivered ina rnann^^^^^
is Trauniar^lnfptTried usiri 6 core principles: of-a trauma-
ir)f6rpied; apprbach:! 1) ̂ Safety; 2) ■Trustwbrthihess'' and
Traijsparbricy; 3y jPeer^ -Support;: 4)' Cpllabbr^ipn and
Mutuality;, 5) Erhpowprmehti Voice and Choice; .and 6)
Culturali historical. and-Gender Issues.

4;4 iQualitv Assurance and Monitoring Plan r- Service Area #3:

;4;4;:i. THe, C'ontractof.sha^submlta Q'u^
subjact-td apprbvai,,and^subsi^^^^ as required by. the

'pepartmehi; The/Cp^^^^ trip Quajit/^
Mpnitonng plan addressee

Ensgiing; adequate ^ pperate
utilizatibn; . .
Ensuring, hecessajiy:dupeiv
ianditrairilng to perfprrn-fhe assigned tasks.;
•Ensuring pm^nts receive care consiste^
basedlcare; and y

4^.1:1;;

r4:4.:l^2v

4^.T3;

' '4-4-1 ;4, ^reatinqyarid'impiem^ the Higheststaridardpractices'
(o protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors;,

'4.4.2. ./The Opritraeto^^ ensurb trie Ghief Medical :dffice,r :rhohltors
pfpgress towardi theVstated gpals/in the -Qualhy Assufance ahd'

^ Moriitonng Plah a nd^^^ GEO, l.hd GpntrabtpT a
■quarterly basis:- '

4.%3; The Cphtfactpr shall ensure the;Ghle'f Medical Qfficer
riiHRTF leadership: and Gontractpr at:minimum on.^a quaileHy;basis to.
review prpgress tpward-Qualily.Assuran.ce ahd'M Plan goals,

as P^rinpcgMefsur«:^e^

RFP-2b22:-NHH-q3-PSYCH4l-M

B-1.6
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EXHIBIT

Thd: Cpntractor; sHall dversee the perform theVChief Medical
dfficer by ensuring Performahc^^ Measure iril Sectjpn 4;5
tare met.. '

:4.4;5. The. Gontrador :shairrevievy, and revise the Quality ̂.sSgfa^^^^ epd
Moriitofih'g Plan, in ̂ c'ohSUltation with tfie GEG:on an. annual basis, or

(as plherwjse repu^^^^ :b.y Pepl3rtn)en,tv.

4.5' Performance Measured Area #i:

''4.5.^. The Contf^iclor iahd the Dedadmeht; must .cpHabprate: en ell
: "pertormahce'measuresinciuding-butmbt iihiifed.lp:

■  )npatient units and qualiVof'services, patient experience./and
Agreementpd.si,

4.5.2. The GphtractphyShall ensUfe; ̂rpvidefs at HHRTF comply 'With- :lhe
following Key Performance indicatprs^

4:5^2; t.psychlajhcP^^^ Notes:

4:5;2.1 ;1. .Gompleted daily on palierils who are certified as
iaci^elnpatiehTl^el ca^.:

4v5:2^1.2; Cbriipleted within 24-hpureof seeing a datie^^

4.5:2.1.3; Completed hot iess 'than five t^^^^ times per week
or unless otherwise specified by We GEO, their
desighee ;pr the peparfmenX, Ratiehts who are
no Idhger aciite level of care.

:4^5.2:i:4._ Gbntent ais it^perfbihsW; '■ ' '
■  ■ 4.5.2.^1::4.'1. CMS local cbverage'determihatibns

ifprHI:lSTF;:^d
■  " ^ ' 4-5;!2/1;;4:2. >HHRTF Tacllity^s ipplicleE; aed

.. iprocedures.

4^5/2.2. patient Length pj^Stay- ^ '
4.5.2T2.I, ■Eyaluatiph thrpugh data bpjiectiph case

review of a.ctiye treatrne.nt dun^ stay.
:4.$;2?3. CMS'Gertlficaliph GuJdefihbs;

4;5;2/3:T. Certifications and/or re?certifieation ;ponducted in
A  accpfdahce to 'required CMS, -and (HHRlfp'

.time?rames:

■: 4 .'5 2(3:2. .Asslg ned certificaliph status js cjeafly\suppprted^
in psycHiatric progress notes;,

;4;5.2:4. Standardized Process, : '( ^

RFp-2(C2-NHHb3^^^ Mofy'HilcjicocK M^oria^ Cpmraclofiiiiii'^

-v:
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4;5?2.4,. 1.! Gompljance jwilrt ■ all ^existing iand: future
;S^ndardized >vork prpce.ss.es vyith the goaf of
feducirig variation Ihfcare. • '

'  . fl5i2.4y2.> Individual metrics; arevdeyeloped based^.on ''
target outeomesofjthe,standardized

^ 4J$;255. treatment Plans
4.5 2 5 . Provider specific portions/of Ve pl,ans?e!l;

Cprnpie.te.d witrtin 24 ̂
*  .. .

4;;5v2?5;2y Performance measured by periodic audits which;
are provided to the Ghief...Medical Officer-and

.  geo.

•: 4i5.2;5.:3. Content as itrpertalns tb:

4;,5;2:5.3:1., GMS local ■
for Ht-iRTF and their assoclafes'^

■  ̂ ■pdllcies/and
'' . . .. ' 4.i5.2;5.3.2.: HHRTFpplides and procedures.

§nnuar Reviews? ,
.  ■4-5.2:6.1;. The Ghjef Medical Officer or <de'sighee must"

^  iCpnduct -and docup.ent iannual 'reyiews^ on lalj
"  . iGontractdr- Personnel, prdvjdlhg serylces under; .

•  " this Agreement. The Cbritractbr Ishall, 'ensure
petfdrrhahcd.evfajualibns^ ...

*  professional standards for evafuatibns per>fetelS!
iarid Tje^guidelihes.

'4.5:3. the bontractor shall ensure, providers'coniply with ihe'ifollbwihg key
Rerfbrmahce^
-4.5:3;i;; Rrpgress Notes' „ '• y

^  4i5.3.rt .1. Completed within 24:hours of seeing:a patient. j'
'  4i£(,3.1.2; bpntbnt as ii pertalnslp:

4.5;3.1.2.1. CMS locei.cpy^^
'  ̂ and theirjassociate

■policies; and

^■5.3;t.^.2. HRRJF policies arid procedures.
4.'5.3;2;, Standardize

.4;5.3.2.;1. ■Gompllance with :al| existing, ahd fMlure.:
;  i standatbizecl; work prot^sses ifie goaf of;

reducing variation'ffi ' (
RFPr2022.NHH?03:pSYCH:<)i?A62' Majy l^'clTicock Me^ ConifadorJnitj^^^^
EUIIO ' p;^.45of&4; • "pate
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4.5.3.2.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
I. target outcomes of the standardized work.

4.5.3.3. Treatment Plans

4.5.3.3.1,. . Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

4.5,3.3,2) ■ Performance measured by random monthly
audits which are provided to the Utilization
Management Committee. .

«

4.5.3.3.3. Content as it pertains to: • •

4.5.3.3.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for .HHRTF and, "their associates'

polidies; and
4.5.3.3.3.2. Department policies and

t  procedures.

'  4.5.3.4. Annual Reviews

4.5.3.4.1. Annual reviews are documented on all Contractor

Personnel performing services under [this
Agreement. The Contractor 'shall' ensure
pedormance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS

5. Additional Requirements - AM Service Areas

5.1. Subject to Section 5.3, the Contractor shall ensure all assignments for all
staffing positions are covered on a.daily basis', and, if providing staff to NHH,
NHFH, and HHRTF are responsible for reporting out on staffing assignments
during daily safety huddles at^NHH, NHFri. and HHRTF.

:5.2. The Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are continuously
.filled, or in active recruitment, The Contractor shall provide the .appropriate
Department designee with mbhthly. updates oh the recfuitmelrit process for all
unfilled positions.

5.3. The Contractor shall be.solely responsible for providing, at no additional cost
to the department, qualified, sufficient staff coverage to fill any gap in coverage
during any anticipated leave time, including sick leave, vacation, or continuing

I' medical education leave lasting more than five. (5) consecutive days unless
othenvise agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the CEO. and for providing

■  appropriate transition between staff covering for those on leave. Qualified
sufficient staff coverage means personnel who meet ̂ br exceed the,
qualifications of the vacating ;Staff member:

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01rA02

B-1.0

Mary Hitchcodt Memorial Hospital

Page 46 of 54

Contractor iititiais

5/9/2024



Docusign Envelope ID: 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

pocuSIgn Envelope ID: C09p9883-59X-497C-9FB8-F6DEB102F59E

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

5.4. The Contractor shall track and report staffing levels by FTE units on a mbnthly
basis to ttie Department. The Contractor shall not be required to provide hourly
timecards for clinical staff. Jhe Contractor shall provide hourly timecards, for
non-clinical staff that summarize hours worked for each invoicing period. '•

5:5.. The Contractor shall ensure the care rieeds of patients are fully addressed by
.  modifying the number of hours per week worked by FTE and/or Part-Time FTH ' ̂

staff, as requested by the Department. The Contractor shall ensure Part-Time ,■
FTE staff work the appropriate number of hours in, accordance with FTE

r- allocation. >

5.6. In the event of a healthcare system emergency, as determined by the ^
Depaftrheht, including but not lirfiited to a local epidemic, pandemic.' facility
closures, or,mass-quarantine in which additional staffing or resoufces are
required due to a surge! of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may
.alsp -be required |p adjust the total number of staff, both fuil-tirhe and part-time,
to fully address the care needs of parents.

5.7. ,All .personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to apprbval by the
,v Departnient prior to notifying candidates of assigriment or hire. The Department

will inform the Contractor of any applicable Department designee for this
purpose per Service Area or position. v

5,6. The Department, at .its -sole discretion, may rescind, either permanently or
temporarily, its approval of any Cohtraclor.Personnel providing any services for
any of the following reasons:
5.8.1. Suspension, revocation or other loss of a required license, ceftificalion

or other contractual requirement to perform such services under the '■
aqnlract;

5.8.2. Provision of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
rhisfeasance. irisubprdination or failure .to satisfactorily provide
required :services; ^

5.8.3. Arrest of conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or alcohol
rejated bffense;

/

5.8.4. Abolition of the rote due to a change in ofganizaiibnal structure> lack
of sufficient funds or like reasons: or '

.  • . j'

5.8.5. Any, other reason that irictudes. but is not limited to: misconduct;
viQlatlofi of Department policy; violation of state or federal laws and
regulations pertaining to the applicable Department service area; or a
detenminatioff fnadfe by the Ddpafttinent that the Individual presents a,
risk to thd health, and safety of any staff member or ariy individual
served bythe bepartmerit.

•  , s ' •

5.9. In the evqnt of such rescission, the Department shall, to the extent possible, ^di
provide the Contractor with reasonable advanced notice and the applicabje (

RFP-2022rNHH-03-PSYCH-01-M2 Mary Hilchcod^ r^emofial Hospila! Con|j^of IhlUals
B-1.d ' Page47pI54 ^ Dale
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reason. The .:C,ontractor shall ensure; the. applicable,'.staff member(s), ̂are
"  ,slices for the; per|o;d'of time that the ■Depar^ent'exercises this right. No additional payments will be paid by the State of New'

Hampshire for anyJstaff removed from duty by the Department for any
The'Cphtraclpr; '
5.^.1. iShail, Unless the CO was removed from providing;
^  services iinder 'Section 5:8,4;, provide: replacement personhei' who

-  ' ; m:eet;ali;pf the. appiicabie';reQuirenfients under the contract, including'
,  but not limited to being sutpject to iDepartnien't apprp^^^

V  >* *

5,9;2.. >Shall be^iesponsibleTor providing transition se^ the appli^ble/
SerVice.iArea tbavoidithe ihterruptibn pfiseryicei and
Vejpbhsibilitiesa^ co^tm the.bepartrTieht: ■' '

5:j9;3. Shall furnish .feplacement staff; Wlthip ten (10) business :days;; wh;0,
meet ajL of; the requirennierits for the ap'plicable posjlioh under' the "

.  resuliipg contract(S) if the duratiohdra tempprarily rescinded approval,
isj greater than ieved (7); calendsfr days; Jhe Cohtractbr shall be
informed; by the; ^pepa^ment the^ ianticipatWd' duratibh for which
apprpyal will refrtein rescinded, The-.Cohtractor'shall be responsible
for ■providing,, at;ndj'addi.^ cost; ■tp the, :PepaHmerit; rt rahsilion
servjdes to tho ,Pepai^fTient-to avoid service interruption:

5;9;^; ■' Ma/ initiate,; ja^ the^^plb biscretipri Of iCdntractQr; ;any internal
por^dnnelactions againstlts own employees. N herein prohibits

.  the CbhtVactor, from .seeking infbrmatioh frOm 'the Departmeht
•  regarding the Pepartmem^^^^ infornriation is otherwise

fesiricted from disclps.ure: % based on ihtemal .
Departrnerit policies ror rules; State" ?of ' New Hampshire pefsphnel
■polides; rUlesr coileclive.bafgainihg agreements, or'bther statO p
^fedeiaMaws;;^ .

i5,9:5i- The Contraa^^^^ iehsure: that, pnor- tp- prpvidjng the appncabip;
■  'Services' for the- a'pplicabl.e! pepadmeht service' area or facility., :all

required licenses, certihcalibhs, pfivileges, or other specified minimum
■  .qualifications are-met fbf. a|l staff, bhd WhW applica^^^^

/n^aintained IhroughpuBhe pw of services for the full term Of the:
.'GpntracI, The; Contraptor-mOIl provide, the .applicable Departmeht.
desjgneewith a copy:.pf:all dOcu^

Popa/tmbpf fihanciaJly liableifpr any fees or costs for any licensesi
bertificatipne pb of samerTior for any fees orxosts incurred for

-  ' ' P''ovdtng,copJes bf said licOnse^^
;5,9,6., jmadditipn to^any. approvals required by the epn

fhe Gonlractbrsbalj ensu^^^ prjor hptincatipn to the;

:'BTP:^2.NH}«)^eSYCH4);irA02 iMaiy HUcHcocklMemofli Hospilal •- Coriifaclof inlilals -
'  Oate 'S/v9/2Q24J
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applicable Department designee for any anticipated leave time, unless
otherwise staled hereiri for a specific position or service area. The
Contractor shall ensure that all staff,provided have a standard amount
of vacation and sick time, subject to the norrnal and customary
employee benefits, and, policies of the Contractor, However, the
Gdntractbr shall ehsiife staff abide by the State holiday schedule.

5.10. The Contractor shall ensure annual performance reviews are completed for all
Cpritfactdr Personnel, the Contractor shall incorporate feedback from the
appiicabie Departmentdesignee for such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure
that goal development is responsive to the evolving needs of the Department ,
over the course of the contract period.

0 *

5.11.' The Contractor shall be responsible for managing all employee relations and
perfOrrhance management issues for the staff prdyided, jn accordance with thei
Contractor's policies and procedures, Medical Service Organization (MSG) by
laws, and applicable NHH.'NHFH, Glencliff Home, HHRTF and/or.State of New
Hampshire policies. , .

5.12. Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel provided
, undergo the following criminal background, registry, screening arid m'edicai
examinations:

5.12.1, Criminal Bacl^ground (including New Hampshire crimlnal.background);

5.12.2; Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services State Registry;

5.,12.3, Division for Children, Youth and Families Central Regiistry; arid ■ ■

5.12.4:. Physical capacity examination.

,5.13. The Contractor ,shall ensure Cphtraclor Personnel assigned to perform
services under the Ag'reemerit comply with all Department requirements,
policies. and procedures relative to infection prevention, mitigationi and control
•to mitigate the* risks of disease transmission prior to the commencement of'
services.: ,.*

5.14. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry, ̂screening
and medical examinations above are kept current as required and in
accordance with the Department's confidentiality policy; the Department
receives copies of.all required documentation prior to the conimencement of
services and is not • responsible for any costs Incurred in obtaining the

.  documentation.

6.15r The Contractor shall not utilize any personnej, including subcbritracto.rs, to fulfill
the obligatibns of the, cpnlracl, who have been convicted Of any crime of
dishonesty, including but not limited to crirriinal fraud, or othenwise cpnyicfed of ■
any felony or misdemeanor offense for which incarceration for up tp 'ohe (1)
year is an authorized penalty, the Contractor shall initiate a crirriinal ^o>
background check re-^inyestigation of all personnel provided every five (5)

RFP-2d22;NHH-0^PSYCH-dl.-A02 Mary Hiichcock Memofiai Hospital Contractor Initials
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f  4,

years. The Contractpr shall ensure the five (5) year period jS' based on the date
of the last criminal background check conducted by the Cbhlraclor of their
agents,

6. State-Owned Devices, Systems and Network Usage

6.1. Contractor personnel must use a state-issued device, including, not limited to
computers, tablets, or mobile telephones, in the fulfilling the requirements of
the contract. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel:

'  V '
6.1.1. Use the Information that they have permission to access solely for the

provision of services hereunder or conducting official state business.
All other use of access is strictly forbidden including, but not limited, to
personal or other private and non-State use, and that at no tifne shall,
except as necessary to provide services hereunder, Contractor

workforce or agents access of atternpl to accesa infofrfiatioh without
■  having the express authority of the Department to do sO;

6.1.2. Not access or atterhpt to access information in a manner inconsistent
with the approved policies, procedures, and/or agreement relating to
system entry/access; ~ ^ .

6.1.3. Not cppy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse engineer-,
rent, or seN software Ijcensed,,developed, or being evaluated by the
state. At all times the Contractor shall use utmost care to protect and
keep such software strictly confidential in accordance with the licef)se
or any other ■agreement executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State of New
Hampshire can be used by the Contractor. Non-standafd software
shall not be installed^ on any equipment unless authorized by the
Department's Information Security Office;- i

6.1.4'. Agree that email and other electronic, communication messages
created, sent, and received on a state-Issued emaij system are the
property of the State pf'NeW Hampshire and to Oe used for business

^  purposes only. Email is defined as "internal email systems" or "state-;
funded email systems." The Contractor understarids and agrees that
use of erriail shall follow Department and State of New Hampshire
standard pbl.icies; and

6.T5. Use the internet and/or Intranet for access .to arid distribution of
Information m direct support of the business of the State of New
Hampshire according to policy of the Department. At no time should
the ifiternet'be used for personal use.

7. Exhibits Incorporated ^
7.1. the Cohtractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Informaiion iri :

compliance with the Standards for Privacy of individually Identifiable Health'
i,' * •

RFP-2022-NHH-p3^PSYGH-01-A02' Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
B-1,p . PapeWofM , '

rbs;
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New Hampshire Department of Health arid Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendrhent U2

■information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Ihsurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in
accordance with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreernent, which
has been executed by the parties.

7.2. The Contractor shalj mariage all confidential data related to^this Agreement in
accordance with the terrns of- Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

7.3.' The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

8. Reporting Requirements

iB.1. Service Area #i

8.1,1,. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human, Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall sUbriiit a written reportv in
a form specified by the Department, to the Departrrie'nt dociirrientihg
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail io
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicaid, and other
third-party providers.

i3.1.2. In addition to. other reports, as agreed to by the Department and the
Coritra'ctor, the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual

.. basis to the Department that describes the services rendered by the
clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's performance pursuant, to the
requlrerrients of the. Contract during the preceding contract year.

8.2. Service Area #2

8.2.1. Qn a quarterly basis, or as othenwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services regulations.
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written report; In
a form specified by the Department, to the Department docurhentmg
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sQfftcient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, lyiedicaid,'and other
"third-party providers.

8.2.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Departm'erit arid the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a, written report on an annual

,  basis to the Department that describes the services provided by the
General Medical Direclor and clinical staff, as well as the Contractors'
performance, piifsuarit to this Agreenient during the preceding contract
year.

8.3. Service Area #3

RFP-2022-NJHH^)3-PSYCH-01.A02

B-1.0

Mary HhchcocK MemorlaJ Hospiial

Page 51 o154

Coniraclor initials.

Date
5/9/2024
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■8;3;t;, da qr;as -pthe^ more frequently required by the
United States>t)e Health-and Human SeryicesiregulationV
ahd/drthe Oepartmehtfthe Gohtractdr shall'submit^^^ in

■ e form specified by th'e Department, to the Department dbcumehtirig
the .servlces provided; by the iGontractor's staff wfth sufficient detailIto
satisfy the ;reporting requirements of. Medicare, Medicaid, and-other
|hifd.-R8i^ prbyiders^

8:3.2. In addition to other reports as 'agreed to by the Department and'the
.Coritractbr, the Contractor a written feport.bn an ahhuai

*  ibasjs tqthe pepartmentthatdescrlb^
clinical staff.'as we as Jlie Gphtractp.r's performance pumuantl^ the
'requlrements.pflhe coht^^^

8.4; ,.All Service:Areas
8.4r1, The-epntfactpf'^ to the pepartmeht '

to sufficiently document actual staiffing levels and services rendered.
Monthly staff fepptls^ ■ '
■8:4:4.4; ;iMonthly;Stafftf)g schedule;
;8,^4,i:2. ,'FfE by ppsltlon In; accordarice wj.th theresultihg contractjs);;

'1; .' * " ' . . . .. . - r . . .. I..,.. . . .. ' " '

;8^4:4 .3; :Actua|. PTE jwprked within' the; mohthlly: fepprtin^ peiipd by
(cljhicajjPO.si|ipn; ;an.d' ,

8:4:4 {Actual ajlOMtpd to' sick time, leave lime, or any pttiej;
v, . • bOn-cllnjcallirnoWjthin the'mphN^^ byclihical

;positibn.. - • .
9. Artdifiphai ferm^

3.1. lrf)i?acts:ResujtlngfrQ^nn^^C^^^
-• 3.4i1. The Gohtfactof ia fuUre istate'p^^

legislatidn: or court prdefs may have ah, impact on the Services
.'described hereirf, the Stateof Nfew Hampshire has thelightlb mpdi^^^^
;Sefyjce. pribriltesbhdexp^^
iso;:as1o. achieve:..coihptiancertherewith. In the eyerit'ihat;anyrfuture
stale or federal legislation; or court order 1m the iServices
descnbed herein, the pepartrhent shall provide the Cbntfactp'r ^
Teaspriabje adyanced n necessary mpdjfication to Service
^priorities and expenditure requirements. The {parties agree to

:  cobpefate In thb implementatlpn and plahhihg of any such
mbdiht^tioh' and the Departme^ shall consider Cpntrjaclpf^s
reasoriabie requests^ with respect to ^such . modifications.,
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the: Pepartment shall retain the. final
iright4p;mpdify'Se^ ahdoxberidJ.ty^^
this Agreement'so as to a :cpmpliance with any-future ^tafeof'

'RFR^262f>!JHH:0^>SYCH^^^^ :'MiE|ry .Coni'fa'cipr Irtllais.;,

'V

,>i,q; :PBgc52ol,M bale-
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^federal legislation or court pfderk thaihaye.a^^^ on tlVevgeryices,
.^escribed.herein, ' ' "

9.2; iCred^andCppydghtp ^
i9,2>1. All dbcumenis,, nqtices, press reteasesi research reports and other
^  ;matena[s/elated to and resulting from the performance of the

'services of theAgreement shall include the following statement, -"fhe,
prepafatibh. of this (fepbil., docurhent etc.) was financed under an
Gontract with the Stafe of New Hampshire. De^ of Health and
Human iSen/ices, with;funds provided in paii by the State; of .New..

".Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were.available.or.
fegufred, e;g., the United States Department bf Health bnd Hu^
•■Seryjbes."

!9.2:2. AH matefials prpdpciBd or purchased under th^b Agrb^ have;
prior approval from itie Departnierit detere printirig;.
dlsiribution orose. , ; •

9.2.3/' The; Qepartmen^^ rshall retain cppyrighl ownership for any and :ail
, qriginarmaterials produced^ Including; but not limited to:^

;9;2,:li;, ^Brochures:
;9.2;3.2-. 'ResourcddirectoHes.

r
.  j9.2;;3:3> .Protocpls pr guideli^

i9:2;3;4; ;Rdsters^ "
;9.2.3.5.. ,"Reports.
'The'Cpntracior sfialj n6Ueprpduce;any maferia produced undpfthe;
■Agreement without pnbrwritten.approvai from the Deparlrtienf.,

;9.3, • ;Ellgibj|jty;t^ermihati!^ ^
9-.3Tt.. If; the; Qpntractpr i$ fpenoitted and' required ;by the pepprgnen^ to,

ideterrriine. the: dHgjbility ,!ot':indiyidu such eligibility detprmination
;shoil be made- in accordance with applicable federal and state laws-
regulations, ofderSj guidelines, policies and pfpceduresi

:§.;3:2. ^:Eligibility determlna be made on forms prp^ided by the>
Pepartmerit for that.purpose bnd shall be'made and remade: at such

^  'iimes.asere prescribed byithe pepartmenl,
9.3!3. In additioniojhe detenriination fpniis required;by the Pepartmenj.the

Contractor shall irna'rntairi a data tile on each recipienivof services;
,  :hpreundef, which :fi|e ,sh^ include^al| ;infdrm^^^ to

,.. supp^ort an eligibilitydeterminalipn such pther-jnfprmaH
1^; ^Department requests, in. writing. The Conirabtor i shall ffumish the;

Departrhent. with Jail fofms: a^nd dbcurherilatibn negardihg :eligibility^^

RFP-202.^NHH;0>PSYGH.^^^^^ . * M8iy,HHchi^'»4e^ . Coniraetof Irtlials
"  ■* - - - - - '$/9/2QiA-

.0 page SS ol 54 ^ 'Date . . •
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EXHIBIT B-Arneridrnerit #2: ^

V. detelmin^t may request orjequire;

;■ 9-?:?: jh©- Cphtractor understands; that alf applieants for services
p  hereunder,'as;well:af Individuals declared ihe

Jair hearing'" regarding that detefrhinatipn. the, Gpntractdf hereby
covdhanjs-and agrees that dil 'applicants for services ;shall be

■  ' permitted to fill putah applicahoh form and that each appiicarlt or re-
appiicartt shali^ bp informed; of his/her .rjghli to a fair hearirig ;-ih

■  accordance with Department regulations.. ■:"
10. Records

10.1. T^he Qpnitractptishi^^^ records that include. But are not liniited to::
'' l oriil. :Books.. fecPfdSi documents and other .electroriic or. physical data

/  ' ^ eyidencjng and.reflectihg-fali cp>t^^ incurred by the
dontractor in the pedernrfance of the ;^vgreemeht. [and; iaJt [incpme
received ;or;.colieptea by the Xiontractb

10:1:2; ,All records, must ibe maintained In: eccofdahce with
procedures.and practices; which sufhciehtiy and properly reflect all such
wsjs acceptable,to-the Department, end

vb/lnclude. withpuf iihiital[pn,;a!j .Books, ■"©cords, and driglnal.
^  eyidence of costs'such as purchase requisitions a nd ojders; vouchers -

'' fedyisihpns for materials,(abdMlime^;cards\ paycolls, arid bthef recprds' requ.ested or regujred |y'
,  the Departme " .

!l 1. Liquidated Pamagee^
i-i ;'i. LiquidateddshiagVsarejspecified.ih, andmay.be^ aCcprdan^^^^^

^ixhlbit Q, F^aymehtTerhhs,;i$ecti6h 1^^^^^

;•

RpFC2022'NHH-63^r^^ Mary HtteicocX'Mem6ftiai:H^^ Cbntfa'ctorllnirtiais ••
v.: . .jsTbtm?.

P880.W orw "Date
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LorfA. Shibincttc
Coffliriissloner

'Ellen M. Lapointc
Chief Executive Offlccr-

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMiENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CLINTON STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271.-5300 1-800-852-3345 Ext 5300

fax: 603-271-5395 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964

www.dhhs.nh.gov

November 28, 2022

His Exceliericy, Governor Christopher T. Suriunu
• and.the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire.03301

Requested action
Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, !:New Hampshire Hospital, to

enter into a Sole (Source artiendrtient to an existing contract With Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital.{\/C# 177160),.Lebanon, NH.'to add one (1) additional Advanced Practice Registered
Nurse clinical ppsitidn to the,; psychiatric arid rriedical' services provided at New Hampshire
Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital, by increasing the price limitation'by
$722,655 from $60,821,398 to $61,544,053'with no change to the contract corripletion Pate of
June 30, 2026, effective upon Governor and Council approval. 40% General Funds. '60% Other
Funds (Provider Fees).

#31.

'The original contract wai approved by Governor and Council on March 23, 2022, . Item

Funds are available In the following, accounts for State Fiscal Year 2023, arid ere
anticipated to be available instate Fiscal Years 2024 through 2026, upon the availability and
continued appropriation of funds In the future operating budget, With the authority to adjustpudget

- linp Items Within the price lirriitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the
Budget Office, if needed arid justified.

05-95-94-940010-87500000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT^OF, HHS: NEW HAMPSriiRE HOSPITAL, New Hampshire HOSPITAL, ACUTE
psychiatric SERVICES '

State

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
diass Title

Job

Number
'Current
Budget

Increased' \
(Decreased)
Amount

Revisied ^

Budget

2022 '102-500731
Contracts for

•  Prgm Svc 94058600 $5,881,431 ■ $0 $5,881,431

2023 102-500731
Contracts for

Prgm Svc 94058000 $12:963.866^ $111,907 $13,075,773

- 2024 102-5007'31 :
Contracts for

Prgm Svc 94058000 $13,352,781 $197,595 $13:550,376,

2025 102-500731 ' Contracts for

Prgm Svc 94058000 $13,753,364 $203,524 $13,956,888

2026 '102-560731 ' Contracts for

Prgm Svc 94058006 .■ $14,165'.965 $209,629 $14,375,594

i Subtotal $60,117,407. $722,655 $60,840,062

The Department of Healih'and Human Services' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence;
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His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Page 2 of 3

05-95-91-910010-57100000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF HHS: GLENCLIF HOME, GLENCLIF HOME, PROFESSIONAL CARE

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 501-500729

\

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $73,193 $0 $73,193

2023 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $150,778 $0 $150,778

2024 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $155,302 $0 $155,302

2025 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $159,960 $0 $159,960

2026 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $164,758 $0 $164,758

Subtotal $703,991 $0 $703,991

Total $60,821,398 $722,655 $61,544,053

EXPLANATION

This request is Sole Source because the Department is modifying the scope of services
and adding funding. The Department originally selected the Contractor through a competitive bid
process using a Request for Proposals. The Contractor is providing services satisfactorily under
this agreement and is uniquely experienced and qualified to attract, recruit, and retain Advanced
Practice Registered Nurses (APRN) with the appropriate experience and clinical skill level to
provide these vital services.

The purpose of this request is to modify the scope of services and add funding for the
Contractor to provide a total of two (2) APRN positions as part of the array of psychiatric and
medical services provided at New Hampshire Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic
Hospital. The Department continues to experience challenges recruiting for these positions.

The Contractor serves approxirriately 2,500 individuals annually at New Hampshire
Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital.

The Department will continue monitoring services through the quality Assurance and
monitoring plans, and monthly, quarterly, and annual reports required by the Contractor.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Department's ability to
have sufficient APRN staffing to provide non-emergent medical care to adults admitted to New
Hampshire Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital will be limited, putting
individuals at serious risk.

Area served: Statewide
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In the event that the Other Funds become no longer available, additional Genera! Funds
will not be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

I

—DocuSioned by:

—'J640ee0iFCS8428..,

Ellen M. Lapointe
Chief Executive Officer, NHH
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #1

This Amendment to the Psychiatric and Medical Services contract is by and between the State of New
Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital ("the.Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on March 23, 2022 (item #31), the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms
and conditions, specified in the Contract and in consideration of certain sums specified: and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, Cienera! Provisions, Paragraph 17 and Exhibit A, Revisions to
Standard Agreement Provisions, the Contract may.be amended upon written agreement of the parties
and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to increase the price limitation and modify the scope of services to support
continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37. General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$61,544,053

2. Form P-37. General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read;

Robert W. Moore, Director.

3. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Section 3, Servjce Area #2 Non-Emergent Medical Services,
Subsection 3.1, New Hampshire Hospital (NHH) and New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH),
Paragraph 3.1.3, to read:

3.1.3. Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN)

3.1.3.1. The Contractor shall provide two (2) FTE APRNs to complete primary, acute, and
specialty healthcare services. The Contractor shall ensure the APRNs:

3.1.3.1.1 Complete a board certification competency-based examination, with
credentials that remain valid for five (5) years, and completes specific
continuing education requirements to renew specialty certifications as
needed.

3.1.3.1.2. Treat patients with diagnosed disorders along with medical comorbidities
that require attention during their admission.

3.1.3.1.3. Consult with specialists statewide to improve medical comorbidities for
patients at NHH and NHFH.

3.1.3.1.4. Coordinate care with local community hospitals, to ensure patients
receive hospital-level medical care, if needed, outside of NHH and NHFH.

3.1.3.1.5. Assist and participate in various hospital-wide initiatives, such as
vaccination clinics, medical testing events, and other functions that may
result from a pandemic, or other public health related event.

4. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 1, to read:

1. This agreement is funded by;

1.1. 40% General funds.

1.2. 60% Other funds (Provider Fees). ^ os

Mary Hilchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials

RFP.2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A01 Page 1 of 4
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5. Modify Exhibit G. Payment Terms, Section 3, to read:

3. The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the Budget below, per
applicable Service Area and State Fiscal Year. The Contractor shall be compensated to
provide and deliver the services described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, on the basis of this
Budget.

Budget

Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year

Service

Area#1

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

,7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$5,396,232 $11,964,355 $12,323,286 $12,692,985 $13,073,774

Seiylce
Area #2

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024"

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$558,392 $1,262,195 $1,382,391 $1,423,864 $1,466,579

3.1. The Contractor shall provide the Department, within each Service Area, a detailed
personnel listing for all staff performing services on an annual basis for each State Fiscal
Year, or more frequently as required by the Department, to ensure the accuracy of
information contained therein and proper cost allocation. The Contractor shall ensure
the listings:

3.1.1. Include information for each Service Area which includes, but is not limited to:

3.1.1.1. Staff names.

3.1.1.2. Stafftilles.

3.1.1.3. Personnel costs inclusive of salary costs,.'fringe benefit costs, and
administrative cost rates.

3.1.2. Are in a format as determined and approved by the Department.

3.2. The Contractor shall automatically reduce invoices by the appropriate amount
immediately in the event a Contractor Personnel position becomes vacant, and is not
immediately filled. The Contractor can use temporary staffing to fill a position until a
permanent staff member is identified.

3.3. The Contractor shall ensure all providers and/or clinical staff are fully credentialed and
enrolled with insurance carriers prior to beginning work.

3.4. The Contractor shall invoice the Department for each Service Area separately.

Mary Hilchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A01

A-S-1.3

Page 2 of 4

Contractor Initials

Date
. 12/6/2022
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All terms and conditions of th^Contract not modified by this Amendment rerhain in full force and effect.
This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council apprc^al.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below.

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

12/6/2022

Date

— OoCuSigncd by:

JLotA' (X.

Narne:"^"®'^"^'''^- weaver
Title. Deputy Commissioner

12/6/2022

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

—DocuSigned by;

J- ^Uymv,Sj Aip
• werrens, md

Title; chief Clinical Officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A01

A-S-1.2

Pago 3 of 4
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution. .

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

y—Oo«uSifln«d by:

12/6/2022 .
\  7i8:3»a4<}i,i!A3e

Date Namei'^o^y" Guarino
Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:
Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.2

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A01 , Page 4 of 4
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Lori A. Shihipctte
CcnDcdttiooer

£11(0 LoPoialt

lD(crIn Chief

ExccntiVe OfUcer

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICE^

NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CUNTON STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-27I.S300 1^0-«52^345 Ext 5300

Fax: 603-27I-S395 TDD Acceu: 1-800-73S-2964

www^hlu.oii.gov

February 18. 2022

His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Suniinu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Departrnent of Health and Human Services, New Hampshire Hospital, to
enter into a contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC#177160), Lebanon, NH, in the
amount of $60,821,398 for the provision of psychiatric and medlcal services at.New Hampshire
Hospital (NHH), the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH), and Glencliff Home, with
the option to renew for up to six (6) additional years, effective upon Governor and Council approval
through Jurie 30. 2026.42% Gerieral Funds: 5^% Other Funds (Provider Fees);

This request represents one (1) of three (3) corresponding requests vkh Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital for the following services: 1) Psychiatric and Medical Services; 2)
Neuropsychoiogy Services; and 3) Ciinical and Administrative Seryjces. This request is contingent
u^ Governor and Council approval of all three (3) requests.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023, and
are anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Years 2024 through 2026, upon the availability and
continued appropriation of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget
line items within the, price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the
Budget Offjce, if needed and justified.

d5-9&-94-d40010-87500000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF, HHS: NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, ACUTE
PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES

State

Fiscal Year

Class f

Account
Class Titte Job Number Total Amount

2022 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94058000 $5,881,431

2023 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94058000 $12,963,866

2024 102-500731 Contracts for.Prgrn Svc 94058000 $13,352,781

2025 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94058000 $13,753,364

2026 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94056000 $14,165,985

Subtotal $60,117,407

The'Department o/Heollh and Human Strvieet' Mi$$ion u to join eommunitiet amd fomiliei
in prdwdingppporiunities /or citixeht to achieve health and independence.
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Hi$ Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Cound)
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06-9&-9V910010'67100000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF HHS: GLENCLIFF, PROFESSIONAL CARE

State

Fiscal Year

Class /

Account
Class Title Job Number Total Amount

2022
101-500729 Medical Payments to

Providers
91000000 $73,193

2023
101-500729 Medical Payments to

Providers
91000000 $150,778

2024
101-500729 Medical Payments to

Providers

91000000 $155,302

2025
101-500729 Medical Payments to

Providers

91000000 $159,960

2026
101.500729 Medical Payments to

Providers

91000000 $164,768

Subtotat $703,991

'  - Total $60,821,398

EXPLANATION

The Department currently has an agreement with the Mary Hitchcock Memorial, Hospiial;
which was competitively bid In 2016, to provide physician, clinical, and administrative services in
seven (7) service areas: New Hampshire Hospital; Glencliff Home; Medicaid; Children, Youth,
and Faniilies; Behavioral Health; Elderly and Adult Services; and.Developmental Services. The
existing agreernent includes an option to renew services through June 30,2025. However, Houses
Bill 2. of the 20i21 Regular Legislative Session, appropriated $30 million to the Department for the
purpose of Gonstructihg a 24-t3ed forensic psychiatric hospital.

Consequently, the Department needed to reassess the existing contracted services to
Incorporate the navy dinlcal needs arising from the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
and released competitive bids for 1) Psychiatric and Medical Services and 2) Neuropsychology
Services, The Sole Source request listed below Is to continue the other five (5) service areas that
would have been continued under the existing agreement. The Contractor is uniquely experienced
and qualified to provide the complex array of clinical arKt administrative services to the
Department Iri these five (5) service areas, wHIcti enal)le the Department to rheet a wide range of
specialized health arid clinical needs of New Hampshire residents.

The fojidwlng table putilnes the Department's reprocurement strategy, which includes
three (3) distinct actions. The Department will terminate the current agiwment upon approval of
the> contracts specified in the table. As noted be|ow, the neuropsychology, psychiatric, and
medical services components of the existing contract have been bid out to Incorporate the new
forensic psychiatric hospital needs rather than incorporatlng.them Into an existing agreement.
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and the Honorable Council
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Reprocurement Strategy
Deacrlption of
Sorvlce Area

Procurement DHHS Areas Senred

Psychiatric and
Medical Services

KFH Issued July 2021 NHH

Glencliff

Forensic Hospltar

Neuropsycholpgy KFP Issued November 2021 NHH

Forensic Hospitar
Clinical and

-Administrative

Services

New Soje Source Medlcald

Children. Ybuth, arid Families

Behavioral Health

Elderly and Adult Services

Developmental Services

■ 1 he Department ariticipates the Forerisic Hospital will open in State Fiscal Year 2024.

Approximately 2500 Individuals will be served annually.
The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to deliver psychiatric and medical services

to NHH, the planned NHFH, and Glencliff|Home by providing highly qualified personnel to meet
staffing needs and woricing with the Departrnentlo contihuie developing and refining an integrated
mental health care system by applying principles of managed care for clinical treatrnent.

The Department will moriltor services by reviewing quality assurance and mbhitoHng
plans, and monthly, quarterly and annual reports provided by the Contractor.

The Departrhent selected the Contractor through a competitive bid process using a
Request for Proposals (RFP) that was posted on the Department's \wbsile from July 30, 2021
through September 29. 2021. The. Department received four (4) responses for Service Area 1 -
Psychiatric Services and three (3) responses for Service Area 2 - Non-emergent Medical Care
that were reviewed and scored by a team of qualified individuals. The Scoring Sheets-are
attached.

As referenced in Exhibit A. Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions of the attached
agreement, the parties haye the option to extend the agreement for up to six (6) additional years,
contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and
Governor and Council approval.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the State's ability to provide
essential psychiatric and medical services to adults-at NHH, the planned NHFH, and Glencliff
Homo will be severely, limited, putting those Individuals at serious risk.

Area served: Statewide.

Respectfully submitted.

Lori A. Shibinette

Commissioner
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Now Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Division of Firiance'and Procurement

Bureau of Contracis and Procurement; "

Scoring Sheet

Project ID#

Project Tide

iRFP-2022^H.OS4«yCH i:*

j^Vchiet^"*^ Medlcel Servlceiu'ArMei.

Maxlimnn

Points

AvaOabie
Owlnioich..^"
l-fcchSseJt'J

6i^,-
Healthcare

Wei^i;'yT
Rebbvery*-
SetutioR*

"T '• t ^
'  -h v..

(KsouaSTied
Technical s ̂ *». »- - J"— ■  ■"-"■>■-• .. ,— - »•

iTstS^'an^Reoruhm : ••-'206'v 190 0 157 N/A

S.'Retenljon' .'s r"; • •- y'SQ: ■ 45 • 5 39 N/A
3..Emptoyee.Lesve Polcies end

• . . .50 , 45" 0 45 WA

A'Pertonhance Monitoring - rf"' {  IMa*. 82 5 80 N/A
r_i ;

S. OtBitv'Assirsioe ■f'-ISO?".' 130 S 140 N/A
6..S(at{inQ Redo (Servics Area-
si. .■•■- .S.r'' " 50 0 SO WA

Subtotal • Teehnlcel eoo. 542 . IS 510 - 0
Cosf-rr-?= — .-0 V -V • r. .  . L';i-?r—1-- \r

,'?>■ -1-cpc.
Aobendh E: StafCno Ust foo^) -ISO . 135 0' ,n N/A

0 0 0 0

Subtotal - Cost 150 135
-\

o" 70 0

TOTAL POIJVTS rio 677 15 SM 6

Reviewer Name ' ' TWe

^ChWRrtsn^ aiiir.'NHH' '^;y■ '
'jRosemary Costaro- .ChWNurring.briff.-NKH
^'CvndSa Babbnb.'- V (j"'i Director MSoddV/brtu'NKH- , • r
* fSia "BetfCjvfey
®'EI«iLapwrCo. 1

'Oir^or.ot Therapeutic Servte^.K^
'CtM.OperztlhQOffi^/NHH' t ,

®fHe«ther Mbgun"-- '5«el.£*Kt£ive'0fficerJ NHHi ' 'H
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New Kampshire.Oe'partment of Health and Human Services
Division of Finance and Procurement

Bureau of Contracts and Procurement

tos ̂ RFP^ZOZJ^H-OWSYCH •.ProjM i

ProjBctT^ I^vchbute «hd Medical Servlccst A/wi »2.

Maxifntitn

Points

AvalUble

OertmiMSv'
Wichcbck

Onbek^ - < } .
HeatSicsra - V

Yttaptoi - ;' >■
Recovery-
SoiotJor»- '•

Tfrchnical 2, - '•* -» • - . '  V . .!c— •

1. and Racntmeri'.'- 200 192 0 155

ZTRslentkih-; - 50 4S -7 40
3;Emp4o^.Leeve Poides.and
PracliCM"'f "V" ' 50 ' 47, 0 45

4; Performance Monitorfna " - ; ;:100 • 80 0 83
y.—-- —-n.^» <->■«-- .

S^Ouafiiv Assurance' . ■''-■ "■ ■  'ISO . 138 0 143

0 0 0

Subtotal • Technicai sso -502 7 476
Cost y-- - - Jl,- •» t-i-v. •  •« - -r . -•

AcpendbrE. StsfSno'litflcdcii' V 150 .. 13S 0 75-^

0 0 0

Subtotal • Cost 150 136 0 76

TOTAL POINTS 700 637 7 SSI

Revlewtf Name Title

^Joseph Ceristi! " foierRnaneiaioini.NH^
r' ~r^-— -
Rotemary Costamo' - v'oilef Niniio Ofnc^NHH^••

.Cvrtnia Babdr^ . .. '■ '1 ;CXrecto^'o(Sodai.^Vdi^NW

■fEicfl Lapointe'3 .
V^T

■(

^Oirectbr of TherspeiCic Services. Niei
'CN^ bp«tirK) Offlcw! NHhT ' i-

fHettfKer MoQuS*^^; r-^ • ,7 tcNef!beee»jfiveOffidBr.'ld« ~
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Subjcct:_Psychiatric. and Medical Services (RFP-2.022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01)

Notice: This agreement and all of Us atlaclimcnts shall become.public.upon submission to Go.vcrnor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified id the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The Stale of New Hampshire ajid the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

I. IDENTIFICATION.

l.l Slate Agency Name

New Hampshire Department of Health arid Human Services

1.2 Stale Agency Address

129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.3' Contractor Name

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

1.4 Contractor Address

One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon. NH 03756

1.5 ContraclorPhone

Number

(603) 650-7549

1.6 Account Number

05-95-94-940010-

87500000; 05-95-91-

910010-57100000

E7 Completion Date .

June 30, 2026

1.8 Price Limitation

$60,821,398

1.9 Contnicting-OfTiccr for Stale Agency

Nathan D. Whjle, Director -w

1.10 State Agency Telephone Number

(603)271-9631

1.11 Cpntmctpr.Signature
DbeuSigntd by;

kj) ^^^^'3/2/2022

1.12 Name and'I'itlc of Contractor Signatory

■Edward J. Merrens, MD chief clinical Offi<

1.13 Slate Agency Signature
x—^OocuSlBMd by:

[  T". '^®%72/2022
1.14 Name, and Title of State Agency Signatory

3pseph T. caristi chief F.inancial Off

1.15 'AppfdvaTUy "the N.'H.pcpartmcnt of Administration, Division of Personnel (i/applicable)

By: Director, On:

1.16 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Siibsiance.and E,\ccution) (if applicable)
OocuSlgn^d by:

Py-j On; 3/2/2022
1,17 Approyafbytlie Governor and Executive Council (if^PP^'cable)

G&C'Item number: G&C Meeting Date:

cr

cer, N

Page 1 of4
Gontfaclor Iniiials

Date.
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2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED. The Sialc of New

Hampshire, acting through the agency identified in;block 1.1
("State"), cngagcjs contractor identified in block 1.3
("Contractor") to perform, and the Contractpr shall perform', the
work er sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly
described in the ;altachcd EXHIBIT B .which is incorporated
herein by reference ("Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this -Agreement to the
contrar>', and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council ofthc'State ofNcw Hampshire, if applicable,
this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hcrcunder, shall
become efTective oh the date the Governor and Executive
Council approve this Agreement as .indicated in :block 1.17,
un)e}« ho "such approval is;fequircd,inwhicli'chse tHe Agfeerneht
shall become.effective on the date the" Agreement is sighed by
the State Agency as shown in block 1.13 ("Effective Dale").
3.2 If the. Contractor commences, the Services prior, to the
Effective Date, all Services pcrformcd.by the Contractor prior to
the; Effective Date shall be pcrforrhcd at the sole risk of the
Cpnt'ractbr.^and in the eveni. t.hat.this Agreement does not become
effective, the State, shall have no liability lb the Contractor,
including without limitation, any obligation to pay the
Contractor for any costs incurred .'or Services performed.
Contractor.must .complclc.all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT,
Notwithstanding, any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all ;obligations of the Slate" hcrcunder,. including,
.without iimitation, the continuance of payments hcrcunder, arc
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of
funds afTccied byany state oV federal legislative or executive
actipii that reduces, eliminate or otherwi's'e modifies the
appropriation or ayailabiliiy of funding for this Agreement and
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT 13, in whole or in
part. In no'event shall the State be liable for any payments
hcrcunder in excess of such available appropriated funds. In the
event of a reduction or termination of appropriated funds, the.
State shall havc thc right to withhold payment urilil suclrfunds
become available, if ever,- aVid shall .have the right jo reduce or
terminate the Services under this Agrccriicni'imrncdiatcly upon
giving the Coniractor notice of such reduction or termination,.
The Slate shall not be,rcquircd lo transfer-funds from any other
account or source to the Account identified, in block 1.6 in the
event funds in that Account arc reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACt i'RICE/I'RICE LIMri ATION/
PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of payment
arc identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C
which is incoiporatcd herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the .Slateof'the contract price shall be the
only and the cpmplctc'fcirhburserne'ht to the Contriictor for all
expends, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor iii the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete

compensation to the Contractor for the Scr\'iccs. The State shall
havc no liability to the Coniractor other than thc'contract price.

.5.3 Tjic State reserves the, right-to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable;i6 the Contractor undcr ihis Agreement those
liquidated ambuiils rcqu.ircd or permitted by N!H. RSA 80:7
through RSA 80;7-c pr any other 'provision of law.
5.4 Nolwiihslanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no
event shall the total ofall payments authorized, or actually ma^e
hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block 1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the perfonnancc of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws,
rcguiations, and orders of'fcdcral, state, county or municipal
authorities .which impose any pbligatipn or duty upon .the
Contractor, including, but not limited to, civil rights and cqiial
employment opportunity laws. In addition, if this Agrccmcht is
funded in any part by monics.ofthc United States, the Contractor
shall comply with all federal executive orders, rules, regulations
and statutes, and with any rules, rcguiations and guidelines as the
State or the United Statc.s issue-to implelfte'nt these regulations.
The Contractor shall also comply with' all applicable intellectual
property laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Coniractor.shall not
discriminate against employees or applicants for employment
because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex, handicap, sexual
prienlatipii, or national origin and will take affirmative action to
prevent such discrimih'aiion.
6.3. The Contractor agrees U) i^rinit the State of .United Slates'
access to any of the Conlractpj^^s books; records and accounts for
'the puippsc ofa.sccrtainingcompliance with all rules, regulations
and orders, and the covenants, terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor warranis that
all personnel engaged in (he Services shall be qualified to
perform the Services, and shall be properly licensed, and
dtlKrwisc aulh"6r[2cd^tp dp so under all applicable |a\vs.
7.2 Unless dthcrwi.sc authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and Tor;a period of six.(6) months aficr the.
Completion Dale in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire,,and
shall not permit any subcontractor or. other person, firm or
corporation with whdrh it "is engaged in 'a cpfnbihcd effort'to
perform Ih.c Services to hiic, any person jvho is_a..Stalc employee:
or olTiciai, who is materially involved In iHc procLiic'mc'nt,
administration or performance of this Agreement. This
provision shall survive termination of this Agreement.
7.3, The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or hcr'^
successor, shall be the State's representative. ,ln the event of any
dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agrecineni, the
Confractirig OlTiccr's decision shall be final for the Stnti?.

^e2of4

Contiactor Initials

Date

ej/wu.
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8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any.one.or:niore of ihc following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an cvent.of dcfaultiiercundcr ("Event
of Default"):
,8.1.1 fajliire to perform the Services satisfaclprily or on
schedule;
8.1 ;2 failurc'to submit any report required hereundcr;,and/or
8.1.3 failurc to perform any other covenant, term or condition of
this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may
take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event .of
Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the absence of
a greater or Ics^r specification of time, thirty (30) days from the
date of the notice; and ifthe Event of Default is not timely cured,
terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) days after giving the
Contractor noticc;of termination;
8.2!2 givc.thcContractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default-and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and. Ordering that the portion of the contract price
which vvoul.d otherwise accrue, to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such noticc iintil such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 givcihc Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and set ofT against any other obligatiphs'thc State may
,pwc to the Cohtracior aiiy damages the Slate suffers by reason of
any Event of Default; and/or
8.2.4 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Evcni of
Default, treat the. Agreement as breached, terminate the
Agreement and pursue.any of its remedies at law or in equity, or
both.

8.3. No failure ,by,thc Slatc^to enforce any pf6visipn.s hereof after
any Event of Default shallbedccrned a waiver o.fits rights with
regard to that Event of Default, or ainy subsequent Event of
Default; No'cxprc.ss failure to enforce any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of the right of the Stale to enforce each and
all of the provisions hereof upon any further, or other Event of
•Default on the part of the Contractor,

9.TERMINATJ0N,
9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8^ the State may; at its sole"
discretion, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or
in part, by thirty (30) days wrili'en notice to the Contractor that
the State is exercising its.optlon to terminate the'Agreement.
9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for
any reason other thjin lIVc complclibn of the Services, the
Contractor shall, at the State's discretion, deliver to the
Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date
of termination, a report ("termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject mailer,
content, and mniiber oT copies of the Termination Report shall
be i(ichtical lb titose of any Final Rcpbil described in the attached
EXHIBrr B. In addition, at the Stale's discretion, the Contractor
sliail, within 15 days of notice of early termination, develop and

submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the

Agreement.

Id. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALmV
PRESERVATION.

10.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data!" shall mean all
information and things developed or'bbtaincd during'the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
flics, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic
representations, computer programs, computer printouts, notes,
letters, memprarida, papers, and documents, all whether
finished or unfinished.

10.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the Slate or purchased with funds provided for that.purposc
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the.Siaic, and
shall be returned to the'Statc upon demand or up,pn termination
of this Agreement fo.r any reason.
10.3 Cohfidcntialily of.data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data requires
prior written approval of tlic State.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the

performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respwls
an indcpcndchl contractor, and is neither ah agent nor an
employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agchli; or members shall have authority to
bind the Slate'or receive any benefits, workers' compensation or
other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSICNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTIMCTS;

12.1 The Contractor shall riot assign, or otherwise^transfer any
interest in this Agrccriic'nt without thc'pribr written notice, which
shall be provided lb thc-Statc nt least fifteen (15) days'prior to
the assignment, and a written consent of the State. For purposes
of this paragraph, a Change of Control shall constitute
assignment. "Change of Control" means (a) riicfgcr,
consolidation, or a tramsaciion or,scries of rclatcd.transactip'ns in
which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the
direct or indirect owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the
voting shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting
powcr ofthe Contractor,; or (b) the sale of all or substariliallyaH
of the assels of the Contractor.

12.2 None, of the Scr\'ices shall be subcontracted by the
Contractor without pribr written notice and consent of the State.
The State is entitled to copies of all subcontracts and assignment
agreements and shall.nol be bound by any provisions contained
in a subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it is not a
party.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Unldss otherwise exempted by law,
the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State, its
officers arid employees, from and against any and all claims,
liabilities and cosl.s for any personal injury or properly damages,
patent or copyright infringcmcni, or other claims asscrtcd ngainst
thc:Siatc, its officers or employees, which arisc.out.of (or which
may be claimed to arise out oQ the acts .or omissi^wf the

Page'3 of 4
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Contractor, or subcontractors, includirig'.byt hot limited to the
negligence, reckless or intentional conduct. The State'shail not'
be liablcTor any costs incurred by thc.Contractbr arising uiid.cr
this paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be decmcd.to constitute a waiver of the sovereign
'tpn^Mhity of the State, which immunity is.hercby.reserved to the
State; This covenant in paragraph, 13 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

I4aNSURANCE.
14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
continuously maintain in force,, -and -shall require any

-• subcphtractpr or, assignee to obtain and maintain in force, ihc
following insurance:
14.1.1 commercial general liability insurance againist all claims
of bodily injury, death or property,dariiage, in amburits-bf hot
less than'$1,000,000 per occurrence and'$2i600,000 aggregate
or excess; and
14.1.2 special cause of.loss.covcrage form covcring all property
subject to sSubparagraph ;I0.2 herein, in an arhounl not less than
80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described In subpaiagraph 14.j .hcfcin-shall be
on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the State
of New Hampshire by theN.li. Department of Insurance, and
issued by insurers licensed in the State.of New Hampshire.
;14;3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block |.9, or his or hcr siicccssor, a ccrtificatc{s) of
insurance for all insufancc' feq'uifed under this Agreerhent.
Goi^ractofshall also furnish to the Contraclihg Officer identified
in block .1.9, or his or her successor, ccrtificatc(s) of insu/^ncc
for all rencwa!(s) of Insurance required under this Agreement no
later than ten (IQ) days prior to the expiration date of each
insurance policy. The ccrtificatc{s) of insurance and any
renewals thereof shall be attached and are incorporated herein by
reference.

is. WORKERS' COMPENSAtiON,
15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees,-certifies
and warrants that.the Contractor is in compliance with or exempt
from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chaptcr,28 [-A V-7Fo/-Ac/ j'
Conipcnsaiion'').
15.2 To the "extent the Contractor is subjecfto the requireihents
of N.H. RSA chapter 28I-A, Contraclo'r shall maintain, and
require any .subcontractor or assignee to secure and maintain,
paynient of Workers' Compensation in connection with
activities \vhich the person proposes to.uhdcrtake punsuant to this
Agreement. ThcContractbr shall futiilsh the Contracting OfTicer
identified in block 1.9, or his pr her successor, pibbfof Workers'
Compensation in the, manner described in N.H. RSA.chapter
281-A and any applicable :rcnewal(s) thereof, which shall be
(attached and arcJncoiporatccI herein by reference.. The State-
.shall 'not be responsible for payment of any Workers'
Compensaiibh premiums or for any other claim or benefit for
Gontracipr, 'pf' any subcbhtrhctor or emplpycc of Contractor,
which might arise under applicable State Pf New "Hampshire
Workers' Compensation laws, in connection with the
performance of the Services under this Agreement.

16. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the time
of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United States
Post Office addressed,to the parties at the addresses given in
blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

17. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be.amenclcd, waived'
or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed by the
parties hereto and only after approval .of such, amendment,
waiver or di.schargc by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State.of Ncw Ham'pshire unless" no such approval is requircd'
under ihe circumstances pursuant to Slatc law, rtilc or policy.

18. CHOICE OF LAW AND-FOROM. This Agreement shall
be governed, interpreted and construed in accordance with.-lhc
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit ofthcpartjcs and their respective successors
and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement is the wording
chosen by the.partics to express their mutual intent, and ho riile
of.construction shall bc.applied against or in favor of any party.
Any,actions arising out of this Agreement, shall be brought;and

I maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court which shall have*
exclusivejuri.sdiclidh thcrcpf.

19. CONFLICTING TERMS.- In the 'event of "a conflict'
between the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXHIBIT
A) and/or attnchmcnts.and amendment thereof, the terms of the.
P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT AJ.shall control.

20. FHIRD PARTIES;. The parties .hereto do riot intend-to
benefit any third panics and this Agreement shall not be
con.strucd.to confer any such benefit.

'21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement are
for rcfcfcric.e purposes only, and the words .contained therein
shall in rib way be heid'lo explain, modify,.amplify or ajd in th"e
iriterprcialion, c'onslruciion or meaning of the provisions;6f this
Agreement;

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying
provisiqhs set forth iii.thc attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated
ihcreiri by reference.

23. SEVERABILITV. In the event any of-thc provisions of this
Agiecmcnt are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of
tins Agreement will remain in full forcc.and effect.

24.. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be
executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, constitutes the entire agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes, all prior
agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter
hereof..
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Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions

1. Revisions to Form P-37i General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is-amended by adding
subparagraph 3.3 as follows;

3.3. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to six (6) additional years
from the Completion Date, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of
services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and approval of the
Gdvefnor and Executive Council.

1.2. Paragraph 7, Personnel, is amended by modifying subparagraphs 7-1 and 7.2
to read: ^
7.1. the Contractor shall 'at its own expense provide all personnel

necessary to perform the Services. The Cpntractor certifies that all
personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to perform the
Services, and shall be properly licensed and otherwise authorized to
do so under all applicable laws.

7.2. Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of this
Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the Cortipletion
Date in block 1.7, the Contractor's personnel Involved in this project,
shall not hire, andshal) not permit any subcontractor or ptherperson,
firm or corporation'With whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to. hire, any person who is a State emplpyeeor
official, who is materially involved in the procurement, administration
or performance of this Agreement. This provisiori shall survive •
termination .of this Agreement.

1.3. Paragraph 9, Termination, is amended by modifying subparagraph 9.2 to read:

9.2 m the event of an early termination of this Agreement for any reason
Other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the
State's discretion, deliverto the Contfactihg Officer, not later than thirty
(30) days after the dateof termination, a report ("Termination Report")
describing in detail all Services performed, and the contract price

■ earned, to and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, cpntent, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be Identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached .
Exhibit B. In addition, at the State's discretion, the Cpntractprshall,
within thirty (30) days of notice of early termination, develop and
■subrriit to the State a Transition Plan for services^ under the
Agreement.

1.4. Paragraph 12, Assignment/Delegation/Subcontracts, is amended by adding
subparagraph 12.3 as follows:

[ -eiMi
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12.3. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual conditions as the
Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor
compliance with those conditions. The Contractor .shall have written
agreements with ail subcontractors, specifying the work to-be performed
and how corrective action shall be managed iif the subcontractor's
performance is inadequate. The Contractor shall manage the
subcontractor's performance oh an ongoing basis and take corrective
action as necessary. The Contractor shall annually provide the State with
a list of all subcpritractors provided for under this Agreement and notify
the State of any inadequate subcontractor performance.

1.5. Paragraph 14. Insurance, is amerided by modifying subsection 14.1.2. to delete
the text in Its entirety and replace it to read:

14.T.2. Professional liability' insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 per
occurrence and $.3,000,000 per annual aggregate,

1.6. Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subparagraph 14.2.tp read:

'14.2. The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shalPbeon policy
forms and endorsements approved for use in the State of'New
Hampshire byjhe N.H. Department of Insurance, arid issued by
Insurers-jicensed'in the State of New Hampshire or registered to
conduct business in the State of New Hampshire.

1.7. Paragraph 17, Amendment,Js amended by adding subparagraph i7.1, toread:

17.1 In the event the State wishes to change the locatipn(s) in which the
services are performed by the Coritraclor hereunder, In whole or In
part, the Slate shall provide Contractor with reasonable advance
written notice of the same. Thereafter, the. parties shall meet in good
faith in order to mutually agree upon possible adjustments to'the
terms and conditions, If required, which shall be documented :in the
form of an'arnendment to this Agreement In accordance wjth
paragraph 17.

RFP-2022-NHH-03rPSYCH-01 Mary Hllchcock Memorial Hospilal ' • Contraclof initials
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Scope of Services

1; Statement of Work

1..1. The-. Contractor shall provide psychiatric and medical services at New
. Hampshire Hospital (NHH), the, planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
.(NHFH), and Glencllff Home. The Contractor shall provide services in the
•follovying service areas:

1.1.1. Service Area #1 - Psychiatric care .for adults admitted to Nevy
Hampshire, Hospital (NHH), New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
(NHFH), and Glencliff Home. . . .

1.1.2. Service Area #2 - Non-emergent medical care for adults admitted to
New Hampshire Hospital and New Hampshire Forensic Hospital.

^  1.2. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to days shall mean calendar
•days, unless otherwise specified.

t.3. For the purposes of this.'agreement, ell references to business hoUrs .shall
mean Monday through Friday from 8 AM to 4 PM, excluding state and federal
holidays;

T4. ■ All Services Areas ■ General Requirements

'  1.4.1. The Cpntractor shall deliver psychiatric and rnedical services to NHH,
the planned'NHFH, and/orGlencliff Hbme.by:

'^4.1.1. Providing highly qualified personnel as described in the
following sections:

1.4.1.2. Working with, the New .Hampshire Departrhent of Health and
Human Services ("Department") to continue develpping and
refining an integrated.mental health cai'e systerh by applying
principles of managed care for clinical treatment; and

1.4.1.3. Assisting with educational and training programs,, at the
direction of the Chief Executive Officer of the Inpatieht Mental
Health System (the'"CEO").

1.4.2. The Contractor shall recruit and retain qualified individuals for the
staffing needs specified herein ("Gontractor Personnel"), and as,
.bthenvise necessary tb fulfill the requirements described herein. The
Contractorshallensure:

1;4.2.1. All Contractor Personnel provided are employees or
consultants of the Contractor.,

1.4.2.2. No Contra;ctor Personnel are employees of the State bf New
Harripshire.

1.4.3. The Contractor agrees that^bne (1) fuH-'time equivalent (PTE)'is^ual
to one^(1) full-time employee who works forty (40.) hours per

.  RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mary Hilchcbck-Memorial Hospllal Contraclor Initials ^
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1.4.4. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel meet and adhere

to;

1.4.4.1. The codes of ethical conduct applicable to their license
category:

1.4.4.2. Behavioral policies of the Department;

1.4.4.3. Department information security and privacy policies and use
agreements which have been provided to Contractor; and,

1.4.4.4. All other human resource-related expectations of the
Department, NHH, NHFH, and/or .Glencliff Home, as.well as
New Hampshire Department of Information Technology
(DplT) security policies.

2. Service Area #1 — Psychiatric Care

2.1. General

2.1.1. The Contractor shall provide staff as indicated in Table 1 belowasthe
Cohtfactor Personnel, which outlines the PTE allocation limits for the
minimum required staffing positions.

Table 1.

Position Title
Minimum FTE/Staffing Ratio

Limits

NHH

a. Chief Medical Officer
1.000 PTE

b. Associate Medical Director
1.000 PTE

c. Staff Psychiatrists Ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric
APRNs shall be 8:1. Deviations

from this ralip shall require the
approval of the CEO.

Psychiatric APRN -1.0 PTE; ratio
of Psychiatric APRNs to
Psychiatrists cannot exceed 4:1

d. ■ Psychiatric Advanced Practice
Registered Nurses (APRN)

;e. Chief Psychologist
1.000 PTE

f; Psychologist
1.000 PTE

g. Forensic. Psychologist i.pOO PTE

Ratio of patients to Forensic
Psycholoqist not to exceedf2?V

RFP.2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01
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h. Administrative Staff
0.500 FTE

NHFH

a. Forensic Psychiatrists
2.000 FTE

b. Forensic Psychologist
2.000 FTE

Ratio of patients to Forensic
Psychologists not to exceed 12:1

c. Forensic Behavioral Analyst
1.000 FTE

Glencliff.Home.

a. Medical Director
0.400 FTE

2.2. New Hampshire Hospital

2,2.1. Chief Medical Officer

,  2.2.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) FTE.psychlatrist to serve
as the Chief Medical Officer.

2.2.T2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is

physically present at NHH and NHFH for a minimum of forty
_(40j hours per week and oversees all providers at NHH and
NHFH referenced herein.

2.2.1:3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief .Medical Officer is

responsible for the same duties and requirements outlined in
this Section 2.2.1. for NHFH upon commencement of patient
services at NHFH, including overseeing clinical staff at.NHFH
provided by the Contractor. The Contractor shall ensure the
Chief Medical Officer:

2.2.1,-3.1. Is a board certified psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in the State of New Hampshire
and has clinical privileges at NHH and NHFH.

2.2.1.3.2. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist with a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector program: psychiatric 'hospital;'
governmental authority; or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or organization
involved in the delivery of public sector,psychiatric
services.

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hoapltai
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2.2.1.3.3. Has completed an Accreditation Council for
Graduate Medical Education (AGGME) approved
residency program with board certification in
psychiatry by the American Board of Psychiatry
and Neurology. (Additional subspeclalty
certification in forensic, geriatric or
•child/adolescent psychiatry may be substituted for

.  two (2) years of administrative leadership;
Completion of a graduate curriculum in medical
administration is preferred).

2.2.1.4. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer

participates, as needed, with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure on^
call psychiatrist services, are available 24 hours per day, 7

■  ' days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there-will be one on-call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage selvices to NHH and NHFH.

2.2.1.5. In the evept'the Chief Medical Officer resigns, or is otherwise
removed froni providing services to the Departrhent, the
Contractor shall:

2.2.1.5.1. Fumish a psychiatrist Within ten (10) business
days, hot including holidays, to serve full-time as
interim .Chief Medical Officer, until such time as

the existing Chief Medical Officer either resumes
full-lime duty or is replaced by a new Chief
Medical Officer.

2.2.1.5.2. Unless the CEO agrees to waive any requirement
in writing, ensure the interim Chief Medical Officer
meets a|l requirements for the Chief Medical
Officer, as. set forth herein.

■2.2.1.5.3. Provide transition semces to NHH and NHFH, at
no additional cost to the Department, to avoid any
interruption of services and administrative
responsibilities.

,2.2.1.6. Subject to.(1) the statutory authority of the Department's
Commissioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
with respect to adniinistrative/clinical matters, the Contractor
shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

2.2.1.6..1. Develops and submits NHH and NHFH provider
t  staffing heeds, including a schedule of psychiatric

and related clinical personnel, for DebaFlftlent

RFP-2p22-NHH-03-F'sVCH:01 Mary HjlcKcbck Memortal Hospital Contractor initials ^ .
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approyal prior to the commencernent Of each
contract year, or as otherwise requested by the
Department: •

2.2.1.6.2. Coordihates with the GEO on all clinical, activities
in order to accomplish the day-to,-day clinical
operations of NHH in a manner consistent with
RSA .Chapter 135-0 and the rules, adopted
pursuant thereto, all Department policies, and all
standards of The Joint Commission (TJC) arid
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid .Services

2.2.1.6.3. ■ Participates in the formulation, Jmplepientation,
and supervision of all clinical prograrns for the
diagnosis, assessment, treatment, care, and
management of NHH and NHFH patients;;

2.2.1.6.4. Supervises all documentation requirements for all
Staff Psychiatrists and other clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor and' providing,
services at NHH and NHFH under this

^  Agreement;

2.2.1.6.5. Ensures adequate coverage op weekends and
holidays to maintain compliance with
documehtation requirements to Justify nriedical
necessity of stay, including, but not limited to, the
need for daily progress notes oh patients covered
by Medicaid, Medicare or commercial insurance.
(Should clinical care responsibilities impede a
proyider's ability to complete daily progress notes
on weekends or holidays, the next progress note
will be.whtten.within 72 hours);

2.2.1.6.6. Performs annual performance, evaluations' and
discipline, as necessary, for all Staff Psychiatrists
and other Contractor Personnel; providing
services at NHH and NHFH, including consulting
with and seekirig input from the "CEO as to the
Department's satisfaction with the services,
provided by the individ.ual under review;

2.2.1.6.7. Performs an annual administrative review of all

Contractor Personnel providing ,services at NHH
and NHFH to ensure compliance with Departrnent
policy', including but not limited to: traihinc>4:Qfio"rd

t]MK
RFPt2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mary Hitchcock Momoriai Hospllal Contractor Initials

B-1.b Paga5of'39 Date



Docusign Envelope ID; 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

DdcuSign Envel<^ ID; E3/^1D76-4DC2-4,148-A2F2^82ED59C67E9

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B

(  2.2.1.6.17. Provides clinical coverage for other clinical staff,
as necessary, due to absences or vacated
positions.

2.2:17. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer

oversees clinical staff in Service Area # 1 and Service Area #
2.

2.2.2. Associate Medical Director

2.2.2.1. The. Contractor shall provide 1.0/PTE Associate Medical
Director, whjch may consist of multiple individuals who fulfill
.the 1.0 PTE requirerhent, as approved fc)y the CEO.

2.2.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure an Associate Medical Director is
,physically present at NHH and NHPH fdr no less than forty
(40) hours per.week.

2.2.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

performs the duties and requirements outlined in this Section
2.2.2.3 for NHPH upon cprrimencement of patient services at
NHPH. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical

Director:

2.2.2:3.1. Is a Board Certified Psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in New Hampshire. /

2.2.2.3.2. At all tjmes, maintains both a license to practice
medicine in the State of New Hampshire, and
clinical'privileges at.NHH and NHPH.

2.2.2.3.3. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist having a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector program, psychiatric, f hospital,
■governmental authority, or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or organization
involved in the delivery of public sector psychiatric
services. (Additional subspecialty certification in
forensic, addiction, geriatric or child/adolescent
psychiatry may be substituted for two (2) years of
administrative leadership. Completion of a
graduate curriculum in medical administration is
preferred.

2.2:2.3.4. Completes an ACGME-approved residency
program with' board certification in Psychiatry by
the American Board of Psychiatry and. Neurology.

-DSr—u»
ejMM

RFP*2b22-NHH-.03-PSYCH:01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials.

B-1.0 Pago 7 of 30 Dato



Docusign Envelope ID: 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

OocuSIgn Envelope ID: E3AB1D76-4OC2-4148-A2F2rC92ED59C67E0

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B

2.2.2.4., The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director
possesses or develops the skills necessary to serve in th,e
capacity of the Chief Medical Officer,, on a temporary or
permanent basis, in the event that the Chief Medical Officer

position js vacated.

2.2.2.5. the Contractor shall ensure the Associate .Medical Director
participates as needed with Staff Psychiatrists in on-ciaH and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour vyeek to ensure
Psychiatrist-On-Call services are provided 24 hours per day,
7 days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor

.  Personnel providing call. coverage services' to NHH and
NHFH.

2.2.2.6. In the event the Associate Medical Director resigns, or is
othervyise removed from providing services to the
Department, the Contractor shall:

2.2.2.6.1. Furnish, a psychiatrist or other qualified provider,
,as determined by the CEO, within ten (loj
business days, not including holidays, to serve fulf-
tinrie as interim Associate Medical Director, until
the existing Associate Medical Director either
fesurhes duty full-t|me or is replaced by a hew
Associate Medical Director.

2:2.2.6.2. Ensure the interim Associate Medical Director

meets all. of the requirements for the Associate
Medical Director as set forth herein;.

2.2.2.6.3, Provide transition services to Department, at no
additional cost,, to avoid any interruption of-
services and administrative responsibilities.

2.2.2.7. Subject to (1) the statutoiy authority of the Department's
Commissioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
with respect to administrative and/or clinical matters, the
Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director:

2:2,2,7.1. Coordinates all clinical activities with the Chief
Medical' .Officer and the CEO in order to

accomplish the day-to-day clinical operation, of
■NHH in a manner consistent with NH Revised
Statutes Annotated (RSA) 135-C and the rules
adopted pursuant thereto, all NHH policies, and
all standards of The Joint Commission (TJC) and

rOS
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-Centers for Medicare and Medlcaid Seh/tces

(CMS):

2.2.2.7.2. Establishes staffing needs, including but not
limited, to psychiatric and related clinical
personnel, on a-periodic basis, with the Chief
Medical Officer and CEO;

2.2.2.7.3. Serves in the capacity of the Chief Medical Officer
,  in the event of the Chief Medical Officer's

absence;

2.2.2.7.4. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer in the
forrnulation, implementation, and supervision of
all clinical programs for the diagnosis,
assessment, treatment, care, and management of
patients;

2.2.2.7.5. Supervises all documentation requirements, of all
Staff Psychiatrists and other Contractor
Personnel providing services at NHH and NHFH;

2.2.2.7.6. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer to
conduct annual performance evaluations and
disciplinary actions, as necessary, for all Staff
Psychiatrists and other Contractor Personnel
providing services at NHH and NHFH, Including
assisting the Chief Medical Officer;

2.2.2.7.7. Works with the Chief Medical Officer to perform
an annual administrative review of all Contractor

Personnel to ensure compliance with Department
policies, including but not limited to: training;
record keeping; matters of medical records; CPR
and CMP training and/or retraining; ,TJG
requirements; customer service responsibilities;
information security, privacy, and HIPAA
compliance; and attendance af mandated in-
service training;

^  2.2.2.7.8. Complies with all applicable performance
standards pertaining to Staff Psychiatrists;

. 2.2.2.7.9. Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New
Hampshire's mental health service system;

2.2.2.7.10. Promotes a customer service culture by adhering
to and ensuring that Staff .Psychiatrists adh^ to

enkk
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the established customer service guidelines for
physicians:

2.2.2.7.11. Reports any known issues to the Chief Medical
Officer and CEO regarding admissions, patient
care or any other .situation that may pose a
significant risk to patients or the community or that
may result in adverse publicity or in any way
undermine public confidence in the clinical care
provided by the Department;

2.2.2.7.12. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer and the
.  CEO in the development of clinical budgets;

2.2.2.7.13. Participates in the recruitment of other clinical
personnel, upon the request of the CEO;

^  2.2,2.7.14. Assists in establishing, subject to approval by the
Chief Medical Officer and CEO, an employment
schedule for all Contractor Personnel provided
under this Agreement;

2.2.2.7.15. Assists the Chief Medical Officer and the CEO
with the clinical supervision and education of all
other clinical staff; and

2.2.2.7.16. Provides clinical coverage for other clinical staff
as necessary due to absences or vacated
positions.

2.2.3. Staff Psychiatrists and Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered
Nurses (APRN)

2.2.3.1. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric APRNs is not less than 8:1,,
unless otherwise approved by the CEO for a specific period
oftime.

2.2.3.2. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio of Psychiatric APRNs to
Staff Psychiatrists does not exceed 4:1'.

2.2.4. Staff Psychiatrists

2.2.4.1 ■. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists are physically
present at NHH and NHFH a minimum of forty (40) hours per
week. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists:

2.2.4.1.1. Have appropriate experience in the specialty In
which they are board certified or eligible for
certification.

-—09
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2.2.4.1.2. Have completed,an ACGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry.

2.2.4.1.3. Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical services, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and management of patients;

2.2.4.1.4. Maintain and direct a clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplihary staff consistent with the
Departmentnprms;

2.2.4.1.5. Determine the appropriateness of admissions,
transfers and discharges consistent with RSA
135-C';

2.2.4.1.6. Provide, in coordination with the Chief Medical
Officer, the /^ssociate Medical Director, and other
staff physicians, on-call after-hours coverage and
serve as on-site, after-hours coverage, on a 24-
hpur a day, 7-day a week, year round basis when
necessary as determined by the CEO, Chief
Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical
Director. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree' that there will be one dn-call pool of
Contractor Personnel providing call coverage,
services to NHH and NHFH;

2.2.4.1.7. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees, assigned
committees and task forces;

2.2.4.1.8. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patients from facilities other than NHH,
consistent with current Department policy;

V

2.2.4.1.9. Complete, in a timely manner, all necessary
documentation, as required by TJC and CMS
standards;

2.2.4.1.10. Cornpjete Occurrence Reports in compliance with
Department policy;

2.2.4.1.11. Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of .
clinical ' care regarding medical necessity,
including daily, progress notes to document and J
support medical necessity, within timefrqmes as

-gJ/U/li
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.specified by the NHH's Record Dbcuhieritation
policy and procedure and other relevant policies
and procedures.

.  2.2.4.1.12. Adhere to .all Department policies, including; but
not limited to policies on Medical Records
Documentation and Progress Notes;

2.2.4.1.13. Ensure that documentation is consistent with

normative data collected. by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager;

2.2.4:1.14. Provide other services .as required, which .are
consistent with the mission of the Department;

2:2.4.1.15. Appear and testify in all .court and administrative
hearings, as required by the Department;

2.2=4.1.16. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital'to the functioning the Departimeht's system of
care, including for the purpose of transition
planning by adhering to Departrn.ent standards;;
and

2.2.4:1.17: Participate in "the .utilization review processes,
including, appeals" and , other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director, and/or the CEO.

2.2.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of one (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is dedicated to provide services to the NHH
jnpatient stabilization unit (ISU).

2.2.4.3. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist certified in forensics is dedicated to provide
services to the NHH forerisic unit, which does not exceed a

,  24:1 patient-to-provider ratio.

2;2.4.4.-The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is certified in addiction; be a physician who is

.  certified in general psychiatry: and has significant clinical
experience in addiction medicine. (A fellowship training and/of,
board certification in- addiction medicine or addiction
psychiatry is highly preferred.)

2.2.4.5. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is a Gefopsychiatrist who has:
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2.2.4.5.1, Completed an ■ AGGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry, and is board certified by.
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology
in Psychiatry; and

2.2.4.5.2. Completed a one-year geropsychiatry fellowship
and is specialty certified by the American Board
of Psychiatry and Neurology in geriatric
psychiatry. (Two (2) years of additional clinical
experience in geriatric psychiatry may be
substituted the one-year'fellowship.)

2.2.4.6. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists provide
services on a full-time basis as defined in Paragraph 1.4,3
above and limit their practice to treating NHH patients only,
except for night and weekend staff, who may be working part-
time or per diem.

2.2.4.7. Notwithstanding the above, the Department and Contractor
agree that (i) Staff Psychiatrists may perform occasional
outside practice duties, with the advance written approval of
the CEO and Chief Medical Officer, but only If said duties do
not, in the sole judgment of the CEO, interfere with; the „
psychiatrists' duties at the Department; and (ii) Contractor
Personnel may be permitted, subject to prior notice and the
approval of both the Chief Medical Officer and. CEO, to
perform educational of research activities so iphg as .those
activities further the mission and goals of the Department.
Staff Psychiatrists and Coritractpr Personnel approved .for
such :activities shall provide monthly ddcunientatioh .and
summary progress reports to the Chief Medical Officer and
the CEO that specifies tirtie spent devoted to educational or
research activities.

2.2.4.8. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists participate in
bn-call, after-hours coverage 'above the 40-hour week to
ensure on-ca!l psychiatrist services are provided 24 hours per
day, 7 days per week. For this reason, the Contractor provides'
reports summarizirig full-time equivalent staffing for each
invoicing period. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one on^call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

2.2.4.9. The • Contractor agrees Staff Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate in oh-call, after-hours coverage as
needed for NHFH upon commencement of patient services at
' NHFH. r"'''
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2.2.5. Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurses (APRN)

2.2.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs possess an
APRN degree and have board certification as Psychiatric-
Mental Health Nurse Practitioner-Board.

2.2.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs provide
clinical services in extended care and admissions areas with
patients with severe mental illness and medical co-morbidities
in accordance with the scope of practice described in RSA
326-8:11. The;Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs:

2.2.5.2.1. Perform advanced assessments. ,

2.2.5.2.2. Diagnose, prescribe, administer and develop
treatment regimens.

2.2.5.2.3. Provide consultation as appropriate. ■

2.2.5.2.4. Independently prescribe, dispense, and distribute
psychopharmacologic drugs within the formulary
and act as treatment team leaders in accordance
with State New Hampshire law and medical staff

.  by-laws.

I  2.2.5.2.5. Provide documentation in accofdahce with

Department policy and the allowable scope of
practice for APRNs.

2.2.6. Chief Psychologist

2.2.6.1. The;Contraclor shall provide one (1) PTE Chief Psychologist
at NHH .who is a clinical psychologist {PhD or Psy.D.). The
Contractor shall ensure the Chief Psychologist:

2.2.6.1.1. Administers and analyzes psychological test
I batteries and clinical assessment interviews with
acute psychiatric in-patients in a timely fashion,
including: cognitive assessment: personality and
psychiatric diagnoses; and treatment and
discharge planning.

2.2.6.1.2. Provides expert clinical consultation to
psychiatrists, neurologists, treatment team,
guardians, arid aftercare agencies, as well as at
judicial hearings.

2.2.6.1.3. Works closely with psychiatric providers and other
team members, as needed, to promote high
quality patient care.

eikk,
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2.2.6.1.4. Determines and provides psychologicartreatment
including but .not limited to: crisis intervention;
individual, behavioral and group' therapy;
cognitive training tp acute psychiatric in-patients
with severe impairment; and family counseling
when Indicated.

2.2.6.1.5. Consults with nursing and other staff about
management of difficult patients.

2.2.6.1.6. 'Participates in and suggests Psychology quality
assurance audits and clinical program evaluation
efforts.

2.2.6.1.7. Collaborates with state-employed Psychologists,
and their respective leadership, to develop
consistent, evidence-based clinical practices
throughout the organization.

2.2.7. Psychologist

2.2.7.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) FIE Psychologist at
NHH, The Contractor shall ensure the Psychologist who is a
clinical psychologist (PhD or Psy.D.). The Contractor shall
ensure.the Psychologist:

2.2.7.1.1. Administers and analyzes psychological test
,  . batteries and clinical assessnient interviews,

including, but not limited to: cognitive
assessments, personality and psychiatric
diagnoses, and treatment and discharge
planning.

2.2.7.1.2. Determines and provides ' psychological
treatment.

2.2.7.1.3. Cornpletes progress notes and other
documentation.

2.2.8. Forensic Psychologist

2.2.8.1. The Contractor shall provide, a minimum of one (1) PTE
Forensic Psychologist at NHH to assist with serving patients
deemed not guilty by reasons of insanity, incorripetent to
stand trial, or other civilly committed patients whom require
inpatient psychiatric .treatment. The Contractor shall ensure
the Forensic Psychologist:

2.2.8.1.1. Is a clinical psychologist {PhD, Psy.D., or EdD
with forensic experience);
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2.2.8.1.2. Has significant clinical experience in forensic
psychology: and

2.2.8.1.3. Has a certification in forensic psychology
(preferred).

2.2.8.2. The Contractor shall ensure the patieht-to-provider ratio for
the.Forensic Psychologist does not exceed 24;1 at NHH.

2.2.9. Administrative Staff

2.2.9.1. The Cohtractdr shall provide a minimum of.one half (.50) PTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH
to .clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure the

Administrative Staff:

2.2.9.1 ;1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects.

2.2.9.1.2. Organize systems of distribution and review qf
these items to ensure efficient communication.

2.2.9.1.3. Answer administrative questions on behalf of .the
Department in a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

2.2.9.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

2.2.9.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

2.2.9.1.6. Develop and rnaintain a filing system for all files ,
related to the contract between the Department
and the Contractor.

2.2.9.1.7. Conduct special studies of ah administrative
nature.

2.2-.9.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide Information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of the
Contractor within NHH and NHFH.

2.2.9.1.9. Monitor budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with
NHH.
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2.2.9.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
. coverage at NHH and NHFH In coordination with
. the Associate, Medical Directors

2.2.9.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure, proper
contract billing.

2.2.9.1.12., Manage and "complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

;2.2.9.1.13. Support medical provider^ teams with
communication, data extraction and other

administrative tasks.

2.2.9.,1.14. Support QI/QA/key Performance Indicator
monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
Associate Medical Director.

2.2.9.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Contractor;
including.but not liniited to expense tracking, time
attestations, and compliance monitoring.

2;2.-9.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assigned. .

2.3. New Hampshire Forensic Hospital

2.3.1. Forerisic Psychiatrists

2,3.1.;1. The Contractor .shall provide a minimum of two (2) FTE
Forensic Psychiatrists to provide services at NHFH upon
Completion of the NHFH. The Contractor shall ensure all
Forensic Psychiatrists:

2.3.1.1.1. Have appropriate experience in the specialty in
vyhich they are boarded or board eligible; and

■2.3.1.1.2. Have completed an.AGGME-:approved residency
■ program in psychiatry,

2.3.1.1.3. FormCilate and implement treatment plans and
clinical services, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and management of patients;

2.3.1.1.4. Maintain and direct a clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidlsciplinary staff consistent with

,  , Department norms:

-OS
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2.3.1.1.5. Determine, the appropriateness of admissions,

transfers and discharges, consistent with RSA
135-C;

2.3.1.1.6. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees at NHH and/or

NHFH, assigned committees and task forces;

2.3.1.1.7. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patiehts from facilities other than; NHFH,
consistent with; Department policy;

'2.3.1.1.8. Complete all necessary documentation, as
required, by TJC and CMS standards;

.2.3.1.1.9. Complete Occurrence Reports in compliance with
Department policy:

2.3.1.1.10. Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of
clinical care regarding medical necessity,
including, daily progress notes to document and
support medical necessity, within timeframes as
specified by the Department's Medical Record
Documentation policy and procedure and other
relevant policies^and procedures.

2.3.1.1.11. Ensure 'documentation is consistent with
normative' data collected by the Cornpliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager;

,2.3.1.1.12. Provide other services as required^ which are
consistent with the mission of NHH and NHFH,
and the intent of this Agreement;

2.3:1.1.13. Appear and testify in all court and administrative
hearings as required by the Department;

^  2.3.1.1.14. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and. other interest groups
vital to the functioning of the Department's system,
of oare, including for the purpose of transition
planning. In accomplishing this'requirement, the
Contractor shall ensure psychiatrists adhere to
Department standards;

2.3.1.1.15. Participate in utiiization review processes,
. including appeals and other processes^^ as

[eikk.
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required by the Chief Medical Officer, .Associate
Medical Director, arid/or CEO; and

2.3.1.1.16. Participate in p.n-cail afterhours coverage and
\  serve as on-site, after-hours coverage, on a 24-

hour a day, 7-day a week, year round basis when
necessary as determined by the CEOj^ Chief
Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical
Director. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties

agree that there will be one on-call pool of
Contractor Personnel providing call coverage
services to NHH and fJHFH.

2.3.1.2. The Contractor agrees Forensic Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate In on-call, after-hours coverage for
NHH, as needed. .

2.3.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure all Forensic Psychiatrists provide
services on a full-time basis as defined in. Paragraph 1.4.3
,above and limit their practice to treating Department patients
only.

2.3.1.4. Notw/ithstahding the above; the Contractor agrees Forensic
Psychiatrists may perform occasional outside practice duties,
with the advance written approval of the, CEO and Chief
'MedicarOfficer, but only if said duties do not, in the sole/
judgment of the CEO,, interfere with the psychiatrists'duties at
the'Department.

2.3.1.5. The Contractor shall ensure Forensic Psychiatrists participate
in on-cail. afterhours coverage above the-40-hour week to
ensure oh-call psychiatrist services are provided 24 hours per
day, 7 .days per vyeek. For this reason,.the Contractor shall
provide reports sufhmarizing full-time equivalent staffing for
each invoicing period.

2.3.2. Forensic Psychologists

2.3.2.1. ;The Contractor shall provide a minimum of two (2) PTE
Forensic Psychologists.al NHH to assist with serving patients
deemed riot guiity by reasons of insanity, incompetent to
stand trial, or pthej civiljy conimitted patients who require
inpatient psychiatric treatment. The Contractor shali ensure
Forensic Psychologists:

2.3.2.1.1. Are clinical psychologists (PhD or Psy.D.);

2.3.2.1.2. Have siignificant ciinicai experience in forensic
psychoiogy; and

I  •gJWU.
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2,3.2.1.3. Have certification in forensic psychology
(preferred).

2.3.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) Forensic Psychologist
provides .services beginning in State Fiscal Year 2022 that
include, but are not limited to:

2.3.2.2.1. Assisting with the design and operational
planning, for NHFH;

2.3.2.2.2. Developing workflows and policies for NHFH;,

2.3.2.2.3. Assisting in ensuring regulatory readiness for
NHFH: ,

2.3.2.2.4. Supporting TJC accreditation process for NHFH;
and ' .

2,3.2;2.5. Serving patients deemed not guilty by reasons of
insanity, incompetent to stand trial, or other civilly
committed patients whom require inpatient
psychiatric treatment, upon commencernent of
services at NHFH.

2.3.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the (2) Forensic Psychologists
provide full-time clinical services to patients of NHFH upon the
bpehirig of;the facility.

2.3.2.4. The Contractor shall ensure the patlenf-to-provider ratio for
the Forensic Psychologists does hot exceed 12:1 at NHFH.

2.3.3. Behavioral Analyst

^  , 2.3;3.1. The epntractpr ,shall provide a minimum of one (1)FTE Board
Certified Behavioral Analyst who provides services to the
Department upon completion of NHFH. The Contractor shall
ensure the Behavioral Analyst:

2.3.3.1.1. Coordinates and provides services in applied
behavioral analysis, function analyses and
assessment, behavior acquisition and reduction
procedures, and adaptive life skills;

2.3.3.1.2. Provides ongoing support to clinical staff as it
relates to the implementation and documentation
associated with behavior plans;

2.3.3.1;3. Assists in the development and implemeritatidn of
assessment tools, conducts functional
assessments and analyses when appropriate,
and develops appropriate behavior strategies to

"gj/ll/ll
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teach appropriate behavior and reduce
maladaptive behaviors:

2.3:3.1.4. Provides ongoing support and training to direct
care professionals, clinical staff and other
individuals, including, but not limited, to, patients'
guardians, as needed;

2.4. Glencliff Home

2.4:1. Medical Director

2.4.1.1. The Contractor 511311 provide one (1) part-time
Geropsychiatrist to serve as the Medical Director for two (2)
days per week (sixteen (16) hours per week) at Glencliff
Home. The Contractor shall erisurethe Medical Director:

2.4.1.1.1. Coordinates all medical care and direct
psychiatric services, treatment and associated
follow-up to all residents of Glencliff Home;

2.4.1.1.2. Completes and appropriately documents care for
all individuals requiring care, as ideritified by
Glencliff Home clinical and nursing staff;

2.4.1.1.3. Provides administrative functions, including but
not limited to policy review and establishment that
reflect current standards of practice; oversight of
physicians: attendance at mandatory committee
meetings, including but not limited to quality
assurance and performance improvement
(QAPI), infectioh control, and adrhissions;
regularly review the use of psychotrqpic
medications for compliance with the Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) regulations;
and the provision of other assistance in meetjng
standards for annual State Inspections and
Federal regulations;

2.4.1.1.4. Prepares for, travels as necessary, and delivers
expert testimony in probate court, as needed, on
matters that may include, but are not limited to,
guardianship cases, electfoconvulsive therapy,
and do not resuscitate orders;

2.4.1.1.5. Provides written patient evaluations on each
patient as frequently as required by the
Department but in no case less than once per
calendar year; and

■eikk
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2.4,1.1.6. Serves as Ijaison with other organizations,
including, but not limited to NHH, when a Glencliff
Home resident is receiving services at another
healthcare institution.

2.4.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure routine or emergency telephone
consultation is provided by the Medical Director or an equally
qualified physician at no additional cost, twenty-four (24)
hours per day, seven (7) days per week, fifty-two (52) vyeeks
per year, ,td Glencliff Home.

2.5. Additional Requirements for NHH and NHFH only - Service Area #1 -

2.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure inter-disciplinary case reviews are
completed on 100% of patierits who are clinically stable for greater
than fifteen (15) days and still adrtiitted to NHH and NHFH. .

2.5.2. The, Contractor shall ensure that staffing is maintained at a level that
ensures ho impact on the number of NHH and NHFH b'edsavailable
and that-NHH and NHFH units do not stop admissions due to the lack
of coverage for staff provided by the Contractor.

2.5.3. The Contractor sfibll ensure ̂that on-call after-hours coverage is
provided by no less than one (1) full-time Psychiatrist. Additional
personnel 'who provide coverage may be either a Psychiatrist or a
Psychiatric, APRN.

2.5.4'. '" The Contractor shall ensure on-call after-hours coverage is assigned
in one-week increments in rotation among the full-time NHH and
NHFH psychiatric staff.

2.5.5. The Contractor shall ensure the on-site after-hours coverage on
weekdays, weekends and holidays is provided by a Psychiatrist or
Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN). The
Contractor shall ensure staff are certified or eligible for certification by
•the Anierican Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, or. is in training in,
an accredited psychiatry residency program with at least three years
of training experience, or is credentialed as a Psychiatric APRN

,  through the American Nurse Credentialing Center or equivalent
credentiaiing body.

.2-.5.6. The Contractor shall maintain a pool of Psychiatrists or Psychiatric
APRNs, or a combination thereof, who are credentialed with NHH and
NHFH for the after-hours work, and the after-hours staff are assigned
to in-house after-hours coverage by the Chief Medical Officer or
Associate Medical Officer with a six (6) month rolling calendar. The
Contractor shall ensure the pool is of sufficient size and appropriate
qualifications to ensure the ability to meet the staffin^igvel
requirements arid performance standards specified herein.
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■2.5.7. At the request of the CEO, staff provided by the Contractor shall
provide fele-psychiatry or offsite consultation. The Contractor shall
ensure staff who conduct tele-psychjatry have professional
malpractice insurance in effect, in an amount satisfactory to the
Department, and meet all credentialing and provider enrollment
guidelines pertinent to providing tele-health services.

2.6*. Performance Staiidards and Outcomes for NHH and NHFH only - Service
Area #1

■2.6.1. the Contractor's performance standards and outcomes shall be
monitored to ensure:

2.6.1.1. Within forty-five (45) days of the assignment of fhe Chief
Medical Officer, and annuajly thereafter, the Contractor and
■CEO, in cpnsultation with the Chief Medical Officer, shall
develop a list of performance metrics, which shall be updated
on an annual basis at a minimum, based upon the
deliverables, functions and responsibilities of the Chief
Medical.Officer, subject to approval by the CEO, which shall
be reviewed for approval on a quarterly basis.

2.6.1.2. Services provided by the Chief Medical Officer are
satisfactory to the Department. The Contractor shall, no less
than aniiually and more -frequently if required by the
Departrfient, provide an evaluation tool to solicit input from the
CEO regarding, the Chief Medical Officer's provision of
services.

2.6.'1.3. A corrective action plan is developed to address any material
concerris, as defined by the CEO, in the evaluation.tool, and
provide a copy of the plan to the CEO for review and approval.

2.6.1.4.' The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all times to
mitigate any impact on the number of beds available and
interrupted admissions due to the lack of staffing coverage,

2.7. Key Performance Indicators for NHH and NHFH only - Service Area #1

2.7.1. The Contractor shall ensure providers at NHH and NHFH comply with
the following Key Performance Indicators:

2.7.1.1. Psychiatric Progress Notes
2.7.1.1.1. Completed daily on patients who are certified as

acute inpatient level of care.

2.7.1.1.2. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

r we'2.7.1.1.3. Completed riot less than five (5) times per week
or unless otherwise specified by the C.B^^Iieir
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designee or the Department, on patients who are
no longer acute level of care.

2.7.1.1.4. Cohtent as it peiiainsito;

2;7.1.1.4.1. CMS local coverage determinations
forNHHand NHFHiand

2.7.1.1.4.2. NHH and .NHFH facility's policies
and procedures.

2,7.1.2. Patient Length of Stay

'2.7.1.2.1. Evaluation through data collection and case
review of active treatment during patient stay.

.2.7.1.3. CMS Certification-Guidelines

2.7.1.3.1. Certifications and/or re-certification conducted in,

accordance to required CMS and NHH and NHFH
timeframes.

2.7.1.3.2. Assigned, certification status is clearly supported
;in psychiatric progress notes.

"2.7.'1.4. Standardized Process ■ ^

'2.7.1.4.1. Compliance, with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

2.7.1.4.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized "work.

2.7.1.5. Treatment Plans

2.7,1.5.1; Provider specific portions of treatrnent plans are
completed within 24 hours of adrriissioh.

2.7.1.5.2. Performance measured by periodic audits which
are provided to the Chief Medical Officer and
CEO..

2.7.1.5.3. Content as it pertains to:

,2.7.1.5.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'

policies; and

2.7.1.5.3.2. NHH and NHFH policies and
procedures.

2.7.1.6. Annual Reviews

eiMA.
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27.1.6.1. The Chief Medical Officer or designee must
conduct and document annual reviews on all

Contractor Personnel providing services under
j  this Agreement. The" Contractor shall ensure-

performance evaluations are In compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS"
and TJC guidelines.

2.8. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan for NHH and NHFH only - Service
Area #1

2.8.1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the:
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Moriltoring Plan addresses at a minimum:

2.8.-1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to Operate NHH and NHFH beds
at full utilization;

2;8.1 ;2. Ensuring Contractor's staff receive necessaiy supervision and
training to perform the assigned tasks;

2.8.1.3. Ensuring patients receive care consistent with evidence-
based care; and

2.8.1..4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practices to
protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors.

2.8.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer, monitors
progress toward the staled goals in the Quality- Assurance and
Monitoring'Plan and provides reports to the CEO and Contractor on a
quarterly basis.

2:8.3. The Contractor shall, ensure the Chief Medical Officer meets Nvith the
CEO and Contractor at minimum on a quarterly basis to review
progress toward Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well
as key Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 2.7. above.

2.8.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the Chief Medical
Officer toward these Quality Assurance and.Mpnitpring goals.

2.8.5. The Contractor shall review and revise the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Pla'ri, in consultation with the CEO on an annual basis, or
as.otherwise'requested by the Department.

3. Service Area #2 Non-Emergent Medjcal Services

3.1. New Hampshire Hospital and New Hampshire Hospital Forensic Hospital

3.1.1. General Medical Director
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t3.1.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE physician to serve
as the General Medical Director at NHH and at NHFH upon
commencement of patient services at NHFH.

3.1.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director is

physically present at NHH and/or NHFH a rhinirnum of forty
(40) hours per week and oversees all clinical staff in Service
Area #2 referenced herein. The Contractor shall ensure the
Genera! Medical Director:

3.1.T_2.1. Is a primary care or Internal medicine physician
who has completed residency with at least three
(3) years of experience in supervising primary
care clinicians. (A board certification in a primary
cafe field is preferred.)

3.1.1.2;2. Provides consultation for infection prevention arid
infection control practices and protocols:

3.1.1.2.3. Assumes a leadership role in maintaining and
irnproving medical standards of care for patients;

3.1.1.2.4. Partners with state-employed medical providers
to provide evidence-based medical care to
patients of NHH and NHFH; and.

3.1.1.2.5. Educates staff in the appropriate application of
evidence, based practices and protocols: for
medical care.

3.1.2. . General Ihternist/Hospitatis.t

3.1.2.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) FTE' General
Internist/Hospitalist. The Contractor shall ensure the General
Internist/Hospitalist:

3.1.2.1.1. |s a primary care or internal medicine physician
. who has completed residency with at,least three
(3) years of experience. (A board certification in a
.primary care field is preferred.)

3.1.2.1.2. Provides general medical care to patients at NHH
and NHFH.

3.1.2.1.3. Consults with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidities for patients at NHH and
NHFH.

:3,1.2.1.4. Coordinates cafe with local corrimunity,hospitals
to ensure patients receive hospital-level medical
care, if needed, outside of NHH and NHFfTT'^

€)
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3.1.2.1,5. Assists and participates in various hospital-wide
initiatives, including, but not limited to, vaccination
clinics, medical testing events, and other
functions that may result from a pandertiic, or
other public health related event.

3;1.3. Nurse Practitioner

3.1.3.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE Nurse Practitioner
to cortiplete prirtiary, acute, and specialty healthcare services.
The Contractor shall ensure the Nurse Pra'ctitidher:

3.1.3.1.1. Completes a board certification competency-
based examination, with credentials that remain
valid for five (5) years, and completes specific
continuing education requirements to renew
specialty certifications as needed.

3.1.3.1.2. Assesses, diagnoses, and provides patients with
psychotherapy.

3.1.3.1.3. Treats patients with diagnosed disorders along
with medical comorbidities that require attention
during their admission.

3.1.3.1.4. Consults with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidities for patients at NHH and
NHFH.

3.1.3.1.5. Coordinates care with local community hospitals,
to ensure patients receive hospitahlevel medical
care, if needed, outside of NHH and NHFH.

3.1.3.1.6. Assists and participates in various hospital-wide
initiatives, such as vaccination clinics, medical
testing events, and other functions that may result
from a pandemic, or other public health related
event.

3.1.4. Administrative Staff '

3.1.4.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) FTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH.
to clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure the

Administrative Staff:

3.1.4.1.1- Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects.

3.1.4.12. Organize systems of distribution and review of

fi*these items to ensure efficient communi
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3.1.4.1.3. Answer administrative questions on behalf of the
Department in a professional manner in
coordination \vith the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

3.1.4.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

3.1.4.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

3.1.4..1.6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
related to the contract between the State and the

Contractor.

3.1.4.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature.

3.1.4.1:8. Serve as resource person vyhp is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of
Contractor within NHH and NHFH.

3.1.4.1.9. Monitor budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with
the Department.

3.1.4.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage at NHH and/or NHFH in coordination
with the Associate Medical Directors

3.1.4.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

3.1.4.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

3.1.4.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
communication, data extraction and other

administrative tasks.

3.1.4.1.14. Support QI/QA/Key Performance Indicator
monitoring and reporting in.conjunction with the
Associate Medical Director.

3.1.4.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative lasks required by the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense ̂tracking, time

'  attestations, and compliance monitoring.
-03
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3.1.4.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assjgned.

3:2. Additional Requirenients- Service Area #2 .

3.2.1. For all non-urgent medical consult requests. Contractor Personnel
shall review and issue either an approval or an alternative treatment
recommendation within the next business day (non-holiday or
weekend) of a non-urgent consult request being made. .

3.2.2. The Contractor shall act upon all urgent and/or emergent medical
consult requests within one (1) hour of a consult request being made.

3.2.3. The-"Contractor shall cprnplete a history and physical (H&P) for all
patients within 24 hours of admission, and every 30 days thereafter;
W patients with a length of stay (LOS) greater than 30 days at NHH
and NHFH.

3.2.4. The Contractor shall ensure provider staff provide on-call. after-hours
coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure on-call physician services
are available-24 hours per day, 7 days per vyeek. For the avoidance of
doubt, the parties agree that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor
Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH apd NHFH.

.3.3. Performance Standards and Outcomes - Service Area #2

3.3.1. The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all times to mitigate any
■  impact on the number of beds available and interrupted admissions

^  due to the lack of staffing coverage.

3.4. Key Performance Indicators - Service Area #2

;3'.4.1. the Contractor shall ensure, providers comply with the following Key
Performance Indicators:

3.4.1.1. Progress Notes

3.4.1:1.1. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

3.4.1.1.2. Content as it pertains to:

3.4.1.1.2.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'

policies; and

3.4.1.1.2.2. NHH and NHFH policies arid
procedures. •

3.4.1:2. Standardized Process

3.4.1.2.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the. goal of
reducing variation in care,

OS
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3.4.1;2.2. Individual metrics are developed baised on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

:3.4.1.3. Treatment Plans

'3.4.i3.1. Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

3.4.1.3.2. Performance hieasufed by random mbhthly
audits which are provided to the Utilization
Management Committee.

3.4.1.3.3. Content as it pertains to;

3.4.1.3.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for - NHH and their associates'
policies; and

3.4;13.3.;2. Department policies and
procedures,

3.4.1.4. Annual Reviews

"  3.4.1.4.1.. Annual reviews are documented on all Contractor;
Personnel performing services under this
Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure

. performance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines.

3.4.2. -IJpon: request by the Department, the Contractor shall identify
additional performance metrics, develop performance goals, establish
monitoring processes and engage in collaborative perforrnance
evaluation processes for Service Area #2.

3.5. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan - Service Area #2

3.5.1. The ppntractpr shajl submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as^required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum:'

3.5.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH and NHFH beds
at full utilization;

3.5.1.2. Ensuring the Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision
and training to perform the assigned tasks;

3.5.1.3. Ensuring that patjents receive care consistent with evidence-
based care; and

3.5.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practicg^ to
protect the safety of palierits, staff, and visitors. j
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-3.5.2. The Cohtfactor.shall ensure the Gene/al Medical Director monitors
progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
:Mpnitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and a representative
of the Contractor on a .quarterly basis.

3.5.3. The Contractor-shajl ensure the General Medical Directpr'rneets with,
.the CEO and Contractor on a quarteriy basis to review progress toward
'Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well as Key

V  Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 3.4. above.

3.5.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the General Medical
Director toward these Quality Assurance and Monitoring.goals.-

3;5.5., In consultant with the CEO, the-Contractor shall review and revise the
Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan on an annual basis, br as"
otherwise' requested by the Department.

4. Additional Requirements-All Service Areas

4.1. Subject to Section 4:3, the' Contractor shall ensure all assignments for all
staffing positions are covered on a daily basis, and, if providing staff to NHH
and NHFH, are responsible for reporting out On staffing assignments during
daily safety huddles at NHH and NHFH.

4.2. The'Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are continuously
filled or in active recruitment. The Contractor shall provide the appropriate
Department designee with monthly updates on the recruitment process for all
unfilled positions.

4.3. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing, at no additional cost
to the Department, qualified, sufficient staff coverage to fill any gap In coverage,
during.any anticipated leave tirne, including sick leave, vacation, or continuing
medical education • leave lasting more than five (5) consecutive days unless
otherwise agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the CEO, and for providing
appropriate transition between staff covering for those on leave. Qualified
sufficient staff coverage means personnel who meet or exceed the
qualifications pf-the vacating staff member.

4.4. The Contractor shall track and report staffing levels by FTE units on a monthly
basis to the Department. The'Contractor shall not be required to provide hourly
timecards for clinical staff. The Contractor shall provide hourly timecards for
nbri-clinical staff that summarize hours worked for each invoicing period.

4.5. . The'Contractor shall ensure the care needs of patients are fully addressed by
modifying the number of hours per \Veek worked by FTE and/or Part-Time FTE
staff, .as requested by the Department. The Contractor shall ensure Part-Time
FTE staff work the appropriate number of hours iii accordance with FTE
allocation.

/  08.

'■gJAl/U.
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4.6. In the event of a healthcare system emergency, as determined by the'
Department, including but not limited to a local epidemic, pandemic, facility
closures, or mass-quarantine in which additional staffing or resources are
required due to a surge of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may
also be required to adjust the total number of staff, both full-tjme and part-time,
to, fully address.the care needs of patients.

4.7. All personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to approval by the
Department prior to notifying candidates of assignment or hire.The Department
will inform the Contactor of any. applicable Department desigriee for this
purpose per;Service Area or position.

4.8. The Department, at its sole discretion, may rescind, either permanently or
temporarily, its approval of any Contractor Personnel ,providing any services for
any of the following reasons:

4.8.1. Suspension, revocation or other loss of a required license, certiflcatioh
or other contractual requirement to perform such services under the
contract;

I  4.,8,.2. Provision of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
■ misfeasance, insubordination or failure to satisfactorily provide
required services;

4.8.3. Arrest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or alcohol
related offense;

•4.8:4. Abolition of the role due to a change In organizational .structure, lack
of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

(

4.8.5. Any other reason that includes, but is not limited, to: misconduct;
violation of Department policy; violation of state or federal laws arid
regulations pertaining to the applicable Department service area; or.a
determination made by the Department that the individual presents a.
risk to the health and safety of any staff member or any individual
served by the Pepart.ment.

4.9. In the event of such rescission, the Department shall, to the extent possible,
provide the Contractor with reasonable advanced notice and the applicable
reason. The Contractor shall ensure the applicable staff member(s) are
prohibited from providing services for the period of time that the Department
exercises this right. No additional payments will be paid by the State of New
Hampshire for any staff rehioved froni duty by the Department for any reason.-
The Contractor:

4.9.1. Shall, unless the Contractor Personnel was removed from providing
services under Section 4.8.4, provide replacement personnel who
meet all of the applicabje requirements under the contract, including

■  ■'
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but not limited to being subject to Department approval specified in
4.7.;

4.-9.2. Shall be responsible for providing transition services to the applicable
Service Area to avoid the interruption of services and administrative
responsibilities at no additional cost to the Department;

4.9.3. Shall furnish replacement staff, within ten (10) business days, who
meet all of the requirements for the applicable position under the
resulting contract(s) if the duration of a temporarily rescirided'apprpval
is greater than seven (7) calendar days. The Contractor shall be
informed by the Department the anticipated duration for which
approval will remain rescinded. The Contractor shall be responsible
for providing, .at no additional cost to the Department, transition
services to the Department to avoid service.interruption;

4.9.4. May initiate, at the sole discretion of the Contractor, any internal
personnel actions against its own employees. Nothing herein prohibits
the" Contractor from seeking information from the Department
regarding the Department's decision, unless information is othenvise
restricted from disclosure by the Department based on internal
Departrtient policies or rules, State of New Hampshire personnel
policies, rules, collective bargaining agreements, or other state or
federal laws.

4.9.5. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing the applicable
services for the applicable Department service area or facility, all

\  required licenses, certifications, privileges, or other specified minimum
qualifications are met for all staff, and where applicable, are
maintained throughout the provision of services for the.full term of the
Contract. The Contractor shall provide the applicable Department
designee with a copy of all docurhents. The Contractor shall not hold
the Department ftnariclally liable for any fees or costs for any licenses,
certifications or renewal of same, nor for any fees or costs incurred for
providing copies of said, licenses or certifications.

4.9.6. In addition to any approvals required by the Contractor for employees,
,  the Contractor shall ensure staff provide timely, prior notification to the

applicable Department designee for any anticipated leave tjme, unless
othenvise slated herein for a specific position or service area. The
Contractor shall ensure that all staff provided have a standard amount
of vacation and sick time, subject to the normal and customary
employee benefits and policies of the Contractor. However, the
Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the State holiday schedule.

4.10. The Contractor shall ensure annual performance reviews are cornpleted for ail
Contractor Personnel. The Contractor shall incorporate feedback fr^athe

1
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applicable Departmentdesignee for such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure
that goal development is responsive to the evolving needs.of the Departrhent
over.the course of the contract period.

.  4.11. The Contractor-shali be responsible for managing all employee relations and
performance'management issues for the staff provided, in accordance with;the
Contractor's policies and procedureSj Medical Service Organization (MSG) by
laws, and applicable NHH, NHFH, Glencliff Home, and/or State of New
Hampshire .policies.

. 4:12. Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel provided
undergo the following criminal background, registry, screening and medical
examinations:

4.12;1. Criminal Background (including New Hampshire criminal
background):

4.12.2. Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services State Registry:

4.12.3. Division for Children, Youth and Families Central Registry; and .

4.12.4. 'Physical capacity examination.

4.13. The Contractor shall ensure Contractor Personnel assigned to perform
services under ..the Agreement comply with all Department requirements,
policies, and procedures relative to infection prevention, mitigation, and control
to mitigate the, risks of disease transhijssion prior to the corrirrtencement of
services.

4.14. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry, screening
and medical examinations above are kept current as required and in
accordance with the Department's confidentiality policy; the Department
receives copies of all required documentation prior to the commencement of
services and is not responsible for any costs incurred in obtaining the
documentation.

4.15. The Contractor shall not utilize any personnel, including subcontractors, to fulfill
the obligations of the contract, who have been convicted of any prime of
dishonesty, .including but not limited to criminal fraud, or othenvise convicted of
any felony or misdemeanor offehse for which incarceration for up to one (1)
year is an authorized penalty. The Contractor shall initiate a criminal
background check re4nvestigation of all personnel provided every five (5)
years. The .Contractor shall ensure the five (5) year period is based on the date
of the last criminal background check conducted by the Contractor of their
agents.,

5. State-Owned Devices, Systems and Network Usage

r—09
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5.1. Contractor personnel must use a state-issued device, including, not limited to
computers,, tablets, or mobile telephones, in the fulfilling the requirements of
the contract. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel:

5.1:1. Use the information that they have permission to access solely for the
provision of services hereunder or conducting official state business.
All other use or access is strictly forbidden Including, but not limited, to
personal or other private and non-State use, and that at no time shall,
except as necessary to provide, services hereunder, Contractor
workforce or agerits access or attempt to access information without
having the express authority of the Department to do so;

5.1.2. Not access or attempt to access information in a manner inconsistent
with the approved policies, procedures, and/or agreement relating to

.  - system entry/access;

5.1.3. Not copy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse engineer,
rent, or sell software licensed,: developed, or being evaluated by the
state:. At airtimes the Contractor must use utmost care to protect and
keep such software strictly confidential in accordance with the license
or any other agreernent executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State of New
Hampshire can be used by the Contractor. Non-standard software
shall not be installed on any equipment unless authorized by the
Department's Inforrhation Security Office;

5.1.4. Agree that email and other electronic communication messages
created, sent, and received on a state-issued email system are the
-property of the State of New Hampshire and to be used for business
purposes only. Email is defined .as "internal email systems" or "state-
.funded email systems." The Contractor understands and agrees that
use. of email shall follow Department and State of New Hampshire
standard policies; and

5.1.5. Use the internet ahd/pr Intranet for access to and distribution of
information in direct support of the business of the State of New
-Hampshire according to policy of the Department. At no time should
the internet be used for personal use.

6, Exhibits Incorporated

6.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Information in
compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Ihformatio.n (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in
accordance with'the attached Exhibit I, B.usiness Associate Agreement,, which
has been executed by the parties.

f  08 .
6.2-. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agre€
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a^rdance , with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security
^Requirements.

6,3. The Gontractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and incorpor'ated by reference herein.

7. Reporting Requirements

7.1. Service Area #1

7.1.1. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more.frequehtly required by the
United Btates bepaiiment of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written'report, in
a form specified by the Departrhent, to the Department .documenting
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicaid, and other
third-party providers.

7.1.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report oh ah annual
basis to the Department that describes the services rendered by the
clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's performance pursuant to the
requirements of the contract during the preceding contract year.

7.2. Service Area #2

7.2.-1. On a quarterly basis,,pi" as othenvise more frequently required by the.
United States Departrherif.of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Gontractor shall submit a written report, in
a form specified by the Department, to the Department documenting
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to,
satisfy the'reporting requirements of Medicare. Medicajd, arid other
third-party providers.

1.22. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual
basis to the Departrnent that describes- the services provided by the
General Medical Director ahd clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's
performance pursuant to this Agreement during the preceding contract
year.

7.3. AM Service Areas

7.3.1. The Contractor shall provide monthly staff reports to the Department
to sufficieritly document actual staffing levels and services rendered.
Monthly staff reports shall include the following:

7;3.1.1. Monthly staffing schedule;

7.3.1.2. PTE by positibn in accordance with the resulting contractors);
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7.3.1.3. Actual 'PTE worked within the monthly reporting period by
clinical position; and

7.3.1.4. Actual PTE allocated to sick time, leave time, or'any other
npn-clinical time, within the monthly reporting period by clinical
position!

8. Additional Terms

8.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes

8.1.1. The Contraictor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal
legislation or court, orders may have an impact on the Services
described herein, the State of New Hampshire has the right to modify -
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement
so .as to achieve compliance therewith. In the event that any future
-State or federal legislation or court order impacts the Services
described herein, "the Department shall provide the Contractor with
reasonable advanced notice of any necessary modification to Service
priorities and expenditure requirements. The parties agree to
Cooperate in the implementation and planning of any such
modification and the Department shall consider Goritractor's
reasonable requests with respect to such modifications.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Department shall retain the final
right to modify Service priorities and expenditure requiferrients undef
this Agreement so as to achieve corripliance with any future, state or
federal legislation or court orders that.have an impact on the Services
described herein.

:8.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

8.2'.1. Alf documents, notices, press, releases, research reports^ and. other
rhaterials related to and resulting from the performance^ of the
services of the Agreement shall include the following statement, "The
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an
Contfact with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and
Human Services, with funds provided .in part by the State of New
Harnpshire and/or sUch other funding sources as were-available, or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human
Services."

8.2.2. All materials produced or purchased under the Agreerhent shall have
prior approval from the Department iDefore printing, ■ production,
distribution or Use.

8.2.3. The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any. and all
original materials produced, including, but not liniited to:

8.2.3.1. Bro'chures. r—
■e^m.
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8.2.3.2. Resource directories.

8.2.3.3'. Protocols or guidelines.

8.2.3.4. Posters.

8.2.3.5. Reports.

8.2.4. The Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the
Agreement without prior written approval from the Department.

8.3. Eligibility Determinations ^

:8.3.1, If the Contractor is permitted and required by the Department to
determine the eligibility of individuals such eligibility determination
shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and state laws,
regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures,

8.3.2. Eligibility detefmiriations shall be riiade on forms provided by the
Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such .
times as are prescribed by the Department.

8.3.3, In addition4o the determination forrhs required by the Departnient, the
Contractor shall rnaintain a data file on each recipient of services
hereunder, which file shall include all information necessary to
support an eligibility determination ahd such other information as the
Department requests in writing. The Contractor shall furnish the
Department with all forms and documentation regarding eligibility
determinations that the Department may request or require.

■8.3.4. The . Contractor understands that all applicants; for services
hereunder, as well as individuals declared ineligible have a fight to a
fair hearing regarding that determination. The Contractor hereby
covenants , a.nd agrees that all appljcants for services shall be
permitted to fill out an application form and that each applicant or re-
applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair hearing in
accordance with Department regulations.

9. Records

9.1. The Cpntractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:
9.1.1. Books, records; documents, and other electronic or physical data

evidencing and reflecting all costs.and other expenses incurred byfhe
Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, and all income
received of collected by the Contractor.

>  9.1.2. All records must be maintained in accordance with , accounting
procedures ahd practices, which sufficiently and properly feflect all such
costs arid expenses, and which are acceptable, to the Department, and
to. include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, arid^girial

I €j'WU.
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evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of in-kind contributions,
labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by
the Department.

10. Liquidated Damages

10.1. Liquidated damages are specified in, and may be assessed in accordance with,
Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.
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Payment Terms

This Agreement is funded by:

1.1. 42% General funds,

i .2. 58% Other funds (Provider Fees).

For the purposes of this Agreement:

2.1. The Department has identified the Contractor as a Contractor, in
accordance with 2 CFR 200.331.

2.2. The Department has identified this Agreement as NON-Fl&D, in
accordance with .2 CFR §200.332.

The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the
Budget below per applicable Service Area and State Fiscal Year. The
Ccntractor.shall be cbmpehsated to provide and deliver the seivices described
in Exhibit B.-Scppe of Services, on the basis of this Budget.

Budget '

Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year
Service

Area #1
1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-
6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$5,396,232 . $  11,964.355 $  12,323,286 $  12,692,985 $  13,073,774

Service

Area #2

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026 .

$ 558,392 $' 1,150,288 ■$ 1,184,796 $  1,220,340 $  1,256,950

3.1. The Contractor shall provide the-Department within each Service Area
a detailed personnel listing for all staff performing services on an annual
basis for each State Fiscal Year, or more frequently as required by the
Department, to ensure the accuracy of information contained therein
and proper cost allocation. The Contractor shall ensure the listihgs:
3.1.1. Include information for each Service Area which includes, but is

not limited to:

3,.1.1.1. Staff names.

3.1.1.2. Staff titles.

3.1.1.3., Personnel costs inclusive of salary costs, fringe
benefit costs, and indirect rates.

3.1.2.' Are in a format as determined and approved by the DepadJnent.

[ tiMi
3/2/2022
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3.2. The Contractor shall autpmatically reduce invoices by the appropriate
amount immediately in the event a Contractor Personnel ppsition
becomes vacant, and is not immediately filled.. The Contractor can use
temporary staffing to fill a position until a permanent staff member is
identified.

3.3. The Contractor shall ensure all providers" and/or clinical staff are fully
credentialed and enrolled with insurance carriers prior to beginning
work.

314. The Contractor shall bill for eaclTService Area separately:

4. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the Department
by the twehtieth (20th) working day of the following month, which identifies.and
.requests reimbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior month,
with the exception of June invoices, which,shall be submitted by the tenth (10^'^)
of the following month The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed,
dated and .returned to the Department in order to Initiate payment-.

;5.. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and
emailed to NHHFinahcialServices@dhh's.nh.qov. or invoices may be mailed to:

Financial Manager
Department of Health and Human Services
New Hampshire Hospital
121,S6uth Fruit Street

Concord,-NH 03301

,6. The Department shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days
•of receipt of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice and
if sufficient funds are available, subject to. Paragraph 4 of the General
Provisions Form Number P-37 of this Agreement.

7. The Contractor shall desigrfate a contact person to resolve, any questions or
discrepancies regarding invoices. The Contractorshall:

7.1: Provide the Department with the name, title, telephone number, fax
number and email address of the contact-person.

7.2. Notify the Department in the event the designated contact person
changes.

8. The final invoice shall be due to the Department no later thari forty,(40) days
after the contract completion date .specified in Form P-37, General. Provisions
Block 1.7 Completion bate:

9; The Contractor'must provide fhe services in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, in
compliance vyith any funding requirerhents provided by the Department to
Cohtractor In writing.

D8
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I.0. The Contractor agrees that funding under this Agreement may be withheld, in
whole or in part in the event of non-compliance with the terms and conditions
of Exhibit B, Scope of Services.

II. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that
funding under this agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, in the event
of non-compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable
to the services provided, or if the said services or products have-not been

■  satisfactorily completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
agreement.

12. Notwithstanding'Paragraph 17 of the General Provisions Form P-37, changes
limited to -adjusting arhounts within the price limitation and adjusting
encumbrances between State Fiscal Years and budget class lines through the
Budget Office may be made by wrjtten agreement of both parties, without
obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council, if needed and
justified.

13. Audits

'13.1 The Contractor must email an annual audit to
melissa.s.morinfa>dhhs.nh.qov if any of the following conditions exist:

13.1.1. Condition A - The Contractor expended $750,000 or more in
federal funds received as.a.subrecipient pursuant to 2 CFR Part
200, during the most recently completed fiscal year.

T3.1.2.-.Condition B - The Contractor is subject to audit pursuant to the
requirements of NH RSA 7:28, lll-b, pertaining to charitable
organizations receiving support of $1.000,000 or rhore.

13.1.3. Condition C - The Contractor is a public company and required
by Security arid Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations to
submit an annual financial audit.

13.2. If Coridition A exists, the Contractor shall submit an annual single audit
performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant (CPA) to the
Department within 30 days after the completion of the single audit or

.upon submission of the Contractor's single audit to the Federal Audit
Clearinghouse Conducted in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR
Part 200, Subpart F Of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirerrients for Federal awards.

13.3. If Condition B or Condition C exists, the Contractor shall eubmit an
annual financial audit performed by an independent CPA within 120
days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal year.

■13.4. In addition to, and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the
Contract, it is understood and agreed by the Contractor that the
Contractor shall be held liable for any state or federal audit excebftons[
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and shall return to the Department all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken, or which have^ been:

■  disallowed because of such an exception.

14. Liquidated Damages;

14.1. Continuity of Services:

14.1.1. The Contractor and Department agree that the Contractor's
failure to provide required staffing, required services, or meet
the performance standards and reporting requirements as
.described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, shall result in
liquidated damages.

14.1.2. The Contractor and the Department agree that:

14.1.2.1. It will be extremely impracticable and difficult to
determine actual damages that the Department will
sustain in the event that the Contractor lifeaches this
Agreement by falling to maintain the required staffing
levels or by failing to deliver the required services, as
described in Exhibit 8, Scope of Services;

14.1.2.2. Any such breach by the Contractor will delay and
disrupt the Department's operations and impact its
ability to meet its obligations and lead to significant
damages of an uncertain arnount as well as a
reduction of services; and

14.1.2.3. The liquidated damages as specified in this Exhibit C.
Payment Terms, are reasonable and fair and not-
intended as a penalty.

14.2. Notification:,

14.2.1. The Department shall make all assessments of liquidated
. damages.- Prior to the imposition of liquidated damages, as
described herein, the Department shall issue a written notice of
remedies that will include, as applicable, the following;

14.2.1.1. A citation of the contract provision violated;

14.2.1.2. The remedies to be applied, and the date the
remedies shall be imposed (cure period) for the
Contractor to remedy such failure. A reasonable cure
.period will be determined by the Departrnent based
on service type, and to the extent possible, the notice
will not be less than 30 days;

14.2.1.3. The basis for the Department's determination .that the
remedies shall be imposed; /—"
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14.2.1.4. A request for a written Corrective Action Plan from
the Contractor below; and

14.2.1.5. The timeframe and procedure for the/Contractor to
. dispute the Department's determination.

14.2.2. The Contractor shall submit the written Corrective Action Plan
■referenced in Subparagfaph 14.2.1.4 above to the Department
for review within five (5) business days of receiving notification
as specified In Subsection 14.2. Notification.

14.2.3. The Contractor agrees that the Corrective Action Plan is subject
to the Department's approval prior to' its implementation.

14.2.4. No liquidated damages will be assessed against Contractor if
the parties have agreed to a Corrective Action Plan and the
Contractor is in compliance with .the terms of the Corrective
Action Plan.

14.2.5. If .the failure to . perform by the Contractor is not re'solved within
■  the cure period as specified in the Corrective Action Plan, .as

approved by the .Department,- liquidated damages may be
imposed retroactively to the date of failure to perform and will
continue until the failure is cured or any resulting dispute is
resolved in the Contractor's favor.

14.2.6. The,Contractor's dispute of liquidated damages or remedies
shall not stay the effective date of the proposed liquidated
damages.or remedies. "

14.3. Liquidated Damages:

14:3.1. Liquidated damages, if assessed/shall be in the amount of
$1,00.0 per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet the
general and specific SeiVice requirements for-each Service
Area as identified iri Exhibit B, Scope of Services.

14.3.2. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be In the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor-fails to meet and .
maintain the staffing levels identified in Exhibit B, Scope of
Services.

\

14.3.3. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of
$1,0pp per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet the
performance standards identified 'in Exhibit B, S.cope of
Services.

14.3.4. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in. the amount of
$1,000 per;day for each day the Contractor fajls to meet the
reporting requirements' identified in Exhibit B, ScQ£\g of
Services.
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14.3.5. Liquidated damages; if assessed, shaii appiy until the
Contractor cures the failure cited in the notification described in

Subsection 14.2, or until the resulting dispute is resolved in the
Contractor's favor.

14.3.6. The amount of liquidated damages assessed by the
Department shall hot exceed the price limitation in Form P-37,
General Provisions, Block 1.8 - Price Limitation.

14.3.7. During the term of this Agreement and the period for retention
hereunder, the Department, the United States Departriheht of
Health and Human Services, and any of their .designated
representatives shall have access to all reports and records
maintained pursuant to the Agreement for purposes of audit,
examination, excerpts and transcripts. Upon the purchase by
the Department of the maximum number of units provided for" jn
the Agreement and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Agreement and all the obligations of the parties
hereunder (except such obligations as, by the terms of the
Agreement are to be performed after the end of the term of this
Agreement and/or survive the termination -of the Agreernent)
shall terminate; provided however, that if, upon revievi/ of the
Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any
expenses claimed,by the Contractor as costs hereunder the
Department shall retain the right, at its,discfetioh, to deduct the
amount of such expenses as are disallowed or to recover such
sums from the Contractor.

14.4, AssessrfTBnt:

14.4.1. The Department shall be entitled to assess and recover
liquidated damages cumulatively under each section applicable
to any given incident.

14.4.2. Assessment and recovery of liquidated damages by the
Department shall be in addition to, and not exclusive of, any
other remedies, including actual damages, as may be available
to the Department for breach of contract, both at law and in
equity, and shall not preclude the Department from recovering
damages related to other acts or omissions by the Contractor
under this Agreernent. Imposition of liquidated damages shaii
not limit the right of the Department to terrninate the Contract
for default as provided in Paragraph 8 of the General Provisions
(P-37).

14-5. Damages Related to Failure to Document Medical Necessity:

— D$

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH^1 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hosf^tal Contfactor Inllials-
3/2/2022
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14;5.1. The Contractor shall be liable to the Department for any losses
incurred by the Department which arise out of the failure of
Contractor staff to provide the required documentation to
support medical necessity as identified in ■ Exhibit B, Scope of
Services.

■eiiMi
RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mary Hllchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Subtitle D; 41 '
U;S.C. .701 et saq.). and further agrees to have.the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

ALTERNATIVE I - FQR GRANTEES OJHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE -^CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections'5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690. Title V, Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 elseq.). The Janua'rV 31.
1989 regulations Were amended and published as Part II of the May 25,1990 Federal Register (pages
2,1681-21691), and require'certificaticn by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference^.sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below Is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debafment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
'  129 Pleasant Street,

Concord, NH 03301-6505

1. The grantee certifies that it will Or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1.. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution.

.  dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance Is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace arid specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The dangers Of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseliiig. rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring in the workplace;
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
1.4. Notifying the employee in the staternent required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

ernployment under the grant, .the employee Will
1.4.1. Abide-by the terms of the statement; and
1:4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or herconviction .for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than .five calendar days after such
conviction; '

1.5. Notifying the agency in'writing, within ten calendar days after receivirig notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice. Including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency

'  ' ' D8

€Jaui<.
Exhibit D - Cerilflcation regarding Drug Free Vendor Initials-^

Workplace Requiremenls 3/2/2022
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has designated a central point forthe recelpt of such notices. Notice shaii include the
identification number{s) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within SO-calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagrajjh 1.4.2, with respect to any employee who is'so convicted
1.6.1. Taking.appropriate personnel action against such.ah employee, up to arid including

" termination, consistent with the requirernents of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as'
amended; or ^ .

1:6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by;a.Federal, State, or local health,
-law ehfofcement, of other appropriate agency;

17. Making a good,faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
imptementation of paragraphs 1.1, 1.2,1.3,1.4,1.5, and 1.6.

2, the grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in'
connection with the.specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state,'zip code) (list each location)

Check p if there "are workplaces on file that are not identified-here.

3/2/2022

Date

Vendor Name:

OoeuSJflMd by;

-J, /UtKVUA,S) /WP
Narne!*^^''^^^'^ • Merrens, MD
Title, chief clinical officer

CU/DHHS/n0713

Exhifiii D - CcrtJnMtioh.regarding Drug Free
Workplace Requirements
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iCERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

>

The Vendor identified in Section 1 .-3 of the, General Provisions.agrees to comply with the provisidhs of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as Identified in Sections 1.11
and 1 .,12.of the Gerierai Provisions execute the foildwing Certificatlbn:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN.SERVfCES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRiCULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered);
•Temporary Assistance to. Needy Families under Title iV-A.
•Child Support Enforcement Program.under'Title iV-D
•Social Services Block Grant Prograrn.'uhder Title XX.
•Medicaid Program under Title XIX
•Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
•Child Care Development Block Grant under title IV

The undersigned .certifies, to the best of his or her knovvledge and,belief. that:

1, No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will.be paid.'by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencinger attempting to Jhfluencean officer or ernployee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection'wilh the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention-
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2, If any funds btherthan FederaLappfopriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to'inf!uence''an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an pffjceror employee of Congress, or an-employee of a Mernber Of Congress in connection wjth this
Federal contract, grant, loan,-or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-granlee or sub
contractor). the. undersigned shall.complete and subrriit .Standard Form ILL, (Disclosure Form to
Report.Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and identified as Standard ExhibitjE-L)

3, The undersigned shall require that the language of .this certification be included in the award
document for sub-awards abal! tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants.,bnd contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a rnaterial representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when.this. transaction
was made Or .entered into; Submission of this, certification is. a prerequisite for making or .entering into this,
transaction, Imposed by Section 1352,. Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails tp file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 .and not more than $100,000 for
each such,failure.

Vendor Name:

-OocuSlgn«d by;

3/2/2022 J. /WtVuS;, AiP
Date . Merrens, md

chief cilinical Officer

ExhibilE T Certiflcatlon Regarcling Lobbying Vendor Initials^ ■' ' '' .
3/2/2022

awjHi^iio7i3 Page 1 of 1' Date



Docusign Envelope ID: 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

OocuSign Envelope ID: 63AB1D76-4DC2-4148-A2F2-C92ED59C67E9

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit F

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Contractor identified in Section i .3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the,President, Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment,
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees .to have the Contractor's
representative, as'identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute, the following"
Certification: ' ■>

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract).- the prospective primary participant is providing the

certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required belovy will hot riecessarily result in dehial
of participation.in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
deterrhinatibn whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person.from participation in
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance vyas placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If itis later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an-erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to'the Federal Government, DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective prihiary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the.DHHS agency to
whom this prpppsal (contract) is submitted if at any time, the prospective primary participant learns
that its certificatioh was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reaspn of changed,
circumstances.

5. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended,-" "ineligible," "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal." and
"vbluritarily excluded," as used,in this,clause, have, the meanings set out in the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules irnplementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions;

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into. It shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation In this covered transaction, unless authorized.by DHHS:

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by DHHS, without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and ih.all solicitations for lower .tier covered transactions.

'8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eliglbility of its principals. Each
participant may, but is not fequired to, check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

-9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be.construed to.require establishmentof a system of records
jn order to render in good faith the certificatioh required by this clause. The knowledge andf^"andf

N
Exhibit F - Certification Regarding Debarment,-Suspension Cpntraclor lnltials

And,Other Responsibility Matters 3/2/2022
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information of a participant is hot required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent
person In the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, If a participant in a
covered transacyon knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from parUcipation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS
11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and Its

principals:
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed fordebarment, declared Ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have not .within a three-yearperiod preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local)
-trahsaclion or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or.State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property:

i 1.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governrriental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
•of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this appiicatjon/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default.

12. yVhere the prospective primary participant is unable to cerbfy to any of the statemerits in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined ih.45 CFR Part 76, certifies tO the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:
1,3.1,. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

yoiuntariiy excluded from participation In this transaction by any federal department or agency.
13.2, where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the aboye. such

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The;prospectiv0 lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment,.Suspension, Iheligibllity, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions." without modification in.ail lower tier covered.
transactions and In all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name:

Oo6u9igr>»d by:

J. Alp3/2/2022

Date 3. Merrens, md

Chief Clinical Officer

■DS

■gJ/k/U.
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CERTiFlCATION OF COMPLIANCE WiTH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Contractor identi^ed in Section'1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
.certification;

Contractor will comply, and will require any subgrahtees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimination requirements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either In employment practices'or in
the delivei^ of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

- the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 20.02 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference" the civil, rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act". Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discrirtiiriating, either in employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity);

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of ■
services or benefits, in any program or activity;

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities In employment. State and locat
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

-the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C.'Sections 1681, 1683,1685-86), which prohibits
di^rimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

- the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimiriatidn on the
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
erriployment discrimination;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice,Regulations - Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. .13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations): Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with "faiih-based and neighborhood organizations;

-28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S..Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whlstleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2, 2013) the Pilot Program-for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees .against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants arid contracts.

The certiflcate.set out below iis a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards'the grant. Fajse certification or violation of the cert'rilcation shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, susperisiph or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.

Ext^ibit G

Contractor Initials
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j

In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administralive agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a Copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Contractor Identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as Identified In Sections. 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

s

1. By signing and sul?mitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above. . .

Contractor Name:

^OoeuSlgo#<J by:

3/2/2022

D^ti '3. Merr.ens, md

Chief Clinical Officer

ExhIbU G
/  Contractor. Initials

CenfcaUon o< CompllanM with r«<)ulr«m«nts pwiainlno to Fodoral NondiicrimlnBtidn. Equal Trastmani 61 raith-aased OtoawaUons
and VAdsMdoww protactlons

onvu - : , • 3/2/2022
R«». 1021/14 Page? of 2 Dale



Docuslgn Envelope ID; 8CD2D319-8143-4FE2-B740-21E8B91E595F

DocuSIgn Envelope ID: E3AB1D76-4DC2-4148-A2F2.C92ED59C67E9

•New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit H

CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE.

Public'Law 103-227, Part 0 - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known'as the Prb-Childreh Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoOr facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library service's to children under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State,or Ibcargovernments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law doe's not apply to .children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for Inpatjent drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisioris of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary perialty of up to
S1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

i

The Contractorldentified in Section I.S of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
.representative as identified in Section, 1.11 and 1 .'12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certificatibh:

1. By signing and submitting this .contract, the" Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all, applicable provisions o.f Public. Law 103-227, Part C, known, as the Pro-Children" Act of 1994.

Contractor Name;

-'DecuSlgn«d by;

3/2/2022 J. Alp
Date Name: taward "7. Merrens, md

Chief clinical officer

^JAiAi
ExhibitH-Certificatidh Regarding Cdntractof inltials^ ■■
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BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

the Contractor idenped in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement (Forrn R-37)
("Agreement") agrees, as a Business Associate, to comply with; the Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability.Act. Public Law 104-191, the Standards for Privacy and Security of
hdividuaily Identifiable Health information, 45 QFR Parts 160,162, and 164 (HiPAA),
provisions of the HITECH Act, Title Xill, Subtitle D, Parts 1&2 of the American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act of 2009, 42 USC 17934, et sec;, applicable to business associates, and as
applicable, to be bbund by the provisions of the Confidentiality of Substance Use' Disorder
Patient Records, 42 USC s. 290 dd-2, 42 CFR Part 2, (Part 2), as any may be amended from
time tp_ time.

(1) Definitions.

a. "Business Associate" shall mean" the Contractor and its agents who receive, use, or have
access to protected health information (PHI) as defined in this Business Associate.
Agreement-fBAA") and the Agreerhent, and "Covered Entity" shall mean the State of New
Hampshire; Department,of Health and Human Services.

b. The following terms.haveIhe sarne meaningas defined in HiPAA, the HITECH Act, and
Part 2, as they rnay be amended from time to time:

' "Breach," "Covered Entity," "Designated Record Set," "Data Aggregation,"
Designated Record Set," Health Care Operations," HITECH Act," "Individual,"
"Privacy Rule," "R^uired by law," "Security Rule," and "Secretary."

c. "Protected Health Information" ("PHI") as used in this Agreement means protected health
information defined in HiPAA,45 CFR 160.103, limited to the information created, received,
or used by Business-Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity, and includes any Part
2 records relating to. substance use disorder, if.applicable, as defined below.

d. "Part 2 record" means any patient "Record," relating to a "Patjent," and "Patient identifying
information," as defined in 42 CFR Part 2.11.

e. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means protected health information that is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health Information unusable,,
unreadable, or Indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain, store, or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHfj except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outiinedU/i&er
Exhibit^ B, Scope of Services, of the Agreement. Further. Business Associate, ir

• Exhibit I Contractor initials V , i .

Health irtsurencc Portability Act
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but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees, and agents, shall protect any PHI as
required by HIPPA and 42 CFR Part 2. and not use, disclose, maintain, store, or transmit PHI in
any rnanner that would constitute a violation of HIPAA or 42 CFR Part 2.

b. Business Associate, may use or disclose PHI, as applicable:

I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate:

II. As required by law, pursuant to the terms-set forth in paragraph c. arid d.
below;.

.. III. According to the HiPAA minimum necessary standard; and
IV. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of the Covered

Entity.,

c. To the extent'Business Associate is permitted under the BAA or the Agreement to
disclose PHI to anythird party or subcontractor, prior to making any disclosure, the
Business Associate must obtain, a.business associate agreement with the third party or

■'subcontractor, that complies with HIPAA and ensures that all requirements and
restrictions placed ori the Business Associate as part of this BAA with the Covered Entity,
are included In those business associate agreements with the third parly or subcontractor.

d. The Business.Associate.shall not. disclose any PH| in response to a request or derriand
for disclosure, such as by a subpoena or court Order, on the basis that it is required by
law. without first notifying Covered Entity so that Covered Eritity can deterrriine how to best
protect the PHj. If Covered Entity objects to the disclosure, the Business Associate agrees
to refrain from disclosing the PHI and shall cooperate with the Covered Entity in any effort
the Covered Eritity undertakes to contest.the request for disclosure, subpoena, or other
legal process. If applicable relating to Part 2 records, the Business Associate shall resist
any efforts tp access part,2 records In any judicial proceeding.

(3) Oblioations arid Activities of Business Associate.

a. Business Associate shall implement appropriate safeguards to prevent unauthorized
use or disclosure of all PHI in accordance with HIPAA Privacy Rule and.Security Rule
with regard to electronic PHI, and Part 2, as applicable.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer at
the following email address. DHHSPrivacvOfficer@dhhs.nh.Qov after the Business
.Associate has determined that any use or disclosure not provided for by its contract,
including any known or suspected privacy or security incident or breach has occurred
potentially exposing or compromising the PHI. This includes inadvertent or accidental
uses or disclosures or breaches of unsecured protected health information.

c. In the event of a breach, the Business.Associate shall comply with the terms of this
Business Associate Agreement, all applicable State arid federal laws and regulations
and any additional requirements of the Agreement.

-M

Cxhibltl Contrsctorlnltlals.
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d. The Business Associate shall perform a risk assessrrient, based on the information
available at the time.it. becomes aware of any known or suspected privacy or security
breach as described above and communicate the risk assessment to the Covered
Entity. The risk assessment shall include, l?ut not be limited to:

I. The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identificatipn;

II. The unauthorized person who accessed, used, disclosed, or received the
protected health Information;

Ml. Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed; and
IV; How the risk of loss of confidentiality to the protected health

ihforniatio'n hasbeen mitigated.

e. The Business Associate shall complete a risk assessment report at the conclusion of its
incident or breach investigation and provide the findings in a written report to the
Covered Entity aS soon as practicable after the conclusion of the Business Associate's
investigation.

f. Business Associateshall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created Or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the US Secretary of
Heajth and Human Services for purposes of determining the Business Associate's and
the Covered Eritity's compHance yyith HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, and
Part 2, if applicable.

g. Business Associate shall require all of Its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI uriderthe BAA or the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the
same restrictions and cdndjtions On the use and disclosure of PHI Contained herein,
including the duty to r'eturn or destroy the.PHI as pt'ovided under Section :(3jh, and an
agreement that the Covered Entity shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of
the Business Associate's business associate agreements with Business Associate's
Intended business'associates, yyho will be receiving PHI pursuant to this BAA, with
rights of enforcement and Indemnification from such business associates who shall be
governed by standard provision #13 of this Agreement for the purpose of use and
disclosure of protected health information.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receipt of a \written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall make available during norrnal business hours at its oiffices all
records, books, agreements, policies.and procedures relating to the use anddisclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of ehabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the BAA and the Agreement.

i. Withiri ten (ip) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity; to an individual in order to meet the
fequiferhehts under 45 CFR Section 164.524. /—

I -eim-
Exhibit I Contractof.lnitials
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j. VVithin ten.{1p) business days of receiving a written request from Covered.Entity for an
ameridmeht Of PHI or a record abput an,individual contained In a Designeted Record
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45'CFR Section 164,526.

k. Business Associate shall, document any disclosures of PHI and information felateci to
any disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI In accordance vrith 45 CFR Section
164.528..

I. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available
to.Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its. obligations
to provide.an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 .CFR
Section. 164.5i28.

m. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within fiye (5)
business days"forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. Hp.wever,- if forwarding the
individual's request to Covered Entity sypuld cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the. BusineSs Associate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

n. Within thirty. (30) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from or created or received by the Business Associate in' connectioh with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-ups of'such PHI in any form or
platform.

I. .If return pr destruction.is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has
been otheiwise agreed to in the Agreement, Business Associate shall
contihuefo extend the protections of the Agreement, to such PHl and limit
further uses and disclosures of such PHl to thOse purposes that make ihe
return or destruction infeasible for as long as the Business Associate
maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that
the Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate
shall certify to Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

(4) Obligations of Covered Entitv

a. Covered ,Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limitation(s) in its
Hotjce,of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45.CFR Section
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate
use or disclosure of PHI. A current version of Covered Entity's Notice of Privacyl

ExNbltl Contractbrtnltlals ^

Health Insurance Portsb'l'iv Act ,3/2/2022
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Practices and any changes thereto will be posted on the Covered Entity's website:
https://wvw.dhhs.'nh.Qov/Qos/hiDaa/Dublications.htm .

b; Covered Entlty shall promptiy notifyBuslness Associate of any changes in, or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this BAA, pursuant to 45 CFRSection 164.506
or 45 CFR Section 164.508.

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in.accordance with 45 CFR 164.522,
to the.extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI.

(5) Termination of Acreement for Cause

In addition to Paragraph 9 of the General Provisions {P-37) pf the Agreement, the
Covered Entity rflay immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered Entity's
knowledge of a material breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement. The Covered.Entity may either immediately terminate the Agreernent or
proyide-an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the alleged breach within a
tiitieframe specified by Covered Entity.

(6) Miscellaneous

3- Definitions. Laws, and Reoulatorv References. All laws:and regulations used, herein,
shall refer to those laws and regulations as amended from lime to time. A reference: in

,  the-Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit I. to a Section in HIPAA or 42 Part 2,
rnearis the' Section as in effect or as amended.

•" *' * .

b. Amendment. Covefed' Entity and Business Associate agree, to take such acboh as is
necessary to amend the BAA. from time to time as Is necessary for Covered Entity
and/Or Business Associate to comply with the changes in the requirements of
HIPAA, 42 CFR Part 2 other applicable federal and "state law.

c. Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges'that it has no ownership rights
vyith respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Interpretation. The parties agree that any anibiguity "in the BAA and the Agreement
shall be resolved to permit Covered Entity and the Business Associate to comply with
HIPAA and 42 CFR Part 2.

Exhibkl ContrsdorlntVtais
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e. Seareaation. If any term or condition of this.BAA or the application thereof to any
perspn(s) or Circumstance Is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other teims or
conditions which'dan be given effect without the invalid term or condition;.to this end the.
terms ,and conditions of this Exhibit i are declared severabie.

f  Survival. Provisions in this BAA regarding the use and disclosure of PHI, return "ordestruction of PHI, extensions of the protections.of the BAA In section (3) I, the
defense and indemnificatiori provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
General Provisions (P-37) of the Agreement, shall survive the termination of the B^A

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have" duly executed this Exhibit i.

Department of Health and Human Services

The State
•DocuStOMdby;.•'^DocusteMa Dy:

STgh^W^'bTAtlthorized Representative

Joseph T. caristi

Name of Authorized Representative '

chief Financial officerrNH Hospital Chief Clinical officer

Name of Authorized Repres

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

toi&,afnti>fr.Contractor

Signature of Authorized Representative

Edward J. Merrens, MD "

entative

Title of Authorized Representative

3/2/2022'

Title of Authorized Representative-

3/2/2022

Date: Date

C—DS
ej/u/u.

bhlblt I

Health Insurance P'or'taWllty Act
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r^FRTIFICATIQN REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
"  ̂ ACTfFFATAi COMPUANCE

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees.of individual
Federal grants equarto or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or atter October 1. 2010, to report on
data related to executive,compensation and associated first-tie_rsub-grants;of $25,000 or more. If the-*-
initial awardjs below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result iri a total award equal to or over
$25 000 the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward, and Executive Compensation InformaOon), the
Department of Health .and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
subav/ard'or contract,award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements: (■

"1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award
3. Funding agency
4. NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program number for grants

■ 5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of.the funding action
7. Locatioh.of the entity
0. Principle place of perforrnarice
9. Uniquejdentifier of the. entity (PIJNS'#)
1,(j. Total compensatipfi and harnes of.the top;five executives if: ^:u ''

ioVl .• More than 80% of annual grpss.revenues are.frofn the Federal government, and those
' revenues are greater than $25M annually, and

10.2.-Compensation information is notiaiready available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant.recipients must submit FFATA required data,by theond of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or.award amendment js'made. ' . , .
The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Fundihg Accountability and transparency-Act, Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part lTO (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation information), and.further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative. as identified in iSections 1.11 arid'1.12:of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification: ^
The below name'd Contractor agrees to provide needed informattpn.as putlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human SeiVlces and to corhply with allapplicabjeprovisiphs of the Federal
Financial Abcountabillty and transparency. Act.

Contractor Name;

-OMuSiQnedllyf

3/2/2022 I  j. AunuuSj MJ)
^ • Mehren^. Mb

Date Name.
chief Clinical Officer

Exhibit j - Certification Regarding the. Federal Funding Cpntrsctpr Initials
Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance 3/2/2022
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FORMA

As the Contractor Identified in Section 1.3 of the Gerreral Provisions, I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

/QYLXERHDAQL4

1.. The DUNS number for your entity is;
 •

cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer to.#2 above is NO, stop here

if the ahswer.lo #2 above is YES. please-answer the foiiowing-.

3. Does the public have access to Ta'fa) orTsfd) of mVIecurities
'ESe°Ad ori^SMirS 780(d)) or section 6104 of the internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to#3 above is NO., please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:.

Name:.

Name;,

Narhe:

Name:

Amount:.

Amount:.

Amount:,

Amount:

Amount:

CO/OHHS/H0713

Exhibit J - Certificalioh Rogarbing the Federal Funding
Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance
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A. Definitions

The following terms may be rcnectcd and have the described meaning in this document: ■

1. ''Breach" means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons otlier than authorized users and for an other than authorized
purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable information,
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Iriformation,
"Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of
Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2  "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Inciaent".in section two (-2) ofNMSt Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department
of Commerce.

3. ''Confidential Infpmiation,"'"Confidential Data," or "Data" (as defined in Exhibit K),
rneans all confidential information disclosed by one parly to the other such as all
medical, health, financial, public assistance benefits and personal information
including without limitation, Substance Abuse Treatment Records, Case Recoids,
Protected Health.Information and Personally Identifiable Infonnatioh,

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned, or managed by
the State ofNH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Sendees'(DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted.services
- of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. Tliis information includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Peiaonal Information (PI), Personal Financial Information
(PFI), Federal Tax Infonnation (FTl), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and Confidential information.

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g., contractor's employee, business
associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives DHHS data or
derivative data in accordance with the tenns of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and
ihe regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. "Ihcidcnt" means ah act that potentially violates a security policy, which includes
successful attempts) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted
disfuDtion or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the processmg>*)r

I
Exhibit K Cbntractorlnilials.:
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storage of data; and changes to system hardware, firmware, or software
characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent. Incidents
include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss or misplacement of
hardcopy documents,.and misrouting of physical .or electronic documents or mail.

7. "Open Wireless Network" means, any network or segment of a netvvork that is
not designated by the "Stale of New Harnpshi.re's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a,protected network- (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered a:n open network and not
adequately-secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI, PHIpr*.-^
confidential DHHS data. /

.8. "Perspnal Information" (or "PI") means inforination which can be used to distinguish
or tracc an individual's 'identity, such as their name, social security number, personal
information as defmcd in New'Hampshire.RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc.,
alone, or when combined with other pereonal or identifying information which is
linked or linkable to a specific individual, suclras date and place of birth, mother's
niaiden name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable
Health Infomiation at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or"PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of "Protected Health information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule.at.45 C.F.R.
§ 160.103.

,11. "Security Rule" shall moan the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Irifofmation at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, arid amendments
thereto,

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Infomialion" means Protected Health Information that is
not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or-indecipiierable to unauthorized individuals and.is developed
or endorsed by a standards'developing organization that is accredited by the Ajnerican
National Standards Institute.

1. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential InfolTnation.

1  The Gonlractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Infpn^ran
■  I igJAlAl

Exhibit K Contractor Iriillals
OHHS IrtormaOon . .

Security Roquiremenls _ . 3/2/2022
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except as required orpermiltcd under this Gohtract or required by law. Further,
Contractor, inciuding but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and
agents, must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would
constitute a violatioh of the Privacy and Security Rule. ■

2. The Contraclor.mustinot disclose any Confidentiarinformation in response to.a
■request for disclosure on the basis that it is.required by law, in response to a subpoena,
etc., without fi rst notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or
object to the disclpsure.

3. The Contractor agrees that DHHS.Data-or derivative there from disclosed to ah End
User ihust only be used pursuant to the tCnris of this Contract.

IT. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Encryptioh. If Contractor is Irahsmitting DHHS Data' containing,
Confidcritiai Dataibetween applications, the Contractor attests the applications have
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable .in cyber security and that said
application's encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

2. Computer Disks and Portablc Storage Devices., Contractor may not use coniputer disks or
portable storage .devices, such as a thumb drive, as a hi'ethbd of transmitting DHHS Data.

3. Enciypted Emaiil.'Cohtractor.m.ay only employ ernail.tp transmit Confidential Data if
email is fcncrvnted and being sent to and being received by email addresses cfpcrsons
authorized to rcceive-such information. '

4. Encrypted Web Site. If Corilraclor is efnployihg tlie Wpb to transmit qphfidential
Data, the: secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and, the web site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data transmitted via a v)eb site..

5. File Hosting Services," also known as File Sharing Sites. Contractor may not use fi le
hosting serviccs, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data, '

6. Ground Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via .certified
ground mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named^individual.

7. Laptops aiid PDA.. If Cpnlractor js employing portable .devices to transmj.f
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. Contractor may not transmit Confidential Data via ah open
wjreless netvyork. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) vvhen
remotely transmitting via an open wifeless nclwbfk:-

9. Remote'User Commuhication.- If Cbhtfactor is eniployingpemote cpmmunicatiqikdoitiOA:

h
Aoril 2020 Exhibit K Conlractor initials
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access or iransmit Gonfideniial Data, a secure method of transmission or remote
access, which complies .with the terms and conditions of-Exhibit K.. must be used.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFXP), also known as Secure.Fiie Transfer Protocol. If
Gbntraclor is employing an SFTP to'transiTiit Confidential Data, End, User will
structure the Folder, and access privileges to" prevent inappropriate disclosure of
information. SFTP folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data will
be coded for 24-hour;auto4eletion cycle (i.e. Gonfidcntial Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

11. Wireless Devices. IfContractor, is transmitting Cbnfidential.Data via wifeless devices, all
data miist be encrypted to prevent inappfopTiate.disclosure of ihfofrhatioh.

in. RETENTION AND.DISPGSITION OF jDENTlFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Data and any derivative of the data for the duration of
this Contract..After such time, the Contractor wilfhavc.thirty (30),days to destroy the data
and any derivative'in whatever form it.may exist, unless, othenvisc required by law or, if it is
infeasiblc to return or destroy DHHS Data, protections are extended to such information, in
accordance with the termination provisions in.this S.ectioh.,To.this,end, the partiesmiust:

A. Retention

I. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer pr .proccss data collected in
connection with the seiAdces rendered .under this Contract oulside of tile United
States. This physical location requirement shall afso apply in thc.implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud.storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Rccovciy locations.

.2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security momtoring capabilities.arc.in place
to detect potential security events.lhat can impact State of.NH systems and/br ,
Department confidential irifbrfnatidh for contractor provided systems accessed or
utilized for purposes of carrying out this contract.

3. The Contractor agrees to proylde security awareness and educaitipn:%y^ End Users
in support of protecting DHHS Confidential infoirnation. ' .■

,4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard c'Spies of Gohfid^tial ip,ata
in a secure.location and ideiilified in section IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FcdRAMP/HlTECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes arid
regulatibhs regaining the privacy and secui;ity., All s.ervcrs and devices must have
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, current, updated, and ,^d9
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maintained anti-malwarc (e^g. anti-viral, anti-hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware)
utilities. The environment, as a whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and
firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation witlvlhe State's
Chief Inforrnatibri Officer in the detection of any security vulnerability of the
hosting infrastructure;

B. Disposition

,If the Contractor maintains any Confidential Information on its systems (or its,sub
contractor systems) and it has not done so previously, the Contractor will implement
policies and proccdures to ensure that any storage jnedia oh which such data maybe
recorded, will be rendered unreadable and that the data .will .be un-rccoverable when
the storage media is disposed of. Upon request, the Contractor will provide the
Depailment with copies of ihese.polieies and wiUi written dpcumentatioh
demonstra'ting compliance with the policies. The written documentation will include
all details necessa.ry to. demonstrate data contained jn the storage media has been
rendered.unreadable and un-recoverable. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements may be jointly evaluated by the
State.and Contractor prior to destruction.

1. Unless othehvise specified, within thirty (36) days of the termination,of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a
secure method such as shfeddirig..

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confideniial Data
by means Of data erasure, also known.as secure data wiping.

iV/PRdCEDURESFORSECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHJHS Data received under this Contract^ and any
•dcrivatiyedata or files, as follows:'

I. The Contractor will maintainiproper security controls to protect Department
corifidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the dclivci-y
of contracted se^ices.

2; The Contfactbr will maintain policies arid procedures to protect Deparfmeht
■.confidential information throughout the inforniation lifecyclc, where applicable, (from
creation, transformation, use, storage and secure destmctioh) regardless of the media
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used to store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).
*

3 The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls, to
contractor sys.tems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential informaUon'
where applicable.

4. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
'  supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will ensure End-

User will maintain an internal process or processes that defines specific security
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
match those for the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

5. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department.system access and authonzation policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable, sub-contractors prior to system access
beingauthorized.

6. If the Department detcnnines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the .Contractor will execute, a HIPAA Business Associate Agfccmcnt
(BAA) with the Departnient and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

7. The Contractor will not store any State of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside tlie boundaries of the United States unless prior express written
consent is obtained from die Information Security Office leadership member withm
the Department..

Data Seeui-ity Breach Liability. In the event of any computer security incident,
incident, or breach Contraclor shall make efforts to investigate the causes of the
breach, promptly take measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The Stale shall recover from the Contractor al| costs ol
response and recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitonng
services, mailing costs and costs associated with website and telephone call cemer
services necessary due to the breach.

9 Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security of Confidential Infomation, and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that-is noljcss.^
than the levehand scope of, HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 Q.F R.
and 164) and 42 C.F.R. Part 2 that govern protections for individually identifiable"
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health iriformatibn and as applicable under State ia\v.

10. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, tcchnieal, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Cohfidential Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards ihust provide a level arid
scope of security that is not less than tlie level and scope of security requirements
■established by the Slate of New Hampshire,.Department of Information Technology.
Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement al-https;//www.nh.gov/doit/vendpr/index.htm
for the Department of Infonnation Technology policies, guidelines, standard^ and
procurement inforriiation relating to vendors.

11. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident response
process. The Contractor miist notify the DHHS Security Office and the Progrwn
Contact via the email addresses provided in Section Vl of this Exhibit, immediately
upon the Contractor determining that a breach or security incident has occurred and
that DHHS confidential Information/data may have been exposed or eonripromised.
This includcs a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or
suspected breach which affects or includes any Slate of New-Hampshire systems that
cohneCt to the State of New Hampshire ncfwork.

12. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this
Coritract to only those authorized End Users who rieed.siich DHHS Data to perform
their official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

13. The Contractor is responsible for.End User oversight and cornplianee with the
teriiis arid conditions, of the coiitract and ExhibitK.

DHHS reserves the fight to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this
Contract,:incruding the privacy ancfsecurlty requirements provided in herein, HpAA,
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data
is. disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must immediately notify the State.'s Privacy Officer, Informatipn
Security Office and Program Manager of any Security Incidents and Breaches as
spcciFied.in Section IV, paragraph 1 1 above.

The Contractor must fuilhpr handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with DHHS's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in ac'cordarice with- the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In ac
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to, and notwithstanding, Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and
procedures, Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response-group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI miist be addressed and reported, as
applicable, jn accordance withNH RSA'359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues:
DHHSlnformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues:

DHHSPrivacyOfFicer@dhhs.nh.gov"

C. DHHS coiitact for Information Security issues:
DHHSlnformationSecurityOfncc@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS contact for'Breach notifications:

bHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

DHHSPrivncvOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov
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